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The Roman Erlnpire and ltaly

Italian civilization is ancient—a product of the Roman
Empire and the source of the Renaissance—but Italy as
a nation-state is relatively young, emerging only in 1861
as a political entity. The name Italy is one of great an-
tiquity, used for nearly three thousand years to identify
the boot-shaped peninsula that juts from the Alps and
the Po Valley into the Mediterranean Sea. It was the
Greeks who coined the term Jtaly to describe a spacious
country good for grazing cattle. Poets and patriots, an-
cient and modern, have heard in it the name of their
homeland. The Roman political reformer of the second
century B.C., Tiberius Gracchus, understood this when at
the end of the Punic Wars he protested, ‘““The wild beasts
of Italy have their dens and holes and hiding places,
while they who fight and die in defense of Italy enjoy
indeed the air and light, but nothing more.” Vergil wrote
of the exiled Aeneas that he was “the first to sail from
the land of Troy and reach Italy.” Dante, Petrarch, and
Machiavelli all understood that Italy had cultural if not
political boundaries that set it apart from the rest of
Europe. Nineteenth-century European statesmen dis-
missed a politically disunited Italy as a mere geograph-
ical expresston. Italy’s cultural, emotional, physical, and
political boundaries have historically seldom coincided,
but that an Italy and an Italian people have existed from
antiquity has been recognized by Italians—although
they may have called themselves Venetians and Floren-
tines—and by foreigners alike.

Three wars with Austria and an open breach with the
papacy were the price paid to complete the long process
of Italian unification, known as the Risorgimento (Re-
vival), and to establish a national monarchy under the
House of Savoy in the late nineteenth century. As one of
the victorious powers in World War I, Italy annexed
additional territory. Parliamentary institutions broke
down, however, in the atmosphere of depression, disillu-
sionment, and fear that gripped the country in the after-
math of the war, and the country succumbed to Benito

Mussolini’s Fascist dictatorship. Mussolini led Italy to
defeat as the ally of Nazi Germany in World War II.
Elements of the Italian army and the anti-Fascist parti-
san movement participated, however, in the liberation of
Italy after Mussolini’s ouster in 1943. The monarchy was
abolished after a plebiscite in 1946 and a republic estab-
lished.

EARLY INHABITANTS

The Latins and other Italic tribes, speakers of Indo-
European languages who had settled in Italy by 2000
B.C., provided the basic genetic stock. There was a dis-
parity in the levels of civilization achieved by early Italic
cultures, which were usually intensely local in their ex-
pression. These tribal groups consolidated unsuccess-
fully in common defense against the intrusion of the
Etruscans, who appeared in Italy about 1200 B.c. The
origin of the Etruscans, whose influence and civilization
in Italy were not surpassed until the emergence of Latin
Rome as an independent power, is a mystery that has
confounded scholars for centuries. Archaeological evi-
dence of their civilization, though plentiful, is subject to
contradictory interpretations. Their language, its alpha-
bet derived from Greek, had no known affinities with
other languages and is undecipherable. The explanation
put forward by Herodotus that the Etruscans had mi-
grated from Asia Minor has remained a popular specula-
tion. Although their origin is obscure, much is known of
their politics and art. It was the Etruscans who intro-
duced the city-state as a form of political organization to
Italy. Although politically disunited and often hostile,
the city-states of Etruria were linked in a religious con-
federation and were capable of concerted action against
common enemies. Rivals of the Greeks, they nonetheless
assimilated Hellenic culture and transmitted it to the
Italic peoples whom they had subdued.

In the second millennium B.c. lines of trade extended
from the Aegean Islands into Italy, the depot for amber
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The Roman Empire

and copper brought from beyond the Alps. The first
Greek colonies were planted in southern Italy in the
eighth century B.c. Politically and economically inde-
pendent of their mother cities, the colonies in Magna
Graecia (Greater Greece)—as Sicily, Catania, Apulia,
and Lucania were called in antiquity—remained an inte-
gral part of the Hellenic world. Some of the city-states
of Magna Graecia—for example, Syracuse on Sicily—
were powerful and prosperous and played a part in the
political life of Greece and the Aegean. In Italy the
Greeks also manifested their suicidal tendency for war-
ring among themselves. The Greeks were challenged by
the Phoenician colony of Carthage, which in its drive for
hegemony in the western Mediterranean settled enclaves
in Sicily and Sardinia in the sixth century B.c. and made
allies of the Etruscans. The Etruscans, in their turn, were
pressed by waves of Celts who crossed the Alps and
settled in the northern plains.

ROME

The origins of Rome are the stuff of myth, not history.
It is probable that in the eighth century B.c. (756 B.C. is
the traditional date) Latin villagers and refugees from a
countryside harassed by hill tribes sought safety behind
the wooden palisades constructed on the Palatine Hill
overlooking a crossing on the Tiber River. Legend re-

lates that these outcasts took as their first king Romulus,
descendant of Aeneas the Trojan, and that he gave his
name to the city. The families, clans, and tribes to which
all citizens claimed ties by blood or adoption were the
basis of the city-states’ social structure and military and
political organization. A hereditary Etruscan monarchy
was overthrown and a republic established in 510 B.c.
The Etruscans, however, left their imprint on Roman
institutions, particularly in the identification of religion
and the state. The proverbial Roman habits of austerity
are also thought to have been a reaction to the hedonism
of their Etruscan overlords, but both tendencies re-
mained as strains in Roman and later, Italian, thought.
The political history of the Roman Republic, governed
by a patrician oligarchy, was marked even in its early
stages by the persistent and ultimately successful strug-
gle of the plebeians—as a class—to gain an effective
voice in government and to improve their social and
economic status.

The building of the Roman Empire was begun with
the slow subjugation of Italy and the gradual assimila-
tion of its diverse peoples into the Roman state system.
The poet Vergil eulogized the toil it took to make the
Roman state, but Roman expansion in Italy was not
deliberate or the result of a preconceived strategy. It
developed haphazardly from commitments made to

.




THE ROMAN EMPIRE AND ITALY

3

Aeneas the Trojan on his travels goes to Carthage and meets Dido, its
founder.

The story of the finding of the two lost children of Rome, Romulus and
Remus, is to this day told by the mothers of Italy to their children. The
twin brothers were put in a basket and set afloat in the Tiber River by
a cruel uncle who was acting as the king of Alba Longa, a throne that
rightfully belonged to Romulus and Remus. They were found by a
shepherd, Faustulus, on the river's edge, being nursed by a she-wolf. This
scene is a national emblem of Italy and appears on its coins and stamps.
Here we see Romulus being handed to the shepherd’s wife.

other Latin towns and from intervention into the politi-
cal squabbles of the Greek cities that took Rome step by
step from conquest to conquest. Victories in the Punic
Wars against Carthage gave Rome mastery of the Medi-
terranean and put Italy at the center of an empire that
would stretch from the British Isles to the Euphrates
River at its height in the first century A.D.

During his dictatorship Julius Caesar pledged to re-
turn the Republic to the people but, while preserving the
name republic, the state evolved toward a monarchical
system. His statue was erected in the Capitol, and an-
other bore the fulsome inscription, “Caesar the demi-
god.” His image was to be carried in the procession of
the gods, and a golden chair was provided for him in the
Senate house. The month Quintilis had its name changed
to Julius, which we still retain as July. While he was not
king in name he was in substance, for no monarch could
have been more absolute. He was made dictator for ten
years, which was soon changed to perpetual dictator,
and he was hailed as imperator for life. This title was one

—— —
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Julius Caesar, the greatest Roman general of all time

that was given under the Republic to a victorious general
(for the word means “commander”), but it was always
laid aside at the close of the military command. By clip-
ping the word imperator, it will be seen that it readily
becomes emperor.

He had obtained power by overriding the laws, but
such is the necessity of all revolutions, and having se-
cured that power, he was determined to use it for the
good of the people. He laid the foundations broad and
strong. He promoted distinguished and trustworthy for-
eigners to places of dignity in the city; Gauls and others
were introduced into the Senate; whole classes of useful
subjects, such as those of the medical profession, were
admitted to the franchise, and colonies were planted at
Carthage and Corinth. An elaborate geographical survey
was made of the immense regions in his dominion, and
a most important project undertaken was the condensa-
tion and arrangement into a compact code of the thou-
sands of fragments of the old Roman laws. This work
had been dreamed of by Cicero and others, who were
forced to believe it an impossible task, but Caesar set
about it with such practical sense and system that it
assuredly would have been completed, had his life been

In his conguests to the north, Caesar defeats the Gauls. Here their king,
Vercingetorix, is seen surrendering to Caesar.

spared to the usual limit. As it was, six centuries had to
elapse before the glory of the work was earned by Jus-
tinian, the imperial legislator.

One notable achievement was the reform of the calen-
dar. The Roman year had been calculated on the basis
of 354 days, with the intercalation or insertion every
second year of a month of twenty-two and twenty-three
days respectively; but another day had been added to the
354, so as to secure an odd or fortunate number, to meet
which an intricate process, that only the scholars under-
stood, was brought into use. The jumble became intoler-
able. Caesar was a good astronomer, and with the aid of
Sosigenes, the most eminent in the science, the Julian
calendar was devised. This is still known by that name,
and makes each year to consist of 365 days, with an
additional day added to every fourth or leap year. Even
this is not mathematically exact; and the slight error, in
the course of centuries, grew into an importance which
required the correction made by Pope Gregory XIII, and
put into effect in Rome, October 5-15, 1582. By this
Gregorian calendar leap year is omitted at the close of
each century whose figures are not divisible by four hun-
dred.
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Spain, Portugal, and a part of Italy adopted the
Gregorian calendar with Rome; France, in December
1582, and the Catholic states of Germany in 1583. In
Scotland it was adopted on January 1, 1600; and in the
Protestant states of Germany in 1700. England and Ire-
land and the English colonies, however, kept the Julian
calendar until 1752, when the change was made. Russia
alone had retained the Julian system, its dates being
thirteen days behind the rest of the world for a consider-
able period of time.

Julius Caesar was undoubtedly one of the greatest
geniuses that ever lived. No general ever surpassed him
in ability; he was a statesman, an orator, a mathemati-
cian, a historian, an architect, a jurist, and was preemi-
nent in each capacity. His personality was impressive.
Tall and dignified of presence, with a fair complexion
and keen, expressive black eyes, he never wore a beard,
and, as he grew bald, he showed that care for his looks
which was almost a passion with him from youth. He
wore a laurel chaplet, which hid his baldness and was at
the same time a badge of his military greatness.

CAESAR’S RULE AND DEATH

Many of the designs of this remarkable genius were never
carried to completion, for the reason that his life was cut
off in its prime and before he had time to do more than
form the far-reaching plans. His scheme of changing the
course of the Tiber, so as to enlarge the Campus Martius,

Caesar invades Britain at the head of his legions (a legion of soldiers
usually numbered about 4,200).

Having heard of civil unrest in Rome, Caesar crosses the Italian frontier
at the Rubicon River. Knowing full well that he is in rebellion of stand-
ing orders to do so, he hesitated for a number of hours on the northern
side. Once on the other side, he told his soldiers, “The die is cast.”

was never followed out, nor did he cut through the Isth-
mus of Corinth.

He shone as a leader among the intellectual men of his
time. While he was modest and affable in his intercourse,
none talked or wrote better than he. His “Commentar-
ies,” despite the great length of some of the sentences,
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remains as a monument of his extraordinary skill as a
historian and writer. He was abstemious among the free
livers, and Cato has said of him that, of all the revolu-
tionists of his day, he alone took up his task with perfect
soberness at all times. In this respect he was a marked
contrast to Alexander.

Moreover, it is impossible to study the character of the
man without giving him credit for nobility of purpose.
He judged rightly, when he felt that the only safety of
Rome lay in its government by a wise, firm, and discreet
ruler, and certainly there was none in that age who so
fully met the requirements of the position as himself. The
blot upon the character of Caesar is that he accepted the
blind, sacrilegious idolatry of his people without protest,
and that his private life was scandalous. He openly de-
clared his unbelief in immortality, and lived defiantly
with Cleopatra as his wife, though he never made her
such.

He became haughty and capricious and, like Napoleon
at St. Helena, dreamed of the glories of his past cam-
paigns and longed to engage in more. Brooding over all
this, he formed the plan of crushing the Parthians, con-
quering the barbarians of the North, and then attacking
the Germans in the rear. In the closing months of the
year 45 B.c., he ordered his legions to cross the Adriatic
and meet at Illyricum, where he would speedily join
them. He expected to be absent for a long time from
Rome, and arranged for the succession of chief magis-

Cleopatra, secreted in a rolled-up rug, is unveiled in the presence of
Caesar.

trates for the following two years. He entered on his fifth
consulship on the first of January 44 B.c, Marcus An-
tonius being his colleague.

At that time, Gaius Octavius, the eighteen-year-old
son of Caesar’s sister, was in camp at Apollonia, receiv-
ing instructions in war from the ablest teachers. He
showed great ability, but was of delicate health. Caesar
let it be known that he intended to make Octavius his son
by adoption, and to bequeath to him all those dignities
which the Senate had declared hereditary in his family.

Human nature has been the same in all ages, and no
man can rise to exalted position without incurring the
deadly envy of those who have failed to keep pace with
him. There were many such in Rome. They met in secret,
whispered and plotted, and finally formed a conspiracy
for taking the life of the imperator. The persons con-
cerned in this hideous crime were sixty or eighty in
number, and among them were many who had received
marked favors at the hands of Caesar and professed the
warmest devotion to him. The leader was Gaius Lon-
ginus Cassius, who had lately been appointed praetor. At
the breaking out of the civil war, he had sided with
Pompey, but was pardoned by Caesar, and besides being
made praetor was promised the governorship of Syria in
the following year. The more favors he received, the
more malignant he seemed to become in his hatred of the
benefactor. Associated with him were Decimus Brutus,
Trebonius, Casca, Cimber, and more, all of whom were

Caesar in Egypt visits the grave site of Alexander the Great and views
a waxen figure of the great congqueror.
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The Roman senators urge Pompey to bear arms and join them in a
conspiracy to eliminate Caesar from control.

under deep obligations to Caesar for numerous favors.

These men knew they were taking frightful risks, for
the crime they contemplated would shake Rome to its
center and resound through the coming ages. They
needed a strong name to help them through, and fixed
upon Marcus Junius Brutus, who had also been a parti-
san of Pompey, but made his submission to Caesar after
the battle of Pharsalia, and in the following year was
appointed governor of Cisalpine Gaul. Brutus was a
nephew of Cato, and claimed to trace his descent from
a son of the famous Brutus who had founded the Repub-
lic, and whose other sons had perished by the axe of the
executioner. His descendant was now made vain by the
many favors shown him by Caesar, who one day re-
marked that, of all Romans, Brutus was the most worthy
to succeed him. Brutus accepted this as earnest, and it
was easy for the conspirators, by appealing to this, to
procure his consent to become their leader in the dark
counsels they often held together.

Caesar received hints of what was going on. He had
dismissed the guard appointed for him, and was, there-
fore, continually exposed to treacherous attack. When
his friends remonstrated because of the fearless way in
which he walked through the streets, he replied that it
was better to die and have done with it than to live in
continual fear of dying. He scorned to take the least
precautions, and since he had almost completed his prep-
arations for leaving on his campaigns, his enemies deter-
mined to wait no longer. The Senate was convened for
the Ides of March, the fifteenth day of the month, and
it was agreed that on that day he should be struck down
as he entered the Curia.

Caesar is said to have shown some hesitation, due to
the many warnings he had received, but he naturally
shrank from appearing timid. He determined to go. On
the way along the Forum to the theater of Pompey, in

Mark Antony offers to crown
Caesar king of the Roman Em-
pire, but Caesar refuses, saying,
“I am no king, but Caesar. The
Romans have no king but Jupi-
ter.” He knew full well that the
people hated the title king ever
since they overthrew their last one
in 510 Bc—Tarquinius the
Proud and the Haughty. But
Caesar, in fact, served as emperor
until his assassination on March
15, 44 B.c. a day which is marked
in infamy forever as “beware the
Ides of March.”

the Campus, several persons pressed near to warn him
of his peril. One man hastily shoved a paper into his hand
and begged him to read it without an instant’s delay. He
paid no heed, but held the roll, when he reached the
Senate house, remarking with a smile to the augur Spu-
rinna, “The Ides of March have come.” “Yes,” replied
the other, “but they are not yet passed.”

As he entered the hall, his enemies kept near him so
as to hold his friends at a distance. Caesar advanced to
his seat, when Cimber immediately approached with a
petition for the pardon of his brother. The others, as
agreed upon, joined in the prayer with much importu-
nity, seizing his hands and even attempting to embrace
him. Caesar gently repelled their attentions, but they
persisted, and Cimber caught hold of his toga with both
hands and snatched it over his arms. Then Casca, who
was behind him, drew a dagger from under his cloak and
reaching forward struck at Caesar, but in the flurry
merely grazed his shoulder. Caesar saw the blow, and
tried to seize the hilt of the dagger with one hand. Then
Casca uttered the signal that had been agreed upon. This
was the cry “Help!” Immediately the others swarmed
forward, pushing and striving to get closer to their vic-
tim, and all striking vicious blows, even though a number
were not within reach of him. Caesar defended himself
as best he could, and wounded one of his assailants with
his stylus; but when he recognized the gleaming face of
Brutus among the panting countenances and saw the
upraised steel in his hand, as he fought to get near
enough to strike, he exclaimed, ‘“What! Thou too,
Brutus!” (Et tu, Brute!), and, drawing his robe over his
face, made no further resistance. The assassins plunged
their weapons into his body again and again, until at last,
bleeding from twenty-three wounds, he sank down and
breathed out his life at the feet of the statue of Pompey.

The awful crime was completed, and the assassins,
flinging their gowns over their left arms, as shields, and
brandishing aloft their dripping daggers in their right
hands, marched out of the Curia to the Forum, calling
aloud that they had killed a tyrant, and displaying a
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Marcus Junius Brutus, a former
friend of Caesar, participated in
the assassination. Caesar, upon
identifying him, said, *“Et tu,
Brute!”” (Thou, too, Brutus!).

liberty cap on the head of a spear. The multitude were
dazed and stupefied for the moment, but the signs were
so ominous that the conspirators hunted out a place of
refuge in the temple of Jupiter, on the Capitol.

In this place they were joined by others, and among
them Cicero, who, though he had nothing to do with the
conspiracy, did not condemn it, and advised that the
Senate should be called together at once. Brutus was
distrustful and determined to make another appeal to the
populace. He entered the Forum the next day, and his
speech was listened to coldly, even if with respect. When,
however, others followed in the same strain, the hearers
broke out with such violence that the Republicans were
driven back to their quarters.

Meanwhile the consul Antonius had been active. He
communicated secretly with Calpurnia, the widow of
Caesar, who seems to have been a woman of little force
of character, and secured possession of her husband’s
immense treasures and also his will. Assisted by his two
brothers—one of whom was a tribune and the other a
praetor—Antonius opened, as consul, the national cof-
fers in the temple of Ops, and drawing a large sum,
secured the promise of support from Lepidus, who had
been leader of the army during Caesar’s absence in
Spain, and was his colleague in the consulate, 46 B.C.
Lepidus was weak of character, lacking both military
ability and statesmanship.

Antonius, as the minister and favorite of Caesar, was

looked upon by many as his natural successor. Cicero

alone opposed the conspirators’ negotiations with him,
for, though a brave man, Antonius was dissipated to the
last degree. He was agreed upon as the proper man to
act, and it was arranged that he should convene the
Senate on March 17. He selected as a place for the meet-
ing the temple of Tellus, near the Forum, and filled it
with armed soldiers. Since the assassins were afraid to
leave the Capitol, the discussion took place in their ab-
sence. The majority favored declaring Caesar a tyrant,
but Antonius pointed out that this would invalidate all
his acts and appointments. While the discussion was
going on, Antonius went out and entered the Forum. He
was received with acclamations, and Cicero showed that
the only dignified course that could relieve them from
their embarrassment was an amnesty which should con-
firm every acquired right and leave the deed of the con-
spirators to the judgment of posterity.

Cicero carried his point, and by his eloquence the next
day he calmed the populace, who invited the conspira-
tors to descend from the Capitol, Lepidus and Antonius
sending their children as hostages, and one entertained
Brutus and the other Cassius at supper. The following
morning all parties met in the Curia, and Caesar’s assign-
ment of provinces was confirmed. To Trebonius went
Asia, to Cimber Bithynia, and to Decimus the Cisalpine,
while Macedonia was to go to Brutus, and Syria to Cas-
sius, when their terms of office at home expired.

Caesar was dead but not buried. Inasmuch as his acts
were valid, his will had to be accepted and his remains
honored with a public funeral. Antony read to the people
the last testament of their idol, by which it appeared that
the youthful Octavius had been adopted as his son; that
the Roman people had been endowed with his gardens
on the bank of the Tiber, and he had bequeathed some
twelve dollars to every citizen.

This liberality roused all to fury, which was kindled to
the ungovernable point by the funeral oration of Mark

Mark Antony, a true friend of Caesar’s, who was also marked for death
but escaped, delivers the final public words over Caesar's body.
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Antony. The body was laid out on a couch of gold and
ivory, on a shrine gleaming with gold and erected before
the rostra. At the head was hung the toga in which
Caesar had been slain, showing the rents made by the
daggers of the assassins. The mangled remains were con-
cealed, but in their place was displayed a waxen figure,
which faithfully showed every one of the three-and-
twenty wounds.

When the people were swept by grief and indignation,
Mark Antony stepped forward, as the chief magistrate of
the Republic. He did this with marvelous dramatic
power. Then pointing to the bleeding corpse, and strid-
ing toward the Capitol, he proclaimed in a thrilling
voice: “I at least am prepared to keep my vow to avenge
the victim I could not save!”

The people were now beyond restraint, as the orator
intended they should be. They would not allow the body
to be carried outside of the city, but insisted that it
should be burned within the walls. Benches, tables, and
chairs were torn up and heaped before the pontiff ’s
dwelling in the Forum, and the body placed upon it. The
torch was applied by two youths, girt with swords and
javelin in hand, while the people flung on more fuel,
wherever it could be gathered, the veterans adding their
arms, the matrons their ornaments, and the children
their trinkets. It was a touching fact that among the most
grief-stricken of the mourners were Gauls, Iberians,
Africans, and Orientals, all of whom had loved Caesar
with no less fervency than did his own countrymen.

Caesar had been the friend and champion of the com-
mon people. Attacking him unawares, his enemies had
struck the fragile, human life from his body. Yet so great
had been the spirit of the man, so enormous his influence,
that even that dead body was sufficient to defeat the
conspirators. The sudden, unquenchable rebellion that
sprang up around his corpse was Caesar’s last and great-
est triumph.

ANTONY AND OCTAVIUS—
ROME BECOMES AN EMPIRE

No orator had ever attained more perfect success than
did Mark Antony in that celebrated speech over Caesar’s
body. The frenzied people rushed like madmen through
the streets, with blazing brands, determined to set fire to
the houses of the conspirators and slay the inmates. The
blind attacks were repulsed for the time, but Brutus and
Cassius and their associates made haste to get out of the
city. Had the incensed populace been able to lay hands
upon them, they would have been torn limb from limb.

Ah, but Mark Antony was sly! He interfered and
stopped the disorder, and then set himself to win the
goodwill of the Senate, which was needed to carry out his
plans. He secured the passage of a resolution abolishing
the office of dictator, and it was never revived; and then,

with a stern hand, he put down the rioting which broke
out in many quarters. He even visited Brutus and Cassius
in their hiding, and offered to guarantee their safety, but
they wisely declined to enter the city. Their praetorial
office required them to reside in Rome, but he obtained
for the two a charge for supplying provisions which
would justify their absence. In return, Antony asked one
small favor: since he, too, was in danger, he asked the
Senate to grant him an armed bodyguard. The Senate
promptly did so, and he as promptly raised it to six
thousand men and thus made himself safe.

Antony was for the moment as much dictator as Cae-
sar had ever been. He secured the sanction of the Senate,
not only for all the imperator had done, but for all that
he might have planned to do. Having won over the secre-
tary of the deceased and secured all his papers, Antony
carried out what schemes he liked, and when he lacked
authority for them, he, with the help of the secretary
forged Caesar’s authority. It is unnecessary to say that
with such boundless facilities at command, he did not
neglect to “feather his own nest,” and to secure enough
funds to bribe senators, officers, and tributary provinces.
He did not hesitate to break the engagements he had
made with the conspirators, by taking from Brutus and
Cassius the governments that had been promised them,
and seizing Macedonia with the legions Caesar had or-
dered to assemble at Apollonia. Beholding all this, Cic-
ero sadly murmured: “The tyrant is dead, but the
tyranny still lives.”

Now, you will remember that Octavius, the young
nephew of Caesar, was at Apollonia preparing himself
for the campaign in which he had expected to take part.
When he learned the particulars of his uncle’s assassina-
tion, and the letters from his mother made known that
he was the heir to all that had been left, he was thrilled
by the ambition that sprang to life within him, and deter-
mined to return to Rome in the face of every danger. His
friends tried to dissuade him, but he had the fervent
devotion of the soldiers, who burned to avenge the mur-
der of their idolized chief. Nothing could restrain the
young man’s resolution and, when he landed on the coast
of Apulia, copies of the will and decrees of the Senate
were shown to him. He immediately assumed the title of
Gaius Julius Caesar Octavianus, and offered himself be-
fore the troops at Prundisium as the adopted son of the
great imperator. He was received with the wildest dem-
onstrations, and the veterans who crowded around drew
their swords and clamored to be led against all who
dared to oppose the will of him who, being dead, yet
spoke in the same trumpet tones as of yore.

Octavius, in spite of his years, was prudent, even while
impetuous. Instead of appealing to force he addressed
the Senate in temperate language, claiming that, as a
private citizen, he had the right to the inheritance left
him by Caesar. On his way to Rome, he visited the
despondent Cicero, who was staying near Cumae, and
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succeeded in convincing the orator of his loyal and wise
views.

Octavius entered Rome in April and, despite the re-
monstrance of his mother and stepfather, went before the
praetor and declared himself the son and heir of the
dictator. Mounting the tribune, he addressed the people,
pledging to pay the sums bequeathed to them by his
illustrious parent. He made many friends and won over
a large number of enemies. Antony had no fear at first
of this stripling, but the news that reached him led him
to return to Rome about the middle of May. When he
and Octavius met, the latter professed friendship for
him, but at the same time upbraided the consul for his
failure to punish the assassins. The Second Triumvirate,
formed in 43 B.C., divided among its members the prov-
inces around Italy. Antony was to have the two Gauls;
Lepidus the Spains, with the Narbonensis; while Oc-
tavius secured Africa and the islands. Italy, the heart of
empire, they were to retain in common, while the divi-
sion of the eastern provinces was postponed until after
Brutus and Cassius should be driven out of them. Oc-
tavius and Antony, with twenty legions each, were to
take charge of the conduct of the war, while Lepidus
remained to protect their interests in Rome.

Having formed their far-reaching scheme, the three
agreed that the first necessary precaution was to leave no
enemies in their rear. All from whom danger threatened
must be crushed beyond the possibility of doing harm.
Octavius, Antony, and Lepidus entered the city on three
successive days, each at the head of a single legion. The
troops occupied the temples and towers and their ban-
ners waved from the Forum. The farce of a plebiscitum
was gone through, and on November 28 the Triumvirate
was proclaimed. They decreed a formal proscription.
Each man had his list of chief citizens before him and,
sitting down, picked out the names of those whose deaths
would give him special happiness.

Now, since everyone was certain to want the sacrifice
of the relatives of the others, they made a ghastly agree-
ment among themselves to the effect that each, by giving
up a relative, would be entitled to proscribe a kinsman
of his colleagues. As a result, among the first names on
the fatal list were a brother of Lepidus, an uncle of
Antony, and a cousin of Octavius. Three hundred sena-
tors, two thousand knights, and many thousands of citi-
zens were put to death. Many escaped by fleeing to
Macedonia and others to Africa, while more found ref-
uge on the vessels of Sextus Pompeius that were cruising
off Africa. Some bought their lives with bribes.

Antony demanded the death of Cicero, whose blister-
ing philippics still rankled in his memory, and Octavius,
to his eternal shame, consented. Cicero was staying at
the time with his brother at his Tusculan villa. As soon
as they heard of the proscription, they fled to Astura,
another villa, on a small island off the coast of Antium,
whither they intended to embark for Macedonia. In the

pursuit the brother was overtaken and killed, but Cicero
gained the sea, set sail, and landed several times, dis-
tressed in body and mind and caring little what became
of him. The last time he went ashore near Formiae, he
was warned of the danger of delay. “Let me die here, in
my fatherland,” he said mournfully, but his slaves placed
the man, who was suffering great bodily pain, upon a
litter, and moved as rapidly as they could toward the
seacoast.

Hardly had they left the house, when an officer, whose
life Cicero had once saved, appeared and pounded on the
door. A man pointed out the course taken by the fugi-
tives, and he and his small force ran after them. Cicero
saw them coming up and noted that they were in less
number than his own party, who prepared to defend him.

But he would not permit it. He ordered the slaves to
set down the litter and, fixing his eyes calmly on his
enemies, he bared his throat to their swords. Many of the
spectators covered their faces with their hands, and the
leader hesitated and bungled, until at last he pulled him-
self together and then all was quickly over. The head of
the orator was sent as a gracious present to Antony,
whose wife, Fulvia, remembering how nearly she and her
husband had been overthrown by that bitter tongue,
thrust long pins through it, taunting the dead man and
crying that she had given the final answer to his orations.

The Second Triumvirate had crushed its enemies at
home; it had still to destroy the Republican forces.
Brutus and Cassius, knowing they could not sustain
themselves in Italy, had retired to the East. When Brutus
appeared before Athens, the citizens erected his statue by
the side of those of Harmodius and Aristogiton, and
many of the younger men enlisted in his ranks. Horace,
the future poet, was made a tribune, and numerous veter-
ans also joined the patriot forces. The kings and rulers
of Macedonia were quick to declare themselves on the
same side, one of the adherents being a brother of An-
tony.

Cassius had gone to his promised government of Syria,
where he was held in high esteem because of the courage
he had displayed in the conquest of the Parthians, after
the fall of Crassus. He devastated the country and then
prepared to pass over into Macedonia. The legend is that
Brutus, watching in his tent at night, saw a fearful appa-
rition, which being addressed replied: “I am thy evil
spirit; thou shalt see me again at Philippi.”” When he and
Cassius encamped on an eminence, twelve miles east of
Philippi, their forces numbered probably one hundred
thousand men. Those which Octavius and Antony
brought against them were fewer, but in a better state of
discipline. In the battle Brutus opposed Octavius; Cas-
sius, Antony. Octavius was ill, and at the first shock his
division yielded, but Antony was successful. Cassius fell
back, and was left almost alone and unaware of the
success of his colleague. Observing a body of horsemen
approaching, he was panic-stricken, and, believing them
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Brutus takes his life when his luck turns and he is about to be killed in
battle.

the enemy, threw himself on the sword of a freedman
and died. The messenger sent by Brutus with news of his
triumph arrived just a moment too late. It was a drawn
battle, and each side withdrew, glad of a respite.

Brutus found it difficult to hold his legions in hand
and, yielding to his impatience, he renewed the battle
twenty days later on the same field. The fight was well
contested, but the Caesareans under Octavius broke the
ranks of their enemies, and attacked them in their camp.
Brutus held an anxious position throughout the night on
a neighboring hill. When daylight came, his remaining
men refused to renew the fight, and in despair he ended
his life with his own sword. The remnant of the shattered
Republican armies was carried off by the fleet that had
attended their movements.

The decisive victory having been gained, the victors
made a new partition of the spoils. Octavius took Spain
and Numidia; Antony, Gaul beyond the Alps; and Lepi-
dus the province of Africa. But the division was hardly
made when the possessors began to quarrel over it. Lepi-
dus was feeble, and of such insignificance that his share
was soon taken from him, after which nothing was more
certain than that Octavius and Antony would soon come
to strife over their portions and each would intrigue
against the other. Octavius was still suffering in health,
and chose to seek repose by returning to the balmy cli-
mate of Italy, and undertaking the task of placing the
veterans on the estates of the natives. The gross Antony
stayed in the East, indulging in the lowest dissipation.

He ordered Cleopatra to meet him at Cilicia, on a
charge of intrigue with his enemy Cassius. It is said that
the wit and piquancy of this remarkable woman were
more effective than her dazzling beauty, and none knew
better how to use her gifts than she. Sailing for Tarsus,
she glided up the Cydnus in a gilded vessel, with purple
sails and silver oars, to the sound of flutes and pipes.
Under an awning, spangled with gold, she reclined in the
garb of Venus, surrounded by Cupids, Graces, and Ne-
reids, while Antony appeared in the character of Bac-
chus. Impressed by her splendid equipage, he invited her

to land and sit at his banquet, but with the air of a queen
she summoned him to attend her.

That meeting sealed his fate. He was utterly en-
thralled. Under the spell of the arch temptress, he forgot
wife, Rome, and every duty, and only asked the bliss of
becoming her slave and adorer; and, inasmuch as that
was the object for which she played from the beginning,
she made sure of retaining her sway over him.

In the middle of the summer of 36 B.c.. Antony had
gathered one hundred thousand men on the Euphrates
with the intention of completing the conquest of the
Parthians. His alliance with Cleopatra had delayed him
so long that he advanced too rapidly and, on reaching
Praaspa, three hundred miles beyond the Tigris, he
found himself without any artillery with which to con-
duct a siege. He therefore settled for an attempt at the
reduction of the city by blockade, but the Parthian horse-
men cut off his supplies and a number of his Armenian
allies deserted. This compelled him to retreat, and for
twenty-seven days his men were subjected to incredible
sufferings. Not until they had crossed the Araxes did the
Parthians cease their attacks. Antony still hurried his
wearied soldiers, intent only on rejoining Cleopatra at
the earliest moment. She had come to Syria to meet him
and, caring nothing for honor or duty, he returned with
her to the dissipations of the Egyptian capital, not hesi-
tating in his shamelessness to announce his recent cam-
paign as a victory. It suited Octavius to maintain the
appearance at least of friendship, and he did not dispute
the claim.

Antony’s second wife, the faithful Octavia, hoping to
save her husband from the thralldom of Cleopatra, ob-
tained the consent of her brother Octavius to rejoin An-
tony. He had returned to Syria, and was preparing for a
new expedition when he learned that his wife had arrived
in Athens. He sent her orders to come no farther. She
could not mistake the meaning of the message, but asked
leave to send forward the presents she brought with her,

The first meeting of Mark Antony and Cleopatra in Egypt. The queen
soon became his fifth wife, replacing Octavia, Caesar’s sister, and they
also joined military forces against the Romans under Octavius.
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which consisted of clothing for the soldiers, money, and
equipments, including two thousand picked men as a
bodyguard for the imperator. Then the “Serpent of the
Nile™ exerted all her devilish arts, and the fool Antony
fled with her to Alexandria. Octavia, with the serene
dignity of wounded womanhood, resigned her unworthy
husband to the fate he richly deserved.

Some modern courts have illustrated the depths of
debauchery of which men and women are capable, but
none have surpassed the court of Cleopatra, whose do-
minion over Mark Antony was so complete that he
seemed unable to live except in her presence. It was as
if Nature had displayed the utmost achievements of
which she is capable in the creation of this woman. While
her portraits do not show a superlative degree of beauty,
she must have possessed it to a remarkable extent, and
her magnetism of manner was resistless. She was a fas-
cinating singer and musician, spoke several languages,
and was past mistress in all the arts and artifices of her
sex. None knew better how to capture and retain her
dominion over such a coarse wretch as Antony. What
strange stories have come down to us of that extraordi-
nary couple! When he dropped a line into the water,
trained divers by her orders slipped unperceived under-
neath and fastened live fish to the hook; she dissolved a
pearl of princely value in a cup of vinegar, and drank it
to his health.

The rumors of these orgies caused resentment in
Rome, where the tact and wisdom of Octavius steadily
added to his popularity. One of the chief supporters of
Antony became so nauseated that he appeared in the
Senate and openly declared his abhorrence of his late
master. Then he went to Octavius and revealed the testa-
ment of Antony, which reeked with treason. It declared
the child of Cleopatra and Caesar the heir of the dictator,
and ratified Antony’s drunken gifts of provinces to favor-
ites, finally directing that his body should be entombed
with Cleopatra’s in the mausoleum of the Ptolemies. All
this hideous wickedness being known, everyone was
ready to believe the story that Antony when drunk had
given his pledge to Cleopatra to sacrifice the West to her
ambition and to remove to Alexandria the government
of the world.

Octavius, while refraining from declaring Antony a
public enemy, proclaimed war against Egypt, and did
not renew the terms of the Triumvirate, which had ex-
pired, but directed the Senate to annul the appointment
of Antony as consul, assuming it himself at the opening
of 31 B.C.

Antony still had friends, and they now begged him to
wrench himself free from Cleopatra. He replied by di-
vorcing his legitimate wife, thus breaking the last legal
tie that bound him to his country. He could not wholly
close his eyes to his peril, however, and showed some of
his old-time vigor in preparing to resist Octavius, who
was equally energetic in preparations against him.

The forces of Antony are given at one hundred thou-
sand infantry and twelve thousand horses, while his fleet
numbered five hundred large war galleys. Octavius had
twenty thousand less, and only one hundred fifty smaller
vessels, which on that account were more manageable.
The desertion of many of his troops awakened distrust
in the mind of Antony, who became suspicious of
Cleopatra herself and compelled her to taste all viands
before he partook of them. At last the two great armies
gathered in front of each other on the shores of the Gulf
of Ambracia, the narrow channel between being occu-
pied by the fleet of Antony.

This field of war was ill-chosen, for it was confined and
unhealthful, and Antony wished to remove his forces to
the plains of Thessaly; but Cleopatra, fearing for her own
way of retreat, dissuaded him. Distrusting the issue of
the battle, he secretly prepared to lead his fleet into the
open waters of the Leucadian bay, so as to break through
the enemy’s line, and escape to Egypt, leaving the army
to do the best it could to retreat into Asia.

The wind was so high for several days that the rough
waters would not permit the ships of either side to move;
but it fell, and, on September 2, 31 B.c., at noon, while
the galleys of Antony lay becalmed at the entrance to the
strait, a gentle breeze sprang up, so that the immense
armament moved out to sea.

It immediately became apparent that the ships were
greatly handicapped by their bulkiness, which held them
from moving with the nimbleness of their opponents.
They hurled huge stones from their wooden towers and
reached out enormous iron claws to grapple their assail-
ants, who dodged and eluded them like a party of hounds
in front of a wounded bear. How curiously the account
of this naval battle reads when compared with one of our
modern contests on the water! The Caesarean rowers
shot forward and backed with great agility, or swept
away the banks of the enemy’s oars, under cover of
showers of arrows, circling about the awkward masses
and helping one another against boarding or grappling.
It was a school of whales fighting sharks, but the result
was indecisive, for although the whales were wounded,
the sharks did not disable them.

Then suddenly took place a shameful thing. Cleopa-
tra’s galley, anchored in the rear, hoisted its sails and
sped away, followed by the Egyptian squadron of sixty
barks. Antony caught sight of the signal and, leaping
into a boat, was rowed rapidly in their wake. Many of
the crews, enraged at the desertion, tore down their tur-
rets, flung them into the sea to lighten their craft, and
hastened after him, but enough remained to put up a
brave fight. Then the Caesareans, unable otherwise to
destroy them, hurled blazing torches among the ships,
which, catching fire, burned to the water’s edge, and
sank one after the other. Thus ended the great sea fight
of Actium. Three hundred galleys fell into the victor’s
hands, but the army on shore was still unharmed. It was
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not until its commander abandoned it and sought the
camp of Octavius, that the legions surrendered.

Antony and Cleopatra had fled in the same vessel.
Proceeding direct to Alexandria, she sailed into the har-
bor, her galley decked with laurels through fear of a
revolt of the people. Antony had remained at Parae-
tonium to demand the surrender of the small Roman
garrison stationed there, but was repulsed, and learned
of the fate of his army at Actium. In his despair, he was
ready to kill himself, but his attendants prevented and
took him to Alexandria, where he found Cleopatra pre-
paring for defense. Defections broke out on every hand,
and she proposed to fly into far-away Arabia. She com-
menced the transport of her galleys from the Nile to the
Red Sea, but some were destroyed by the barbarians on
the coast, and she abandoned the project. Then the dis-
tracted woman thought she could seek a refuge in Spain
and raise a revolt against Octavius. This wild scheme was
also given up, and Antony shut himself up in a tower on
the seacoast; but Cleopatra was not ready to yield, and
showed herself dressed as a man to the people that they
might feel they were governed by him and not by a
woman.

Still hopelessly captivated, Antony sneaked back to
his royal mistress, and the two plunged into reckless
orgies till the moment should come for both to die to-
gether. It is said that at this time the woman made many
careful experiments of the different kinds of poison on
slaves and criminals, and was finally convinced that the
bite of an asp afforded the most painless method of tak-
ing one’s departure from life.

Meanwhile, she and Antony applied to Octavius for
clemency. He disdained to make any answer to Antony,
but told Cleopatra that if she would kill or drive away
her paramour, he would grant her reasonable terms.
Octavius was playing with his victims like a cat with
mice. He meant to have her kingdom, but was deter-
mined to carry the detested woman herself to Rome and
exhibit her in his triumph. Cunning agents of his sug-
gested to her that Octavius was still a young man, and
she no doubt could exert the same power over him that
had taken Antony captive. It was not strange that she
should believe this, for her past experience warranted
such belief. She encouraged Antony to prepare for the
last struggle, and all the time was secretly contriving to
disarm and betray him. The forces of Octavius drew
nearer. Pelusium was captured, but Antony gained the
advantage in a skirmish before the walls of Alexandria,
and was on the point of seizing the moment for a flight
to sea when he saw his own vessels, won away by Cleopa-
tra, pass over to the enemy. Almost at the same moment,
his cohorts, seduced by the same treachery, deserted
him.

Cleopatra had shut herself up in a tower, built for her
mausoleum, but fearing that the man whom she had
ruined would do her violence, had word sent to him that

she had committed suicide. This was the final blow to
Antony, who with the aid of his freedman Eros inflicted
a mortal wound upon himself. Immediately after, he
learned that he had been tricked, and that the queen was
unharmed. He caused himself to be carried to the foot of
the tower, where, with the assistance of two women, her
only attendants, he was drawn up, and breathed his last
in her arms.

By this time, Octavius had entered Alexandria and
sent an officer to bring Cleopatra to him. She refused to
admit the messenger, but he scaled the tower undiscov-
ered and entered. She snatched up a poniard to strike
herself, but the man caught her arm and assured her that
his master would treat her kindly. She listened for some
minutes, and then allowed herself to be led to the palace,
where she resumed her state, and was recognized as a
sovereign by her victor.

Then Octavius called upon her. Never in all her won-
derful experience did she so exert herself to capture one
of the sterner sex; but Octavius had nerved himself for
the meeting, and for the first time the charmer found she
had no power to charm. He talked with coolness and
self-possession, demanded that she should give him a list
of her treasures, and then, bidding her to be of good
heart, left her.

Cleopatra was chagrined at her failure, but she did not
despair, till she learned that Octavius was determined to
take her as a captive to Rome. She then retired to the
mausoleum where the body of Antony still lay, crowned
the tomb with flowers, and was found the next morning
dead on her couch, her two women attendants expiring
at her side. Although the common account makes
Cleopatra die of the bite of an asp, brought to her in a
basket of figs, the truth concerning her end will never be
known with certainty. As we have learned in Egypt’s
story, there were no wounds discovered on her body, and
it may be that she perished from some self-administered
subtle poison. At the triumph of Octavius, her image was
carried on a bier, the arms encircled by two serpents, and

Octavius defeated Antony and
Cleopatra’s forces and with
Antony already a suicide,
Octavius proposed to return
Cleapatra to parade her in the
streets of Rome as a trophy.
The queen tried her wiles on
him in a private interview but
Jailed. Suicide was the only
remaining choice.




14

THE ROMAN EMPIRE AND ITALY

this aided the popular rumor as to the means of her
death. The child which she had borne to Julius Caesar
was put to death by Octavius, who could brook the
existence of no such dangerous rival, but the children of
Antony were spared, though deprived of the royal suc-
cession. The dynasty of the Ptolemies ended, and Egypt
became a Roman province (30 B.C).

The death of Antony closes the period of civil strife.
The commonwealth was exhausted and Octavius was
supreme. With masterly ability, he regulated his new
province, and then made his tour through the eastern
dominions, dispossessing his enemies and rewarding his
allies and friends. When everything was settled, he went
to Samos, where he spent the winter in pleasant retire-
ment. He reached Rome in the middle of the summer of
29 B.c., and was received with acclamations of joy. With
a wisdom worthy of his adopted father, he recognized
the authority of the Senate and claimed to have wielded
delegated powers only. He had laid aside the functions
of the Triumvirate, and it was as a simple consul, com-
missioned by the state, that he had conquered at Actium
and won the province of Egypt, while his achievements
in Greece and Asia still awaited confirmation by the
Senate. So modest and loyal did his conduct appear, that
his popularity was like that of the great imperator whose
name he inherited.

To him was awarded the glory of a triple triumph, at
the conclusion of which, according to the laws of the free
state, he as imperator must disband his army, but he
overcame the necessity by allowing the subservient Sen-
ate to give him the permanent title of imperator, as it had
been conferred upon Julius Caesar, and to prefix it to his
name. He was thus made lifelong commander of the
national forces. This accomplished the all-important re-
sult of securing to him the support of the army, which
was the real strength of the country. He acknowledged
the Senate as the representative of the public will, but
caused himself to be vested with the powers of the cen-
sorship, which, you will remember, gave him authority
to revise the list of senators. This right he exercised with
discretion and wisdom. It will be recalled that Julius
Caesar degraded the body by adding to it many men of
low degree, including obnoxious foreigners. Octavius re-
stored the old number of six hundred, and kept strictly
to the requirement of property qualification. He placed
himself at the head as princeps, which, while it implied
no substantial power, was looked upon as the highest
honorary office. This civic dignity was always held for
life.

While he was thus gathering these powers to himself,
he prudently waived all formal recognition of his sover-
eign status. He refrained from reviving the dictatorship,
and permitted no one to hail him with the title of king.
Still he craved a title, and consulted with his trusted
friends. Some suggested the name of Quirinus or Romu-
lus, but the one was a god and the other had perhaps

been slain as a tyrant. Finally the name Augustus was
proposed, and it seemed to “fit” the requirements ex-
actly. It had not been borne by a previous ruler, but as
an adjective it possessed a noble meaning. The rites of the
temples and their gods were ‘“‘august,” and the word
itself came from auguries by which the divine will was
revealed. And so the name of Octavius was dropped, and
the lord of Rome stood forth as Augustus Caesar.

This man was thirty-six years old when he became
master of the Roman world, though there was no open
establishment of a monarchical government. He aimed
to maintain, so far as possible, the old law, to defend his
country from foreign aggressions, and to make it as truly
great as was within the compass of human endeavor. The
example of Julius Caesar was ever before him, and, since
the first Caesar had been assassinated for grasping at the
name of king, the second avoided his error. Remember-
ing, too, that the great imperator lightly regarded reli-
gion, Augustus strove to revive the faith of Rome. The
decaying temples were repaired, the priesthoods re-
newed, and the earlier usages of the Republic restored.
Augustus did not allow his impulses to lead him astray.
He saw with vivid clearness, and the grandest political
work ever accomplished by a single man was his, in the
establishment of the Roman Empire.

In reflecting upon the ease with which the Romans
“passed under the yoke,” as may be said, it must be
remembered that they had been carried close to the verge
of exhaustion by the century of civil strife. Many of the
nobler families of Rome had been nearly or quite wiped
out, and the survivors were weary of the seemingly end-
less warring of factions. So many mongrels had mixed
their blood with that of the Romans that the pure strain
was vitiated. In short, the people were in just the mood,
and just the condition, just the epoch had arrived when
they needed a single, stern ruler. And since that must be,
it was surely fortunate that their sovereign should be
Augustus.

He is described as a model in his personal traits and
habits. He avoided the personal familiarity with which
Julius Caesar was accustomed to address his legionaries.
The elder loved to speak of his soldiers as *“comrades,”
the younger referred to them as his ‘“soldiers” only.
While he encouraged the magnificence of his nobles, his
own life was of striking simplicity. His home on the
Palatine Hill was modest in size and in ornament. While
his dress was that of a plain senator, he took no little
pride in calling attention to the fact that it was woven by
his wife and the maidens in her apartment. When he
walked the streets, it was as a private citizen, with only
the ordinary retinue of attendants. If he met an acquain-
tance, he saluted him courteously, taking him by the
hand or leaning on his shoulder, in a way that was pleas-
ing to everyone to whom he showed the delicate atten-
tion.

One striking fact regarding the reign of Augustus was
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the friendship which he secured from the poets. It was
Horace who taught others to accept the new order of
things with contentment, while Vergil wreathed the em-
pire of the Caesars in the halo of a legendary but glorious
antiquity. The Aeneid proved that Octavius was a direct
descendant of the goddess Venus and a worthy rival of
Hercules. Thus spoke the giants among the poets, but
there were minor singers as well, who called upon their
countrymen to remember in their prayers he who had
restored order and brought universal felicity. The citi-
zens were urged in the temples and in their own homes
to thank the gods for all their prosperity, and to join with
the gods themselves the hallowed name of Aeneas, the
patron of the Julian race. Then, too, when they rose from
their evening meal, the last duty of the day was to call
with a libation for a blessing on themselves and on
Augustus, whom they called the father of his country.

No prouder title than this could be conferred upon any
Roman. It had been associated in private with their hero,
and finally the Senate, echoing the voice of the nation,
conferred it on him publicly and with all solemnity. That
he was deeply touched was shown in his tremulous re-
sponse:

“Conscript fathers, my wishes are now fulfilled, my
vows are accomplished. I have nothing more to ask of the
Immortals, but that I may retain to my dying day the
unanimous approval you now bestow upon me.”

Caesar’s nephew concentrated all power in his hands
and, having been named princeps (first citizen) and given.
the title Augustus by the Senate, began the reign of the
Roman emperors in 27 B.C.

THE EMPERORS’ PERIOD
OF POWER

The most impressive event of the reign of Augustus was
the birth of Christ at the little village of Bethlehem, in
Judea—an event that marked the most momentous crisis
in the spiritual history of the world. This human appear-
ance of Christ took place at the time when there was
general peace throughout the earth, and was, therefore,
in accordance with Scripture prophecy. The government
of Augustus was tranquil, and there were no civil wars,
though there may have been some unrest on the fron-
tiers.

There was, indeed, only one serious war during the
forty years of Augustus’s supreme power. This was with
the Germans, the wild tribes which Caesar had defeated.
They had never been fully subdued, and in the year 9
B.C. they rose in sudden rebellion under their chief Her-
mann, or, as the Romans called him, Arminius. The
three Roman legions along the Rhine were commanded
by Varus, who proved both reckless and incompetent.
He marched his entire force into the wild German forests
where they were surrounded by the rebels and, after
three days of savage fighting, exterminated. Great was

The Christ, INRI (Jesus of Nazareth—king of the Jews), was the
Jfounder of Christianity. From the most famous painting of Him—by
Correggio in the Dresden (Germany) Art Gallery.

the consternation at Rome. Augustus beat his head
against the wall, crying, “Varus, Varus, give me back my
legions.” The people feared the Germans would imitate
the ancient Gauls and make a terrible raid upon Rome.
But the Germans were busy quarreling among them-
selves; fresh legions were hastily raised, and the danger
passed away.

Augustus died in A.D. 14, and was succeeded by his
stepson Tiberius Claudius Nero, known as Tiberius, who
was born 42 B.c. Jesus Christ was crucified in the nine-
teenth year of this reign. It was at Antioch, in Syria,
where Saul and Barnabas taught the faith, that the be-
lievers first received the name of Christians. Then began
those wonderful missionary journeys of the Apostles,
which carried the gospel through Asia Minor, Greece,
and Italy, and Rome became the capital of Christendom.
Silently but irresistibly the true faith spread, first among
the Jews, then among the Greeks, or eastern, and the
Latin, or western, Gentiles, until it became the one true
and accepted religion throughout the civilized world.

When Tiberius ascended the throne, his manliness and
moderation gave promise of a prosperous reign, but he
was jealous from the first of his popular nephew Ger-
manicus, who was entrusted with important commands
in Dalmatia and Pannonia, and raised to the consulate
before he was thirty years of age. Two years later he
repressed a terrible revolt of the Germanic legions, who
wished to salute him as emperor. In a campaign against
the Germans, he ousted Hermann, their chief, in A.D. 16,
recaptured the eagles lost by Varus, and earned for him-
self the surname of Germanicus. Tiberius summoned
him home, and he returned as a victorious general. The
Senate awarded him a magnificent triumph, in which
Thusnelda, wife of Arminius, preceded his carriage with
her children. Germanicus died in A.D. 19, from poison,




Early rulers of the Roman Empire. Top, left to right: Nero, the sixth
Caesar of twelve, started the fire that burned Rome to divert suspicion
of his prosecution of the Christians and then blamed them for it, ordered
the assassination of his mother, ruled from ap. 54 to 68—when he
committed suicide. Claudius I, the fifth Caesar, who reigned from 41 to
54, was the stepfather of Nero. And Agrippina, Claudius’s wife, poisoned
him so that Nero, her son by a previous marriage, might become em-
peror. Center, left to right: Tiberius, the third Caesar, adopted son of
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emperor, its second Caesar, and was the victor over Cleopatra and An-
tony at the Battle of Actium in 31 8.c. Bottom, left to right: Vespasian,
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into the Austro-Hungarian territory. Titus, the eleventh Caesar, ruled
from ap 79 to 81, was the besieger of Jerusalem. And Caligula, the
JSourth Caesar of the empire, reigned from a.p. 37 to 41 and is remem-
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as he had predicted. Tiberius then revealed himself as
moody and irresolute, with scarcely a trace of affection
or sympathy. He became a tyrant. The number and
amount of taxes were increased, all power was taken
from the people and Senate. Prosecutions for high trea-
son were based on mere words or even looks that gave
displeasure to the emperor, who found thus a convenient
method of ridding himself of those who displeased him.
As years advanced, he abandoned the real government
of the empire to Aelius Sejanus, commander of the Prae-

Tiberius relaxing at his residence on the Isle of Capri

torian Guards, and wallowed in licentious excesses at his
villa in Capri until, worn out by debauchery, he ended
his infamous life in the year A.p. 37, his death being
hastened either by poison or suffocation.

There were many Roman emperors whose history is
not worth the telling. Some held the throne but a short
time, and others played an insignificant part in the annals
of the empire.

Gaius Caesar, or Caligula, as he is more generally
known, was in his twenty-fifth year when he became
emperor. He was suspected of helping the death of
Tiberius, who had appointed him his heir. He was an-
other of the diabolical miscreants produced by licen-
tiousness and debauchery. It took him just one year to
expend the $3 million left by Tiberius, and he confiscated
and murdered and banished until it is only charitable to
believe he was afflicted with insanity. He enlivened his
feasts by having those whom he disliked tortured in his
presence, and once expressed the wish that all the Ro-
man people had but one neck that he might decapitate
Rome at a single blow. He stabled his favorite horse in
the palace, fed him at a marble manger with gilded oats,
and afterward raised him to the consulship. As a climax
to his foolery, he declared himself a god and had temples
erected and sacrifices offered to his family. The people
stood all this and much more with incredible patience,
but finally formed a conspiracy and removed him by
assassination from the earth which he had cumbered too
long.

Claudius I, fortunately for himself, was suspected of
imbecility, or else Caligula would have “removed” him.
As it was, he might have done well had he not, in A.D.
42, when terrified by hearing of a conspiracy against his
life, abandoned himself wholly to the will of his ferocious
wife Messalina, who robbed and slew with a merciless-
ness worthy of the former emperor. Abroad, however,
the Roman armies were victorious. Mauritania became
a Roman province, progress was made in Germany, and
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the conquest of Britain was begun. The experience of
Claudius in the matrimonial line was discouraging. Mes-
salina was executed for her crimes, after which he mar-
ried Agrippina, who poisoned him in 54, so as to make
sure of the succession of her son Nero. After the death
of Claudius, he was deified, though the sacrilege surely
could not have benefited him much.

And now comes another of those infamous persons in
history. This was Nero, whose full name was Nero
Claudius Caesar Drusus Germanicus. He began his reign
well, and but for the baleful influence of his mother
Agrippina, might have continued in the good way, under
the tutelage of Seneca the philosopher. He soon yielded,
however, to temptation or to his natural inclinations, and
plunged headlong into tyranny, extravagance, and every
species of debauchery that human ingenuity could de-
vise. Falling out with his mother, he caused her to be
assassinated to please one of his mistresses, the wife of
Otho, afterward emperor. To marry this woman Nero
had put to death his own wife; now his mother followed,
and the servile Senate actually issued an address con-
gratulating the matricide on her death.

The rebellion which broke out in Britain under Queen
Boadicea was suppressed in 61, but the war against the
Parthians the next year was unsuccessful. In July 64
occurred the great conflagration in Rome, by which two-
thirds of the city was reduced to ashes. It is recorded that
while the conflagration was raging, Nero watched it from
a turret in his palace, singing verses to the music of his
lyre, and it is the general belief that it was his hand that
kindled the flames. Sated with every known indulgence,
he had set out to discover some new kind of enjoyment.

Could his guilt have been established, the populace
would have wreaked quick vengeance upon him. The

Messalina, consort of Claudius

cowardly miscreant was scared, and strove to turn aside
the suspicion whose whispers had reached his ears. He
traversed the stricken streets with hypocritical expres-
sions of sympathy, and gave away all the money he could
steal to help the sufferers; but seeing the necessity of
directing distrust toward someone, he cunningly chose
the new sect known as Christians, who had become nu-
merous and active in Rome. Scores were arrested, and he
condemned them to be burned. Many were wrapped in
pitched cloth and set up in his own gardens, which were
illuminated by the awful human “torches.” It was not
the emperor’s pity, but that of the refuse of the city,
which finally brought the horrible spectacles to an end.
Among the victims of these tortures were Saint Paul,
Saint Peter, and Seneca.

Nero was guilty of atrocities that cannot even be
hinted at. Suspecting Seneca and the poet Lucian of
conspiring against him, he took the lives of both. One
day, because he felt out of sorts, he kicked his wife to
death. Being refused by another lady, he had her slain by

Claudius acting the part of the idiot when the Praetorians sought him
out to be emperor, for he believed the Caesars did not live long on the
throne. But he was only half right—he reigned thirteen years, and it has
been considered an unlucky number ever since.
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way of teaching her a lesson, and then secured another
wife by killing an obstinate husband.

The blow which brought Nero low came from an
unexpected quarter. In the year 68, the Gallic and Span-
ish legions revolted, and the Praetorian Guards fol-
lowed, all animated by the purpose of making Galba, one
of their commanders, emperor. Their approach to the
city heartened the Senate and terrified Nero, whose
frame shivered and whose teeth rattled with terror. He
fled at night to the villa of one of his freedmen, having
learned the Senate had proclaimed him a public enemy.
Being warned that his death by torture had been ordered,
and hearing the sound of the approaching hoof beats of
the guards, he at last mustered enough courage to place
a sword to his breast and order his slave to drive it home.

Galba entered Rome on January 1, 69, and was ac-
cepted as emperor with the right to assume the title of
Cacsar. He was a simple soldier and nothing more.
Among those who accompanied him was Otho, whom
Nero had robbed of his wife. He found the troops discon-
tented with Galba's parsimony and strict discipline, and
succeeded in working them up to the point of revolt,
when Galba was slain and Otho succeeded him.

Galba, the seventh Caesar,
reigned from a.p. 68 to 69.

Otho, the eighth Caesar, ruled in
a tri-reign in the year ap. 69
with Galba and Vitellius

Vespasian planning the Colosseum open air auditorium for Rome

His reign, however, was to be brief, for Vitellius had
been proclaimed emperor by his troops almost on the
same day that Galba reached Rome. This was in Gaul,
and came about because, through his liberality, he had
made himself extremely popular with the soldiers. He
was drunk all the way to Rome, whither most of his
military supporters had preceded him. When he arrived
there, having routed the forces of Otho on the road, his
first act was to deify Nero. After that sacrilege, there was




THE ROMAN EMPIRE AND ITALY

19

nothing too base for him, and he became such a vile
debauchee that he was unable even to act the tyrant. The
administration was mostly in the hands of the freedman
Asiaticus, though P. Sabinus, brother of Vespasian, was
high in authority. Their government was marked by
moderation. The legions of Pannonia and Illyricum pro-
claimed Vespasian emperor, and advanced into Italy un-
der Antonius Primus. Several battles were fought, and
Rome was desolated by violence and bloodshed, till the
troops of Primus entered the city. Vitellius was found
wandering about his palace in a state of drunken terror,
and when he appeared on the streets was pounded to
death by the angry mob. His head was carried around
Rome, and his body thrown into the Tiber.

Vespasian had left his ton Titus to prosecute the siege
of Jerusalem, and was joyfully received in Rome, where
he set vigorously to work in restoring order. He was a
fine soldier, held the troops under firm discipline, im-
proved the finances, cooperated with the Senate and, best
of all, set a good example by his own conduct to his
subjects. He was simple in his habits, indifferent to flat-
tery, good-humored, and easy of access. Although par-
simonious in his private life, he was lavish in
embellishing the city with public works, and was a liberal
patron of the arts and sciences. He reigned ten years, and
died in the sixty-ninth year of his age.

Titus was the eldest son of Vespasian, and through his
careful training had become an accomplished scholar
and an adept in manly exercises. He was an admirable
soldier, and the task that his father left him, of prosecut-
ing the siege of Jerusalem, had been carried through with
success. His victory caused the utmost joy in Rome,
when the news reached the city. He laid the trophies of
victory at his father’s feet, and the two were given the
honor (in 71) of a joint triumph. Becoming the colleague
of his parent in the empire, Titus made an unfavorable
impression by his immoral and cruel conduct. He caused
persons whom he suspected of enmity to be put to death,
and his liaison with Berenice, daughter of Herod
Agrippa, gave great offense to the Romans.

When, however, Titus became emperor, he agreeably
disappointed everyone. He immediately stopped all per-
secutions for treasonable words and looks; repaired the
ancient and venerated structures of Rome; built new
ones, among them the Colosseum and the baths which
bear his name, and delighted the populace by games
which lasted one hundred days. The splendid beneficence
of his reign was sorely needed, for in 79 occurred the
appalling eruption of Vesuvius which destroyed Her-
culaneum and Pompeii and many other towns and vil-
lages. Herculaneum stood in the Campagna, close to the
Bay of Naples. It is not known when it was founded, but
its inhabitants took an active part in the social and civil
wars of Rome. It was completely buried under a shower
of ashes, over which a stream of lava flowed and after-
ward hardened. The configuration of the coast was so

changed that the city was entirely lost for sixteen centu-
ries, when an accident led to the discovery of its ruins in
1713. Twenty-five years later a systematic course of exca-
vation was begun. The interesting relics of antiquity, so
far as they were capable of removal, were taken to Na-
ples, and are now deposited, along with other relics from
Pompeii, in a large museum attached to the royal palace.
They include not only frescoes, statues, and works of art,
but articles of household furniture, such as tripods,
lamps, chandeliers, basins, mirrors, musical or surgical
instruments, and even cooking utensils. Excavations
have been resumed in recent years with the most interest-
ing results.

Pompeii was about twelve miles southeast from Na-
ples, in the plain at the foot of Mount Vesuvius, and was
one of the fashionable provincial cities of the Roman
Empire. Though most of the citizens escaped during the
incessant bombardment of lava stones, a large number
must have perished, as is proved by the finding of the
skeletons of soldiers on guard, and citizens apparently
overtaken by death in the midst of their usual employ-
ments. As in the case of Herculaneum, the discovery of
Pompeii in 1750 was accidental, but the excavations have
brought to light a living picture of a Roman city more
than eighteen hundred years ago, with all its depart-
ments of domestic and public life, the worship of the
gods, the shows of the arena, architecture, painting, and
sculpture, and in short all the appliances of comfort and
luxury as they existed in a wealthy community of those
remote days.

The year following the destruction of these cities, a
three-day fire in Rome reduced to ashes the Capitol,
Augustus’s library, Pompey’s theater, and numerous
houses, while on the heels of the conflagration came a
dreadful pestilence. Titus did everything in his power for
the homeless sufferers, even to the despoiling of his pal-
aces of their ornaments to obtain money, and he schemed

The death of Vitellius by the peaple
in the year a.p. 69

Aulus Vitellius reigned from
A4.D. 69 to 79 and was the ninth
Caesar. (From a coin of the
time)
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Domitian, the twelfth and the last
of the reigning Caesars, who ruled
(from a.p. 81 to 96) before the
advent of the Antonine Dynasty
beginning with Nerva in 96

and planned to find occupation for them. He became the
idol of his subjects, the *“love and delight of the human
race,” but at the beginning of the third year of his reign,
September 13, 81, he suddenly fell ill and died, his
younger brother Domitian being suspected by some of
having poisoned him.

Be that as it may, Domitian came to the throne in 81,
and ruled till 96. At first, he passed many good laws,
governed the provinces carefully, and administered jus-
tice, but the failure of his campaigns against the Dacians
and the Marcomanni (in 87) soured his whole nature. He
became ferocious in his suspicions, jealousy, and hatred;
and through murder and banishment, it is said, deprived
Rome of nearly all of the citizens conspicuous for their
learning, talent, or wealth. He held the army to him by
greatly increasing its pay, and won the favor of the peo-
ple by extravagant gifts and gladiatorial games and
shows, in some of which he took part. His cruelties
finally became so intolerable that his wife Domitia joined
in a conspiracy against him, and he perished from the
dagger on September 18, 96.

The Senate immediately elected M. Nerva as his suc-
cessor, though he was past three-score years of age. He
had twice held the honor of the consulship before his
election, and displayed great wisdom and moderation.
The taxes were lessened, and the administration of jus-
tice improved, but his advanced age rendered him unable
to repress the insolence of the Practorian Guards, and he
adopted M. Ulpius Trajanus, known as Trajan, who suc-
ceeded him on his death, January 27, 98.

Trajan began his administration by the usual largess
to the soldiers, extending the same to the Roman citizens
and their families, and he made large provision out of the
imperial treasury for the upbringing of the children of
poor freemen in Rome and other Italian towns. It was
in the year 101 that Rome beheld, for the first time, its

emperor leading forth its legions in person upon their
career of conquest. Trajan then set out on his first cam-
paign against the Dacians, who had compelled Rome
since the time of Domitian to pay them tribute. The
struggle was long and severe, but was completely suc-
cessful (104-105), and Dacia became a royal province.
This was the first conquest since the death of Augustus,
and was celebrated on Trajan’s return to Rome by a
triumph and splendid games which lasted for four
months.

Trajan’s appetite for foreign conquest was whetted by
his success, and in 106 he again set out for the East.
Landing in Syria, he moved northward, receiving the
submission of numerous princes on the way, and occupy-
ing Armenia, which he made a province of the empire.
Though he was busy for the succeeding seven years, we
have no clear record of what he did. Once more he went
to Syria in 115, his objective point being the Parthian
Empire. Its capital hardly offered the semblance of resis-
tance, and he descended the Tigris, subduing the tribes
on both banks and being the first and only Roman gen-
eral to navigate the Persian Gulf. When he returned, he
found it necessary to reconquer Mesopotamia, north
Syria, and Arabia, and he did it more thoroughly than
before. By this time he was in a sad bodily condition from
dropsy and paralysis and, while on the return to Italy,
died at Selinus, in Cilicia, in August 117.

Although so much of Trajan’s reign was taken up with
his military campaigns, his administration of civil affairs
was admirable. Equal justice was secured for all; the
imperial finances were greatly improved, and peculation
on the part of public officers was severely punished. One
of the fads of the Roman emperors was the improvement
and beautifying of Rome, and none did more through
work in that respect than Trajan. The empire was tra-
versed in all directions by military routes; canals and
bridges were built, new towns arose, the Via Appia was
restored, the Pontine Marshes partially drained, the
“Forum Trajani” erected, and the harbor of Civita
Vecchia constructed. A striking proof of the sincerity of
this emperor’s labors to improve the condition of his
subjects was shown in the wish, which it became the
fashion formally to utter, on the accession of each of his

The Trajan Arch in Rome
erected in honor of the emperor
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successors: ‘“‘May he be happier than Augustus, better
than Trajan.”

Trajan died childless, and his successor was P. Aelius
Hadrianus, or Hadrian, the son of Trajan’s cousin. He
had not only displayed great ability in the various high
offices he filled, but he was a favorite of the empress.
Trajan had the right to name his heir, and when the
empress announced that it was Hadrian, the citizens and
Senate accepted him without murmur.

The empire at this time was in a critical condition.
There were insurrections in Egypt, Palestine, and Syria;
the barbarian hordes were swarming into Moesia in the
East and Mauritania in the West, and the turbulent Par-
thians had once more asserted their independence and
administered several defeats to the imperial forces.

Looking calmly at the situation which confronted
him, Hadrian was convinced that a peaceful policy was
the true one. He decided to limit the Roman boundaries
in the East, and concluded a peace with the Parthians by
which he surrendered all the country beyond the Eu-
phrates to them. Returning to Rome in 118, he treated
the people liberally, but suppressed with relentless sever-
ity a patrician conspiracy against his life. He then, by
means of large gifts, induced the Roxolani, who are the
modern Russians, to retire from Moesia, which they had
invaded.

The year 119 saw the beginning of Hadrian’s remark-
able journey, most of which he is said to have performed
on foot. He visited Gaul, Germany, Britain, Spain,
Mauritania, Egypt, Greece, and Asia Minor. In Britain,
he built the wall which extends from the Solway to the
Tyne, and did not return to Rome until seven years later,
when he received the title of Pater Patriae. He was so
fond of the city of Athens that he spent the years 132 and
133 there. Making another visit to Syria, he came back
to Italy, and passed the remainder of his life around
Rome, dying July 10, 138, at Baiae.

The vigor and thoroughness with which Hadrian reor-
ganized and disciplined the army remove all thought
that his peaceful policy was attributable to fear or weak-
ness. He did more than any emperor to consolidate the
monarchical system of Rome. He divided Italy into four
parts, each under a consul, to whom was entrusted the
administration of justice. Among the numerous splendid
edifices he erected was the mausoleum called the Moles
Hadriani, the Aelian bridge leading to it, and the splen-
did villa at Tibur. He also laid the foundation of several
cities, the most important of which was Adrianopolis.
He placed a high value on Greek literature, and was a
lover and patron of the fine arts.

Hadrian adopted as his heir T. Aurelius Antoninus, of
excellent abilities and in middle life. Him Hadrian re-
quired to select two heirs, M. Annius, his own sister’s
son, and Lucius Verus, the child of his late comrade.
Antoninus Pius (the Senate having added the latter
name) had served Hadrian as proconsul in Asia, where
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Later Roman emperors. Top, left to right: Caracalla, son of Septimius

Severus, who reigned from 211 to 217, was credited with giving all free

inhabitants of the Roman Empire citizenship; Domitian, emperor from

81 to 96, left no particular mark in history; Trajan, who reigned from

98 to 117, conquered Dacia (Romania); and Diocletian (284-305) orga-

nized the empire into 101 provinces, which was a creditable reorganiza-

tion, and the remnants of it remain until this day. Center, left to right:

Constantine the Great, who ruled from 307 to 337, came to terms with
Licinius, the Augustus of the East, and defeated Augustus of the West
at the gates of Rome in 312 in the Battle of Milvian Bridge. It was at
the conclusion of the battle that the soldiers saw the Christian Cross in
the sky, giving rise to the legend that this vision was the symbol of victory;
he allowed the Christians freedom of worship and moved the capital of
the empire to Byzantium, which was renamed Constantingple in his
honor. Septimius Severus (193-211) was another emperor who left no
historical mark. Bottom, left to right: Antonius Pius, who reigned from

138 10 161, was the actual founder of the Antonine Dynasty; Commodus
(180-92), did little to advance the empire; Julianus (the Apostate) was
named emperor at Lutetia (Paris) at twenty-nine years of age and upon
the death of Constantius II, his father, in 361, he was left the legitimate
emperor, tried to bring back paganism to the world but died in a battle
with the Persians in 363 before he could make much progress. His papers
are still read and accepted today on Neoplatonist philosophy. And Ha-
drian, emperor from 117 to 138, is most famous today for his Hadrian
Wall in Britain, a part of his efforts to keep the territory his predecessors
had conquered.
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Marcus Aurelius

the gentle wisdom of his rule gave him a higher reputa-
tion than any of his predecessors. He inherited great
wealth and made one of the best emperors who ever
ruled imperial Rome. He was simple, temperate, and
kind, his highest object being that of benefiting his peo-
ple, who looked up to him in the truest sense as the father
of his country. His mild hand partly stayed the persecu-
tion of the Christians, which was continued during his
reign. Fond of peace, the only important war in which
he engaged was against Britain, where the Roman power
was extended. He also built a wall between the Forth and
the Clyde, as a check against the predatory tribes of the
North. He was so widely known for his integrity and
justice that he was often employed to arbitrate in the
affairs of foreign states. To his wisdom, kindness, and
unvarying courtesy was due the freedom of his vast em-
pire from insurrections, violence, conspiracies, and
bloodshed. It may be said, in brief, that he furnished a
model for those who came after him, though, sad to say,
few were able to measure up to his splendid standard. He
died in 161, and was succeeded by Marcus Annius,
called Aurelius, who, as we have learned, had been se-
lected as heir at the command of Hadrian.

Aurelius had been made consul in 140, and, up to his
accession to the throne, he discharged the duties with
faithfulness and ability. He and the emperor had been
the closest of friends. Aurelius, on becoming emperor,
showed his chivalry of character by voluntarily sharing
the government with young Lucius Verus, who from that
time bore the title of Lucius Aurelius Verus. Such a ruler
as Aurelius was sure to win the respect and love of his
subjects, but Lucius, when sent to take part in the Par-
thian War, remained in Antioch, sunk in debasing plea-
sures, leaving his officers to prosecute the struggle, and
at the close he returned home and enjoyed the triumph
to which he had no claim. The troops brought a pesti-
lence, which, together with appalling inundations and
earthquakes, laid much of the city in ruins, and de-
stroyed the granaries where the supplies of corn were

kept. A formidable insurrection had long been fomenting
in the German provinces; the Britons were on the point
of revolt, and the Catti (the Suevi of Julius Caesar, who
lived in the country nearly corresponding to the present
Hesse) were ready to devastate the Rhenish provinces.

The manifold calamities that had fallen and still
threatened to fall so terrified the Romans that, to allay
them, Marcus determined to go forth to war himself. For
a time Marcus and Lucius were completely successful.
The Marcomanni and the other rebellious tribes, living
between Illyria and the sources of the Danube, were
compelled to sue for peace in 168, the year preceding the
death of Lucius. The contest was renewed in 170 and,
with little intermission, lasted throughout the life of the
emperor. Marcus carried on the campaign with amazing
vigor and skill, and nearly annihilated the Marcomanni
and the Jazyges.

Connected with this war was a victory so unprece-
dented that some historians accept it as a miracle. The
Romans were perishing of thirst and heat, on a summer
day in 174, when, without warning, the flaming sky was
darkened by a black cloud from which the cooling rain
descended in torrents. The feverish soldiers abandoned
themselves to the lifegiving drafts, when the barbarians
assailed them with furious energy, and assuredly would
have annihilated them, had not a storm of hail and fire
descended upon the assailants alone, and scattered them
in headlong terror. So profound indeed was the dread
inspired that the Germanic tribes hastened from all di-
rections to beg for mercy.

This astounding occurrence could hardly be believed
were it not established by every soldier of a large army,
and by Aurelius himself, who was incapable of false-
hood. It certainly was one of the strangest incidents in
history.

At this juncture, a new outbreak occurred in the East,
brought about by the shocking treachery of the em-
peror’s own wife. This wicked woman urged rebellion by
Governor Avidius Cassius, a descendant of the Cassius
who had slain Caesar. The emperor, though in poor
health, was obliged to leave Pannonia with the least
possible delay. Cassius seized the whole of Asia Minor,
but was slain by his own soldiers. Marcus Aurelius ex-
pressed his sorrow that the fates had thus deprived him
of the happiness of pardoning the man who had con-
spired against his happiness. He exhibited the same mag-
nanimity on his arrival in the East, where he refused to
read the papers of Cassius, and ordered them to be
burned, so that he might not be led to suspect anyone of
being a traitor. He treated the provinces with such gen-
tleness that he won their love and disarmed them of all
enmity. While he was thus engaged, his disloyal wife died
in an obscure village, and the husband paid her every
honor.

On his way back to Rome, he visited Lower Egypt and
Greece, and by his noble efforts in behalf of his subjects
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won their profound gratitude. In Athens he founded
chairs of philosophy for each of the four chief sects—
Platonic, Stoic, Peripatetic, and Epicurean. Reaching It-
aly, he celebrated his bloodless triumph on December 23,
176. Fresh disturbances having broken out in Germany,
he went thither in the following autumn and was again
successful. But his weak constitution by this time was
shattered by the hardships, sufferings, and anxiety he
had borne so long. He died in Vienna on March 17, 180.

THE GROWTH OF CHRISTIANITY

With all that has been said of that extraordinary man
and emperor, Marcus Aurelius, justice requires mention
of a feature of his character that the reader probably has
not suspected—his hostility to Christianity. He was a
persecutor of the new religion, and must have known of
the cruelties perpetrated upon the believers. There have
been many explanations of his course, the generally ac-
cepted one being that he was led astray by evil counsel-
ors, but the more probable cause is that he was actuated
by his earnestness in the heathen faith of his ancestors,
and the belief that the new doctrine threatened to under-
mine the empire itself. He did not comprehend the reli-
gion of gentleness and love, and thought it his duty to
extirpate the dangerous sect.

The most important facts connected with the history
of the Roman Empire is the spread of Christianity within
its confines. The variety of peoples had a variety of reli-
gions, but all, with the exception of the Jews, were pa-
gans and polytheists, or believers in many gods. Such
was the spiritual state of the myriads of human beings,
when Christ was born in an obscure corner of the domin-
ion of Augustus, and when the seed was sown whose
harvest no man could foresee or dream of in his wildest
imaginings.

The propagation of the new faith was marked by fero-
cious persecutions. We have learned of the first one,
which was that by the fiendish Nero, who aimed to turn
suspicion against the Christians as the incendiaries of
Rome, in order to hide his own guilt. Tacitus, the great
Roman historian, who was born under Nero, says of this
diabolical infamy: “Some were nailed on crosses, others
sewn up in the skins of wild beasts and exposed to the
fury of dogs; others again smeared over with combustible
materials were used as torches to illuminate the darkness
of the night. The gardens of Nero were destined for the
melancholy spectacle, which was accompanied with a
horse-race, and honored with the presence of the Em-
peror, who mingled with the populace in the dress and
attitude of a charioteer.”

Now it may be asked why the Romans, who permitted
innumerable religions to flourish within their empire,
concentrated their furious persecutions upon the Chris-
tians. The main cause was the proselyting ardor of the
Christians themselves. The believer in that faith was
taught as one of his basic duties that he must not selfishly

absorb it unto himself, but do all he could to persuade
his brethren to share it with him. Its very nature, there-
fore, made it aggressive, while the numerous pagan faiths
were passive. Christianity did what no other faith did. It
boldly taught that all the gods of the Romans were false,
and that it was a sin to bow down to them. Not only that,
but it did its utmost to lead all others to think the same.
The early Christians held their meetings secretly and at
night, and this was looked upon with disfavor by the
authorities, who saw the germs of danger in the practice.
But, as has been said, the blood of the martyrs was the
seed of the church, and as we progress in the history of
the Roman Empire, this truth will manifest itself again
and again.

The reader has gone sufficiently far through these
pages to note another fact: the real power of empire lay
in the soldiery who stood behind the throne. We have
learned of the insolence of the Praetorian Guards, who
dared to insult an emperor to his face, and who did not
hesitate to make and unmake sovereigns at will, with the
Senate always ready to record and accept the decree of
the soldiers. Inasmuch as each new ruler signalized his
accession to the throne by distributing largesses, it fol-
lowed that the more emperors there were, the greater
would be the gifts distributed. So the troops became
addicted to deposing emperors and selecting new ones.
The man fixed upon for the purple was usually a favorite
general, and as there were plenty of them, it followed
that Rome sometimes had several emperors at the same
time. No man dared aspire to the crown without the
backing of the soldiers.

The only accession of territory by Rome during the
first century of the Christian Era was Britain. In the
words of Edward Gibbon, the outstanding English his-
torian of the eighteenth century: “After a war of about
forty years, undertaken by the most stupid (Claudius),
maintained by the most dissolute (Nero), and terminated
by the most timid (Domitian) of all the emperors, the
greater part of the island of Britain submitted to the
Roman yoke.” We remember the addition of the prov-
ince of Dacia by Trajan in the early part of the second
century.

One cruel amusement of the Romans was their gladia-
torial fights, which date from their earliest history. The
popularity of these increased, till the time came when
magistrates, public officers, and candidates for the popu-
lar suffrage gave shows to the people, which consisted
mainly of the bloody and generally fatal encounters; but
no earlier leaders equaled the emperors in providing the
people with the fearful exhibitions. In one given by Julius
Caesar, 320 couples engaged in combat. In the terrific
display offered by Trajan, lasting 123 days, ten thousand
gladiators were exhibited at once, and two thousand
fought with and killed one another, or contended with
wild beasts for the amusement of the seventy thousand
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spectators in the Colosseum, who included every grade
of society from the highest to the lowest.

Sinewy, athletic slaves were brought from all parts of
the dominions and trained for the combats, as horses
have been trained in later times for races. There were so
many gladiators during the conspiracy of Catiline that
they were deemed dangerous to the public safety, and the
proposal was made to distribute them among the differ-
ent garrisons. The exhibitions became so numerous that
efforts were made to limit the number of gladiators. Cic-
ero advocated a law forbidding anyone giving a show for
one or two years before becoming a candidate for public
office, and Augustus prohibited more than two shows a
year, or the giving of one by a person worth less than
twenty thousand dollars; but the passion was so strong
that it was impossible to keep the terrible exhibitions
within moderate limits.

A gladiatorial show was announced by pictures and
show bills, after the fashion of modern theatrical plays.
All the trained contestants were sworn to fight to the
death, and the display of cowardice was followed by fatal
tortures. The fighting at first was with wooden swords,
which soon gave way to steel weapons. When one of the
combatants had disarmed his opponent, he placed his
foot on his body, and looked at the emperor, if present,
or to the people, for the signal of life or death. If they
raised their thumbs, he was spared; if they turned them
down, he was slain. The gladiator who conquered was
rewarded with a palm and in some cases with his free-
dom. At first the gladiators were slaves, but afterward
freemen and even knights entered the arena. In the time
of Nero senators and knights fought, and under Domi-
tian women appeared as combatants. The gladiatorial
contests were prohibited by Constantine in 325, but it
was not till nearly two centuries later, under Theodoric,
that they were finally abolished.

The decline of the mighty empire was thus begun
through the sapping of Roman manliness; the process
continued to the final crash. Commodus (180-92) was
the legitimate son and heir of Marcus Aurelius, and

The death of Emperor
Commodus

under him the worst days of Caligula and Nero were
revived. He brought the Macedonian War, inherited
from his father, to an end by a dishonorable peace, and
abandoned himself to the most degrading debauchery.
Seven hundred and fifty times he posed as a gladiator in
the arena. He had arranged to enter a specially splendid
festival as a gladiator on the first of January 193, but was
murdered the night preceding, and the Senate by resolu-
tion declared his memory dishonored. The honorable
and vigorous Senator P. Helvidius Pertinax spent three
months in bringing order out of chaos. His ability made
him feared by the Praetorians, and they murdered him.
They then openly offered the empire to the highest bid-
der, and set a pretender on the throne. At the same time
three other claimants were advanced by three other bod-
ies of troops.

L. Septimius Severus (193-211), commander on the
Danube, was the first to enter Rome, where by his energy
and address he won over the Senate. It required four
years of vigorous fighting to dispose of his competitors,
and he then became supreme. The Parthians having sup-
ported one of his opponents, he waged successful war
against them and succeeded even in gaining a new prov-
ince in Mesopotamia. He was finally compelled to take
the field against the turbulent tribes of Britain, and died
at the present city of York in February 211.

M. Aurelius Antoninus Caracalla (211-17), son of
Severus, was another miscreant, who, impatient to ob-
tain the throne, made an attempt on his father’s life. He
lost no time in killing his brother and fellow emperor
Geta, with all who supported him, twenty thousand in
number. He found means for his extravagance and ex-
cesses, in robbing his subjects. A monument of his lavish-
ness as a builder is the immense ruins of the famous
Baths of Caracalla, in Rome. An important political act
of his reign was the bestowment of Roman citizenship on
all municipalities of the empire—a step necessary in or-
der to obtain new taxes for filling his treasury. He
showed feebleness in his wars on the frontiers of the
Rhine and the Danube, and against the Parthians. He
showed his savage cruelty at Alexandria in Egypt. He
had entered that city in triumphal procession; but in the
midst of all the pomp the “Emperor of the World™ fell
back in his chariot and slumbered in drunken stupor.
The young men of the city laughed and made a jest of
this, whereon Caracalla sent his troops out through the
streets for six successive days on a general massacre.

While engaged in a last campaign against Parthia, he
was murdered by order of Macrinus, his prefect of the
guard, who wore the purple for a brief while, until the
Syrian troops raised to the throne Heliogabalus
(Elagabalus), who was a distant relative of the house of
Severus, and only fourteen years old. The soldiers en-
dured this degenerate youth for nearly four years, and
then murdered him and his mother.

Alexander Severus (222-35), a cousin of the wretch
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who had been murdered, was too young to carry on the
government alone, and it remained for the time in the
hands of his grandmother Maesa. The young emperor
meant well, but was too weak by nature to impress him-
self upon those troublous times. His wars brought no
credit to the Roman Empire, and he vainly combated the
assaults on the Roman possessions in Asia made by the
new Persian Empire. Equally fruitless were his cam-
paigns against the Germans, which he next undertook.
His attempts at discipline angered the legions, and when
Maximinus, a popular general, presented himself as a
rival emperor, the soldiers slew Alexander and went over
to Maximinus in a body.

Thus passed away the last of the descendants of Seve-
rus, and the decline of the empire grew more rapid.
Rome became the scene of anarchy, violence, and blood-
shed, for the struggle was fierce and continuous among
those bitten with the madness of ruthless ambition. Our
list contains the names of all these imperators, some of
whom held their power for only a few weeks or months.
Gordianus III (238—44) prosecuted a successful cam-
paign against the Persians, and compelled them to give
back Mesopotamia, but he was slain before the close of
the war by his prefect of the guards, Philippus (244-49),
who fell in battle with a rnival, Decius.

Valerian (253-60) braced all his energies against the
tide that was sweeping everything to destruction, but was
unable to stay it, and was carried with the resistless
current. The territory between the Limes and Rhine was
lost; the Saxons plundered the coasts; the Goths were
edging into Greece; the Franks and Alemanni tramped
through Gaul, and Valerian himself was taken prisoner
by the Persians and died in captivity. Claudius II (268—
70) started well, but had only fairly done so when he
died.

Aurelian (270-75), a famous general, roused the hope
of his countrymen by his skill and patriotism. He re-
pelled the Alemanni and Goths, and restored for a brief
while the unity of the empire. He conquered a Gallic
usurper and destroyed Zenobia’s kingdom of Palmyra.
Zenobia was a beautiful Arab queen. Her husband
founded an empire in the Asian deserts, and defeated
both the Persians and the Romans. After his death
Zenobia maintained and even increased the power of her
empire. Great men rallied round her, and for a moment
it seemed that Rome had found a rival. Aurelian, how-
ever, besieged and mastered her capital after a struggle
heroic on both sides; and the proud and beautiful queen
was led as his captive in a Roman triumph. Aurelian’s
home government was firm and wise, and the circumval-
lation of Rome, still largely preserved, is a monument to
his public spirit and enterprise. While fighting against
the Persians, he was murdered near Byzantium in 275.

Probus (276-82) was, like Aurelian, of Illyrian de-
scent, and was commander of the Syrian troops. He
displayed brilliant ability in driving back the Germans,

and restored the old frontier of the Limes. He was wise
in inducing thousands of Germans to settle on Roman
soil, where they were encouraged in vine growing and the
tillage of the land. He also took many of them into the
army, and treated the Senate with consideration, but he
was doomed to share the fate of so many of his predeces-
sors, for the soldiers, angered by his goodness and strict-
ness, put him to death. From the swirl of strife and
bloodshed finally emerged Diocletian (284-305), who
introduced a new era in the history of the monarchy.

The first years of his administration were so disturbed
by the aggressions of the barbarians that he took a col-
league, Maximian, who, under the title of Augustus,
became joint emperor in 286. Diocletian retained for
himself the government of the eastern empire and gave
the western to Maximian, but the attacks became more
threatening and Diocletian divided the kingdom again.
In 292, Constantius Chlorus and Galerius were pro-
claimed as caesars, and the fourfold partition was appro-
priated as follows: Diocletian the East, with Nicomedia
as his seat of government; Maximian, Italy and Africa,
with Milan as his residence; Constantius, Britain, Gaul,
and Spain, with Treves as his capital; Galerius, Illyricum
and the valley of the Danube, with Sirmium as his head-
quarters. Diocletian seldom took the field, so that most
of the fighting fell to his colleagues. Among the recon-
quests was that of Britain, which in 296 was restored to
the empire. In addition, the Persians were defeated and
compelled to submit in 298, and the northern barbarians
were driven beyond the frontiers. Diocletian’s tempestu-
ous rule lasted for twenty-one years, when he abdicated
his throne, forcing his colleague Maximian, much
against his will, to do the same at Milan. Two years
before his abdication, he was instigated by his colleague
Galerius, his son-in-law, to that bloody persecution of
the Christians which has made his rule memorable in
history.

The emperor issued an edict commanding all Chris-
tian churches to be demolished, all copies of the sacred

Diocletian tried to destroy Christianity but gave up and resigned. He
built the greatest palace ever erected by a sovereign. It was an entire town
and parts of it still stand today in Spalato on the Dalmatia coast.
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When Diocletian gave up his throne in 305, Constantine the Great, a very
religious person, took over the empire soon afterward. He is seen here in
an allegorical painting showing the Christian Cross in a vision over his
soldiers, and himself.

Scriptures to be burned, and every Christian to be de-
graded from honor and rank. Hardly had this proclama-
tion been posted up, when a Christian noble stepped
forward and tore it down. He made no attempt to con-
ceal his act, and being arrested was roasted to death. A
fire broke out in the palace, but, since it was quickly
extinguished, there is cause for belief that it was kindled
to furnish a pretext for persecuting the Christians. They
suffered every conceivable torture, and the flames of per-
secution raged everywhere in the empire except in Gaul,
Britain, and Spain, where Constantius ruled. Diocletian
and Maximian abdicating as we have shown, Galerius
gave unrestrained indulgence to his infernal hatred of the
Christians. “With little rest, for eight years,” says a
writer, “the whip and the rack, the tigers, the hooks of
steel, and the red-hot beds continued to do their deadly
work. And then in 311, when life was fading from his
dying eye, Galerius published an edict permitting Chris-
tians to worship God in their own way.”

Christianity from its divine nature is deathless, and no
persecution or human enmity can stay its advances.
Galerius, its fiendish foe, was dead, and now came the

wonderful occurrence of a Roman emperor professing
Christianity. While Constantius Chlorus was fighting in
Britain, he died, and the soldiers proclaimed his son
Constantine emperor. This was easy enough, and in ac-
cordance with the usual fashion, but the first step the
new emperor had to take by way of self-preservation was
to overcome five rivals.

In the prosecution of this stupendous task, he was on
his way in 312 to attack his rival Maxentius near Rome,
when, so he declared, he saw with his own eyes the form
of a flaming cross in the heavens, standing out above the
sun and inscribed with the words: */n hoc vince” (By this
conquer). In the battle which shortly followed, Maxen-
tius was overthrown, and, like Saul of Tarsus, who saw
the great light on the way to Damascus, Constantine
resolved to accept the new faith and become a Christian.

It is said by the early church historians that on the
night following this vision, the Savior appeared to Con-
stantine in a dream, and commanded him to frame a
similar standard, and to march under it with the assur-
ance of victory. Thus originated the famous /abarum, or
standard of the cross, displayed by the Christian emper-
ors in their campaigns. The X in the top of the labarum
represents the cross, and is the initial of the Greek word
for Christ.

While the personal conduct of Constantine in many
instances was shockingly contrary to the spirit of Chris-
tianity, for he was cruel and licentious, it cannot be
denied that he dealt prodigious blows in favor of the new
faith. His first act was the issuance of the Edict of Milan,
which brought peace to the sorely harried Christian
church. In 324, he defeated the last of his rivals, and
made Christianity the religion of the state. He sent out
circular letters to his subjects, whom he exhorted to
embrace the divine truth of Christianity. His example
could not fail to have tremendous influence, and thou-
sands did as he asked them. It is estimated that during
his reign a twentieth part of the population were profess-
ing Christians. Instead of persecuting paganism in its
turn, Constantine assailed it with ridicule and neglect.
With the public money he repaired the old churches and
built new ones, so that it came about that in all the
leading cities the strange sight was presented of the pa-
gan temples being surpassed in splendor by the new
places of worship. The Christian clergy were no longer
required to pay taxes, and Sunday was proclaimed a day
of rest. Finally, Constantine removed the seat of govern-
ment to Byzantium, which henceforth became known as
Constantinople, in his honor, and was essentially a
Christian city.

Now, while Constantine professed Christianity, it is
impossible to believe that his heart was touched by its
gentle teachings, for his private conduct was ferocious.
He must have been controlled largely by political and
selfish motives. He and Licinius, through the famous
edicts of Milan and Nicomedia, simply declared the
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equality of Christianity with the old state religion. The
path of Constantine was crimsoned with blood, for he
shrank from no crime against even his nearest relatives,
in order that he might accomplish his aims. His father-
in-law Maximinus, his brother-in-law Licinius, and the
latter’s son, fell before him in the struggle for the monar-
chy, and finally his own son by his first marriage, the
worthy Caesar Crispus, because of his popularity,
aroused the fatal jealousy of Constantine. This emperor
died, May 22, 337, while making his preparations for a
Persian war in Nicomedia.

THE BARBARIANS DESTROY THE
EMPIRE

Constantine had shifted his capital to Constantinople.
In the vigor of his career, he had appointed his three sons
by his second marriage to be caesars, and at his death the
empire was apportioned among them. Constantine II
received the West; Constantius, Asia with Egypt; and
Constans, Italy and Africa. Almost from the first a furi-
ous quarreling raged among them. Constantine was de-
feated by Constans and killed at Aquileia in 340. This
gave the latter dominance in the empire, and he gained
some creditable successes over the Germans, but he
made himself so odious by his arbitrary conduct that his
troops slew him and proclaimed as emperor one of his
generals, Magnentius, a Frank by birth (350). Magnen-
tius suffered defeat at the hands of Constantius, and in
despair slew himself. Thus Constantius became sole
monarch in 353, and reigned until 360. Before leaving
the East, he had appointed his cousin Gallus as caesar,
but, suspecting his infidelity, caused him to be murdered
in 354. There was urgent need of the presence of the
emperor in the East, and the inroads of the Germans into
Gaul demanded a strong commander in the West. Con-
stantius, therefore, sent his cousin Julianus, brother of
the murdered Gallus, into Gaul as caesar.

This was the man of whom we have already learned
something, and who figures in history as Julian the Apos-
tate. He was successful against the Alemanni and
Franks, and checked the tide of German invasion for
several years. Constantius did not do so well in the terri-
tory of the Danube and, becoming jealous of Julianus,
ordered him to send him a part of his troops to help in
an impending Persian war. These soldiers refused to
leave Julianus, and proclaimed him emperor in Paris.
Before Constantius could march to the attack, he died at
Cilicia, and Julianus became sole emperor (361-63).

He gained the name of the Apostate through his efforts
to supplant Christianity with paganism. He had been
brought up in the former belief, but he abandoned it; and
it is not unlikely that the bloody quarrels of Constantine
and other professing Christian leaders had much to do
with his contempt for the faith they claimed to follow.
How far Julianus would have succeeded in his purpose

it is impossible to say, had his life been spared, but all
his plans came to naught through his death in June 363.

Jovian was the nominee of the army, and, having made
a disgraceful peace with the Germans, he retreated and
then died in February 364, whereupon Valentinian I was
elected emperor and, at the request of the army, took his
brother Flavius Valens to share the throne with him.
Valentinian had charge of the West, and reigned from
364 to 375, while Valens, beginning in the same year,
held power till 378.

Valentinian fought with success against the Alemanni
and Sarmatians, and his distinguished general,
Theodosius, father of the later emperor of that name,
held Britain and Africa. Valentinian, dying in the year
named, was followed by his two sons Gratian and Valen-
tinian II, the latter still a minor. The former was per-
suaded by Ambrose, the famous Bishop of Milan, to
deprive the pagan worship of the support hitherto re-
ceived from the state.

The reader has not failed to note the great change
through which the Roman Empire had been passing for
a long time. The “pangs of transformation” were pro-
tracted through centuries, but they were complete. The
empire consisted of Italy and the provinces, and for a
time their respective governments were on a different
footing. The inhabitants of Italy were Roman citizens,
with the provincials under the rule of Roman officials.
But there began the formation of a nation of Romans in
the provinces through the expedient of introducing colo-
nies and of admitting the most deserving of the provin-

Valentinian I, the last emperor of
the Roman Empire, divided his
domain with his brother Valens,
who became the emperor of the
East in 364. The two empires
remained separate until 476.

The death of Julian the Apostate
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Theodosius I (the Great),
considered a great general, had
some early conflict with the
Church and is seen here being
refused admission 10 the church
by Saint Ambrose, the bishop of
Milan. Theodosius soon
accepted Christianity in its
Sfullest terms. Upon his death,
in 395, he was the emperor of
both the East and the West
empires and they were split up
between his sons, Arcadius
taking the East and Honorius
the West.

A gold medal issued by Theodosius

cials to the freedom of Rome. Under Caracalla (211-17),
the distinction between Romans and provincials was
wiped out, and Roman citizenship was given to all the
free inhabitants of the empire. By this time, the inhabi-
tants of Gaul, Spain, North Africa, and Illyria had
become thorough Romans, a proof of which is that sev-
eral of the later emperors were provincials, as they would
have been called at an earlier date.

It inevitably followed that when all distinction ceased
between Italy and the rest of the Roman Empire, Rome
lost its importance as the center of imperial dominion.
You recall the division of the empire under Diocletian,
and the removal of the capital to Byzantium (Constan-
tinople) by Constantine. The pulsations of the great
heart at Rome had sent all the blood through the arteries
into the provinces, where it remained.

Theodosius I (379-95) was the last emperor who ruled
over the whole Roman Empire. He was a great man and
a zealous friend of the Christian religion. You have been
told of the meekness with which he submitted to the
repulse by Ambrose, Bishop of Milan, because of the
massacre in Thessalonica. His reign, however, was very
brief, for he died in January 395 at Milan. He left the
empire to his two sons, Honorius ruling in the West,
which was the Latin Empire, while Arcadius held sway
over the East, which was the Greek, or Byzantine, Em-
pire. This division was in reality only the continuance or,
rather, completion of what had been done by preceding
emperors.

There could be no mistaking the signs which foretold
the fall of Rome. It has been shown that the Romans had
ceased to be a nation, because the nation was absorbed
by the empire. There had been a steady mixture of for-
eign bloods, until only a mongrel race remained in the
ancient city. The sturdy ancient Roman—the perfection
of manly vigor and strength—was gone, and in his place
remained a debauched, effeminate, luxury-loving people,
wholly abandoned to self-indulgence. If a few exceptions
rose here and there, like towering oaks in a decaying
forest, the majority were rotten to the core. The emper-
ors and wealthy classes lived for animal pleasure alone.

The lusty Teutonic or German tribes had lived for
centuries among the forests of the North, and gave more
than one Roman emperor all he could do to shove them
back over the boundaries they persisted in crossing. In
time the question arose whether it was not a wise step to
permit these barbarians to come into the country and
mix with the Romans, who could not fail to be improved
by the infusion of so superb a strain. Moreover, these
massive neighbors had heard of the new faith—Chris-
tianity—and in a crude way accepted its truths. Finally,
in the latter half of the fourth century, under the Roman
emperor Valens, a large body of Teutons were permitted
to make their homes within the limits of the empire.
Their dwelling place north of the Danube is now called
Moldavia and Wallachia, and had been the province of
Dacia in the time of Trajan, but it was abandoned by the
Romans under Aurelian. These Goths accepted Chris-
tianity in the Arian form (Arius held Christ to be inferior
to God the Father in dignity and nature), from Bishop
Ulfilas, whose translation of the Scriptures into the
Gothic tongue is the oldest Teutonic writing of which we
have knowledge.

Valens, the first emperor of the East
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In the latter part of the fourth century, the Goths
became restless under the pressure of the shaggy Huns
—Tartars, or Kalmucks—who, yielding to that strange
impulse known as the “wanderings of nations,” were
come out of eastern Asia, and were pushing their way
into Europe. Helpless to hold their own against them, the
Goths appealed to the emperor Valens, then ruling over
the East, to allow them to cross to the south side of the
Danube, and thus place that river as a barrier between
them and their ferocious enemies. The emperor was sus-
picious of the fealty of the Goths, and consented only on
condition that they should surrender their children and
weapons. This hard proposal was accepted, and the Ro-
mans furnished the boats, which for days and nights
were rowed back and forth, carrying their loads of inno-
cent ones. Then having given them up, the Goths bribed
the Roman officers to allow them to keep their arms.
Thus, in 376, a million men, women, and slaves crossed
one of the natural frontiers of the empire and settled
within its borders.

But the Romans counted unwisely upon the forbear-
ance of the Goths, when they treated them with great
brutality and left them with no means against starvation.
In their desperation, the Goths marshaled their fierce
warriors and marched against Constantinople. The an-
gered Roman army met them near Adrianople, and were
disastrously defeated, the emperor losing his life in the
battle, which was fought in 378. Then the horde overran
the fertile region westward to the borders of Italy and the
Adriatic Sea.

Theodosius, who well deserved the name of the Great,
compelled the Goths to submit and settle down quietly,
many of them taking service in the Roman armies. But
this did not last long. The sons of Theodosius were weak-
lings, and, when they divided the Roman Empire be-
tween them, the Visigoths, or Western Goths, rebelled,
and elevated their chief Alaric upon their shields, which
was their national mode of electing a king. Alaric spread
desolation through Greece, conquered the Roman ar-
mies there, and sacked their cities. Then he and his
Goths hurled themselves upon Italy. They captured and
sacked Rome in 410. It was what Pyrrhus and Hannibal,
the Greek and the Carthaginian, had failed to do. Until
Alaric entered, Rome had not seen a foreign master
within her gates since the time of Brennus, eight hundred
years before.

After six days of pillage Alaric withdrew from Rome
and ravaged southern Italy. His adoring followers
looked on him almost as a god. When he died they
turned aside the waters of the river Busentinus and bur-
ied him on horseback within its depths. Then the waters
were allowed to flow back over the grave, and all the
slaves who knew where it lay were slain, so that he might
rest forever undisturbed.

The Western Empire was fast crumbling to pieces.
Britain was abandoned by the Romans and was soon

inundated by the German tribes known as Angles and
Saxons. The different Teutonic clans invaded Gaul and
from Gaul passed into Spain, which was conquered by
Vandals, Sueves, and other German races; while Gaul
was overrun by Franks, Burgundians, and Goths, all
members of the Teutonic family. Then a host of Vandals
under Geiseric crossed from Spain into Africa. Carthage
was captured in 439. Thus the most vigorous limbs were
lopped off from the decaying trunk.

Meanwhile, a hideous creature, squat of form, with
huge head, broad shoulders, gleaming deep-set eyes,
emerged from his log hut on the plains of Hungary, and
set out on his career of conquest and desolation. He was
Attila, the Hun, who had murdered his brother rather
than permit him to share in his sovereignty over the
prodigious hordes of savages scattered through the north
of Asia and Europe. Christendom called him the Scourge
of God, and his superstitious followers believed he car-
ried a supernatural sword. Under his bloody banner
fought the Vandals, Ostrogoths, Gepidae, and many of
the Franks. In a short time, he forced his dominion over
the people of Germany and Scythia. He ruled from the
frontiers of Gaul to those of China. His campaign in 447

Alaric, king of the Visigoths, in his second attempt at the gates of Rome
in 408, conquered and occupied the city.
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in Persia and Armenia was unsuccessful, but afterward
he swept through Illyria and destroyed the countries
between the Black Sea and the Mediterranean. At his
approach cities were left desolate; the unhappy people
fled to crouch in caverns among the woods and cliffs.
Starvation was less cruel than the Hun. He gave to all
only the choice of annihilation or of following in his
train. Theodosius fought three terrific battles with him
and was beaten in all. Constantinople escaped because
the shaggy demons did not know how to besiege the
strong fortifications; but Attila wrought his ferocious
will in Thrace, Macedon, and Greece, where seventy
cities were desolated. Theodosius, after treacherously
trying to murder his conqueror, was compelled to cede
to him a portion of his territory south of the Danube and
to pay him an immense tribute.

In 451, the Scourge wheeled his horse westward to
invade Gaul, but was confronted by Aétius, leader of the
Romans, and Theodoric, king of the Visigoths. There
Tartar despotism and Aryan civilization met in the life-
and-death struggle, and the latter triumphed. The Huns
were routed on every side, Attila himself narrowly escap-
ing capture or death. If we can trust the older historians,
this was the bloodiest battle ever fought in Europe. It
took place near the site of the present city of Chalons-
sur-Marne, and it is said that the dead left on the field
numbered from 250,000 to 300,000.

Attila was in despair and, having retired to his camp,
collected all the wooden shields, saddles, and other bag-
gage into an immense funeral pile, determined to die in
the flames rather than surrender; but through the advice
of Agtius, the Roman commander, the Huns were al-
lowed to retreat in safety, lest they should gain from
despair the strength to conquer.

The Scourge recovered his strength in the following
year, and again invaded Italy, devastating Aquileia, Mi-
lan, Padua, and other cities, and driving the panic-
stricken people into the Alps, the Apennines, and the
lagoons of the Adriatic, where they founded the city of
Venice. Rome was utterly helpless, but was saved
through Pope Leo I, who boldly visited the terrible bar-
barian and by his majestic mien and apostolic mission
terrified him into sparing the city. Attila returned to
Hungary, but two years later regained his ruthless cour-
age, and was making preparations for another invasion
of Italy when he burst a blood vessel and died. What a
grim comment on the folly of puny man in arraying
himself against the cause of truth and justice! Attila
boasted that the grass never grew on the spot trodden by
the hoof of his horse, but the prick of a pin or the most
trifling occurrence has been sufficient many a time to
bring the proudest wretch to the dust. The immense
empire of the Scourge of God immediately crumbled to
fragments.

Attila had hardly shrunk away from Rome before the
imprecations of the Pope, when Geiseric, the Vandal

chief of Africa, sailed with his fleet from Carthage and
anchored at the mouth of the Tiber. This time Leo could
not turn aside the fury of the barbarians. Rome was
captured (455), and for two weeks the Vandals and
Moors plundered and pillaged and looted, without a
gleam of mercy. Scores of ships were laden with captives
and treasures, and sailed across the sea to Carthage.

The emperors of the West still came and went like a
procession of phantoms. Scan the list and you will find
their names, but they were no more than so many
figments of sleep, so far as their power went to stay the
rush of the empire to destruction. Finally, the Roman
Senate declared that one emperor was enough, and that
he should be the Eastern emperor Zeno, but the govern-
ment of Italy was to be trusted to Odoacer, who took the
title of Patrician of Italy. This Odoacer had been a bandit
among the Noric Alps and, entering the Roman service,
rapidly rose to eminence. He aided Orestes, in 475, in
driving the emperor Julius Nepos from the throne, and
conferred on his son Romulus the title of Augustus,
which the people in ridicule changed to Augustulus. This
feeble youth, who, by a strange sarcasm of destiny, bore
the names of the founder of Rome and of the empire, was
pensioned off, and, when Odoacer became king, the Sen-
ate sent back to Constantinople the tiara and purple, for
the Western Empire had passed away forever.

The western or Latin provinces of the Roman Empire
having dissolved before the onrush of the barbarians, let
us now glance at the history of the Eastern Empire,
which survived the general wreck for a thousand years,
though steadily decaying and going to ruin. The Greek
or Byzantine Empire reached its zenith in the sixth cen-
tury, under Justinian, who reigned from 527 to 56S.

The last of the emperors of the
West, Romulus Augustulus
(475-76)

Odoacer, a leading Italian
chieftain, defeats Augustulus and
becomes the first king of Iialy.
This action ended the empire of
the West. He reigned from 476 to
493. The period of reign by kings
of Italy was subject to the Eastern
Empire and lasted until the
Lombard king Alboin took control
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A gold medallion issued by
Justinian

Justinian the Great, emperor of the East from 527 to 565. Under his rule
Roman law was revised, and he published the Code, Pandects, and
Institutes of Justinian. He also made new laws called Novellae, which
are a foundation for such laws today.

Although of little military capacity, he had the wisdom
to select the ablest generals of the last days of Roman
ascendancy, and under their direction, especially that of
the distinguished Narses and Belisarius, the empire was
restored, at least so far as outward appearance went, to
its ancient limits, and the East and West were reunited
under a single rule. His first war, that with Persia, had
scarcely beer brought to a half-successful conclusion
when a revolt took place against him. A rival emperor
was elected, and Justinian was so frightened that he
would have fled but for the vigor and resolution of his
wife, Theodora. Narses repressed the rising with merci-
less severity, and it is said that thirty thousand of the
insurgents were slain in one day.

Belisarius by the force of arms reannexed the Vandal
kingdom of Africa to the empire; and he and Narses
restored the imperial authority in Rome, in northern
Italy, and in a large portion of Spain. One of the remark-
able works of Justinian was the renewing and strengthen-
ing of the immense line of fortifications along the eastern
and southeastern frontier of the empire. These works of
defense and many public buildings in Rome and other
cities involved enormous expenditures, but they were
ably and honestly carried out. The most famous of his
buildings is the great church of Saint Sophia in Constan-
tinople.

But the chief renown of Justinian rests upon his work
as a legislator. Directly on his accession, he set to work
to collect the vast mass of previous legislative enactments
which were still in force; and, to make this thorough, he
first compiled a code comprising all the constitutions of
his predecessors (527-29). His most important legal un-
dertaking was the composition of a systematic treatise on
the law for the guidance of students and lawyers, which
was published shortly before the Digest, under the title
of Institutiones (Institutes). They were originally written
in Latin, while the later treatises which Justinian caused

to be prepared were in Greek, and bore the name Novel-
lae (New Works). This complete system, known as the
Civil Law (Corpus juris civilis), formed the groundwork
of the law of nearly all of the nations of Europe, England
being the most notable exception.

After the fall of Rome and the collapse of the Western
Empire, Odoacer, the Visigothic chief, continued gov-
erning, claiming to do so by authority of the emperor of
the East, but he paid little attention to the Byzantine
court at Constantinople. Meanwhile, the Ostrogoths, or
Eastern Goths, had established a kingdom between the
Black Sea and the Adriatic, under the rule of their own
hero, Theodoric. The emperor Zeno commissioned
Theodoric to invade Italy and bring that country back
into the empire. With Theodoric went all his people,
including women and children and aged men, so that it
was another migration of a nation. The campaign against
Odoacer lasted for three years, but in 493 he was com-
pelled to come to terms, and soon after was assassinated
by his rival. Theodoric distributed one-third of the con-
quered territory among his soldiers in military tenures,
and ordered his men to be kind to the people and to obey
the laws. The wise rule of Theodoric brought peace and
prosperity to Italy, which continued till his death in 526.

Then came turmoil, confusion, bloodshed, and lasting
anarchy. It was at this time that Justinian, emperor of
the East, interfered, and the imperial forces under
Belisarius captured Rome. Narses, his successor, over-
threw the Ostrogothic power in Italy in 553, in a great
battle on the slopes of Mount Vesuvius. The last king of

Theodoric the Great, the second

king of Italy (493-526). He is g .J_I.a_g

his son Athalaric on his right and
his daughter Amalasuntha to his
left. Athalaric replaced him as
king in 526.
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Alboin conguered northern ltaly
and became the first Lombard
king of Italy. He is seen here

; entering Pavia. His reign was
{/ from 568 1o 573.

This iron crown of Lombardy was made for the fourth Lombard king,
Agilulf, who used it in his coronation in 591, and it was used by all future
kings of Lombard and Holy Roman emperors, who were also kings of
Lombardy. This crown is unique among crowns because the interior of
it was hammered from a nail of the cross of crucifixion of Christ. The
Jeweled exterior was added in 1100.

the Goths, Teias, was slain; and his warriors asked per-
mission of the Romans to depart in peace, bearing with
them the body of their leader. Narses gladly consented,
and the whole nation of Goths marched in a body out of
Italy forever. It became a Byzantine province, governed
by rulers appointed from Constantinople, with the title
of Exarchs of Ravenna.

Justinian had been dead only three years, when Italy,
still governed by an exarch living at Ravenna, was over-
run by the third and last of the Teutonic invasions. The
Lombards or Longobardi, thus named perhaps from
their long beards, came from central Europe, swarmed
through the Alps and, sweeping into the valley of the Po,
occupied the extensive district still known as Lombardy,
with Pavia as its capital.

Through their early history Romans displayed a natu-
ral conservatism that opposed acceptance of alien ideas.
Not without a struggle from the puritans in their midst,
they became deeply affected, however, by the Hellenistic

culture of postclassical Greece, which in time permeated
every aspect of Roman thought, religion, and art. Skilled
at integrating conquered peoples, imperial Rome was a
melting pot of cultures. In turn, Roman law, institutions,
and ideals and the use of the Latin language radiated like
its roads out from the city and across the empire, sur-
vived its decline, and provided the basis for a new Eu-
ropean civilization.

From a military perspective the empire went on the
defensive in the first century A.D. By the third century it
was in full retreat, although Italy remained secure from
invasion for another century. There was no one reason
for Rome’s decline. Its security system was tested
beyond its capacity to defend the empire’s frontiers, and
its natural leaders withdrew gradually from state service.
In simple terms the Roman state suffered ultimately
from a loss of will to survive. By the end of the third
century the empire had been divided for administrative
purposes, and the city of Rome had lost its status as a
capital. Although remaining the symbol of Roman unity,
the city was an unproductive consumer of wealth too
distant from the military frontiers to provide leadership.

Sacked by the Visigoths in 410, Rome was prey there-
after to attacks by marauding Germans. The imperial
government encouraged the settlement of some Ger-
manic tribes as allies on Italian land, however, and Ger-
mans increasingly made careers in the army and in the
administration of the empire. In 476 a palace coup forced
the abdication of the last Western emperor, a puppet of
his German advisers. In 488 Theodoric, king of the
Goths but also a Roman patrician, set about to restore
Italy and rebuild Rome. Defending Italy with his Gothic

The last of the Lombard kings,
King Desiderius, in his battle *“coat
of mail”

.
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army, he ruled it as a Roman official. In 526 Justinian,
the Eastern Roman (Byzantine) emperor, turned on the
Goths and revived direct imperial control over Italy.
Justinian introduced into Italy the Corpus juris civilis,
the compilation of Roman law, which was passed five
hundred years later from Italy to the rest of western
Europe. In removing his Gothic allies, however, Jus-
tinian left Italy open to invasion by the Germanic Lom-
bards who, although few in number, established
kingdoms throughout the peninsula. Other portions of
Italy including Rome remained in Byzantine hands, but
with the creation of the Lombard kingdoms an end was
put to the political unity of Italy for the next fourteen
hundred years.

PAPACY AND EMPIRE

Christianity was brought to the Greek-speaking Jew-
ish communities of the cities and towns in Italy in the
first century. As one of a number of Oriental mystery
religions that gained in popularity among native Italians
as traditional ethics and morality lost their relevance,
Christianity survived persecution and was granted rec-
ognition by Constantine, the first Christian emperor, in
315. Christianity had been accepted throughout Italy by
the time that it was adopted as the official religion of the
Roman Empire late in the fourth century. Heir to the
empire’s institutions, the church adapted Roman law for
ecclesiastical uses.

By the fourth century the Christian bishops of Rome,
who claimed succession from Saint Peter, had assumed
a position of primacy in the Western, or Latin, church
and bore the title Pope. With the transfer of the imperial
capital to Constantinople, temporal jurisdiction over the
city of Rome was passed to the pope, and estates were
conferred on the holder of the office to provide him
revenue as an imperial agent. The papacy grew more
independent of the distant imperial authority, and theo-
ries grounded on tradition were introduced to define the
sometimes ambiguous relationship between secular and
spiritual jurisdictions, between empire and church,
whose interests overlapped in many areas. Papal theo-
rists explained that, whereas civil and ecclesiastical juris-
dictions were distinct, only the papacy possessed a
plentitudo protestatis (fullness of power) and that the
authority exercised by civil authorities was merely a re-
flection of the power of the church. The argument con-
tinued that Constantine had made a free gift of Rome to
the pope, to whom he and his successors owed their
imperial titles. Whatever the theoretical underpinning
for his position, the pope was called on in the absence of
other authorities to assume a wide range of civil, diplo-
matic, and even military responsibilities in Italy albeit in
the emperor’s name, as Byzantine power contracted un-
der pressure from the Lombards.

Because imperial Italy had been left to its own devices,

This coin is considered by
experts to have the best likeness
of Charlemagne in existence. It
was issued in the last year of
his reign, 814.

On Christmas Day, 800, Charlemagne was crowned in St. Peter’s
Church in Rome by Pope Leo 111, as the Holy Roman emperor. He had
defeated King Desiderius of Lombard in 774, which ended the rule of
the Lombard kings over Italy. This mosaic shows Leo III and Char-
lemagne at the feet of Saint Peter.

Rome came to resent imperial interference in Italian
affairs, a situation exacerbated by religious differences
that had developed between the Latin and Greek
churches. In 754 the pope called on Pepin, king of the
Franks and strongest of the Germanic warlords, to expel
the troublesome Lombards from Roman territory, which
Pepin restored to the pope rather than to the Byzantine
emperor, thus establishing the basis of what became the
Papal States.

In 800 Pope Leo II re-created the Western Roman
Empire by conferring an imperial crown on the Frankish
king, Charlemagne. The practical effect on Italy of the
reestablishment of the Western Empire—including areas
that were never part of the old empire—under a Ger-
manic king was to link Italy’s political future to the
emerging states of northern Europe rather than to the
Byzantine Empire. The Holy Roman Empire stood for
one thousand years as the visible sign of the unfulfilled
ideal of European unity and of the cooperation between
the civil and ecclesiastical order. The authority of the
Western emperors in northern and central Italy was
nominal, but periodic intervention on their part was re-
quired to restore order in Rome, where in the tenth
century the papacy had become the pawn of rival Roman
aristocratic factions.

By tradition emperors of the Holy Roman Empire
were elected by German princes and traveled to Rome
for their coronations. Some emperors, such as Otto III,
found residence in Italy more congenial than in Ger-
many, but the concentration of imperial power in either
one of the two parts of the empire always implied neglect
of the other and a decline of imperial influence there.

The eleventh-century reform movement within the
church aimed at disciplining the ecclesiastical hierarchy
by curbing lay investiture of bishops, that is, the control
of ecclesiastical appointments by secular rulers. Bishops
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were seen to owe not only their temporalities but also
their spiritual offices to the emperor. There was a com-
plementary effort to forge a chain of command that tied
bishops directly to the pope through a centralized eccle-
siastical administrative system. Concurrently the selec-
tion of the pope was removed from the Roman nobility
to an electoral college of eminent churchmen—the cardi-
nals.

The moving spirit in this medieval reformation was
Pope Gregory VII, himself a Roman nobleman, who
waged a running battle with Henry IV in Italy and Ger-
many. When moral sanctions failed to bring the emperor
to heel, the pope stired rebellion against him among the
Italian towns that were anxious to diminish impenial
power over them. Henry [V’s abject submission at
Canossa in 1077 was a fleeting triumph for the pope.
Gregory ultimately failed in his struggle with the em-
peror, who drove him from Rome and set up an antipope
in his stead. But Gregory’s long-range goals, separating
the spiritual credentials of bishops from their temporal
positions as imperial agents, were vindicated by his suc-
cessors, adding to the strength and prestige of the papacy
in the twelfth and thirteenth centuries and freeing it to
play a vigorously independent role in the political devel-
opment of Italy. Nevertheless, conflict between the
spiritual and the temporal remained the recurrent theme
of medieval history, and nowhere was it more apparent
than in Italy.

Although there were acute shifts in papal foreign pol-
icy, a single principle dominated the papacy’s relations
with foreign rulers and its dealings in Italian affairs.
Experience had proved that, in order for the church to
fulfill its spiritual mission unimpeded by secular author-
ities, the pope had to have temporal sovereignty in his
own right in the Papal States and, as a corollary to the
principle, southern Italy had to be kept independent of
imperial control and its ruler tied to the papacy.

Sicily and the South remained in Byzantine hands
after reestablishment of the Western Empire, although
the Byzantine hold on them was weak. Early in the
eleventh century landless Norman knights, employed by
the Greeks as mercenaries, seized the southern provinces
and staked out their individual claims. In 1053 Robert
Guiscard united the Norman territories in southern It-
aly. He and his dynasty created a centralized feudal
kingdom in which all land tenure was granted by the
king to whom all his subjects owed their primary alle-
giance. In Italy as elsewhere the Normans combined
ambition and a genius for organization and administra-
tion. At first resisted by the papacy, Robert Guiscard’s
claim to a portion of the Byzantine Empire was legiti-
mated by the pope, who accepted the Normans as his
vassals, using them many times as a weapon to hold the
Western emperor at bay in Italy and to defend the Papal
States. In 1130 the Normans added Sicily, conquered in
the ninth century by the Saracens, to their domains.
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Twelfth-century Italy

MEDIEVAL COMMUNES

Towns, although diminished in size and activity, had
survived from antiquity in northern and central Italy.
Although nominally subjects of the emperor, the city-
republics or communes won greater autonomy in the
eleventh century during the investiture controversy at
the expense of their bishops, who had governed them as
imperial vicars. The maritime republics—Venice, Genoa,
and Pisa—had a longer tradition of independence.

Greater political freedom in the communes coincided
with improved security in the countryside and on the
land and sea trade routes. Italian nobles and townsmen,
the first in Europe to understand the use of money and
to master business procedure, invested a slowly accumu-
lated surplus of wealth in increasing agricultural output.
Surplus food production made it possible to support an
urban population of craftsmen and workers and to create
the marketplaces around which industry and commerce
grew. Northern Italy was medieval Europe’s first indus-
trial center, and in its countinghouses, warehouses, and
workshops capitalism originated.

The life of the communes engendered the fierce local
patriotism and competitiveness that fueled incessant
warfare among them. Strong class feeling and intense
family rivalries also bedeviled the communes with politi-
cal and social turmoil. Having secured recognition of
their autonomy within their walls, the communes forced
the submission of the landed nobility and annexed the
surrounding countryside. Many of the old nobility re-
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tained their influence but only by joining the guilds and
entering the full life of the communes on the same basis
as the merchants and manufacturers. Attempts by the
guilds—on which representation in communal govern-
ments was based—to regulate economic life varied in
effectiveness, but a tension existed between corporations
and individuals that was the basis of much of the social
discontent within the communes that spilled over into
their political life.

Although political institutions developed differently in
each commune, patterns common to each are discerni-
ble. Oligarchies composed of merchant families domi-
nated political life through the more important guilds.
The members of the unrepresented lesser guilds strug-
gled to win recognition and a voice in communal affairs.
The internal politics of the communes was so turbulent
that foreigners—anyone from outside the commune—
were employed to serve as chief executives (podestas) to
arbitrate among the factions.

Urged on by Italian nobles to curb the radicalism of
the communes, the emperor, Frederick of Hohenstaufen
(called Barbarossa in Italy), insisted on their member-
ship in a federation under imperial supervision. Putting
aside their rivalries, the communes of Lombardy united
for their collective security under the pope, and at Leg-
nano in 1176 the Lombard League defeated the em-
peror’s forces and won Barbarossa’s grudging con-
firmation of their liberties. But the question of their inde-
pendence was not settled. Emperor Frederick 11, Bar-

Pope Innocent 111, a scion of the noble Italian house of Conti, became
pope before his fortieth birthday and held his office from 1198 to 1215.
He had nearly absolute control over the monarchs of Europe. The strong-
est politically set pope to date, he compelled Philip Augustus of France
to restore his wife to her position by putting France under an interdict;
he excommunicated and dethroned Otho, emperor of Germany, and
gave the throne to Frederick of Sicily. Also, he put John of England
under interdict and ordered him to be deposed, and told Philip Augustus
to carry it out. John submitted and signed a treaty by which England
and Ireland became fiefs of Rome.
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barossa’s grandson, inherited the crowns of Naples and
Sicily through his Norman mother, allowing the Hohen-
staufens to outflank the Papal States. Called Srupor
Mundi (Wonder of the World), Frederick II considered
himself an Italian prince and kept a brilliant, polyglot
court at Palermo, from which he ruled a kingdom that
was prosperous and possessed the strongest government
known in the Middle Ages. His attempts to subdue the
communes of Lombardy and Tuscany came to nothing,
however, and in the effort he exhausted the resources of
the southern kingdom, which his heirs were unable to
hold. Naples and Sicily passed under papal patronage to
the French House of Anjou, a move intended to counter
imperial influence in Italy. Angevin claims in the South
were in time contested by the kings of Aragon, and the
seed was planted for the centuries-long competition be-
tween France and Spain for control of Italy.

Italians were by no means unanimous in their opposi-
tion to the Hohenstaufen scheme for an imperial federa-
tion, and the struggle between the emperor and the
communes for control of the city-states intensified party
strife under the titles of the pro- and anti-imperial parties
in Germany. The Ghibellines favored federalism and an
imperial presence in Italy. The Guelfs, who stood for
particularism (the independence of the communes and
the primacy of local interests), looked to the pope as their
nominal leader, not as an alternative to the emperor but
as the steadiest representative of resistance to imperial
claims to overlordship in Italy.

There existed a distinction, not always easy to main-
tain, between the pope as temporal ruler of the Papal
States and as head of the church. In the context of Italian
politics, he was but one of several princes, and on that
level, rather than as a spiritual leader, relations with him
were conducted by other states. However, the powerful
thirteenth-century papacy increasingly employed moral
sanctions—part of its spiritual arsenal—as political
weapons, ultimately to the detriment of both the church
and Italy. The pope’s responsibility to intervene in ques-
tions affecting morality was universally understood, but
Dante Alighieri in the Divina Commedia (Divine
Comedy) and other works berated the papacy for having
usurped the function of empire, weakened secular au-
thority, and thus sown the seeds of human discord.

The fourteenth century—a time of war, famine,
plague, and doubt, contrasting sharply with the relative
stability of the previous century—witnessed the transfor-
mation of many city-republics into lordships (seignior-
ies). The intense, disruptive activity of the political fac-
tions encouraged a demand for the arrogation of consti-
tutional authority in the communes to a single ruler,
above party, who could restore order. Having popular
support, the despots needed not tolerate any check on
their authority. The courts of the dynasties that ruled the
Italian city-states—the Visconti of Milan, the Gonzagas
of Mantua, the d’Este of Ferrara, the Scaligeri of Verona
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—ranked in their time as the equal in magnificence of
those of the royal houses of Europe. Often men of intelli-
gence and usually of refined taste, the seigniors attracted
to their courts the genius of Italy—scholars, poets, art-
ists—and created the atmosphere in which a great epoch
in civilization, the Renaissance, flourished.

The political history of Renaissance Italy is that of the
interaction of five Italian states—Naples, the Papal
States, Venice, Milan, and Florence—which had drawn
many of the smaller states within the orbit of their influ-
ence. These states, all fully sovereign by the end of the
fourteenth century, took on the characteristics of nation-
states and devised systems of alliances within which they
acted out in Italy the balance-of-power diplomacy that
the great kingdoms of Europe adopted in their practice
of statecraft.

The Italian League, a formal alliance agreed to in 1455
at the pope’s prompting, was designed to keep the peace
among the Italian states and to prevent foreign interven-
tion in Italian affairs. A succession of particularly able
statesmen-popes, who possessed the political and diplo-
matic skills demanded by the times, constructively con-
tributed to the success of the league, which endured for
forty years and coincided with the period of the finest
cultural and intellectual achievements of the Renais-
sance.

It was Florence, a city of wool and banks, that was the
linchpin in the alliance system. Its politics were domi-
nated by the remarkable Medici family, whose banking
house operated branches in Europe’s most important
commercial centers. Cosimo de’ Medici was in every
sense a seignior, although he took no title and seldom
held public office. He controlled the commune through

the manipulation of elections and, not the least, because
of public confidence in his ability to provide for the
welfare of Florence. Under his grandson, Lorenzo the
Magnificent, the Medici seigniory assumed princely pro-
portions but always within the limits of the commune’s
republican institutions. His taste, good judgment, and
generous patronage confirmed the artistic and intellec-
tual preeminence of Florence in Italy and in Europe.

CENTURIES OF
FOREIGN DOMINATION

The Italian allies fell out after the collapse of the Medici
seigniory, and in 1494 France took advantage of the
breach to put forward long-standing claims to Milan and
Naples. When Spain intervened on Naples’ behalf, di-
vided Italian states chose sides between the two foreign
powers, and Italy was made a battleground for the pro-
tracted rivalry between France and the Habsburgs.
Charles V, Holy Roman emperor and king of Spain,
subsequently forged a defensive arc—sweeping from
Spain through Italy to Germany and the Low Countries
—to contain France, ensuring Spanish Habsburg domi-
nance in Italy for nearly two hundred years. Milan and
Naples became part of the Spanish crown and other
Italian states its satellites.

It was in this environment that the Florentine, Nic-
colo Machiavelli, a politician possessed of extraordinary
insight into the dynamics of politics, wrote I/ Principe
(The Prince). Infuriated by Italy’s weakness, which had
invited its domination by foreigners, Machiavelli
searched—as Dante had—for a liberator, suggesting in
his treatise the qualities needed in a strong man by de-
scribing the tactics of the most successful princes. Re-
viewing the so-called dwarfing of Italy with remarkable
detachment, Machiavelli’s contemporary, Francesco
Guicciardini, acknowledged that states like men were
mortal but nevertheless deplored ‘“‘the infelicity of being
born at such a time when his country has to fulfill its
doom.”

After the conclusion of the War of the Spanish Succes-
sion (1701-14), Austria replaced Spain as the dominant
foreign power in northern Italy. A Bourbon king was put
on the Neapolitan throne, but Lombardy (Milan) was
retained in the Habsburg dominions. The kingdom of the
Two Sicilies, as Naples-Sicily was styled, entered into a
family compact with France and Spain, and, to keep the
influence of the Bourbon and Habsburg rivals in balance
in Italy, Sardinia was awarded to Piedmont, carying with
it a royal title for its reigning House of Savoy. Italy was
the outcast of Europe in the eighteenth century, but the
despots imposed by foreign rulers, especially in the
smaller states of central Italy, were often benevolent and
reform minded, providing enlightened and frequently
progressive government. Tuscany in particular, ruled by
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Italy under Napoleon, 1812

the Habsburg-related House of Lorraine, gained a repu-
tation as one of the most liberal states in Europe.

News of the French Revolution was given a sympa-
thetic reception in Italy only among small groups of
middle-class liberals. The old regimes busied themselves
rounding up local subversives but—except for Austrian
Lombardy—took few precautions against the possibility
of France’s exporting its revolution by force. Napoleon
Bonaparte’s spectacular Italian campaigns in 1797 and
1799 shattered Austrian hegemony, drove the Bourbon
king of the Two Sicilies from the mainland, and ended
the twelve-hundred-year history of the Venetian Repub-
lic. By 1806 Napoleon—now emperor—had annexed
large portions of Italy, including Rome, Piedmont, and
Venetian possessions in Dalmatia, to France; deeded Na-
ples to his brother-in-law, Marshal Joachim Murat; and
created the kingdom of Italy in northern and central
Italy, naming himself its king. The Napoleonic period
was crucial for the development of modern Italy, and the
changes wrought by the French occupation had a lasting
impact on the laws and institutions of the country. The
most effective opposition came on a regional basis from
small groups of patriots organized in underground secret
societies. They had no regard for the old regimes but
were inspired by a deep desire to rid Italy of all foreigners
and to establish independent, constitutional govern-
ments in their respective regions.

RISORGIMENTO

The Risorgimento was the movement for political unity
in Italy in the nineteenth century. It was not a mass

movement, and until its last years it did not engage the
imagination and support of a broad range of Italians. It
was, from the first, promoted chiefly by an elite of mid-
dle-class liberals and the intelligentsia and entailed a
running civil war between the old and the emerging
Italian ruling classes. Violent revolution and gradual re-
form, republicanism and national monarchy, federalism
and the unitary state were all proposed as solutions for
Italian disunity and subservience. The Nationalist move-
ment was organized during the French occupation
around a core of secret societies. Later in the century
three figures—Giuseppe Mazzini, Giuseppe Garibaldi,
and Camillo di Cavour—emerged, often in competition,
as leaders of the Risorgimento.

In the reactionary atmosphere that attended Napo-
leon’s defeat, nationalism seemed a dangerous corollary
of the French Revolution. Governments represented at
the Congress of Vienna (1815) were intent on reviving
the prerevolutionary equilibrium of a Europe torn by a
generation of war. Old boundaries and old rulers were
restored and their security guaranteed by the great pow-
ers. Lombardy-Venetia was returned to Austria, which
also counted the satellite states—Tuscany, Modena, and
Parma—uwithin its sphere of influence. The Bourbons
were restored to Naples and the pope to Rome. Only

Giuseppe Mazzini Count di Cavour

Giuseppe Garibaldi
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Piedmont stood outside the circle of foreign control or
influence; yet there, as elsewhere in Italy, efficient, well-
organized repression quashed the petty rebellions stirred
by the secret societies.

After 1830 direction of the Risorgimento was pre-
empted by Mazzini's Young Italy movement. Mazzini,
an ascetic who brought a quasireligious element to the
struggle for independence, demanded that his followers
make themselves morally worthy to lead Italy to the
destiny that history had appointed for it. Mazzini con-
tended that only by violent revolution could Italy be
freed and unified and that the struggle itself would have
a purifying effect on Italians. Mazzini’s goal was a uni-
tary state—eliminating the regionalism that had divided
Italians throughout their history—under a republican
government with its capital in Rome. From exile he and
his followers organized expeditions and conspiracies that
touched every part of Italy.

The shock wave of the Paris revolution in 1848 was
quickly felt in Italy, sparking rebellions in Lombardy
and driving Pope Pius IX from Rome, where Mazzini set
up a short-lived republic. Piedmont, joined by other Ital-
ian states, took advantage of political unrest in Austria
to invade Lombardy, but the campaign—referred to as
the First War of Independence—ended in their decisive
defeat. Mazzini’s revolutionary government in Rome
fled before the French troops dispatched by Louis Napo-
leon (Napoleon III), newly elected president of the Sec-
ond Republic in France. A permanent garrison was left
behind to guard the pope. In its long-range effects, how-
ever, the most significant event in Italy in 1848 was the
promulgation of a liberal constitution in Piedmont,
which transformed the state into a limited monarchy
with a strong parliamentary government.

Piedmont was a relatively old state that had been kept
outside the mainstream of Italian political development.
Traditionally oriented toward France and the only Ital-

ian state with a military establishment of any size, Pied-
mont was set apart by its independence from foreign
control or entanglements with foreign dynasties. Despite
its setback in the brief war against Austria, Piedmont
was recognized after 1848 as the only Italian state capa-
ble of giving concerted leadership to the Risorgimento.

Cavour, prime minister of Piedmont, set himself the
task of building an efficiently functioning parliamentary
government. His territorial aims were limited to creating
an enlarged kingdom in northern Italy under the House
of Savoy. Conspiring with Napoleon 111, Cavour’s gov-
ernment entered into a secret agreement guaranteeing
French assistance in taking Lombardy-Venetia. Pied-
mont’s rejection of an Austrian ultimatum provided the
pretext for an invasion of Lombardy in 1859. Austrian
forces were defeated, but the cost of the fighting was
greater than Napoleon III had bargained for, and the
Piedmontese were forced to accept a peace less advanta-
geous than Cavour had been promised. Under the provi-
sions of the treaty of Villafranca, negotiated by the
French and Austrians, Lombardy was surrendered to
France, which re-ceded it to Piedmont in return for
Savoy and Nice; Venetia remained in Austrian hands;
and, more humiliating, a federation of northern Italian
states, with Habsburg interests intact, was proposed in
place of the unified kingdom envisioned by Cavour.

The war with Austria had, however, stirred successful
rebellions in the satellite states and in Romagna (in the
Papal States), from which appeals came for union with
Piedmont. Commissioners were dispatched to hold these
areas for King Vittorio Emanuele 11, and, disregarding
the peace treaty, Cavour called for plebiscites to approve
the annexation of each region into a unitary state. At
that point he braked the momentum of the Risor-
gimento, and Mazzini condemned Cavour as a traitor for
not moving to annex Rome and Naples. It was Gari-
baldi, a follower of Mazzini, who forced Cavour’s hand
and brought the south into the kingdom of Italy.

Garibaldi welcoming Vittorio Emanuele II as the king of lialy
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King Vittorio Emanuele II as he
appeared in later years
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Garibaldi launched his red-shirted “Thousand” on a
triumphal procession through Sicily and Naples,
deposed the Bourbon monarchy, and proclaimed a dicta-
torship in the name of Vittorio Emanuele II. His con-
quest was as rapid as it was complete, and Garibaldi
turned his attention to Rome. Cavour feared the interna-
tional repercussions of an assault on Rome, defended by
its French garrison; and a Piedmontese army, the king
at its head, was sent to block Garibaldi’s advance. The
two forces confronted one another south of Rome, and
in a dramatic gesture, typical of the man, Garibaldi
turned over Naples and Sicily to Vittorio Emanuele II.
Venetia was acquired in 1866 after a third war with
Austria. Only Rome remained outside a united Italy.

Cavour called a national Parliament in 1861 to pro-
claim Vittorio Emanuele II king of Italy. The Pied-
montese constitution, providing for representative insti-
tutions, became the basic law of the new kingdom. The
euphoria of unification soon wore thin and was replaced
by misgivings, especially pronounced in the South, about

Piedmontese influence in the national government—a
highly centralized administration distant from the peo-
ple—and its lack of sympathy for local institutions. Each
region had its own history, unique culture, and social
and economic structures, and there was no tradition of
practical cooperation among them. Only Piedmont was
experienced in parliamentary government. Mazzini's fol-
lowers complained that political unification had not been
accompanied by social revolution, something Cavour
had not intended it should. Catholics protested the sei-
zure of the Papal States and the confiscation of church
property by the new anticlerical government. Italy was
united, but the Italians were not, and Cavour died in
1862 leaving his successors with the problem of making
a nation out of the new kingdom.

KINGDOM OF ITALY

The Roman Question, that is, the settlement of relations
between the Italian state and the Catholic church after
the seizure of Rome in 1870, remained the most vexa-
tious and seemingly insoluble problem confronting Ital-
ian governments for almost sixty years. Pope Pius IX
refused to consider Cavour’s proposal in 1860 for “a free
church in a free state,” which was intended to guarantee
the ecclesiastical freedom of the Italian church, uninhib-
ited by government intervention, in return for the renun-
ciation of the pope’s temporal claims to Rome. Pius IX
noted that Cavour’s words contrasted markedly with his
record of anticlerical legislation in Piedmont, but, more
important, he adamantly stood by the position that papal
sovereignty in Rome was essential for carrying out the
spiritual mission of the church.

Agitation mounted—especially from Mazzini’s repub-
licans looking to discredit the Savoy monarchy—for
armed intervention in Rome. When the French garrison
was withdrawn in 1870, Italian troops occupied the city.
A plebiscite confirmed its annexation, and the next year
the Italian capital was transferred to Rome. Still hoping
for an equitable accommodation with the papacy, Parlia-
ment enacted the Law of Guarantees in 1871, which
would establish the Vatican as an independent papal
territory within the city of Rome and accord the pope the
dignity of a sovereign. Pius IX rejected the offer out of
hand, to the disappointment of many Catholics, and
proclaimed himself the “prisoner of the Vatican.” As far
as the Italian government was concerned, the law stood
in force awaiting the pope’s agreement. For his part, Pius
IX refused to recognize the legality of the Italian state,
excommunicated King Vittorio Emanuele II, and con-
demned the occupation of Rome as an aggressive act,
appealing to foreign powers to restore the city to the
papacy. In retaliation the Italian government sharply
restricted the civil rights of the clergy.

The impasse between the pope and the state created a
crisis of conscience for Italian Catholics who wanted to
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reconcile their intense devotion to the church with their
natural love for their country, their dilemma made even
more difficult by the pope’s prohibition of Catholics vot-
ing in national elections or participating in national poli-
tics as being non expedit (inexpedient). Rather than
challenge the anticlericalism of the liberals on their own
ground—in Parliament—the church chose instead to or-
ganize the Catholic masses socially and economically
outside the political system through church-sponsored
unions and cooperatives. The government was thereby
virtually left to the anticlericals; potential Catholic lead-
ership was cut off from the political life of the nation.

The Italian Parliament was composed of the ap-
pointed Senate and the Chamber of Deputies, elected by
a restricted electorate (about three hundred thousand
voters in 1870 or one in every seventy Italians). Early
governments were dominated by Piedmontese politi-
cians. The party structure was loose and undisciplined.
The right, based on Cavour’s liberal coalition, stood for
national stability and drawing the parts of the country
closer together through a highly centralized state admin-
istration. The left, composed of ex-republicans and Maz-
zini's followers, advocated social reform and a more
democratic electorate. With the passing of Cavour’s po-
litical generation in the 1870s, the quality of leadership
in Parliament appeared to diminish. After 1876 the left
continually maintained a parliamentary majority, but so
many factions within it—usually brought together by a
single personality—vied for recognition that clearly de-
fined party government, necessary for rigorous parlia-
mentary life, was impossible.
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What the Italians substituted for party government
was trasformismo, defined as “‘making it worthwhile for
a sufficient number of members [of Parliament] to vote
with the government” by using various forms of bribery
and political brokering. Seats in the cabinet were allo-
cated to factional or regional leaders, and as a result
governments were formed whose members were so di-
vided in outlook that coherent programs could seldom be
formulated and, with all good intentions on the part of
the government, reform measures were regularly sty-
mied. Only the Italian Socialist party (Partito Socialista
Italiano—PSI), organized in 1892, offered a clear-cut
program of social and political reform, and by 1900 it
controlled 25 percent of the seats in the Chamber of
Deputies. The potential strength of the PSI, however,
was sapped by ideological divisions within the party. The
mounting violence in public life—capped by the assassi-
nation of King Umberto I by an anarchist in 1900 and
the spectacular growth of socialism—prompted a rap-
prochement between the ruling Liberals under the re-
formist prime minister Giovanni Giolitti and the
Catholics, who were gradually integrated into political
life after the relaxation of the non expedit by Pope Pius
X in 1904. Giolitti’s government introduced universal
male suffrage in 1912, raising the number of eligible
voters from 3.3 million to 8.6 million.

Italy, an economically underdeveloped country, was
late in entering Europe’s scramble for overseas posses-
sions, but Prime Minister Francesco Crispi pursued a
determined expansionist policy in the 1880s and 1890s to
ensure Italy’s place among the European colonial pow-
ers. Crispi was not contented with the two strips of desert
—in Eritrea and Somalia—on the Horn of Africa, ac-
quired in 1889; but an attempt to penetrate Ethiopia in
1896 was ended by the military disaster at Adowa. Impe-
rialism remained an aspect of Italy’s foreign policy, and
Italy’s colonial holdings increased with the occupation of
Libya and the Dodecanese during the war with Turkey
(1911-12). The Italians also established spheres of inter-
est in the Balkans and Asia Minor through the construc-
tion of port facilities and railroads and the exploitation
of resources. Throughout the early colonial experience
Italy’s interests were concerned primarily with economic
rather than political expansion.

Italy adhered to the Triple Alliance with Germany
and Austria in 1882, but after 1900 Italian foreign policy
tended toward closer ties with France and Great Britain.
At the outbreak of World War I in 1914 Italy declared
its neutrality, explaining that under the Triple Alliance
its commitments were solely defensive in nature.
Whereas the Giolitti government opposed entry into the
war, public opinion, urged on by the popular press,
democratic sentiment, and irredentists who saw the war
as an opportunity to complete the Risorgimento, pre-
vailed. Under the terms of the secret London Pact, Italy
was promised the Italian-speaking areas still held by
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The unification of Italy, 1920

Austria as well as colonial concessions. Accordingly, in
May 1915 Italy declared war on Austria. Psychologi-
cally Italy was conditioned for war, but the Italian
armed forces were woefully unprepared.

By the end of the war Italy had mobilized more than
5 million men, and more than six hundred thousand had
been killed. But Italy’s case was poorly presented at the
Versailles Conference and its bargaining position com-
promised by unstable conditions at home. Under the
terms of the Treaty of Saint Germain in 1919, Austria
surrendered Istria, Zara in Dalmatia, Trentino-Alto
Adige (South Tyrol), and—of strategic importance—
control of the Brenner Pass. However, the extravagant
offers made in the London Pact were held to be contrary
to the spirit of Woodrow Wilson’s Fourteen Points, and
the United States refused to support further Italian terri-
torial claims.

MUSSOLINI

For many Italians it seemed that the gains won on the
battlefield at such great cost had been thrown away at the
peace table, and a sense of frustration and disillusion-
ment—and of betrayal—permeated the country in the
years immediately after the war. Italy was saddled with
an enormous war debt. Inflation and shortages of basic
goods triggered strikes that paralyzed large segments of
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the economy. Demobilized troops swelled the ranks of
the unemployed. Profiteering, often involving public offi-
cials, took its toll on public confidence in the govern-
ment. Socialist gains in local elections inspired fears of
expropriation—especially among small landholders—
and outbreaks of violence and counterviolence. The gov-
ernment admitted its inability to maintain public order,
and amnesties granted to striking workers confirmed the
middle class in its belief that the parliamentary govern-
ment was not only corrupt but weak.

This was the atmosphere that spawned Benito Mus-
solini's Fascist movement, which for nearly one-quarter
of a century demeaned and demoralized Italy’s national
life. Mussolini had always been a political maverick.
Imprisoned and exiled for his political activities, the
schoolteacher-turned-journalist from Romagna had
begun his activist career as a pacifist and anarchist, later
joining the militant wing of the PSI—at one time being
the editor of the party’s official newspaper. Mussolini
broke with the party on the issue of entry into World
War I and abandoned Marxism for nationalism.

Mussolini was a manipulative orator; his showman-
ship was not mere buffoonery but struck a responsive
chord in his listeners. He had attracted a personal fol-
lowing as early as 1917. In 1919 he assembled the
paramilitary Combat Groups (Fasci di Combattimento),
called the Blackshirts, from among army veterans and
youths, modeled after the arditi (commandos), the shock
troops of the Italian army. Organized in more than two
thousand squads, the Blackshirts were used as strike-
breakers (subsidized by industrialists for the purpose);
attacked Socialists and Communists, whom they claimed
the government was too timid to deal with; terrorized
left-wing town governments; and set up local dictator-
ships while the police and the army looked on—often in
sympathy. Mussolini profited from the anxieties of the
middle class—their businesses threatened and their sav-
ings wiped out by inflation—and from the smallholders’
fears of expropriation by the Socialists.

In 1921 Mussolini, seeking a broader following than
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Vittorio Emanuele I11 taking the oath of office as king in 1900. He was
the only child of King Umberto I and Queen Margaret.

among the Fascist squads, formed a parliamentary party,
the National Fascist party (Partito Nazionale Fascista),
which captured thirty-five seats in the Chamber of Depu-
ties. The party, running on a bloc list with Giolitti's
Liberals, was admitted to the coalition government. The
party program called in vague terms for social reform,
financial stability, assertion of Italy’s prestige abroad,
and order at home. The Fascists considered themselves
a revolutionary party in opposition to nineteenth-cen-
tury liberalism, middle-class humanistic values, and cap-
italism, but Mussolini advanced no guiding ideology.
Fascism, Mussolini insisted, represented a mood in the
country, not ideas, and he wrote, “Fascism ... was a
form of a need for action, and in itself was action.”
Despite their relatively minor representation in Parlia-
ment, no government could survive without the support
of the National Fascist party, and in October 1922 Mus-
solini was summoned by Vittorio Emanuele III to form
a government as prime minister. The much-heralded
March on Rome by three hundred thousand armed Fas-
cists, usually credited with bringing Mussolini to power

King Vittorio Emanuele 111

King Vittorio Emanuele I11's
consort, Queen Elena of
Montenegro
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The royal family was very popular among the populace in Italy. In this
Waorld War I photograph of a Red Cross benefit, the king is seen, left;
and center, at the table, is Crown Prince Umberto.

When King Vittorio Emanuele III thought that Mussolini’s *“Black-
shirt” movement was threatening the throne, he asked him to form a new
government. They are seen here on their way to a government meeting
where Mussolini swore allegiance to the crown. But, this did not keep
him from declaring himself dictator of Italy on January 3, 1925.

by a coup, was in fact the result rather than the cause of
his appointment to office, a brilliant bluff intended to
impress the nation—and Europe—with the strength and
determination of his following. Mussolini governed con-
stitutionally, heading a national government comprising
the Fascists, some Social Democrats, Liberals, and mem-
bers of the Italian Popular party (Partito Popolare Ital-
iano, known as Popolari).

The Popolari were a center-left reformist group
founded in 1919 by a Sicilian priest, Don Luigi Sturzo.
Formation of the party marked the entry of an orga-
nized, mass-based Catholic party into parliamentary pol-
itics, although without the approval of the Italian
hierarchy or the Vatican. In 1919 Sturzo’s party won 101
seats in Parliament, second in strength only to the PSI.
Mussolini considered the Popolari, parent party to the
postwar Christian Democratic party (Partito Demo-
crazia Cristiana—DC), the toughest obstacle in his rise
to power. The Popolari withdrew their support from the
Mussolini government in 1923.

The Fascists, under a revised electoral law, polled
two-thirds of the votes cast in the 1924 elections. Seem-
ingly secure in his parliamentary majority, Mussolini’s
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confidence was shaken—and his regime endangered—by
the public reaction to the murder of a Socialist politician,
Giacomo Matteotti, by Fascist toughs. The opposition
withdrew from the Chamber of Deputies in protest.
Without resistance Mussolini assumed dictatorial pow-
ers in January 1925, ruling thereafter by decree, and
replacing elected local government officials with Fascist
operatives. Although a rump Chamber of Deputies con-
tinued to sit, advisory functions passed to a party organ,
the Fascist Grand Council, which Mussolini integrated
into the state apparatus.

Controlling all the organs of government, Mussolini
set about constructing a totalitarian state in Italy that
would dominate every aspect of national life. // Duce, as
Mussolini was styled, proclaimed the doctrine of “‘every-
thing within the state, nothing against the state, nothing
outside the state,” including professional and labor asso-
ciations, youth groups, and sports organizations. Politi-
cal parties—other than the Fascists—were suppressed.
The press and court system were cowed. Strikes were
made illegal and, although the free trade unions were not
abolished, they were gradually throttled. Mussolini was
less successful in imposing economic control, and the
corporate state, which remained part of the myth of the
Fascist regime, was never more than its facade. In some
respects the Italian character, especially its spirit of indi-
vidualism, mitigated the worst effects of Mussolini’s to-
talitarianism, which was, as a critic noted, “‘a tyranny
tempered by the complete disobedience of all laws.” In
addition, totalitarianism in the strictest sense was not
possible where an independent church, claiming the
spiritual allegiance of a large part of the population,
existed. Mussolini’s political background was anticleri-
cal, but he understood the importance of the church to
Italian life and realized that he could not expect to con-
solidate political support behind the regime until an ac-
commodation was made with the Vatican—which had
not recognized the legality of the Italian state.

The Lateran Pacts of 1929 consisted of a treaty be-
tween [taly and the Holy See and concordat regulating
relations between the Italian state and the Catholic
church. The treaty created the independent state of Vati-
can City and recognized the sovereignty of the pope
there. In the concordat the church was assured of juris-
diction in ecclesiastical matters, and canon law was rec-
ognized as superseding the civil code in such areas as
marriage. The church was restored to its role in educa-
tion and allowed unencumbered operation of its press
and communication facilities. The clergy were prohib-
ited from membership in political organizations. The
solution of the Roman Question, which had vexed Ital-
ian politicians since 1860, marked the peak of Mus-
solini’s political leadership and has been considered by
some observers the singular positive achievement of an
otherwise execrable regime. The provisions of the Lat-
cran Pacts were included in the 1948 constitution.

Imperialism was always a facet of fascism but was not
explicit until 1935. The need to provide space for Italian
emigration was emphasized by the occupation of Ethi-
opia in the 1935-36 period. The action might well have
been passed over except for Ethiopia’s protest in the
League of Nations, but to the league’s condemnation
Italy responded that it had done no more in Africa than
other powers had done earlier. France and Great Britain
were unwilling to risk war for the sake of Ethiopia, but
league members agreed to impose economic sanctions on
Italy. The sanctions were halfheartedly enforced and
subsequently withdrawn. They provoked bitterness in
Italy, especially against Great Britain, and rallied there-
tofore lukewarm Italians to Mussolini. The sanctions
also spurred the drive for economic self-sufficiency, an
uneconomic project better suited to propaganda than to
feeding the Italian people. Cut off from other sources,
Italy relied on Germany as a supplier of raw materials
and was drawn within its political orbit.

Mussolini was frankly impressed by German effi-
ciency, overlooking outstanding conflicts of interests in
Austria and the Balkans that might otherwise have kept
the two dictators at odds. In 1936 Mussolini agreed to
the Rome-Berlin Axis, pledging cooperation in central
Europe. The next year Italy joined with Germany and
Japan in the Anticomintern Pact, directed against the
Soviet Union. By the time that Italy had formalized its
military ties with Germany in the so-called Pact of Steel
in 1939, Mussolini had so identified his country’s inter-
ests with those of Hitler that Italy had become a virtual
German satellite.

Italy aided Franco’s forces during the 1936-39 Span-
ish civil war, contributing supplies, naval and air sup-
port, and more than fifty thousand men. Mussolini
participated at Munich in the dismemberment of
Czechoslovakia in 1938, but his foreign minister, Ga-
leazzo Ciano, had tried to dissuade Germany from at-
tacking Poland. Cut off from advanced notice of its ally’s
plans, Mussolini’s government was acutely embarrassed
by the Soviet Pact in 1939 that opened the door for
invasion of Poland. Mussolini had pompously bragged
about the “8 million bayonets” at his disposal but, as was
the case so often during his regime, propaganda had
taken the place of actual preparation, and Italy was no
more ready for a major war than it had been in 1915.
Confident of German strength, Mussolini believed that
the war would be short and remarked that it would be
humiliating “to sit with our hands folded while others
write history,” Italy attacked France after the issue of
the Battle of France was already decided; nevertheless
the French rallied to halt the Italian invasion. Later in
1940 Italy launched an unprovoked invasion of Greece
—a fiasco, requiring German intervention to rescue an
Italian army fought to a standstill by the Greeks. After
a disastrous campaign in Africa, during which entire
units surrendered to the Allies en masse, Mussolini
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squandered another army in the Soviet Union.

The Allies were greeted as liberators when they landed
in Sicily in July 1943. In what amounted to a palace coup
in Rome, the Fascist Grand Council, including Ciano,
forced the resignation of the ailing and beaten Mussolini
and returned the power of state to Vittorio Emanuele I11.
He had the former dictator arrested and called on Mar-
shal Pietro Badoglio to become prime minister. Badoglio
formed an interim government that dissolved the Na-
tional Fascist party and granted amnesty to political
prisoners. Although pledging to continue the war, Ba-

King Umberto 11, the last of the Italian monarchs

King Vittorio Emanuele 111 with the crown prince Umberto II in 1939.
In 1946 the crown prince became the king of Italy. Umberto II had
married the daughter of the king of Belgium, Princess Maria José, in
1930 and she served as his queen.

doglio entered into negotiations with the Allies for an
armistice, concluded in September to coincide with Al-
lied landings on the mainland. Hopes for a quick occupa-
tion of Rome were disappointed, however, and the king
and Badoglio moved the government to Brindisi, out of
German reach. The royal government declared war on
Germany in October, but the disintegrating Italian army
had been left without a commander, and the Germans

were in control of most of the country away from the
Allied beachheads. A veteran politician, Ivanoe Bonomi,
was called on to form a government of national unity
that included both Palmiro Togliatti, head of the Italian
Communist party (Partito Communista Italiano—PCI)
and the DC leader, Alcide De Gasperi. The new demo-
cratic government derived its authority from the all-
party Committee of National Liberation, which
reorganized local government in liberated areas and di-
rected Italian resistance in occupied regions.

Rescued by German commandos, Mussolini set up a
rival government—the Italian Social Republic—under
Hitler’s patronage in the German-occupied region with
headquarters at Salo. Mussolini still commanded some
support and, at a National Fascist party congress in
Verona in November 1943, called for a return to the
revolutionary “fascism of the first hour.” The more
fanatical Fascist elements were in control at Salo, eager
to emulate Nazis in every way. Ciano and others who
were held responsible for Mussolini’s ouster were exe-
cuted.

The German army put up stiff resistance to the Allied
advance in Italy. Having relatively few troops to spare,
the Germans took advantage of the terrain and Allied
indecisiveness, stabilizing the battlefront along the Gus-
tav Line during the 1943—44 winter. Rome was liberated
in June 1944 after the breakthrough at Cassino in May.
A second German defense line to the north, the Gothic
Line, held until the last weeks of the war.

Mussolini, protesting at the end his betrayal by the
Nazis and berating the Italians as a ‘“‘race of sheep,”
made a dash for Switzerland in the last days of the war
but was captured by partisans and executed.

ITALIAN REPUBLIC

Although the royal government ended World War II as
a cobelligerent with the Allies, Italy was treated as a
defeated power when the peace settlements were con-
cluded. Italy was deprived of its colonial possessions; it
lost Istria, Zara, and islands in the Adriatic to Yugo-
slavia and was obliged to recognize Trieste’s status as a
free territory under Allied supervision.

In June 1946 as the result of a plebiscite, the monarchy
form of government was abolished and Italy became a
republic.

King Umberto II reigned for one month in 1946.
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THE ROYAL SOVEREIGNS OF THE ROMAN EMPIRE AND ITALY

ROMAN EMPIRE

Reign Title Ruler Relationship

753-716 B.C. Mythical King Romulus (Quirinus)

715-673 Mythical King Numa Pompilius

672-639 My thical King Tullus Hostilius

639-616 Mythical King Ancus Marcius

615-578 Mythical King Tarquinius Priscus

578-534 Mythical King Servius Tullius

534-510 Mythical King Tarquinius Superbus

51049 —The Roman Empire was a republic.

—44 Ruler Gaius Julius Caesar

27 B.C.-A.D. 14  Emperor Augustus (Octavius)

A.D. 14-37 Emperor Tiberius Stepson of Augustus
37-41 Emperor Caligula (Gaius Caesar) Grandnephew of Tiberius
41-54 Emperor Claudius I Nephew of Tiberius
54-68 Emperor Nero Stepson of Claudius
68-69 Emperor Galba
69 Emperor Otho
69 Emperor Vitellius
69-79 Emperor Vespasian
79-81 Emperor Titus Son of Vespasian
81-96 Emperor Domitian Son of Vespasian
96-98 Emperor Nerva
98-117 Emperor Trajan

117-138 Emperor Hadrian Nephew of Trajan
138-161 Emperor Antoninus Pius

161-180 Emperor Marcus Aurelius Son-in-law of Antoninus Pius
161-169 Co-regent Lucius Aurelius Verus Adopted brother of Marcus Aurelius
180-192 Co-regent Commodus Son of Marcus Aurelius
193 Co-regent Helvidius Pertinax

193-211 Co-regent Septimius Severus

193 Emperor (rival)  Didius Julianus

193-196 Emperor (rival)  Pescennius Niger

193-197 Emperor (rival)  Albinus

211-217 Emperor (rival)  Caracalla Son of Septimius Severus
211-212 Co-regent Geta Son of Septimius Severus
217-218 Emperor Macrinus

218-222 Emperor Heliogabalus (Elagabalus)

222-235 Emperor Alexander Severus Cousin of Heliogabalus
235-238 Emperor Maximinus Thrax

238 Emperor (rival)  Gordianus I (Africanus)

238 Co-regent Gordianus 11 Son of Gordianus 1

238 Emperor Pupienus Maximus

238 Co-regent Balbinus

238-244 Emperor Gordianus Il1 Grandson of Gordianus 1
244-249 Emperor Philippus (Philip the Arabian)

249-251 Emperor Decius

251-253 Emperor Gallus

253 Emperor Aemilianus

253-260 Emperor Valerian

260-268 Emperor Gallienus Son of Valerian
268-270 Emperor Claudius II (Gothicus)

270~-275 Emperor Aurelian

275-276 Emperor Tacitus

276 Emperor Florian Brother of Tacitus
276-282 Emperor Probus

282-283 Emperor Carus

283-285 Emperor Carinus Son of Carus

284-305 Emperor Diocletian

285-305 Emperor Maximian

305-306 Emperor Constantius I (Chlorus)

306-311 Emperor Galerius Son-in-law of Diocletian
306-307 Emperor Severus

307-313 Emperor Maximinus Nephew of Galerius
307-337 Emperor Constantine [ (the Great) Son of Constantius |
306-312 Emperor Maxentius Son of Maximian
311-324 Emperor Licinius Adopted son of Galerius
337-340 Emperor Constantine 11 Son of Constantine |
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Reign Title Ruler Birth Death Relationship
337-350 Emperor Constans 1 Son of Constantine |
337-361 Emperor Constantius 11 Son of Constantine [
361-363 Emperor Julianus (Julian the Apostate) Cousin of Constantius 1
363-364 Emperor Jovian
364-375 Emperor West Valentinian [
364-378 Emperor East Valens Brother of Valentinian 1
375-383 Emperor West Gratian Son of Valentinian I
383-388 Emperor West Valentinian [l Son of Valentinian [
379~395 Emperor East Theodosius I (the Great)
388-392 Emperor West Maximus
392-394 Emperor West Eugenius
395423 Emperor West Honorius Son of Theodosius I
395408 Emperor East Arcadius Son of Theodosius [
425-455 Emperor West Valentinian 11 Nephew of Honorius
4SS Emperor West Petronius Maximus
455-456 Emperor West Avitus
457461 Emperor West Majorian
461465 Emperor West Livius Severus
467472 Emperor West Anthemius Son-in-law of Marcian
472 Emperor West Olybrius Son-in-law of Valentinian 11
473-474 Emperor West Glycerius
474475 Emperor West Julius Nepos
474491 Emperor East Zeno 426 491
475476 Emperor West Romulus Augustulus Son of Orestes
476 —Western Roman Empire ended when Augustulus was defeated by Odoacer.
ITALY
SCIRIANS
476493 King Odoacer 434 493
OSTROGOTHS
493-526 King Theodoric (the Great) 454 526  Son of Theodemir
526-534 King Athalaric S16 534  Grandson of Theodoric
527-565 King Justinian
534-536 King Theodatus 536
536-540 King Vitiges Brother-in-law of Athalaric
540 King Theodebald (Hildibald) 540
540-541 King Eraric
541-552 King Tortila (Baduila) 5§52  Nephew of Theodebald
§52-~553 King Teias
553-565—Italy under Byzantine Empire.
LOMBARDS
568-573 King Alboin 573
573-575 King Cleph
584-590 King Autharis 590 Husband of Theodelinda, son of Cleph
590-591 Queen Theodelinda Wife of Autharis
591-615 King Agilulf Theodelinda’s consort
615-625 King Adaloald Son of Agilulf
625-636 King Arioald Son-in-law of Agilulf
636-652 King Rotharis 652  Son-in-law of Agilulf
652-661 King Aribert 1
662671 King Grimoald Son-in-law of Aribert
671-674 King Garibald Son of Grimoald
674-688 King Bertharit Son of Aribert
688~700 King Cunibert Son of Bertharit
701-712 King Aribert 11
712-744 King Liutprand (Luitprand) 690 744
744-749 King Rachis of Friuli
749-756 King Aistulf 756  Brother of Rachis of Friuli
756-1774 King Desiderius 174
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The Kingdozm of [fance

France occupies a geographic position between continent
and ocean. France was equally a maritime and a land
power with the Pyrenees and Alps guarding the south
but totally exposed to the northeast. Its position between
north and south made it from earliest times a converging
place of peoples. It has also had the task, throughout its
history as a kingdom, of defending on the north and east
an extended land frontier and on the west and south a
long seacoast. The French monarchies have been forever
torn between two essential but not always reconcilable
policies of land or sea strength.

The founding of Marseilles about 600 B.c. by the
Greeks from Phocaea was the first approximate date in
French history. At that time the Mediterranean coast
and much of the land of what is now France was inhab-
ited by the Ligurians. A second and even more important
invasion was that of the Celts (Kelts), a tall, blond race
who came from beyond the Rhine and spread themselves
throughout Gaul in successive waves of invasion and
immigration during the course of two or three centuries
until Gaul became a Celto-Ligurian country.

THE OLD CELTS (150 B.C.)

In olden times, before human beings wrote down histo-
ries, Europe was overrun by a great people, whom it is
convenient to call the Celts—fierce, bold, warrior people,
who kept together in large families—or clans—all nearly
related, and each clan with a chief. The clans joined
together and formed tribes, and the cleverest chief of the
clans would be the leader. They spoke a language nearly
alike. There were two great varieties of Celts—the Gael
and the Kymry (Kewmri). The Gael were the tallest,
largest, wildest, and fiercest, but they were not as clever
as the little black-eyed Kymry. The Kymry were the
people who had the Druid priests. But we know little
about the Kymry, as all their knowledge was in verse,
which the Druids and bards taught one another by word

The historical Provence of France

of mouth, and so was never recorded. What we do know
of them was gleaned from their neighbors the Greeks and
Romans, who considered them to be very savage, and
lived in fear of them.

When the Celts pushed into new territory, it was gen-
erally because they were driven from their homes by
fiercer, stronger clansmen behind them, coming from the
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east to the west. When these weaker Celt tribes found
that they could not hold their own against the stronger
tribes, they put wives and children into wagons made of
wood or wickerwork, collected their oxen, sheep, and
goats, called their great shaggy hounds, and set forth to
find new homes. The men had long streaming hair and
beards, and wore loose trousers of wool, woven and dyed
in checks by the women—tartan plaids, in fact. The
leaders always had gold collars around their necks, and
they used round interwoven wicker shields, long spears,
and heavy swords. When the country was free to the
west, they generally settled down in a woods near a river,
closing in their town with a wall of trunks of trees and
banks of earth, and setting up their homes of stone or
wood within.

If other tribes whom they could not defeat were to the
west of them, they would turn to the south into Greece
or Italy. One set of Celts, in very olden times, even
managed to make a home in the middle of Asia Minor,
and it was to their descendants that Saint Paul wrote his
Epistle to the Galatians. Another great troop, under the
mighty bran (chief) who in Latin is called Grennus, even
broke into the great city of Rome itself. All the women
and children of Rome had been sent away, and only a
few brave men remained in a strong place called the
Capitol, on the top of the steepest hill. There they stayed
for seven months, while the bran and his Gaels occupied
the city, drank up the wine, and consumed long-horned
oxen from the surrounding meadowland. The bran and
his troops never did get into the Capitol, because the
Romans paid the chief a great sum in silver not to enter
Rome. The tribe that came with him stayed seventeen
years in the middle parts of Italy before they were sur-
rounded and defeated. Whenever a group of Celts saw
there was no hope of escape, it was their custom to
withdraw to within their enclosure and slay their wives
and children, set fire to everything, and then kill them-
selves. Their worst fear was to be made slaves. All the
north part of Italy beyond the river Po was filled with
Celts, and there were many more of them beyond the
Alps. So it came about that from the word Gael the
Romans called the north of Italy Gallia Cis-Alpina—
Gaul on this side of the Alps, and the country westward,
Gallia Trans-Alpina, or Gaul beyond the Alps; and all
the people there were known as Gauls, whether they
were Gael or Kymry.

Far up in Gaul, the high ground that divides the Riv-
ers Loire, Saone, and Rhine was found by the clever
sailors and merchants called Phoenicians. There is a
beautiful bay where Gaul touches the Mediterranean,
and not only the Phoenicians found it, but the Greeks.
The Greeks came to live there, and built the cities of
Marseilles, Nice, Antibes, and several more. The Greeks
always built lovely cities with marble temples to their
gods, pillars standing on steps, and gardens with statues
in them and theaters for seeing plays acted in the open

air. Inside these cities and close around them everything
was beautiful. The Greeks brought culture and society to
southern France and Italy. As a result, the Gauls who
lived nearby learned some of the Greek ways and became
tamed. They coined money, wrote in Greek letters, and
bought and sold with the Greeks. Their wilder brethren
beyond did not approve of this, however. Sometimes,
indeed, the wilder clans threatened to rob the cities, and
the Greeks begged the Romans to protect them. So the
Romans sent an officer and an army, who built two new
towns, Aix and Narbonne, and went to war with the
Gauls.

Then a messenger was sent to the Roman camp. He
was an immensely tall man, with a collar and bracelets
of gold, and beside him came a bard singing the praises
of his clan, the Arverni. There were many other attend-
ants; but his chief guards were a pack of immense
hounds, which came pacing after him. He bade the Ro-
mans, in the name of his chief, Bituitus, to leave the
country and cease harming the Gauls. The Roman gen-
eral turned his back and would not listen; so the messen-
ger went back in anger and the Arverni prepared for
battle.

When Bituitus saw the Roman army he thought it so
small that he said, *“This handful of men will hardly
furnish food for my dogs.” He was not beaten in the
battle, but by a fluke he and his family were captured just
after it, and they were made prisoners and sent to Italy.
He was kept a captive all the rest of his life, while his son
was brought up in Roman learning and habits, and then
sent home to rule his clan and teach them to be friends
with Rome. This was about one hundred fifty years be-
fore the coming of Christ.

THE ROMAN CONQUEST
(67 B.C.—A.D. 79)

The Romans called the country they had taken for them-
selves in Gaul the Provence, and Provence has continued
to be its name. They filled it with numerous colonies—
actually cities. When a soldier retired he would receive
a grant of land if he promised to defend it. When groups
of soldiers combined their land and defense, a city was
formed. The first thing they did was to set up an altar and
then they built a temple; after that houses, a theater, and
public baths, with causeways as straight as an arrow
joining the colonies and then cities together. Each city
had two magistrates elected every year, and a governor
lived at the chief town with a legion of the army to keep
the countryside in order.

When the Romans once began in this way, they always
ended by gaining the whole country in time. They took
nearly a hundred years to gain Gaul. First there came a
large-scale invasion of some wilder Kymry, whom the
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Romans called Cimbri, from the west, with some Teu-
tons. They broke into Gaul and defeated a great Roman
army; and there was ten years of fighting with them
before the stout old Roman, Gaius Marius, beat them in
a great battle near Aix. All of the Kymry and Teutons
were killed on the battlefield, and then the women killed
their children and themselves rather than fall into Ro-
man hands. That was 103 B.c.; and Julius Caesar, the
same Roman who first invaded Britain, a nephew to
Marius, began his conquest of the whole of Gaul. By this
time many of the Gaulish tribes had come to be civilized
and lived in peace with the Romans and asked for their
help. Some wanted help because they feared the less
civilized tribes, and others wanted help because the Ger-
mans behind them had pushed a big tribe of Kymry out
of the Alps, and they wanted to come down and settle
in Gaul. Julius Caesar made short work of these Kymry
newcomers, and also he defeated the Germans who were
trying to get into Gaul. Caesar expected all the Gauls to
submit to him—not only those who lived around Prov-
ence and had always been friendly to Rome, but all the
free ones in the north, too. He was not only a brilliant
soldier but also a great civil governor. He conquered all
the east side and then he subdued the Belgae, who lived
between the Alps and the sea; all the Armoricans along
the north; and then the still wilder people on the coast
toward the Atlantic Ocean.

But while Caesar was away in the north, the Gaulish
chiefs in the south resolved to rise at once, and put
themselves under the command of the brave young
mountain chief of the Arverni. The Romans called him
Vercingetorix. He was not a wild shaggy savage like
Bituitus, but a graceful, spirited chief, who had been
trained in Roman manners and knew their ways of
fighting. The Gauls all rose one night to do battle. It was
in the depth of winter, and Caesar at the moment was
resting back in Italy. But he immediately started back on
first tidings, and led his men through six-foot-deep snow,
taking every Gallic town on the way.

Vercingetorix saw that the wisest thing for the Gauls
to do would be to burn and lay waste to the land, so that
the Romans would have nothing to eat. Caesar followed
Vercingetorix to his hills of Auvergne, and fought a
battle with him, the only defeat the great Roman captain
ever had; indeed, he was obliged to retreat from the face
of the brave Arverni. They followed Caesar, and fought
another battle, in which he was in great danger. But the
Gauls were not as long on strategy as they were on
bravery. They fled, and it was all Vercingetorix could do
to lead his men to a big camp under the hill of Alesia.
He sent horsemen to rouse the rest of Gaul, and shut
himself and his troops up in a great enclosure.

Caesar and the Romans came and made another en-
closure outside, eleven miles around, so that no help, no
food, could reach the Gauls, who had provisions for but
thirty days. Their friends outside did try to break

through to them, but in vain. Then the brave Vercin-
getorix offered to give himself up to the Romans, pro-
vided the lives of the rest of the Gauls were spared.
Caesar gave his word that this should be done. Accord-
ingly, at the appointed hour the gates of the Gallic camp
opened. Out came Vercingetorix in his richest armor,
mounted on his finest steed. He galloped about, wheeled
around once then, drawing up suddenly before Caesar’s
seat, sprang to the ground, and laid his sword at the
victor’s feet. Caesar was not touched. He kept a cold,
stern face, ordered the gallant chief into captivity, and
kept him prisoner with him for six years, while finishing
other conquests, and then took him to Rome to walk in
chains behind the chariot in which the victorious general
entered in triumph. Then with other captives, this noble
warrior was put to death in the dark vaults under the hill
of the Capitol.

With Vercingetorix ended the freedom of Gaul. The
Romans took possession of all the country and made the
cities like their own. The Gaulish chiefs thought it an
honor te be enrolled as Roman citizens; they wore the
Roman tunic and toga, spoke and wrote Latin, and,
except among the Kymry of the far northwest, the old
Gaulish tongue was soon forgotten. Today, grand tem-
ples and amphitheaters still remain in the area of
Nismes, Arles, and Autun, and roads, made as only the
Romans could make them, crisscross throughout the
country. Except in the wilder and more distant parts,
living in Gaul was very much like living in Rome.

After Julius Caesar, the Romans had emperors at the
head of their state, and some of these were very fond of
Gaul. But when the first twelve who had some connec-
tion with Julius were all dead, a Gaul named Julius
Sabinus rose up and called himself emperor. The real
emperor, chosen at Rome, named Vespasian, soon came
and overthrew his cause, and hunted him down in his
country house. Flames burst out of it, and it was de-
clared that Sabinus had died there. But no; he was safely
hidden in a cave in the woods. No one knew of it but his
wife Eponina and one trusted slave, and there they lived
together for nine years and had two little sons. Eponina
twice left him to go to Rome to consult her friends
whether they should try to obtain a pardon for her hus-
band. They believed Vespasian was too stern a man.
They saw no hope, so she went back disappointed. Once,
word got out and she was followed, and Sabinus was
found. He was taken and chained and carried to Rome,
and she and her two boys followed. She knelt before the
emperor and sought his pardon, saying that here were
two more to plead for their father. Tears came into Ves-
pasian’s eyes, but he would not forgive, and the husband
and wife were both sentenced to die. The last thing
Eponina said before his judgment seat was that it was
better to die together than to be alive under such an
emperor. Her two boys were taken care of, and they lived
long after in distant places from Rome.
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THE CONVERSION OF GAUL
(100-400)

Provence was so near Rome that very soon after the
Apostles had reached the great city, they went on to
Gaul. The people in Provence to this day believe that
Lazarus and his two sisters went there. Their first bishop
(of Arles) was Trophimus, and he is believed to have
been the Ephesian who was with Saint Paul in his third
journey, and was at Jerusalem with him when he was
made a prisoner.

It was many years before the Gallic Christians suffered
any danger for their faith. Then, under Emperor Marcus
Aurelius, a governor was sent to the Provence who was
resolved to put an end to Christianity. The difficulty was
that there were no crimes of which to accuse the Chris-
tians. But the Christians were rounded up anyway. The
Gallic bishop Pothinus was dragged through the streets,
and so ill-treated that after a few days he died in prison.
For fifteen days the others were brought out before the
non-Christian people in the amphitheater, while every
torture that could be thought of was tried on the Chris-
tians. The persecution did not last much longer after this,
and the bones of the martyrs were collected and buried,
and a church built over them, which is now the Cathe-
dral of Lyons.

Almost all the townsmen of Lyons became Christians
after that, but the people out in the country were much
less easily converted. Indeed, the word pagan, which
now means a “‘heathen,” was only the old Latin word for
a peasant or person who lived in the country. In the year
202, Emperor Septimius Severus put out an edict against
the Christians. The fierce Gauls in the adjoining country-
side, hearing of it, broke into the city and slaughtered
every Christian they could find. There is an old mosaic
pavement in a church at Lyons where the inscription
declares that nineteen thousand died in this massacre.

The northerly parts of Gaul had not yet been con-
verted, and a bishop named Dionysius was sent to teach
a tribe called the Parisii, whose chief city was Lutetia, on
the banks of the Seine. He was taken in the year 272, and
was beheaded just outside the walls on a hill which is still
known as Montmartre, the martyr’s mount. His name,
cut short into Saint Denys, became one of the most
famous in all France.

The three Celtic provinces, Gaul, Spain, and Britain,
were together under one governor, and the brave, kindly
Constantius I ruled over them and hindered persecution
as much as he could. His son Constantine I was also
much loved, and it was while marching to Italy with an
army that included many Gauls that Constantine saw
the vision of a bright cross in the sky, surrounded by the
words, “*By this conquer.” He did conquer and did con-
fess himself a Christian two years later, and under him
the church of Gaul flourished. Gallic bishops were at the

great council of Nicea, in Asia Minor, when the Nicene
Creed was drawn up.

After Constantine’s death, his son Constantius II fos-
tered the false doctrine that the Nicene Creed contra-
dicted. He lived at Constantinople, and dressed and lived
like an Eastern prince, and the Gauls were growing dis-
contented, especially since the Franks—a ferocious tribe
of their Teuton enemies to the east—were trying to break
into their lands. A young cousin of Constantius II,
named Julianus, was sent to fight with them. He fixed his
chief base in a little island in the middle of the River
Seine, at Lutetia, among his dear Parisii, as he called his
tribe, and from there he came out to drive back the
Franks whenever they tried to attack the Gauls. He was
a very brave, able man, but he had seen so much selfish-
ness and weakness among the Christians in Rome and
Constantinople, that he believed their faults arose from
their faith. As soon as Constantius was dead, and he
became emperor, he reverted to being heathen again. He
only reigned three years, and then, in the year 363, was
killed in a war with the Persians. He was the last of his
family, and several emperors rose and fell at Rome.

The governor of Gaul, Maximus, called himself an
emperor and, raising an army in Britain ruled Celtic
provinces for seven years. He was a brave soldier, and
not a wholly bad man, for he loved and valued the great
bishop Martin of Tours. Martin had been brought up as
a soldier, but at eighteen he had become a Christian and
was the pupil of the great bishop Hilary of Poitiers. He
and the monks used to go out from there to teach the
pagans who still remained in the far west. Martin did
what no one else had ever done: he taught them to
become staunch Christians, though they still spoke their
own tongue and followed their own customs.

This was Saint Martin’s work while his friend, the
false emperor Maximus, was being overthrown by the
true emperor Theodosius I. Struggling and fighting con-
tinued among the Romans and Gauls, while the dreadful
Franks were every now and then bursting into the coun-
try from across the Rhine.

Saint Martin had finished the conversion of Gaul just
before his death, in his monastery at Marmoutiers, in the
year 400. He died in time to escape the terrible times that
were coming up all the Gauls, or rather Romans. For all
the southern and eastern Gauls called themselves Ro-
mans and spoke nothing but Latin.

THE FRANK KINGDOM (450-533)

That race of people which had been driving the Celts
westward for six or seven hundred years was finally mak-
ing its way into Gaul. They had been held back only by
Roman skill. This race as a general name was called
Teutonic, but it divided into many different nations. The
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Julianus declared emperor by his soldiers at Paris

people were large-limbed, blue-eyed, and light-haired.
They all spoke a language like rough German, and all
had the same religion, believing in the great warlike
gods, Odin, Thor, and Frey. They worshipped them at
stone altars, and expected to live with them in the hall
of heroes after death—that is, all so-called who were
brave and who were chosen by the Valkyr, or “slaugh-
ter-choosing goddesses,” to die nobly in battle. Cowards
were sent to dwell with Hela, the pale, gloomy goddess
of death.

They had lived for at least five hundred years in the
center of Europe, now and then attacking their neigh-
bors, when they were being harrassed by another, fiercer
race, who was pushing them from the east. The chief
tribes were the Goths, who conquered Rome and settled
in Spain; the Longbeards, or Lombards, who spread over
the north of Italy; the Burgundians (burg or town peo-
ple), who held all the country round the Alps; the Swabi-
ans and Germans, who stayed in the middle of Europe;
the Saxons, who dwelt around the south of the Baltic,
and finally conquered south Britain; the Northmen, who
found a home in Scandinavia; and the Franks, who had
been long settled on the Rivers Sale, Meuse, and Rhine.
There were two tribes of Franks—the Salian, from the
River Sale, and the Ripuarian. They were great horse-
men and dreadful pillagers, and the Salians had a family

The meeting between Julianus and the Frank chiefs
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King Childeric I, 459-81

King Merovech (Merovee),
447-58

of kings, which, like the kings of all the other tribes, were
supposed to have been descended from Odin. The king
was always of this family, called Meerwings, after
Meerwing—or Merovech—the son of Pharamond, one
of the first chiefs.

After the death of the great Theodosius, who had
conquered the emperor Maximus, there was no force to
keep these Franks back, and they were continually dash-
ing into Gaul and carrying off slaves and plundering.
Even worse was the great rush that, in the year 450, was
made all across Europe by the Huns, a terrible nation of
another race, whose chief was called Etzel (or Attila) and
who named himself the Scourge of God. In 451, he in-
vaded Gaul with his army, whose faces had been gashed
in infancy by their savage parents, that the warriors
might look more dreadful. At Lutetia, the people wanted
desperately to flee, but they were persuaded to remain by
the holy woman Genoveva. She was a young shepherdess
of Nanterre, near Paris, who had devoted herself to the
service of God and whose holy life made the people listen
to her as a kind of prophet. And she was right. The Huns
did not come farther than Orleans, where the good
bishop Lupus made the people shut their gates and de-
fend their town until rescued by an army composed of
Franks, Goths, Burgundians, and Gauls, under the com-
mand of Roman general Aétius. In 451, he attacked the
Huns at Chalons-sur-Marne, beat them, and drove them

Clovis I's wife, Clothilde,
478-545

King Clovis (Chlodwig),
482-511

Elevation as king for Clovis

back. Chalons was the last victory won under the old
Roman rulers, for there now was too much conflict in
Italy itself for Rome to help anyone. In came the Franks,
and Childeric, the son of Merovech (Meerwig), came to
Lutetia, or Paris, as it was now called. He had a great
respect for Genoveva, heathen though he was; and when
he came home from plundering, with crowds of prisoners
driven before him, Genoveva would go and stand in front
of him and plead for their pardon. He never could with-
stand her and always set them free. She died at eighty-
nine years of age, and the church named her Saint
Genevieve.

Childeric’s son was named Chlodwig, which means
“renowned war,” but histories generally called him
Clovis. He wanted to marry a Burgundian maiden
named Clothilde, and as she was a Christian, he prom-
ised that she would be allowed to pray to her God in the
churches that still stood throughout Gaul. When her
first child was born, she wanted Clovis to let her have it
baptized. The child died soon after birth and Clovis
feared it was because her God could not save it. How-
ever, they had the next child baptized, and when it fell
sick she prayed for it, and it recovered. Clovis began to
listen more to what she said of her God, and when, soon
after, the Germans came with a great army across the
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Rhine and he drew out his Franks to fight with them at
Tolbiac, near Cologne, he was in great danger in the
battle, and he cried out, “Christ, whom Clothilde calls
the true God, I have called on my own gods, and they
help me not! Send help, and I will own Thy name.” The
Germans were routed and Clovis had his victory.

He kept his word, and was baptized at Rheims by
Saint Remigius, with his two sisters, three thousand
men, and many women and children. And, as he was the
first great Teutonic prince who was a Catholic Christian,
the king of France, ever since that time, has been called
the Most Christian King and eldest son of the church.

Clovis was the first Frank chief who really made a
home of Gaul, or who wore a purple robe and a crown
like a Roman emperor. He made his principal home at
Paris, where he built a church on the little island on the
Seine, in honor of the Blessed Virgin, measuring the
length of how far he threw an axe; but, though he hon-
ored the Gaulish clergy, he was still a fierce and violent
savage, who did many cruel things. He generally re-
pented of them afterward and gave gifts to churches to
show his sorrow, and the holy men were with him when,
in 511, he died at Paris.

The four sons of Clovis divided the kingdom. That is,
they were all kings, and each had towns of his own. In
the four chief towns—Paris, Orleans, Soissons, and Metz
—they all had equal geographical shares. Not that they
really governed, but they always were leaders when the
Franks went out to plunder in the southern lands of

Interview of Alaric and Clovis

Provence and Aquitania. There was another part the
Franks never conquered, namely, that far northwestern
corner called Armorica, which Julius Caesar had con-
quered, and Saint Martin had converted last of all. The
granite moors did not tempt the Franks for the Kymry
there were very bold. Moreover, so many of their kin-
dred Kymry from Britain came over for fear of the Sax-
ons that the country came to be called from them
Bretagne, or Brittany, and the Kymric tongue is still
spoken there to this day.

When Chlodmir, one of the sons of Clovis, died, his
three little sons were sent to Paris to be under the care
of their grandmother, Clothilde. She was so fond of them
that their uncles, Clothaire and Childebert, were afraid
she would require that their father’s inheritance should
be given to them. So they asked her to send the boys to
them on a visit, and as soon as they arrived, a messenger
was sent to the queen with a sword and a pair of scissors,

Clovis entering Tours
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Clothaire I, king of Soissons,
358-62

King Childebert, 511-58

desiring her to choose. This meant that she should
choose whether the poor boys should be killed, or have
their heads shaven and become monks. Clothilde an-
swered that she would rather see them dead than monks.
In the year 533 Clothaire killed the eldest, who was only
ten, with his sword. The second clung to Childebert and
begged for his life, but Clothaire forced his brother to
release him, and killed him too. The third boy, whose
name was Chlodoald, was helped by Childebert to es-
cape, and when he grew older he went into a monastery.
He was so good a churchman that he became known as
St. Cloud.

THE LONG-HAIRED KINGS
(533-681)

The Meerwings, or long-haired kings, were the most
wicked dynasty to ever call themselves Christian. They
murdered, plundered, and married numerous wives, just
as if they had been heathens. By the Frank law, a murder
might be redeemed by a payment, and it was fully twice
as costly to kill a Frank as to kill a Roman, that is to say,

Clothaire discovering the assassins
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a Gaul. Except in the cities in Provence and Aquitania,
this term Roman, once so proud, was now little better
than that of a slave.

Out of all the Meerwing names, several have to be
remembered above the rest for their crimes. Clothaire I,
the murderous son of Clovis, left four sons—Gontram,
Charibert, Siegbert, and Chilperic—among whom the
kingdom was, as usual, divided. Two of these sons,
Chilperic and Siegbert, wished for queenly wives, though
Chilperic, at least, had a houseful of wives and among
them a slave girl named Fredegond. The two brothers
married the two daughters of the king of the Goths in
Spain, Galswinth and Brynhild. Siegbert seems to have
really loved Brynhild, but Chilperic cared for the beauti-
ful and clever Fredegond more than anyone else, and
very soon Galswinth was found in her bed strangled.
Fredegond reigned as queen, and Brynhild hated her
bitterly and constantly stirred up her husband to avenge
her sister’s death. Siegbert raised an army and defeated
Chilperic, but Fredegond contrived to have him stabbed.
She also contrived to have all her husband’s other chil-
dren killed by different means, and, at last, in the year
584, she contrived that he too should be stabbed when
returning from a hunting trip. She had lost several in-
fants, and now had only one child left, Clothaire 11, a few

King Charibert, 562-66, a son

King Chilperic 1, 566-84 of Clothaire I
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months old. But in his name she ruled what the Franks
called the Ne-oster-rik, or Western Kingdom, namely,
France, from the Saone westward; while Brynhild and
her son Childebert ruled in the Auster-rik, or Eastern
Kingdom, from the Saone to the Sale and Rhine. There
was a most bitter hatred between the two sisters-in-law.
Fredegond died in 597 at Paris, leaving her son Clothaire
II on the throne.

Brynhild quarreled with the Franks chiefs, and when
the bishops found fault with her she attacked them, and
even caused the saintly bishop of Vienne to be assas-
sinated. In her time there came from Ireland a number
of very holy men, Celtic Christians, who had set forth
from the monasteries to convert such Gauls and Franks
as remained heathen. Brynhild’s two grandsons, Theu-
debert and Theuderick, reigned in Auster-rik. Theude-
rick listened willingly to the holy men. There was a fierce
quarrel finally between her two grandsons. Theuderick
was taken prisoner by his brother, and forced to cut his
hair and become a monk, but this did not save his life.
He was put to death shortly after, and Theudebert soon
after died. So Brynhild, after having ruled in the name
of her son and grandsons, now governed for her great-
grandson, Siegbert, thirty-nine years after her husband’s
death. But she was old and weak, and her foe, Frede-

Fredegond, wife of Chilperic I
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gond’s son, Clothaire II, attacked her, defeated her
forces, and made her and her great-grandchildren pris-
oners. The boys were slain, and the poor old Gothic
queen, after being placed on a camel and led through the
camp to be mocked by all the savage Franks, was tied to
the tail of a wild horse, to be dragged to death by it! This
was in the year 614 when barbarianism was still a way
of life.

Clothaire II thus became king of all the Franks, and
so was his son, Dagobert I, who was not much better as
a ruler but was not quite so savage. In fact, the Franks
were getting gradually civilized by the Romanized Gauls
—the conquerors by the conquered.

Twelve more Meerwings reigned after Dagobert. They
become less savage and hardly attended at all to the
affairs of their kingdoms, only amusing themselves in
their palaces at Soissons or Paris, thus obtaining the
name of Rois fainéants, or “do-nothing kings.” The
affairs of the kingdom fell into the hands of the major
domo, as he was called, or “mayor of the palace.” The
Franks, as they tried to have courts and keep up state,
followed Roman patterns so far as they knew them, and
gave Roman names from the emperor’s court to the men
in attendance on them. So the steward, or major domo,
master of the royal household, rose to be the chief person
in the kingdom next to the king himself. The next most
important people were called comites, “‘companions of
the king, counts”; and the chief of these was the master
of the horse, comes stabuli, the “count of the stable” or,
as he came to be called in the end, the constable. The
leader of the army was called dux, a Latin word meaning
“to lead,” and this word became duke. But the mayor of
the palace under these foolish do-nothing Meerwings
soon came to be a much greater man than the king
himself, and the mayor of the palace of the Oster-rik or
Austrasia fought with the palace mayor of the Ne-oster-
rik or Neustria, as if they were two sovereigns.

Finally, Ebroin, the last Neustrian mayor, was mur-
dered in 681, the Neustrian army was defeated, and the
Austrasians became the more powerful. Their mayors
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Chilperic, 566-84, and Death of Merovech

son Merovire

were all of one family, the first of whom was named

Pepin I of Landen. He was one of Queen Brynhild's great
enemies, but he was a friend of Dagobert I, and he and
his family and their armed followers were brave defend-
ers of the Franks from the other German nations.

CARL OF THE HAMMER (71441)

The son of Pepin I of Landen (the Elder) is commonly
called Pepin L'Heristal (Pepin II). He was mayor of the
palace through the reigns of four do-nothing Meerwings,
and was a brave leader of the Franks, fighting hard with
their heathen neighbors on the other side of the Rhine,
the Saxons and Thuringians.

He died in 714, and after him came his brave son Carl
of the Hammer, after whom all the family are known in
history as Carlings. Whether it was meant that he was
a hammer himself or that he carried a hammer, is not
clear, but it is quite certain that he was the greatest man
in Europe at that time. The soft Roman sound softened
his name into Carolus and translated his nickname into
Martellus, so that he has become known in history as
Charles Martel. He was duke of Austrasia and mayor of
the palace under Clothaire IV and Theuderick IV.

It was a hundred years since Mohammed had risen up
in Arabia, teaching the wild Arabs a strict law, and
declaring that God is but one, and that he was His
prophet, by which he meant that he was a greater and
truer prophet than the Lord Jesus Christ. He taught that
it was right to fight for the spread of the religion he

Clothaire 11, 584-628 Brynhild, 534-613, wife of
Clothaire I
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aire Il measuring the prisoners ., - -

|

1o Dagobert I |
' I

|

|




THE KINGDOM OF FRANCE 59

The dish of Dagobert

Murder of Childeric
II and the

royal family

taught, and his Arabs fought so well that they overcame
the Holy Land and held the city of Jerusalem. Besides
this, they had conquered Egypt and spread all along the
north of Africa, on the coast of the Mediterranean Sea;
and then they crossed over into Spain, and subdued the
Christian Goths, all but the few who held fast in the
Pyrenees.

And now these Arabs—also called Saracens and
Moors—were trying to pass the Pyrenees and make at-
tacks upon Gaul, and it seemed as if all Europe was
going to be given up to them and become Mohammedan.
Abdul Rhaman, the great Arab governor of Spain,
crossed the Pyrenees at the Pass of Roncevalles, burst
into Aquitania, and won a great battle near Bordeaux.

Then they marched on toward Tours, but by this time
Carl of the Hammer assembled a great army; not only
Franks, but Burgundians, Gauls of Provence, and Ger-
mans from beyond the Rhine—all who acknowledged
owning the sovereignty of Austrasia, and who wanted it
saved from the Arabs.

The battle of Tours, between Charles Martel and Ab-
dul Rhaman, was fought in the autumn of 752, and was
one of the great battles that decided the fate of the world.
For it was this battle that determined whether Europe
would be Christian or Mohammedan. It was a hotly

King Thierry III, 674-91 Clovis 111, 691-95 King Childebert 111, 695-711 King Dagobert III, 711-16
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fought combat, but the tall powerful Franks and Ger-
mans stood like rocks against every charge of the Arab
horsemen, till darkness came on. The Hammer had the
Franks sleep where they fought, to be ready the next
morning to begin the battle again. But all except the dead
and wounded Arabs were gone. They had withdrawn in
the night, and the battle of Tours had saved Europe.
However, the Hammer still had to strike many blows
before they were driven back into Spain, and this tended
to bring the south of Gaul much more under his power.
Charles Martel was looked upon as the great defender of
Christendom, and, as at this time the king of the Lom-
bards in northern Italy seemed disposed to make himself
master of Rome, the pope sent two nuncios, as pope’s
messengers are called, to carry him presents, among
them the keys of the tomb of Saint Peter, and to beg for
his protection. Still, great as he was in reality, he never
called himself more than mayor of the palace and duke
of Austrasia, and when he died in 741, his sons, Pepin
and Carloman, divided the government, still as mayors,
for the Meerwing Childeric 111. In 747, however, Carlo-
man, weary of the world, had his head shaven by Pope
Zacharias, and retired into the great monastery of Monte
L Cassino. Pepin, commonly called /e bref, or the Short,
Pepin I, 628-39 ' ruled alone, and in 751 he asked Pope Zacharias whether
it would not be wiser that the family who had all the
power should bear the name of king. The pope replied
that so it should be. Childeric I1I was put into a convent,
King Clothaire 1V, 717-19 King Chilperic I1. 716-21 and the great English missionary-bishop, Saint Boniface,
whom Pepin and his father had aided in his work among
the Germans, anointed Pepin III king of the Franks at
Soissons. Two years later, the next pope, Stephen II,
came into Gaul again to ask aid against the Lombards,
and at the Abbey of St. Denys anointed Pepin again,

Charles Martel receiving
the pope’s presents
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together with his two young sons, Carl and Carloman.
And so the Meerwings passed away, and the Carlings
began.

Pepin was a great improvement on the do-nothing
Meerwings. When the Franks entered Italy and defeated
Astolfo, king of the Lombards, Pepin was rewarded by
being made a senator of Rome even though he could not
read or write. Afterward, the Lombards attacked the
pope again. Pepin again came to his help, and after gain-
ing several victories, forced King Astolfo to give up part
of his lands near Rome. Pepin made a gift of these to the
pope, and this was the beginning of the pope becoming
a temporal sovereign, that is, holding lands like a king
or prince, instead of only holding a spiritual power over
men’s consciences as head of the Western church.

Pepin I1I died at the Abbey of St. Denys in the year
768. In reality he was not the king of France, but king
of the Franks, which does not mean the same thing.

CARL THE GREAT—
CHARLEMAGNE (768-814)

Carl and Carloman, the two sons of Pepin III, at first
divided the Frank domains; but Carloman soon died,
and Carl reigned alone. He is one of the mightiest of the
princes who ever bore the name of Great. The Franks
called him Carl der Grosse, Carolus Magnus in Latin,
and this has become in French, Charlemagne.

He was a most warlike king. When the Saxons failed
to send him a tribute of three hundred horses, he entered
their country, ravaged it, and overthrew an image that
they used as an idol—called Irminsul. Thereupon the
Saxons burned the church at Fritzlar, which Saint Boni-
face had built, and so the war went on that way for years.
Charlemagne was resolved to force the Saxons to be
Christians, and Witikind, the great Saxon leader, was
fiercely resolved against yielding, viewing the honor of
the god of Odin as the honor of his country. They fought
on and on, until, in 785, Charlemagne wintered in Sax-
ony in victory, and at last persuaded Witikind to come

Pepin IIl, 751-68
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Baptism of Witikind. Witikind, the chief of the Saxons, defeated by
Charlemagne in 785, is forced to be baptized along with all Saxons in
the Church of Rome.
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Charlemagne, from a mosaic
in the Church of
St. John de Lateran

Although a phenomenal empire builder and administrator, Char-
lemagne had great difficulty in learning how to write—a skill he at-
tempted only after the age of thirty, when already well on the way to
uniting the greater part of Eurgpe under his rule. The most he ever
accomplished readily with pen in hand was a monogram of his own
name, Karolus, which he inscribed on scores of edicts issued to his
Frankish, Saxon, Lombard, and Basque subjects. The example above
(greatly magnified) appears on a document of the year 774, at the time
of his first visit to Rome. Despite his own difficulties with the alphaber,
Charlemagne was instrumental in setting up schools and libraries, in
promoting the revival of the Latin language, and in stimulating the
Carolingian renaissance.

and meet him at Attigny. There the Saxon chief admitted
that Christ had conquered and consented to be baptized.
Charlemagne made him duke of Saxony, and he lived in
good faith to the new vows he had taken. The Frisians
and Bavarians, and all who lived in Germany, were
forced to submit to the great king of the Franks.

There was a new king of the Lombards—Desiderio,
and a new pope—Adrian I; and as usual they were at
war, and again the pope entreated for the aid of the
Franks. He came with a great army, drove Desiderio into
Pavia, and besieged him there. It was a long siege, and
Charlemagne had a chapel set up in his camp to keep the
Christmas holiday; but for Easter he went to Rome and
was met miles away by all the chief citizens and scholars
carrying palm branches in their hands, and as he
mounted the steps to St. Peter’s Church, the pope met
him, saying, “Blessed is he that cometh in the name of
the Lord.” He prayed at all the chief churches in Rome
and then returned to Pavia, which he soon captured. He
carried off Desiderio as a prisoner and took the title of
king of the Franks and the Lombards. This was in the
year 775, while the Saxon war was still going on.

He likewise had a war with the Arabs in Spain, and
in 778 he crossed the Pyrenees and overran the country
as far as the Ebro, where the Arabs offered him large
gifts of gold and jewels if he would stop his campaign
before attacking their splendid cities in the south. He
consented.

Charlemagne had three sons—Carl, Pepin, and Lod-
wig (Louis). When the two younger were four and three
years old, he took them both with him to Rome, and
there Pope Adrian anointed the elder to be king of Lom-
bardy; the younger, king of Aquitania.

Charlemagne had gathered the most learned men he
could find at his father’s palace at Aachem, and he had
a kind of academy where his young nobles and clergy
might acquire the learning of the old Roman times. (His
son Lodwig was educated there.) In fact, Charlemagne
taught there himself. Charlemagne was a Renaissance
man. He worked hard to remedy the need for a good
education; and such was his ability that he could calcu-

Coronation of Charlemagne
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late the courses of the planets in his head. He had an
excellent knowledge of Latin; Saint Augustine’s City of
God was his favorite book—a bible of its time; and he
composed several hymns, among them the Veni Creator
Spiritus—that invocation of the Holy Spirit which is
sung at ordinations. He also knew Greek, wrote a Frank-
ish grammar book, and collected the old songs of his
people.

No one was honored as much and respected in Eu-
rope, and after two more journeys to Rome on behalf of
Pope Leo III, the greatest honor possible was conferred
upon him. In the old Roman times, the Roman people
had always elected their emperor. They now elected him.
On Christmas day of the year 800, as Carl the Frank
knelt down before the altar of St. Peter’s, the pope placed
a crown on his head, and the Roman people cried out,
“To Carolus Augustus, crowned by God, the great and
peaceful emperor of the Romans, life and victory!”

So the empire of the West, which had died away for
a time or been merged in the empire of the East at
Constantinople, was brought to life again in the person
of Charlemagne; while his two sons were rulers of king-
doms and all around him were numerous dukes and
counts of different subject nations, all comprising his
empire. The old cities and Provence—Aquitania, Lom-
bardy, and Gaul—though they had councils that gov-
erned themselves, claimed him as their emperor.
Moreover, he made the new territories which he had
conquered along the German rivers great bishoprics, es-
pecially at Triers, Mentz, and Koln, thinking that bish-
ops would more safely and loyally guard the frontier and
tame the heathen borderers than fierce warrior counts
and dukes.

Aachen was the capital of this empire. There Char-
lemagne had built a great cathedral, and a palace for
himself. His chosen Christian name of David fitted him
well, for he was a great benefactor of the church. He
gathered together his bishops several times during his
reign to consult on the church’s good and defense. In-
deed, his benefits to her and his loyal service were such
that he was placed in the pope’s calendar as a saint.

He was a tall figure, with a long neck, and was exceed-
ingly active and dextrous in all exercises—a powerful
warrior and very fond of hunting, but preferring swim-
ming to anything else. Nobody could swim or dive as he
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Charlemagne
in later life

could; and he used to take large parties to bathe with
him, so that a hundred men were sometimes in the river
at once. His dress was stately on occasion, but he did not
approve of mere finery. When he saw some young noble
overdressed, he would enjoy taking him on a long muddy
ride in the rain.

He had intended his eldest son, Carl, to be emperor,
and Pepin and Lodwig to rule Lombardy and Aquitania
under him as kings; but Pepin died in 810, and Carl in
811, and only Lodwig was left. This last son he had
accepted as emperor by all his chief nobles in the church
at Aachen, after which he bade the young man take a
crown that lay on the altar and put it on his own head.
“Blessed be the Lord, who hath granted me to see my son
sitting on my throne,” he said.

Louis I, 81440

Charles the Bald, 843-77

Charlemagne died in the next year, in 814, at the age
of seventy-one, and was buried at Aachen, sitting up-
right, robed and crowned, in his chair, with his sword by
his side.

THE CARLINGS (814-87)

Charlemagne’s son, Lodwig—Ludovicus Pius, as the
Latins called him, or Louis le Debonnaire, as he stands
in French books—was a good, gentle, pious man, but his
life was one continual fight with his sons. After he—
Louis I—had given three kingdoms to his three sons,
their mother died; he married again, and had a younger
son, Charles; and his desire to give a share to this poor
boy led to no less than three great revolts on the part of
the elder stepbrothers, until at last their poor father died
worn out and brokenhearted, on a little islet in the
Rhine, in the year 840.

The eldest son, Lothair, was then emperor, and had
for his own, beside the kingdom of Italy and that country
where Aachen (the capital) stood, the strip bounded by
the Rhine and the Alps to the east, and the Meuse and
the Rhone to the west. He was in the middle, between
his brothers—Louis, who had Germany and Charles,
who had all the remainder of France. They fought over
this. When Lothair died, his two sons divided his domin-
ions again—the elder (whose name was the same as his
own) got the northern half, between the Meuse and
Rhine; and the younger had the old Provence. They both
died soon and would not be worth mentioning, but that
the name of the two Lothairs remained to the northern
kingdom, Lotharick, or Lorraine, and the old kingdom
of Arles, or Provence.

Charles survived all his brothers and came to be the
head of the family, the second emperor Charles, com-
monly called the Bald. He was king from his father’s
death in 840, but emperor only for two years, from 875
to 877; and his life was a time of tumult and warfare,
though he was an active, able man, and did his best. He
had a good deal more learning than Charlemagne had to
begin with, and like him had a school in his palace. He
was a great debater and philosopher, and got into trouble
occasionally with the pope about some of his definitions.

Charles the Bald had little time to enjoy his palace
school, for the Northmen were moving south and were
even more dreadful enemies of France than of England.
The first fleet of their ships had been seen by Char-
lemagne, and he had shed tears at the sight; for he per-
ceived that all his efforts to subdue and convert
Bavarians, Saxons, and Frisians had not saved his people
from a terrible enemy of their own stock, far more ear-
nest in the worship of Odin and likely to come in greater
numbers. All through the troubles of Louis I parties of
Northmen were landing, plundering any city or abbey
that was not strong enough to keep them off; and when
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King Alfred the Great had made England too mighty for
them, they came all the more to France. Sometimes they
were met in battle, sometimes a sum was offered to them
to spare a city from their plunder; and if the walls were
strong, they would generally accept it. Paris was thus
bought off in the time of Charles the Bald from the
terrible sea-king, Hasting.

After Charles the Bald there were three very short
reigns, only lasting seven years altogether, of his son and
his two grandsons, and then the head of the Carlings was
Charles I1, commonly called der Dicke (the Thick or the
Fat)—in France known as Charles le Gros. He was the
son of Louis II, called the German, the son of Louis I,
the Pious, and seems to have been less fit than most of
his kindred for the difficulties of his post as emperor of
the West, or king of the Franks.

The invasion of Northmen was worse than ever in his
time because Harold the Fairhaired had made himself
sole king of Norway, driving out all opposition; and
those who would not brook his dominion now came
southward, intending not only to plunder, but to find
homesteads for themselves. One of these was the famous
Rolf Gange, or Walker, so called because he went into
battle on foot. In the year 885 Rolf and another sea-king
named Siguid sailed up the Seine with seven hundred
great ships, which stretched for sixteen miles along the
stream, and prepared to take Paris.

For thirteen months the city was besieged, until at last
the emperor arrived with an army collected from all the
nations under him; but, after all of this, he did not fight
—he only paid the Northmen to leave Paris and go to
winter in Burgundy, which was at enmity with him. In
fact, every part of the empire was at odds with poor fat
Charles; and the next year (887) a diet, or council, met
on the banks of the Rhine and deposed him. Arnulf, a
son of the short-lived Carloman, was made emperor;
Count Eudes was crowned king of France; Guy (duke of
Spoleto) set up a kingdom in Italy; Boso of Arles called
himself king of Provence; and Rodolf (another count)
was crowned king of Burgundy, so that it appeared as
though the whole empire of Charlemagne had been
broken up.

THE COUNTS OF PARIS (887-987)

Charles the Fat died of grief the year after he was
deposed. He was not the last Carling. Besides the em-
peror Arnulf, there was a son of Louis the Stammerer
(another Carl) who tried to win the old French domains
back from the Northman, Eudes. In fact, the westerly
Franks, who held Paris and all the country to the Atlan-
tic Ocean, had become very mixed with the old Gauls
and had learned to speak Latin, though it was a little
altered. In fact, it was the beginning of what we call
French. They held with Eudes while the Franks around

Charles II, 884-87

Laon and Soissons were much more German, and chiefly
clung to the Carling Charles, though he bore no better
surname than the Simple. The farther eastward Franks
of Franconia, as it is now called, with all the other Ger-
man tribes—Swabians, Frisians, Saxons, Bavarians, and
so forth—were under Arnulf, and made up the kingdom
of Germany. The Franks west of the Rhine never were
joined to it again. After the death of Arnulf’s only son,
Louis III, called the Child, no more Carlings reigned
there. The Saxons sustained the leadership.

The counts of Paris were not Gauls but Saxons who
had settled in the Frank country and made common
cause with the Gauls. They had the same sort of patience
with which the first Carlings had waited—until the
Meerwings were worn out. Eudes let Charles the Simple
govern the lands between the Meuse and Seine, and when
Eudes died in 898, his brother Robert the Strong only
called himself duke of France, and let Charles the Simple
be king of the Franks.

All this time Rolf and his Northmen had gone on
conquering in northern Gaul. They did not plunder and

Louis II, 877-79

Charles II, the Fat
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ravage like common vikings. Rolf was cleverer, for he
spared the towns and made friends with the bishops; and
though he and his men fought with the nations beyond,
they treated all the country between Brittany and the
River Epte as if it were their own. Charles the Simple
came to an agreement with Rolf. He said that if Rolf
would become a Christian and accept him as his king, he
would give him his daughter in marriage and grant him
the possession of all these lands, as duke of the North-
men. Rolf consented, and in 911 he was baptized at
Rouen, married Gisla (the king's daughter), and then

: went to swear to be faithful to the king. Now, this cere-
Louis 111 (879-82) and Eudes (Odo). count of mony was called swearing fealty. It was repeated when-

Caerloman (882-84) Paris, 888-98 ever there was a change either of the overlord or the
underlord. The duke, count, or whatever he was, knelt

Charles the Fat and Count Eudes down before the overlord and, holding his hands, swore

3 : to follow him in war and to be true to him always. The
overlord, in his turn, swore to aid him and be a true and
good lord to him in return, and kissed his brow. In
return, the underlord—vassal, as he was called—was to
kiss the foot of his superior. This was paying homage.
Kings thus paid homage, and swore allegiance to the
emperor; dukes or counts, to kings; lesser counts or bar-
ons, to dukes; and for the lands they owned they were
bound to serve their lord in council and in war, and not
to fight against him. Lands so held were called fiefs, and
the whole was called the feudal system. Now, Rolf was
to hold his lands in fief from the king, and he swore his
oath, but he could not bear to stoop to kiss the foot of
Charles. So he was allowed to pay this homage by a
deputy.

Rolf was a sincere Christian; he made great gifts to the
church, divided the land among his Northmen, and kept
up such good laws that Normandy, as his domains came
to be called, was the most law-abiding part of the coun-
try. It was said at that time that a gold bracelet could be
left hanging on a tree in the forest for a whole year
without anyone stealing it.

Charles the Simple, in the meantime, was overthrown
in an odd way. Robert of Paris and Duke Rudolf of
Burgundy made war on him, and took him prisoner.
Charles’s wife was a sister of the English king Ethelstan,
and she fled to him with her young son Louis. They
stayed there while first Robert was king for a year, and
then Rudolf, and poor Charles was dying in prison at
Peroune; but when Rudolf died in 936, the young Louis
was invited to come back from England and be king. The
count of Paris, Hugh the Great, and Rolf's son, William
Longsword (duke of Normandy), joined together in
making him king. But Louis IV was so afraid of them
that he lived at Laon in constant hatred and suspicion.
The French people indeed held him as a stranger and
called him Louis d'outremer, or “‘from beyond the seas.”

William Longsword was murdered by the count of
Flanders, when his little son Richard was only seven
years old. Louis thought this his opportunity. He went
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to Rouen, declared himself the little boy’s rightful guard-
ian, and carried him off to Laon, and there treated him
so harshly that it was plain that he had intentions of
getting rid of the child. So Osmond de Centeville, the
little duke’s squire, galloped off with him to Normandy
in the middle of the night. A great war began, and Har-
old Bluetooth, king of Denmark, came to the help of the
Northmen. Louis was made prisoner, and only gained
his freedom by giving up his two sons as hostages. Hugh,
count of Paris, aided young Richard of Normandy; while
the Saxon emperor of Germany, Otto, aided Louis; and
there was a fierce struggle, ending in the victory of the
count of Paris and the Northmen. One of the young
Frank princes died in the hands of the Normans; the
other, Lothair, was given back to his father when peace
was made.

In the year 954 Louis IV died at Theims, and his
widow entreated that the great count Hugh protect Lo-
thair. He did so, and so did his son and successor, Hugh
—commonly called Capet, from the hood he wore—who
managed everything for the young king.

Peace was made, and the emperor gave Lothair’s
younger brother, Charles, the province of Lotharick, or
Lorraine, as it was coming to be called.

Lothair died soon after, in 986; and though his son
Louis V was crowned, he lived only a year. When he died
in 987, the great counts and dukes met in consultation
with the chief of the clergy and agreed that, as the counts
of Paris were the real heads of the state and nobody cared
for the Carlings, it would be better to do as the Germans
had, and pass over the worn-out Carlings, who spoke old
Frank, while the Paris counts spoke the altered Latin,
which by now came to be called French. So Charles,
duke of Lorraine, was not listened to when he claimed
his nephew’s crown, but was forced to return to his own
dukedom, where his descendants ruled for a full eight
hundred years.

And in 987, Hugh Capet, count of Paris, was crowned
king of France, and from that time French history be-
gins.

The family that began with Robert the Strong exists
still, after more than one thousand years, of which it
reigned over France for nine hundred. It is usually called
the House of Capet, from Hugh’s nickname, though it
would be more sensible to call it the House of Paris. In
French history there were three great families—Meerw-
ings or Merovingians, the Frank chiefs; Carlings or Car-
lovingians, the chief of whom was emperor of the West;
and House of Paris, or Capetians, the kings of France.

HUGH CAPET (987-96)

The new king was duke of France, count of Paris, and
guardian of the Abbey of St. Denys. So in the place called
Ile-de-France he was really master, and his brother

Rudolf (923-36), son-in-law
of Robert, 922-23

Louis V, 986-87

Hugh Capet, 987-96

Louis IV, 936-54
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Henri was duke of Burgundy. But on the Loire was the
great county of Anjou, with a very spirited race of
counts; and to the eastward were Vermandois and
Champagne, also uncompromising counties. In all these
places the nobles, like the king himself, were descended
from the old Franks. In Normandy the people were
Northmen, and in Brittany both the duke and people
were still old Kymry, but the Norman dukes always
considered that Brittany had been put under them.

In the southern half of the country the people were less
Gaul than Roman. These were the dukes of Aquitania or
Guyenne, the counts of Toulouse, and the counts of
Narbonne. But in the southwest of Aquitania, near the
Pyrenees and the sea, were an old race called Basques,
who seemed to be older still than the Gauls and did not
speak their language, but a strange and very difficult one
of their own. The Basques who were mixed with the
other inhabitants in the plains were called Gascons in
France and Vascons in Spain.

These Romance-speaking counts were considered by
the king of France to belong to him, but whether they
considered themselves to belong to the king of France or
not was quite a different thing. The county of Provence,
old Provincia, certainly did not, for it came straight from
the Holy Roman Empire. So did the other countries to
the east, where a German tongue was spoken, but which
had much to do with the history of France—namely,
Lorraine, where the old Carlings still ruled, and in
Flanders. So the king of France was not really a very
mighty person, and had little to call his own.

At this time, in the reign of Hugh Capet, there was
very little good to be seen in the world. All over France
there were turbulence, cruelty, and savage ways, except,
perhaps, in Normandy, where Duke Richard the Fear-
less and his son Duke Richard the Good kept order and
peace and were brave, upright, religious men, making

Hugh Capet takes the oath of office as king of France

their subjects learn the better, rather than the worse
ways of France. However, there hardly was a worse time
in all the history of Europe than during the reign of
Hugh Capet, which lasted from 987 to 996.

ROBERT THE PIOUS (996-1031);
HENRY 1 (1031-1060); AND
PHILIP I (1060-1108)

Now, as the year 1000 of our Lord was close at hand it
was thought that this meant that the Day of Judgment
was coming then, and there was great fear and dread at
the thought. When the year 1000 began, so many felt it
was not worthwhile to sow their corn that a most dread-
ful famine resulted, and there was great distress every-
where.

But all this time there were good men who taught
repentance, and one blessed thing they brought about,
while people’s hearts were soft with dread, was what was
called the Truce of God, namely, an agreement that
nobody should fight on Fridays, Saturdays, and Sundays,
so that three days in the week were peaceable. The mon-
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asteries began to improve, the clergy became more dili-
gent, and the king himself, whose name was Robert II,
the Pious, was one of the best and most religious men in
his kingdom. He used to come to the Abbey at St. Denys
every morning to sing with the monks and wrote and set
to music several Latin hymns, which he carried to Rome
and laid on the altar at St. Peter’s. But he could not
manage his kingdom well, and he was exploited. He had
married his cousin, Berthe of Burgundy, who was heiress
of Arles in Provence. Now, Provence belonged to the
empire, and the emperor did not choose that the kings
of France should have it; so he made the pope, whom he
had appointed, declare that Robert and Berthe were such
near relations that they could not be husband and wife,
and, with great grief, Robert submitted. Berthe went into
a nunnery, and he married Constance of Aquitania. The
sons were more like her than like their father, and Robert
had a troubled life, finding little peace except in church,
until he died in the year 1031.

His eldest son, Henry I, reigned after him, and the
second son, Robert, became duke of Burgundy and be-
gan a family of dukes that lasted four hundred years. But
the spirit of improvement that had begun to stir was
going on. Everybody was becoming more religious. The
monks in their convents began either to set themselves
to rights, or else they found fresh monasteries in new
places, with stricter rules. And a very great man, whose
name was Hildebrand, was stirring up the church not to
go on leaving the choice of the pope to the emperor, but
to have him properly appointed by the clergy of the
diocese of Rome, who were called cardinals—that is,
chiefs.

Henry I had been dead six years, and his son Philip I
had reigned forty-eight years, from 1060. William the
Great, duke of Normandy, became still greater by win-
ning for himself the kingdom of England. Philip did not
want this. He was afraid of William and did not at all
wish to see him grow so much more powerful than him-
self. He spoke contemptuously of the new king of En-
gland whenever he could, and at last it was one of his
foolish speeches that made William so angry as to begin
the war in which the greater conqueror met with the
accident that caused his death.

Philip was by no means a good man. After he had lost
his first wife, he fell in love with the beautiful countess
of Anjou, Bertrade de Montfort, and persuaded her to
come and pretend to be his wife. His son Louis, who was
so active and spirited that he was called /’éveillé, which
means ‘“‘the wide awake,” showed his displeasure, and
Philip and Bertrade so persecuted him that he was
obliged to seek refuge in England.

It was in this reign that a pilgrim called Peter the
Hermit came home with a piteous story of the cruelty of
the Mohammedans, who had possession of the Holy
Land. He obtained leave from the pope, Urban II, to call
all the warriors of Christendom to save the Holy Sepul-

cher where Jesus Christ had lain from the hands of the
unbelievers. The first great preaching was at Clermont,
in Auvergne; and there the whole people were so moved
that they cried as if with one voice, “God wills it,” and
came crowding around to have their left arms marked
with a cross, made of two strips of cloth, on an armband.
An army came together from many of the lands of the
West, and the princes agreed to lay aside their quarrels
while the Crusade lasted. The good duke Godfrey led
them all through Germany and Hungary and across the
narrow straits of the Bosphorus, meeting with many
problems and perils as they went. But at last they did get
safely to Jerusalem, laid siege to it, and conquered it.

Robert 11, 996-1031

Robert II, king of France Henry I, 1031-60




THE KINGDOM OF FRANCE

Louis VI, 1108-37 Seal of Louis VI

Louis VII, the Young, 1137-80

Then they chose Godfrey to be king of Jerusalem, but he
would not be crowned, he said it was not fitting for him
to wear a crown of gold where his Lord had worn a
crown of thorns. Many nobles and knights stayed with
him to help guard the holy places when the others went
home. People from England, Spain, Germany, and Italy
then joined the Crusade, but there were always more
French there than those of other nations.

Louis the Wide Awake was called home by the French
barons and ruled for his father for the last eight years of
Philip’s reign, though the old king did not die till the
year 1108.

LOUIS VI, THE FAT (1108-37)

It is disappointing to find that Louis the Wide Awake
soon became Louis the Fat (Louis le Gros). But still he
was spirited and active, and much more like the old
counts of Paris than any of the four kings before him had
been; and he was a brave and just man, who therefore
was respected.

It should be recalled that when Robert II, duke of
Normandy, governed so badly, his Normans asked King
Henry I of England, his brother, to help them. Louis did
not choose to see the eldest brother despoiled, and he was

glad that the king of England and the duke of Normandy
should not be the same person. So he helped Robert, but
could not keep him from being beaten at Tenchebray and
made prisoner. Afterward Louis befriended poor young
William, Robert’s son; but he was beaten again at
Brenneville. There were nine hundred knights in this
battle of Brenneville, and only three were killed, because
the armor they wore was so strong. Then Louis helped
William to obtain the county of Flanders, which he in-
herited from his grandmother, Queen Matilda; but the
poor young prince had not long been settled in it before
he died of an injury to his hand from a lance point.

Men of note lived in the time of Louis V1. One such
was Suger. Suger was abbot of the monastery at St. Den-
ys, of which the kings of France, as counts of Paris, were
always the protectors; where their most precious banner,
the oriflamme, was kept. Also, it was where they were
always buried. Suger was a clever and able man, the
king’s chief adviser, and may perhaps be counted as the
first of the men who filled the place of king’s adviser or,
as we now call it, prime minister. In those times these
statesmen were almost always clergy, because few others
had any learning.

Louis VI, though not an old man, soon fell into declin-
ing health. He thought he had contrived admirably to get
more power for the kings by giving his son in marriage
to Eleanor, the daughter of the duke of Aquitaine. As she
had no brother, her son would have owned that great
southern dukedom as entirely as the county of Paris, and
this would make a great difference. Young Louis was
sent to marry the lady and bring her home; but while he
was gone, his father became worse, and died in the year
1137.

Louis VI had begun to govern in his father’s name in
1100, just as Henry I of England came to the crown, and
he died three years after Henry, while Stephen and
Matilda were fighting for power in England.

LOUIS VII, THE YOUNG (1137-80)

The Young is an odd historical name for a king who
reigned a good many years. But Louis VII was called so
at first because he was only eighteen years old when he
came to the throne, and the name clung to him because
there was always something young and simple about his
character.

The first great event of his reign was that Saint Ber-
nard stirred Europe once more to start a crusade to help
the Christians in Palestine, who were hard pressed by the
Mohammedans. At Vezelay there was a great assembly
of bishops and clergy, knights and nobles; and Saint
Bernard preached to them so well that soon all were
fastening crosses to their arms and tearing up mantles
and robes because enough crosses had not been made
beforehand for the numbers who wanted them. The
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Louis VII Louis VII receiving the cross

from Saint Bernard

Louis VII on Mount Cadmus

young king and his beautiful queen, Eleanor of Aqui-
taine, vowed to make the crusade too, and set out with
a great army of fighting men and, beside them, pilgrims,
monks, women, and children. The queen was very
beautiful and very vain; and though she called herself a
pilgrim she had no notion of denying herself. So she
carried all her fine robes, her ladies, waiting-maids, min-
strels, and jesters. The French had no ships to take them
directly to the Holy Land, but had to go by land all the
way, along the shore of Asia Minor. Great numbers of
pilgrims perished along the way, and just as they had
passed the city of Laodicea, the Mohammedan army
came down on the rear guard in a narrow valley and
began to make a great slaughter of them. The whole
army would have been cut off had not a poor knight
named Gilbert, whom no one had thought much of,
come forward, taken the leadership, and helped the re-
mains of the rear guard to struggle out of the valley.
Through all the rest of the march, Gilbert really led the
army; and yet after this he is never again mentioned in
history.

When Palestine was reached at last, there were not ten
thousand left out of the four hundred thousand who had
set out from home. The prim queen’s zeal was quite
spent. She despised her pious husband and said he was
more like a monk than a king; and as soon as they
returned from this unhappy crusade, they tried to find
some excuse for breaking their marriage.

The pope allowed the king to rid himself of this faith-
less lady, and let them both marry again. He married
Constance of Castille, and Eleanor took for her husband
the young English king, Henry 11, and brought him all
her great possessions.

The very thing had come to pass that the king of
France feared—namely, that the dukes of Normandy
should get more powerful than he was. For Henry 11 was
at once king of England, duke of Normandy, and count
of Anjou, and his wife was duchess of Aquitaine and
Guienne; and, as time went on, Henry betrothed his little
son Geoffrey to Constance, the orphan girl who was
heiress to Brittany, and undertook to rule her lands for
her; so that the lands over which Louis had any real
power were a sort of little island within the great sea of
the possessions of the English king. Besides that, Henry
was a much cleverer man than Louis, and always got the
better of him in their treaties. The kings of France and
dukes of Normandy always met at Gisors, on their bor-
der, under an enormous elm tree, so large that three
hundred horsemen could find shelter under the
branches; and these meetings never went well for Louis.
He was obliged to promise that his two daughters, Mar-
garet and Alice, should marry Henry’s two sons, Henry
and Richard, and to give them to Henry to be brought
up. When Henry had his great dispute with Archbishop
Becket over the question of whether or not clergymen
were subject to the law of the land, Becket fled to France.
Louis loved and respected him very much, gave him
shelter in an abbey, and tried hard to make peace be-
tween him and Henry, but never could succeed. After six
years, Henry pretended to be reconciled, and Becket
went home in the year 1170 and was murdered very soon
after.

Louis must have been very much surprised when his
former wife, Queen Eleanor, came disguised as a man
with her three eldest sons to his court, making serious
complaints against Henry for keeping the government of
their provinces in his own hands and not allowing the
children any reign. He must have thought it only what
they deserved, but Louis gave them what help he could.
Henry was a great deal stronger and craftier than any of
them, and soon defeated them. Eleanor was thrown into
prison and kept there as long as she lived. She may have
deserved it, but her sons and the people of Aquitaine did
not think so. Those people of Aquitaine were a curious
race—they were very courtly, though not very good; and
they thought more of music, poetry, and love-making
than of anything else, though they were brave people,
too. Every knight was expected to be able to write verses
and sing them, and to be able to hold an argument in the
courts of love. The best poets among them were called
troubadours; and Eleanor herself and her two sons,
Richard and Geoffrey, could compose songs and sing
them. All were as much beloved in Aquitaine as Henry
was hated.
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Louis VII was married three times—to Eleanor of
Aquitaine, to Constance of Castille, and to Alice of
Champagne. These three queens had among them six
daughters but no son, and this was catastrophic, since no
women had ever reigned in France; for it was held that
the old Salian Franks had a law against women reigning.
At any rate, this grew to be the rule in France, and it is
called the Salic law. However, the problem was not to be
settled at this moment in French history, for at last a son
was born to Louis in 1165, and in his joy he caused the
babe to be christened Philip Dieu-donné, or “God-
given.”

The boy was the cleverest son who had sprung from
the House of Paris for ages past, and while still quite
young, had concern for all that was important to his
father and his kingdom, at an age when other young boys
were concerned only for sports and games. When his
father met the English king at the elm of Gisors, young
Philip was present and saw how Henry overreached and
took advantage of Louis, and he was bitterly angered,
and swore that some day he would get back all that his
father was losing.

One day young Philip was out hunting in a forest with
his father when he missed his companions, lost his way,
and wandered around all night. When he was found, he
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was so spent with hunger and cold that he contracted a
bad illness, and was in great danger for some days. When
he grew better, King Louis, in great joy, thought this
precious life had been granted by the prayers of his old
friend Thomas a Becket, and asked Henry’s permission
to come and give thanks at the archbishop’s tomb at
Canterbury. He came, and was welcomed as a friend and
guest. He gave great gifts to the cathedral in thanks,
which became the great treasures of today’s Canterbury
Cathedral.

He had his beloved son, though only fifteen, crowned,
that France might have a king over her while he was in
England, and Philip was very soon to be the only king,
for good, honest, naive Louis the Young died very soon
after his return from Canterbury, in the year 1180, nine
years before the death of his great enemy, Henry II.

PHILIP II, AUGUSTUS (1180-1223)

Philip the “God-given” is most commonly known in
history as Philip Augustus. Why, is not quite plain; but
as he became a very powerful king of France, it is most
likely that one of the old names of the Western emperors,
Caesar Augustus, got applied to him.

If Philip’s father Louis was yet known as the Young
in his old age, Philip could have been referred to as Philip
the Old in his youth, for he was much older in skill and
cunning at fifteen than his father had been most of his
lifetime. The whole history of his reign is an endeavor to
get the better of the Plantagenet line of England. He so
hated the thought of what he had seen under the elm tree
of Gisors that his first act was to cut it down. He saw that
the best way to conquer his enemies was by pretending
to be their friend and helping in their quarrels. The eldest
and the third sons, Henry and Geoffrey, were by this
time dead, and Richard of the Lion-Heart, the second
son, the favorite of the Aquitaine troubadours, was on
one of the Crusades.

Then came news from Palestine that the Christians
had been conquered by the great Saracen chief Saladin,
and that Jerusalem had been taken by him. There was
great lamentation, and a fresh crusade was decided on by
all the princes of Europe, the king of France, the king of
England, and the other royal rulers. The emperor Fred-
erick of the Red Beard set off first, but he was lost by the
way while crossing a river in Asia Minor. The two kings
waited—arranging their participation. Philip’s way of
doing this was to get Richard to his court and pretend
to befriend him. They became close friends—drank out
of the same cup and ate out of the same dish. But Philip
was stirring up Richard—who needed it little—against
his father, with his brother John joining with him. This
was the rebellion that broke the heart of Henry II. He
died, and Richard, on his crusade, became king.

It was the first crusade when the armies went by sea
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instead of by land. Richard had his own fleet, but Philip
was obliged to hire ships of the merchants of Genoa; and
when the two fleets reached Sicily, they would not ven-
ture to sail on until the winter was over. Now that Rich-
ard was king, Philip no longer pretended to be his friend,
which resulted in many disputes among the Crusaders.
In the spring, they sailed on to help the Christians, who
were besieging Acre. Philip arrived first, but no great
things were accomplished until Richard arrived. The
heat of the climate soon made both kings fall ill, and
when the city was taken, Philip’s doctors declared that
he must go home at once if he wished to recover. Most
likely they were right, but he was glad to go, for he hoped
to do Richard a great deal of harm while he was away.
The pope had forbidden anyone to attack a Crusader’s
lands while he was away; but Philip could stir up Rich-
ard’s subjects and his brother against him. And when
Richard was made captive in Austria, on his way home,
Philip even sent money to the emperor of Germany to
keep him a prisoner. At last, when the German princes
had forced the emperor to set him free, Philip sent word
to John, in a short message: “Take care of yourself, for
the devil is let loose.”

Oddly, when, two years later, Richard of the Lion-
heart was killed at Limoges, Philip became John’s most
bitter enemy, and the friend of the only other Plan-
tagenet left, namely, Geoffrey’s son Arthur, duke of Brit-
tany, who appealed to his suzerain, Philip, to make him
duke of Normandy and count of Anjou, as son of the
elder brother. Philip called on John to give up these
lands, but John offered to make peace only by marrying
his niece, Blanche, the daughter of his sister and the king
of Castille, to Philip’s son, Louis VIII, the Lion. Philip
was in trouble in France at the time, so he consented to
make this peace.

Philip was his own worst enemy. His first wife, Isa-
belle of Hainaut, was dead, and he had thought to make
friends with the king of Denmark by marrying his
daughter Ingeborg. But the Danes were then very back-
ward in culture and learning, and poor Ingeborg was a
dull, ignorant girl, not at all like a courtly lady. Philip
took such a dislike to her that he sent her into a convent,
and instead married the beautiful Agnes de Meranie, the
daughter of the duke of the Tyrol. At that time one of
the mightiest popes who ever lived was ruling—Innocent
III. He was determined not to let anyone, however great,
go on in sin undisciplined, and he called on King Philip
to send Agnes away and take back his only true wife—
Ingeborg. And when Philip would not, the pope laid the
kingdom under an interdict—that is, he forbade any
service to go on in any church except in those of the
monks and nuns, and there only with the doors shut
against all outsiders. The whole nation was, as it were,
cut off from God for their monarch’s sin. Philip stood up
against this dreadful sentence, but he found the people
could not bear it, so he sent Agnes home, and took

Ingeborg back. He was then absolved, and his kingdom
went on prospering.

When, in 1203, Arthur of Brittany perished in prison,
Philip summoned John, as a vassal of France, to answer
for the murder. The great vassals met, the trumpets
sounded, and John was called on to appear; but as he did
not come, he was sentenced in absentia to forfeiture of
his lands of the Normandy and Anjou, and Philip en-
tered them with his army and took the castle, as John
could not get men or money to come and stop him. Only
the lands of old Eleanor of Aquitaine, who was still alive,
remained to the English.

This forfeiture was a great step in the power of the
French kings, since not only had the English king lost
Normandy and Anjou, but these two great domains were
added to the French king’s county of Paris. He had no
duke or count between him and the barons or cities.
Also, Philip’s designs against the Plantagenets were fa-
vored by John’s own misconduct. The quarrel with the
pope about the archbishop of Canterbury made Innocent
I1I invite Philip to go and conquer England, and the fear
of this brought John to make his peace with the pope.

However, John’s nephew, Otho of Brunswick, was
emperor, and he too had quarreled with the pope, who
wanted to make young Frederick of Sicily emperor.

Philip 11 in procession
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Philip took Frederick’s part, and Otho marched against
him into Flanders. All the French nobles had gathered
around their king, and at Bouvines one of the greatest
battles and victories in French history took place. Otho
had to gallop away from the battle to save his life. This
great battle was fought in the year 1214.

Very shortly after, Philip’s eldest son, Louis, called the
Lion, was invited to England by the barons, because they
could no longer bear the horrible cruelties and wicked-
nesses of John; and he would not keep the Magna
Charta, which he had signed. Louis went to England,
and London was put into his hands; but when King John
died, the barons preferred to have his little innocent son,
Henry II1, as their king, than to be joined on to France.
Battles ensued. So, after Louis’s troops had been beaten
by land and by sea, he came home and gave up the
English crown.

But Philip Augustus certainly had the wish of his life
fulfilled, for he had seen his foes of the House of Plan-
tagenet humbled and he had recovered the chief of their
great possessions in France.

He died in the year 1223, having lived in the reigns of
four English kings and done his utmost to injure them
all. He was brave and clever and a good friend of the
people in the towns. The French people were very proud
of him.

THE ALBIGENSES (1190) AND
LOUIS VIII, THE LION (1223-26)

Louis the Lion had a very short reign, for most of his
activities had been in his father’s time. They have been
treated lightly, intentionally, so that the reader might
have a better understanding of the history of Philip
Augustus and his crafty dealings with the House of Plan-
tagenet.

Now, it would be in good perspective to go back and
cover Louis before he came to the throne and examine
the people he chiefly fought. The south of France, which
had first been settled by the Romans and had rever been
peopled by the Franks, was much more full of “learning”
than the northern part. The evil ways of Christians
strengthened the notions of these people, who were
called Albigenses (from the town of Albi). A great many
people followed them. Even some of the great princes of
the South began to feel as if the Albigenses were some-
thing special belonging to themselves and to the old
culture of the Roman Provincia (Provence).

But the great pope, Innocent I11, would not permit all
this country to fall away from the church. Two men
offered to help. One was a Spaniard named Dominic,
who wished to found an order of brethren to go forth,
preach, teach, and bring back heretics; the other was an
[talian, named Francis, who cared above all for holiness
and longed to be like the Lord, and wanted to draw

together men within the church to be more spiritual.
Both these good men were allowed to institute brother-
hoods, orders not like the monks in the old convents, but
poorer and not quartered with the nuns. Their brethren
were called friars, and went about preaching and hearing
confessions, and helping men and women to lead holier
lives—friars of Saint Francis went to Christian places,
and those of Saint Dominic went wherever there was
heresy. Dominic was further allowed to judge and pun-
ish with severe penances and captivity those who would
not be convinced. The work he and his friars did was
called the Inquisition.

But the great dukes and counts in the south of France
—in Provence, Toulouse, Foix, Albi, and many others—
did not choose to have their people interfered with. The
more learned people of this area, the Albigenses, became
Provencal princes, being cleverer than their uncultured
neighbors. They were less disposed to punish their sub-
jects, but they were also less religious and less honest.
Pope Innocent had no doubt but that they should be
called to account. So he proclaimed a crusade against
them, as if they had been Saracens, and made the leader
of it Simon, count de Montfort, a disciplinarian. Pedro
I1, king of Aragon, joined with the Albigenses, and in the
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year 1213 a great battle was fought at Muret, in the
county of Toulouse, in which the Albigenses were beaten
and the king of Aragon was killed. The count of Tou-
louse, Raymond, who fought against this crusader, was
declared by the pope to be unworthy to rule, and he
granted Simon de Montfort all the lands he had con-
quered in the south of France. In the northern parts
Simon was looked on as a saint, and when he went to do
homage to the king, people ran to touch his horse and
his clothes as if they were something holy. Louis the
Lion aided Simon and learned the art of war during these
battles, but when the crusaders tried to take the city of
Toulouse, the people held out against them. One night,
when Simon was attacking the walls, a woman threw
down a heavy stone, which struck him on the head and
killed him. The year was 1217.

His eldest son, Amaury, took his place in the long
struggle but was not as able a warrior, and the Al-
bigenses began to better the Crusaders. But in the year
1223, when Philip died and Louis became king of
France, he was called upon by the pope to accelerate the
Crusade. He fought well, but Louis was not as capable
as he was brave. In the three years of his reign he did

Louis IX freeing the prisoners

Blanche of Castille during his coronation

Marguerite of Provence,
wife of Louis IX

little to overcome the Albigenses. While he was passing
through Auvergne in 1225, typhoid broke out among his
army; he fell ill himself and died in the year 1226.

At his death, his eldest son, Louis IX, was only eleven
years old; but the queen, Blanche of Castille, his mother,
was a very capable woman and managed the kingdom
excellently. She sent fresh troops, who gained such suc-
cesses that Count Raymond of Toulouse was forced to
surrender. And, he had to give his only child into
Blanche’s care to be brought up as a wife for her third
son, Alfonso. The count of Provence had only daughters,
four of them, and these girls were ‘“‘contracted” into
marriage in due time to the king of France and his
brother Charles, and to the king of England and his
brother Richard, and thus all that great country of the
Languedoc was brought under the power and influence
of the North. The Dominican friars and the Inquisition
were put into authority throughout the conquered lands.

SAINT LOUIS IX (1226-70)

The little king, Louis IX, who came to the throne in
1226, when he was only eleven years old, was happy in
having a wise mother, Queen Blanche of Castille, who
both brought him up carefully and ruled his kingdom for
him well. At a young age, he married Margaret of Pro-
vence. He was so much stronger and cleverer than the
poor, foolish Henry III of England that his barons ad-
vised him to take away all of Guienne, which had been
left to King John. But he said he would not perform such
an injustice. Yet when Henry wanted him to give back
Normandy and Anjou, he studied the matter well, and
decided that King John had justly forfeited them for
murdering Arthur of Brittany.

He was still a young man when he had a very bad
illness and nearly died. In the midst of it, he made a vow
that if he got well he would go to the Holy Land and fight
to free Christ’s Sepulcher from the Mohammedans. As
soon as he was well he renewed the vow. Though his
people didn’t want him to leave France, he felt they
would be governed well by his mother, so as soon as he
assembled an army, one hundred thousand strong, he set
out on his crusade with his wife and his brothers.

As the Mohammedans who held the Holy Land came
from Egypt, it was thought that the best way of fighting
them would be to attack them in their own country. So
Louis sailed for Egypt, and besieged and took Damietta;
and there he left his queen, Margaret, while he marched
on to the Nile, hoping to battle the enemy there. The
battle was fought at Monsoureh. The adversaries were
not native Egyptians, but soldiers called Mamluks. They
had been taken from their homes in early infancy, made
Mohammedans, and bred to be soldiers. They were fierce
warriors. The French main line charged into battle, but
the Mamluks got between them and their main camp, cut
them off, and killed them, except for the king, who was
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seriously ill with malaria. He recovered, and at last it was
settled that he would be set free for a heavy ransom, and
he agreed to give up the city of Damietta. Then he em-
barked with his queen and the remains of his army for
the Holy Land, where there was peace just then. After
he had fulfilled his vow of pilgrimage, he returned to
France. His mother had died in his absence.

Fourteen most happy and good years followed his
return. He was a most wise king and thoroughly just.
There was a great oak tree near his palace of Vincennes,
under which he used to sit, hearing the causes of the poor
as well as the rich and administering justice to them all.

The pope had a great quarrel with the emperor Fred-
erick 1I and tried to make Louis go to war against him,
as his father had done against King John of England. But
the king knew that the pope’s bidding was not right and
delayed taking any action.

Louis IX and Henry III and their two brothers,
Charles, count of Anjou, and Richard, earl of Cornwall,
had married the four daughters of the count of Provence.
The earl of Cornwall was chosen to be king of the Ro-
mans—that is, next heir to the Western Empire—and
when her three sisters were queens, the fourth sister,
Beatrice, kept the county of Provence. The pope offered
the kingdom of the Sicilies to Beatrice’s husband,
Charles of Anjou. It rightfully belonged to the grandson
of the emperor Frederick so Louis asked his brother to
decline the grant. But Charles was an ambitious man.
With an army of Provencals he set out and occupied the
new kingdom, now called Naples and Sicily. The young
Western Empire heir Conradin set off to try to regain his
inheritance, but Charles defeated him in battle, made
him prisoner, and put him to death on the scaffold. So
both the pope and Charles had their way.

Louis had always intended to make another crusade,
and Charles promised to join him in it, as had Edward
of England. All of North Africa was held by the Moors,
who were Mohammedan. Louis had had letters that
made him think that there was a chance of converting
the dey of Tunis to the Christian faith. So Louis, with his
army, landed in the Bay of Tunis and encamped in the

Death of Saint Louis

plains of Old Carthage to wait for King Charles and
Edward of England. It was very hot and unwholesome,
and sickness broke out. The king was soon ill himself. He
lay repeating Psalms and dictating a beautiful letter of
advice to his daughter, as he grew worse and worse; and
at last with the words, ‘O Jerusalem, Jerusalem!” on his
tongue, he died in the year 1270.

Charles of Sicily and Edward of England arrived three
days later. As soon as they assembled the armies and
satisfied their quest, they sailed for Sicily, taking with
them the new young king, Philip III. Louis was buried
at St. Denys, and he has ever since borne the well-
deserved title of saint.

PHILIP III, THE BOLD (1270-85)
AND PHILIP IV, THE FAIR
(1285-1314)

Saint Louis left three sons. The second, Robert, count of
Clermont, should be remembered, because three hun-
dred years later his descendants, the House of Bourbon,
ascended to the throne of France. The eldest son, Philip
I11, was a man who left little mark in history, though he
reigned fifteen years. The most remarkable thing that
happened in his time was a great rising against his uncle,
Charles of Anjou, in Sicily. The French and Provencal
knights that Charles had brought with him were proud
and rude in their behavior with the people of the country.
At last, on the Easter Monday of 1282, as the people of
Palermo were on their way to church to hear vespers, a
French soldier openly raped a Sicilian girl, which ended
in the people rising up en masse and killing all the
Frenchmen on the island. This was called the Sicilian
Vespers. The Sicilians then sent a messenger offering
their crown to Pedro, king of Aragon, the nearest kins-
man left to their old line. The pope was so angry with
King Pedro for accepting it that he declared his kingdom
of Aragon forfeited, and sent Philip of France to take it
from him. But soon after the French army had advanced




THE KINGDOM OF FRANCE

77

Isabelle of Aragon,

Philip I11, the Bold, 1270-85  wife of Philip 1]

into Aragon sickness broke out among them, the king
himself caught it, and died in the year 1285. Pedro of
Aragon gained the island of Sicily and kept it, though
Charles of Anjou and his sons reigned on in Naples on
the mainland.

Philip IV, called le Bel, or the Fair, was only seventeen
years old when he came to the crown; but he was as
clever and cunning as his granduncle, Charles of Anjou,
or his great-great-grandfather, Philip Augustus. His
main objective was to increase the territory of the crown
by any means possible. He had to deal with Edward I,
who was more anxious to make one kingdom of Great
Britain than to be powerful in France, and so had little
concern for his French duchies. So when Philip seized
Guienne, Edward would not draw off his men from Scot-
land to fight for it, but made a peace which only left
him Gascony. He sealed it for himself by marrying Phil-
ip’s sister Margaret, and betrothed his son Edward to
Philip’s little daughter Isabel. It was the worst action of
King Edward’s life—for young Edward was already be-
trothed to the young daughter of the poor count of
Flanders, Guy Dampierre, whom Philip was openly op-
pressing. When England thus forsook their cause, Philip
made the count of Flanders prisoner, and placed him in
prison for the rest of his life.

But the most remarkable part of the history of Philip
IV concerns the church and the popes. The pope, Boni-
face VIII, was an old man but full of fiery vehemence.
He sent a letter of reprimand, bidding the king release
the count of Flanders, make peace, and also, to stop
exacting money from the clergy.

Philip, too, was very angry, and the two went on
exchanging letters that made matters worse. The pope
threatened to depose the king. Philip sent off to Anagni
(where the pope lived) a French knight named Nogaret
and an Italian called Sciarra Colonna, who had quar-
reled with the pope and fled to France. They rode into
Anagni, crying, “Long live the king of France! Death to
Boniface!” at the head of a troop of worthless fellows
who had joined them. The people of Anagni were so
shocked that they barely moved. The men went on to the
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church, where they found the pope, a grand old man of
eighty-six, seated calmly by the altar in his robes, with
his tiara on his head. They rushed up to him, insulted
him, and slapped his face. Colonna would have killed
him on the spot but Nogaret interfered. They dragged
him out of the church, and kept him prisoner for three
days while they physically and mentally tormented him.
After the townspeople recovered from their fright, they
assembled, rescued the pope, and carried him back to
Rome. But the abuse proved too much for him, and a few
mornings later he was found dead. This piteous death in
the year 1303 was blamed on Philip.

Another pope was chosen, but as soon as Philip found
that the new one was determined to control him too, he
had him poisoned and then determined to get the future
one into his hands. There were a good many French
cardinals who would, he knew, vote for anyone he chose.
Meeting in secret with the archbishop of Bordeaux, the
king told him he would have the cardinals’ votes on six
conditions. Five of these related to the old quarrel with
Boniface; the sixth Philip would not tell then, but the
archbishop swore it should be fulfilled. The king then
arranged his election as pope, and the archbishop took
the name of Clement V.

To everyone’s surprise except Philip’s, Clement chose
to be crowned at Lyons instead of Rome, and then took
up residence at Avignon, in Provence, which, though it
belonged to the pope’s empire, was so much in France
that it was in the king’s power.

Philip the Fair was a very greedy man, always seeking
money and going to any means to obtain it. Soon after
Saint Louis’s last crusade, the last spot that was held by
the Christians—Acre—had been taken from them. The
Knights Hospitalers who held it then settled on the
nearby island of Rhodes, hoping someday to return to
the Holy Land. But the Knights Templars, their leaders,
had gone to the royal houses in Europe, where they
trained young men in arms. Philip cast his eyes on the
Templars’ wealth, and told the pope that his sixth condi-
tion was that they should be destroyed. Most of them
were living in France. They and the others were invited
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to attend a great meeting in France. When almost all
were there, serious charges were made by the church—
that they were really heathen, and that no one came into
their order without first being made to renounce his
baptism and trample on the cross.

The 502 who were assembled were imprisoned and
tortured for forty days by the Inquisition. Seventy-two of
them confessed.

Then, after being kept in prison one more year, the rest
were sentenced, brought out in parties of fifty, and
burned to death at the stake. At that time the pope
declared the Knights Templars order dissolved, and gave
the king all their possessions. The year was 13]1.

The Grand Master, James de Molay, was kept in
prison three years longer, but then was brought out at
Paris and burned at the stake in the king’s palace garden.
As this very religious man stood in the fire, he called out
to Clement, pope of Rome, and Philip, king of France,
to appear with him before the judgment seat of God—
the pope in forty days, the king in a year—to answer for
the torture and murder of his knights.

On the fortieth day, Clement V died; and at the end
of one year, Philip the Fair died at age forty-six. The year
was 1314.

LOUIS X, THE QUARRELSOME
(1314-16); PHILIP V, THE TALL
(1316-22); CHARLES 1V, THE
FAIR (1322-28); PHILIP VI,

THE FORTUNATE (1328-50)

Philip the Fair left three sons—Louis, Philip, and
Charles—and one daughter, Isabelle, who was married
to Edward of England. Louis X was called by the nick-
name of Hutin, which is said to mean the *‘Peevish” or
“*Quarrelsome.” He was married to the young queen of
Navarre, but he only reigned two years and his only son
lived but five days. The French barons declared it was
against the old law of the Salic Franks that their king-

Louis X (Hutin), 1314-16

Louis X

dom should fall to a woman, so Louis’s little daughter
Joan was only to remain Queen of Navarre, while his
brother, Philip V (le Long, or the Tall), became king.
Philip was nearly as cruel as his father.

There was a rumor that the drinking water in Paris
had been poisoned by the lepers and the Jews, where-
upon Philip gave orders that they all should die for it.
They were killed on the spot or else burned at the stake
throughout France, while the king and his nobles seized
their treasures.

The king died young, at only thirty years of age, in the
year 1322, leaving only four daughters. His brother,
Charles IV, the Fair, succeeded him. It was during the
six years that Charles was on the throne that his sister
Isabelle came from England with complaints of her hus-
band, Edward II. She succeeded in collecting a number
of French knights, who helped her to dethrone Edward.
He was brought to a miserable end in prison. The French
people were pleased when Charles died in 1328, for their
kingdom went to a public favorite, Philip VI, count of
Valois, the son of the younger brother of Philip IV.

But Edward III of England called himself the rightful
heir, declaring himself a closer blood relative to his un-
cle, Charles IV, than Philip VI, their first cousin. This
was true, for if all the daughters of the three last kings
were kept from reigning, it was unreasonable that he
should pretend to be a rightful heir through their aunt.
At first, though, he put his claim forward and he seemed
to have been willing to let it rest for a while. But there
was a certain Robert Artois, who had been deprived of
what he thought was his lawful inheritance. Philip ban-
ished Robert to England. There he induced the king to
back his claim, and so, if an oversimplification may be
set forth, began the war with France that is called the
Hundred Years War. The great cities in Flanders were
friendly to the English. But Philip had tried to make
them accept a count whom they hated, so they drove him
away and invited Edward to Ghent. The French fleet
tried to meet and stop him, but their ships were defeated
off Sluys in the year 1340 and sunk, with great loss of
men.

Philip V, 1316-22

Philip VI, 1328-50
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Not long after, there was a dispute about the dukedom
of Brittany, which was claimed by the daughter of the
elder brother, and by the younger brother, of the late
duke. The niece had married Charles de Blois; the uncle
was the count de Montfort. The king of France took the
part of the niece, the king of England that of Montfort.
Before long, Montfort was made prisoner and sent to
Paris, but his wife, the brave Joan, defended his cause as
well as any knight could have. She shut herself up in
Hennebonne and held out the town while de Blois be-
sieged her, even when the townsmen began to lose heart
and said they must surrender. She held out until rescued
by the English fleet.

The war in Brittany lasted twenty-four years al-
together. Montfort made his escape from prison but died
very soon after he reached home. His widow sent her
little son to be brought up in Edward’s court in England,
while she took care of his responsibilities at home. The
English gradually became very hated and disliked in
Brittany, for they had been very cruel in their treatment
of the people.

Edward made his greatest attack on France in 1346.
Philip had gathered all the very best of his men in the
kingdom. The knights and soldiers of France were nearly
as strong in troops as those of England, but there was one
great difference between the two armies, and that rose
from the class consciousness of French counts and bar-
ons. Everyone below them was a poor, miserable serf
(unless he lived in a town), and had never handled a bow
or any other arms before. In England there were farmers
and stout peasants who used to practice shooting with
the bow once a week. So there were always sturdy En-
glish archers available to fight, but the French had noth-
ing of the same kind, and therefore, hired men from
Genoa. The battle was fought at Crecy, near Ponthieu;
and when it was about to begin, by each troop of archers
shooting a flight of arrows at one another, it turned out
that a shower of rain which had just fallen had slackened
the bowstrings of the Genoese archers. But the English-
men had their bows safe in leathern cases, and their

Jeanne of Bourgogne,
wife of Philip VI

John I, the Good, 1350-64

strings were in good order, so their arrows rained death
on the French. A charge was ordered to cut the English
archers down. But in the way stood the poor Genoese,
fumbling to tighten their strings. The knights were so
angry at being hindered that they began cutting them
down right and left, thus spending their strength against
their own army. So, it was no wonder that they were
defeated and put to flight. King Philip himself had to
ride as fast as he could from the battlefield.

The English went on to besiege and take the city of
Calais, and in Brittany Charles de Blois was defeated and
made prisoner. At that point both kings were glad to call
a truce and rest their troops for a few years, although
Edward still called himself king of France, and the dis-
pute was far from settled. Philip paid his men by bring-
ing to the nation a tax upon salt, while Edward’s chief
tax was on wool. So while Philip called his rival the wool
merchant, Edward said that the Valois did indeed reign
by the Sdlic law (sa/ being the Latin for “salt”).

The counts of the Viennois, in the south of France,
used to be called counts dauphin, because there was a
dolphin on their coat of arms. The dauphin Humbert,
having neither children nor brother, bequeathed his
county to the king’s eldest grandson, Charles, on condi-
tion that it should always be kept separate from the
crown lands. After that, the eldest son of the king of
France was always called the dauphin.

Philip died in 1350 after a reign that had been little
more than one long war.

JOHN II, THE GOOD (1350-64)

If Philip VI had a reign that was all one war, it was much
the same with his son John, who considered himself a
brave and honorable knight, though he often was cruel
and criminal in his actions.

The little kingdom of Navarre, in the Pyrenees, had
passed from Louis X to his grandson Charles, called the
Bad. In right of his father, the count d’Eveux, Charles
was a French noble, and he wanted to hold the highest
office a noble could hold—namely, that of constable of
France. The constable commanded all the armies, and
was the most powerful person next to the king. When
John gave the appointment to Lord Charles de la Cerda
instead of Charles the Bad, Charles contrived to poison
the new constable. The dauphin (Charles) ordered that
Charles the Bad be seized and imprisoned. He invited
him to dinner, and appeared to be very friendly. But in
the midst of the feast the king appeared with a band of
soldiers, seized the king of Navarre, and sent him off to
prison. Charles the Bad had many friends who were
angered by his imprisonment and took his case up with
the king of England. Edward, the Prince of Wales, who
was in Gascony at this time, took advantage of the op-
portunity and advanced into the French dominions.
John assembled an army to meet him.
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The battle was fought at Poitiers; John was there, with
his sons and his brother and all his best knights, and the
battle was long and hotly fought. The French did much
better than at Crecy but the English were too strong for
them. The king fought valiantly with his youngest son
Philip close by his side. But at last the father and son
found themselves almost alone, with no one but the
enemy around them. The king was wounded. So he
called to the closest enemy noble he saw—one Denis de
Morbeque—and surrendered to him. He was brought
before the Prince of Wales, who treated him with the
utmost kindness and courtesy, personally dressed his
wound, and did his best to lighten the humiliation of
captivity.

Things fell into a state of disrepair. Although there
was a truce between the two kings, the prince’s troops—
Free Companions, as they called themselves—roamed
about, plundering and robbing all over France, while the
king was a prisoner in England. In Paris, a burgher
named Stephen Marcel was chosen provost and led the
people in terrifying the government officials into doing
what he pleased. Believing that the dauphin’s friends
were giving him bad advice, Marcel stormed into his
presence, at the head of a troop of Parisians, and de-
manded, “Will you put an end to the troubles, and pro-
vide for the defense of the kingdom?” “That is not my
part,” said Charles, “‘but that of those who receive the
money from the taxes.” Marcel signaled and his follow-
ers murdered the two noblemen who stood beside the
dauphin. The prince, in terror, fell on his knees and
begged for his life.

But the dauphin eventually escaped from Marcel’s
custody and took up arms against Marcel. Charles of
Navarre had been released from his imprisonment and
was fighting in the south of France; and Charles de Blois
had been ransomed and was fighting in Brittany. But the
peasants, who always had been ill-used by the nobles,
began to rise against them. “Bon homme Jacques” was

the nickname given them by the nobles, and hence this
rebellion was called the Jacquerie.

The peasants were little more than savages. Whenever
they would capture a castle, they murdered everyone in
it. They set up a king from among them, and soon one
hundred thousand had risen in Picardy and Champagne.
But they were armed only with scythes and axes, and the
nobles soon cut them down. They were just as brutal
themselves in their revenge. The king of the Jacques was
crowned with a red-hot tripod and hung, and the poor
peasants were hunted down like wild beasts and slaugh-
tered everywhere. No lessons were learned in that rebel-
lion.

The dauphin besieged Paris, and Marcel, finding that
he could not hold out, asked the king of Navarre to help
him. But another magistrate, who hated Charles the
Bad, contrived to attack Marcel as he was changing the
guard, killed him and six of his friends, and brought the
dauphin back into Paris.

King John was anxious to return, so he promised to
give up to Edward of France all of the land that Henry
IT and Richard of the Lion-heart had held, but the dau-
phin and the states-general did not choose to confirm his
proposal, thinking it better to leave him in prison than
to weaken the kingdom so much. So Edward invaded
France again and marched up to Paris, intending to fight
another battle.

Between the war and the Jacquerie, the whole country
was bare of inhabitants, cattle, and crops. The English
army was in need of food and the prospect of none in the
countryside did hurt their plans. So Edward consented
to make peace and set John free on the conditions that
two sons should be given up as hostages until payment
of a great ransom was received and that a large part of
Aquitaine be ceded to England.

King John returned but he found the kingdom in such
a dreadful state of misery and poverty that he could not
collect the money for the ransom. Nor would his sons
agree to be pledges for it. John was very disappointed
and ashamed and said the only thing he could do was to
return and give himself up as a prisoner since he could
not fulfill the conditions of his release. He said, ‘*Where
should honor find a refuge if not in the breasts of kings?”
and accordingly he went back to London where he was
welcomed as a friend by King Edward and there he died
in the year 1364. He left four sons—the dauphin Charles;
Louis, the duke of Anjou; John, duke of Berry; and
Philip, who had married the heiress of Burgundy and
was made duke of that province.

CHARLES V, THE WISE (1364-80)

Charles V, in spite of his shortcomings as dauphin, was
a much abler man than his father, John. He had learned
the best was to handle the English enemy—namely, not
to fight with them but to starve them out.
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Charles V, 1364-80

The French knights could beat anyone in Europe ex-
cept the English and at this moment in history there
appeared to be peace with Edward III. But with Charles
the Bad of Navarre there was still war, until a battle was
fought at Cocherel, between the French, under the brave
Breton knight Bertrand du Guesclin, and the Navarrese,
under the great friend of the Black Prince, the brave
Gascon knight Captal de Buch. Du Guesclin gained a
great victory and took Captal prisoner, and from that
time no French knight was his equal. Charles the Bad
had no choice but to make peace.

The young de Montfort, who had been brought up in
England, was by this time old enough to try to fight for
Brittany; and though the kings were at peace, the Prince
of Wales loaned him a troop of English, commanded by
the best captain in all Europe, Sir John Chandos. At the
battle of Auray, Charles de Blois, who had so long
wanted to win the duchy, was killed, and du Guesclin
was made prisoner. After this, the king accepted Mont-
fort as duke of Brittany, and the war was over.

When the wars were over, the Free Companions (or
Free Lances) had nobody to hire them, so they took
*“possession’ of a number of castles, and lived by plunder-
ing the travelers in the nearby countryside. They were a
real problem for the king. Therefore, King Charles asked
du Guesclin how to get rid of them and Bertrand came
up with a plan. Castille, in Spain, had at that time one
of the wickedest kings who ever lived, Peter the Cruel,
who murdered his wife (a cousin of Charles), and killed,
among others, most of his half-brothers. One of the
brothers, Henry of Trastamare, managed to escape and
came to France to ask for help. Du Guesclin told the
king that it would be an excellent way of getting rid of
the Free Companions by drawing them off to Spain.
Charles consented and du Guesclin invited their leaders
to meet him. When the Free Companions found that he
would lead them, they all consented. As they rode past
Avignon, they frightened the pope into giving them a
large contribution, and as soon as they entered Castille,

Peter the Cruel fled and Henry was crowned king. He
kept du Guesclin in his service, but sent all the others
back to France.

However, Peter the Cruel came to Bordeaux and pre-
sented himself to the Black Prince as a distressed king.
Edward took up his cause, and undertook to set him
upon his throne again. All the Free Companions, who
were coming back from Spain, no sooner heard that the
prince was going there than they took service with him
to restore the very king they had just dethroned. A great
battle was fought at Navareta, in which the prince was
victorious. Du Guesclin was made prisoner, and Henry
of Trastamare fled for his life. Peter was placed on the
throne once more; but he kept none of his promises to
the English. Sickness broke out among the Black
Prince’s troops and they went back to Bordeaux, leaving
Peter to his fate. France was anxious to have Du Gues-
clin free again, and even the maidens of Brittany were
said to have spun day and night to earn money for his
ransom. As soon as the sum was raised and he was at
liberty, he returned to Spain with Henry, and then they
chased Peter into the castle at Montiel. Peter came out
in the middle of one night and attempted to murder his
brother but in the struggle was himself killed, to the great
relief of all concerned.

The Black Prince was, in the meantime, ill at Bor-
deaux, and with a problem of how to pay the Free Com-
panions since Peter had not given him a promised
payment for helping him. He was obliged to tax his
Gascon subjects and this made them very angry. They
appealed to Charles V and he summoned the Prince to
appear at Paris and answer their complaint.

Edward said he would only come with his ‘helmet on
his head and sixty thousand men” behind him, and so the
war began again. But the prince was in poor health, and
could not lead in battle as he had in the past.

The war was carried on by sieges of castles that, one
by one, fell into French hands because the English prince
could no longer rouse himself; and though he couldn’t
mount his horse, he went in a carriage to besiege the city
of Limoges. When it was taken, he sought his revenge in
a terrible massacre of all the inhabitants. This expedition
was his last. He went back to England a sick man and
never recovered. Governors were sent to Bordeaux but
they could do little against the continually advancing
French, and at last nothing in France was left to Edward
but the province of Gascony and the city of Calais. A
truce was made. But soon both the great Edwards were
dead and Richard II was on the throne, under the re-
gency of uncles who tried to carry on the war but fared
no better.

The king had carefully instructed his queen, Jeanne of
Bourbon, on how to bring up his two young sons,
Charles and Louis, but to his great grief she died first. He
was obliged to leave the boys in the care of their uncles.
He died on September 16, 1380, after a reign of such
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Charles VI, 1380-1422

great success that he is commonly known as Charles the
Wise.

CHARLES VI (1380-1422)

Young Charles VI, at twelve years of age, was an orphan
king. His uncles—the dukes of Anjou, Berri, and Bur-
gundy (his father’s brothers), and the duke of Bourbon
(his mother’s brother), shared running the government
so he was allowed to grow up unrestrained.

The church was in an unsettled state. The popes, while
living at Avignon, were at the beck of the French kings
and this was not accepted by the other lands of the
Western church. At last, in the year 1376, Pope Gregory
XTI had decided on going back to Rome, though Charles
V and all the cardinals of French birth did all they could
to prevent him. He died two years later. Then all the
cardinals who wanted to stay in Italy chose one pope,
and all the cardinals who wished to live at Avignon chose
another. So there were now two popes, the real pope and
the antipope, and this made for a grievous division which
is known in history as the Great Schism. The French and
all their friends stood by pope at Avignon, the English
and all theirs by the pope at Rome.

One of the proudest nobles was Louis, count of Fland-
ers. He controlled many rich cities in his county where
almost all of the best cloth, linen, and lace of the time
was made and where the burghers were wealthy. There
was always much dislike and distrust between the counts
and the cities, and Louis was so tough an administrator
that at last the men of Ghent rose up against him and
shut their city gates. They chose as their leader Philip
van Artevelde, the son of the brewer Jacob van Ar-
tevelde, who had been a friend of Edward I11. Artevelde
led them out to fight with the count, gained a great
victory, and drove him into the city of Bruges. In Bruges,
he was disliked as much as he was in Ghent. The people
rose up against him in the streets and nobody would give
him shelter—until at last he found himself in the house
of a poor widow who had once received alms from him.
He begged her to hide him and she told him to lie under
the bed in which her three little children were lying
aslecp. When his enemies burst through the door, they
saw only the bed full of children and went away. In the

morning he managed to get out of the city and escaped
to Paris.

He implored the king and his uncles to come to his
help. He had but one daughter, who was engaged to
marry the son of the duke of Burgundy, so it was in their
interests to help—and the young king was very eager to
perform in his first campaign. All the burghers involved
in the revolt came out to battle with the knights and
soldiers but they could not make headway against such
an experienced leader as the constable de Clisson. At the
battle of Rosbecque twenty-six thousand men were
killed, and Philip von Artevelde was trampled to death
in his flight from the battlefield.

The young king married Isabelle of Bavaria, a dull,
selfish woman, who cared more for food and amusement
than for her family.

As there was peace in England, the French knights
thought only of crusades. Indeed, the Turks, under their
great leader Bajazet, were beginning to make their way
into Europe; and the eldest son of the duke of Burgundy,
John the Fearless, set out with a party of French knights
to help the Hungarians against them. They arrived just
as a truce had been sworn to on each side. But the
Hungarians broke their word and attacked the Turks.
Their breach of faith was met with reprisal, for the whole
Hungarian army was defeated and butchered by the
Turks, and only John himself, with twenty-seven nobles,
survived to be ransomed.

Later, Marshall Boucicault led another army to help
the emperor of Constantinople, Manuel Palaeologos,
and brought him back to France to visit the king where
he asked for further aid for his cause.

BURGUNDIANS AND ARMAGNACS
(1415-22)

Nothing could have been worse than the state of
France under the mad king Charles VI, the Well-
Beloved. As long as his uncle (the duke of Burgundy)
lived and the country was under some sort of govern-
ment, the king was cared for. But when Duke Philip
died, and the dukedom passed to his son, John the Fear-
less, there was a perpetual quarrel between this rough
and violent duke and the king’s brother Louis, duke of
Orleans. The duchess of Orleans—a gentle Italian lady
Valentina of Milan—was the only person who could
calm the king.

The people of Paris hated Orleans and loved the duke
of Burgundy, and were resolved to get the king into his
own power on the throne. So one night, as the duke of
Orleans was going home from visiting with the queen,
Isabelle, he was attacked by murderers and killed in the
streets of Paris. The duchess of Orleans came with her
sons and knelt at the king’s feet, imploring that the
murderer be punished, but he would do nothing. Her
son, the young duke of Orleans, married the daughter of
the count of Armagnac, who took up his cause so vehe-
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Henry VII crowned on Bosworth Field in England

mently that eventually all the friends of the House of
Orleans were called Armagnacs.

The king’s oldest son, the dauphin Louis, was sixteen
years old and was trying to get into power. He was bright
but an “idle” youth, and no one paid much attention to
him. When he heard that the new king of England,
Henry V, intended to invade France, Louis sent him a
present of a basket of tennis balls, saying they were his
most fitting weapons, considering his lifestyle “‘as the
madcap prince who loved to play tennis.” Henry an-
swered that he could return the balls from the mouths
of cannon against Paris, and it was not long before he
crossed the channel, and laid siege to Farfleur, in Nor-
mandy.

He soon captured it and he proclaimed himself king
of France, like Edward III before him. Then he pro-
ceeded to conquer the country. The dauphin collected an
army and marched to intercept Henry as he was on his
way from Harfleur to Calais to obtain fresh supplies. The
French army greatly outnumbered the English and
thought it would be easy to cut them off in that they were
hungry, sick, and worn out from the long march. But the
carelessness, dissensions, and insubordination of the
French army would have caused it to be beaten by a far
less skillful general than was Henry V. Though each
French noble and knight was personally an excellent
leader, this did little good when they were not united into
a single army. There was an immense slaughter at this
famed battle of Agincourt, and many noted prisoners
were taken by the English, especially the duke of Or-
leans. Henry kept the nobles in captivity in England until
he would win the whole kingdom of France.

Map illustrating the march of Henry V of England and the Batile of
Agincourt, 1415

The dauphin, Louis, although wounded, escaped from
the battle but died soon after. His next brother (the
dauphin John) did not survive him much longer. The
third brother (the dauphin Charles) was entirely under
the power of the Armagnac party.

But the count of Armagnac was so insolent that Queen
Isabelle could not bear it any longer and fled to the duke
of Burgundy’s protection. The people of Paris, hearing
of this, rose against the Armagnacs and murdered every
one of them they could catch. The count himself was
horribly gashed, and his body was dragged up and down
the streets. The king was still in a state of mental ill
health in the palace, so the dauphin was easily rescued
by his friend, Sir Tanneguy du Chastel. For a whole
month there was nothing but savage murders through-
out Paris of all who were supposed to be Armagnacs.
Then the queen and the duke of Burgundy returned, took
over, and restored order to the city of Paris.

No one did anything to relieve Rouen, which Henry
V was besieging. He captured it in spite of the citizens
holding out very bravely. The queen and duke deter-
mined to make peace with Henry and met him at a
meadow near Pontoise. They held a conference in which
Henry asked for the hand of Catherine, the youngest
daughter of Charles and Isabelle. And he wanted all of
the provinces that had once belonged to the English
kings as her dowry—Normandy, Aquitaine, and all of
the other smaller territories. If this was refused, he
would conquer all of the kingdom for himself.

No absolute promises were made. The duke of Bur-
gundy could not bear to give up such a large portion of
his native realm. He considered going over to the dau-
phin and helping him to defend himself. A meeting was
arranged for the duke and dauphin on the bridge of
Montereau. But Tanneguy du Chastel and the prince’s
other friends had no intention of letting the boy join in
the power of the great duke, so during the conference
they treacherously stabbed John the Fearless in the
heart. Thus, he paid for the murder of the duke of Or-
leans. The consequence was that his son Philip, called
the Good, went over to the English. Before long, Henry
V was married to Catherine and was to be the regent of
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France as long as poor Charles lived, and after his death
the dauphin would be disinherited.

All the north of France had been conquered by the
English and the dauphin and his friends had retired to
the south. They sent to the Scots to ask for help and
many brave Scotsmen came, glad for a chance to fight
with the English. Henry had gone home to England with
his bride and had left his brother, the duke of Clarence,
in command. As the English were marching into Anjou,
the Scots attacked them at Beauje, defeated them, and
killed the duke of Clarence.

Henry came back quickly. He took the town of
Meaux, but the siege lasted the whole winter. Henry
caught a bad cold there, and was never well again al-
though he attended church services on Sundays at Paris
with great pomp and ceremony. Soon after, he set out on
another campaign but he became so ill on the journey
that he had to be carried back to Vincennes, where he
died. King Charles died only three months later, in Octo-
ber 1422, after thirty years of suffering from insanity.

CHARLES VII (1422-61)

Although current history counts the reign of Charles VII
as beginning from the death of his father, it was really
the infant Henry, son of the king's sister Catherine and
Henry V of England, who was proclaimed king of France
over the grave in which Charles VI was buried. Henry
was acknowledged as king throughout France as far as
the Lotre, while his uncle, the duke of Bedford, acted as
regent.

Charles VII was proclaimed king by the Armagnacs,
but most people still called him the dauphin, and many
termed him the king of Bourges, for he lived in that little
town.

Bedford, in the meantime, was determined to continue
the conquest of France and sent the Earl of Salisbury to
lay siege to Orleans. But the place was bravely defended
and Salisbury was killed by a shot in the throat. Soon
after, as some supplies were being sent to the English, a
party of French nobles resolved to stop them and at-

Charles VII, 1422-61 Marie of Anjou, wife of Charles VII

tached the wagons. The English came out of their fortifi-

cations to defend them and there was a general battle

which is known in history as the Battle of the Herrings.

It took this name because the provisions chiefly consisted
f salt fish intended to be eaten during Lent.

It was a long siege, but miraculous aid came to the
French. A young girl named Jeanne d’Arc said that she
was summoned by the angel Saint Michael and the virgin
saints, Catherine and Margaret, to save her country and
lead the king to be crowned at Rheims. At first no one
believed her, but she was so persuasive that finally she
came to the attention of the king and he sent for her. To
test her, he received her by torchlight and stood in the
midst of many nobles more richly dressed than he. But
she knew him at once from among them. She told him
things that he declared no one else could have known
about himself, which made him certain she must have
some heavenly knowledge. She said her ‘“voices” di-
rected her to get a massive sword from the shrine of Saint
Catherine, at Fierbois, and with this in her hand to lead
the French troops to drive the English from Orleans.
Jeanne d’Arc saved Orleans although she never herself
fought or struck a blow. She only led. The French had
such trust in her that wherever she led, they willingly
followed. The English soldiers, on the other hand, be-
lieved her to be a witch, and upon seeing her they fled
in horror and dismay, leaving their leaders, who stood in
disbelief, to be slain.

She succeeded in entering Orleans and delivering it
from the siege. Thereafter she was called the Maid of
Orleans, and victory seemed to follow her. She fought in
the name of Heaven and did all she could to make her
followers holy and good, rebuking them for all bad lan-
guage and other excesses. Eventually she had the satis-
faction of opening the way to Rheims, the city where all
French kings had been crowned ever since the beginning
of the Meerwings. She saw Charles VII crowned and
anointed, and then she asked to return to her home. The
king and his council would not permit this because she
was such an encouragement to their men and a terror to
the English. But her hope, confidence, and blessings were

Joan of Arc presented to Charles VII
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now gone. The French aristocracy did not like her. At
Compiegne, the governor would not open the gates, leav-
ing her outside to be made a prisoner by the Burgundi-
ans. She was kept in prison a long time—first in
Burgundy, and then at Rouen—and tried before French
and Burgundian bishops who decided that her “voices”
had been delusions of Satan and her victories his work.
Therefore, she was “penanced’ to be burned at the stake
as a witch. To the disgrace of Charles VII, he never
stirred a finger to save her, and she was burned to death
in the marketplace at Rouen.

No king ever deserved less to win back a kingdom than
Charles. He amused himself with one unworthy favorite
after another. But there was a brave spirit among his
knights and nobles, and the ablest of them was Arthur,
count de Richemont, brother to the duke of Brittany and
constable of France. As the French grew stronger, the
English grew weaker. The duke of Burgundy made his
peace with the king of France; and the duke of Bedford
soon after died at Rouen.

Step by step, bit by bit, did the French king regain his
dominion. When his cause began to look hopeful, he
came in person to receive the release of Paris and to
reconquer Normandy. But the war was not finally ended
till the year 1453, when Bordeaux itself was taken by the
French and thus ended the Hundred Years War that
Edward III had begun.

When the war was over and the bands of men-at-arms
had nothing to do, Charles VII managed better than his
grandfather, Charles V. He put them under strict rules
and gave them pay so that they were an asset to him
instead of being a torment to the people. This caused the
nobles to lose power and they rose in an insurrection,
which the dauphin Louis joined, chiefly because he was
at odds with his father. But when Louis found the king’s
soldiers too strong for the rebels, he made his peace with
his father and left them to their fate.

Charles became a wealthy monarch and established
peace. In the church, too, there was peace; for at the
council held by the Lake of Constance, in the year 1415,
the rival popes of Rome and Avignon had both been
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made to resign, and a new one had been elected, who was
reigning at Rome.

Through Charles’s name in history is the victorious,
his son Louis, the dauphin, hated him and in a cunning,
bitter way did all he could to vex and anger him. After
many quarrels, Louis fled from court and asked for the
protection of Duke Philip of Burgundy, who had become
the most magnificent and stately of European princes
and hoped to make himself or his son king of the Low
Countries.

The old king lived in continual fear of this son of his,
and believing that Louis would attempt to poison him,
he refused to take any food or drink until he lost the
power of swallowing, and thus the king died a miserable
death in the year 1461.

LOUIS XI (1461-83)

Louis XI wore the most shabby clothes and an old hat
topped with little lead images of the saints, which he
would take down, one at a time, and invoke to help him.
Though his religious attitude was appreciated by the
church, he actually was simply superstitious. His court
jester once overhead him at his devotions and thought
them so absurd and foolish that he could not help telling
of them. The truth was that Louis had no love for God
or man—he had only fear; and so he tried to bribe the
saints with fine promises of gifts to their shrines. And his
fear of man made him shut himself up in a grim castle
at Plessis-les-Tours, with walls and moats all round, and
a guard of archers from Scotland posted in iron cages on
the battlements to shoot at any dangerous-looking per-
son. He did not like the company of his nobles and
knights but preferred that of his barber, Oliver le Daim,
and his chief executor, Tristan I'Hermite. Anyone
offending him was imprisoned in the castle of Lockes or
put to death.

He had one brother, the duke of Berri, whom he feared
and hated, and he persecuted him until the duke of Bur-
gundy took the young man’s part. But the king managed

Louis XI, 1461-83

Henry VI released from the Tower
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The entrance of Louis XI into Paris

to break up their alliance and get his brother back into
his own hands. He then poisoned him.

The old duke, Philip the Good, died just after Louis
came to the throne; his son, Charles the Bold, was a
brave, high-spirited prince, very ambitious and even
more bent than his father on making his dukedom into
a kingdom. To upset this ambition was Louis’s great
object. First, he began to stir up the turbulent towns of
Flanders to rebel against Charles, and then while this
was brewing he went to visit him at his hometown of
Peronne, hoping to win him over. But the mischief he
had set in motion at Liege broke out suddenly, and the
people rose in a tumult, killed the duke’s officers, and
closed their city gates. Louis had placed himself in his
own trap. So Charles though it only fair to leave him
there. He left him there until the French army came to
rescue him and reduced Liege to nothing.

Now the king and duke hated one another more than
ever. Charles, who had married the sister of Edward IV
of England, promised to aid the English if they would
come to conquer France. Then Edward would have all
the western parts, and he all the eastern. Edward came
with one of the finest armies that had ever sailed from
England, but in the meantime the duke of Burgundy had
been drawn into a war with the German emperor, and
could not join him. The two kings met one another on
the bridge of Pecquiguy, across the Somme, with a great
wooden barrier put up between them, for fear they
should murder one another. Actually, they kissed one
another through the bars, while the two armies looked
on—the English ashamed, and the French well pleased.

Charles the Bold would have gone on with the war,
but Louis stirred up fresh enemies for him in Switzer-
land. The town of Basle rose up in arms, murdered
Charles’s governor, and then joined the young duke of
Lorraine, his bitter enemy. Both made war on him.
Charles was beaten in two battles, at Morat and Gran-
son, and at last, when he was besieging Nancy (the capi-
tal of Lorraine), the wicked Count Campobasso, the
commander of his hired Italian troops, betrayed him to

Louis XI and Charles the Victorious at Peronne

the Swiss by opening the gates of the camp. There was
a great slaughter of the Burgundians, and after it was
over the body of the brave duke Charles was found,
badly mutilated.

He left but one daughter, named Mary. His dukedom
of Burgundy could not go to a woman, so it was returned
to France. But Mary was sovereign of all Flanders and
Holland. Her father had betrothed her to Maximilian of
Austria (the son of the German emperor). When Louis
was stirring up her towns to rebel against her, she sent
her betrothed a ring as a token to beg him to come to her
help. He did so at once; they were married and were most
happy and prosperous for five years, until Mary was
killed by a fall from her horse. Her baby son Philip
received her royal inheritance.

Louis had three children—Anne, who married the
duke of Bourbon’s brother, the lord of Beaujeu; Charles;
and Jane, a poor, deformed, sickly girl. She wanted to go
into a convent but he forced her to marry her cousin
Louis, duke of Orleans. Charles the dauphin was sickly
too, and the king himself was in poor health. He was in
great dread of death and sent for a spiritualist from Italy
(Francis de Paula) to pray over him, vowing to give silver
and gold images and candlesticks and shrines to half the
saints if they would save him. But death came to him
anyway, in 1483, just as Richard III of England had
gained the crown.

CHARLES VIII (1483-98)

Charles VIII was but nine years old when he came to the
crown. He was a weak lad, with thin legs and a large
head, but full of spirit. His older sister, Anne, the lady
of Beaujeu, had charge of him and his kingdom. At first,
the lady of Beaujeu’s time was taken up with quarrels
with their brother-in-law, the duke of Orleans, who
thought he had a better right to be regent than a woman
did. The duke of Brittany had no son, and there was a
long line of nobles who wanted to marry his little daugh-
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ter Anne. Orleans had hopes of getting divorced from his
““good wife” Jane and marrying this young girl. A battle
was fought between the Bretons and French, in which
Orleans was knocked off his horse and made prisoner.
He was taken from one castle to another but his good
wife Jane always followed him to do her best to comfort
him, and never left him except to try to obtain his par-
don. But the lady of Beaujeu was smart enough not to
try too hard as long as Anne of Brittany was not married.
Indeed, the lady thought the best thing would be if young
Charles VIII could marry Anne, and join the great duke-
dom to his dominions.

But, on one hand, Charles was betrothed to Max-
imilian’s daughter Margaret, and Anne to Maximilian
himself; and, on the other, there was nothing the Bretons
hated so much as the notion of being joined with the
French. They wanted the poor girl of fourteen to marry
a grim old baron, Alan de Foix, who had eight children
already, because they thought he would fight for the
duchy. In the middle of all of this, the duke of Brittany
died. Anne of Beaujeu, in the meantime, raised an army
and entered Brittany, taking one town after another.
Anne of Brittany held out in her city of Rennes. Late one
evening a young gentleman came to the gates and desired
to see the duchess. It was the king. And so sweet and
gentle in manner, and so knightly in stature was he, that
Duchess Anne forgot her objections and consented to
marry him. And so the duchy of Brittany was joined to
the crown of France. As soon as Charles and Anne were
married, the duke of Orleans was released.

Charles, recalling that he had the right to the kingdom
of Naples, which old King René had left to his father,
gathered together one of the most splendid armies that
was ever seen in France to go and conquer it for himself.
No group in Italy was ready to oppose him, for the cities
were all quarreling among themselves and the pope who
was reigning then, Alexander VI was one of the wicked-
est and most ineffective men who ever lived. He marched
into the territory and was crowned king of Naples. Then
he left a division of his army to guard the kingdom. The
people had hoped that this young king would set things
right—call a council of the church, have the court of

Anne of Brittany, wife of
Charles VIII

Charles VIII, 1483-98

Rome purified. But Charles, a mere youth, who cared
more for making a grand knightly display, could not
manage his army, and they commited cruel acts on the
people of Italy. He rode back the whole length of Italy
and on the way claimed the ducy of Milan for his broth-
er-in-law, the duke of Orleans, whose grandmother,
Valentina Visconti, had been a daughter of the duke of
Milan.

However, the Italian states allied against him, and a
great army gathered together to attack him at Fornova.
Then he showed all the high spirit and bravery there was
in him. He really seemed to grow bigger with courage.
He fought like a lion and gained a grand victory.

But there is more to being a king than knighthood. He
did not manage well what he had conquered. He had not
sent men or provisions to his army in Naples, so they
were all driven out by the great Spanish captain, Gon-
zalo de Cordova. Only a token of them made it back
home to France.

Charles began to mature as he grew older. And when
he lost both his infant sons, his grief changed him a great
deal. He read better books than the romances of chivlary,
and he learned piety, justice, and firmness. He resolved
to live like Saint Louis, and began, like him, sitting under
an old oak tree to hear the causes of the rich and poor,
and doing justice for all.

Above all, he realized how vain and foolish he had
been in Italy, and what a great opportunity he had
thrown away to try to get the terrible things that were
going on with the pope and his cardinals ended. By
helping the good men left in Italy, together with Max-
imilian and Henry VII, he hoped to call a council of the
church, and set matters straight. He was just beginning
to make arrangements for another expedition to Italy
when, one day in 1498, while he was riding through a
dark passage leading to the tennis court at Blois, he
struck his forehead against the top of a doorway, was
knocked backward, and after a couple of hours, died. He

Meeting of Charles and
Anne of Brittany

Anne of Brittany
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Louis XII, 1498-1515

was in the twenty-ninth year of his life and the fifteenth
of his reign.

LOUIS XII (1498-1515)

Charles VIII had lost both his children, so the crown
went to Louis, duke of Orleans, grandson to the second
son of Charles V. The first thing he did was to bribe the
pope (Alexander VI), to sanction a dissolution of his
marriage to Jane, who was sent to a convent. He then
married Anne of Brittany in order to keep her duchy
united with the crown. She was a very noble and high-
spirited queen, and kept her court in excellent order.

Louis was a vain man, and could not rest until he had
accomplished as much as Charles VIII. So he allied him-
self with the pope, marched off into Italy with a big
army, and seized Milan. He did not himself go to Naples,
but he sent an army who seized a large portion of the
kingdom. Then the Spanish king Ferdinand persuaded
Louis to make peace, and divide the Kingdom of Naples
in half with Spain.

The Italians themselves hated both the French and
Spaniards, and only wanted to get Italy free of them; but
instead of all joining openly together against them, their
little states and princes took different sides, according to
which side they hated more. A now famous Florentine,
named Machiavelli, wrote a book called The Prince, in
which he stated that craft and trickery were the right
way for small states to overthrow their enemies and
prosper. His tongue-in-cheek philosophy is now ac-
cepted principle, and is known widely by his name. In
any event, the small states prospered by following his
advice. Pope Alexander VI was poisoned by drinking by
mistake the wine he had intended for another. The new
pope, Julius I, made league with Louis and Maximilian
against the Venetians. It was called the League of Cam-
brai, but no sooner had the brave French army gained
and given to Julius the towns he had been promised, he
turned again to the traditional Italian hatred of the for-
cigner and deserted their cause. He made another league,
which he called the Holy League, with the emperor Max-
imilian, the Spanish Ferdinand, and Henry VIII of En-
gland, for the purpose of driving the French out of Italy.

The French army in Italy was attacked by the Span-

iards and Italians, and though the brave young general
Gaston de Foix, duke of Nemours, gained a grand battle
at Ravenna, he was killed at the climax of it. The French
were driven out of the duchy of Milan, over the Alps,
and out of Italy. Louis XII could not send help to them,
for Ferdinand was attacking him in the south of France
and Henry VIII in the north. The sister of the duke of
Nemours was the second wife of Ferdinand and he be-
lieved she had a hereditary right to be queen of Navarre.
Thus Ferdinand seized the little kingdom and left only
the rights that belonged to the French side of the family,
so that since that time the king of Navarre has been but
a French noble.

Henry VIII had a fine army with him, with which he
besieged and took the city of Tournay, and fought a
battle at Enguingate in which the French were taken by
surprise. A panic seized them and they retreated, leaving
their brave knights to be taken prisoners. They galloped
off so fast that there were only forty Frenchmen killed.
The English called it the Battle of the Spurs. When
Terouenne was also taken, Louis thought it was time to
make peace.

Louis’s wife, Anne of Brittany, had just died. She had
had only two daughters, Claude and Renée. As Claude
was heiress of Brittany, Louis thought it was a good idea
to marry her off to Francis, duke of Angouleme, who was
first cousin to her father, and who would be king of
France. Francis was a fine, handsome, intelligent young
man, but Queen Anne knew Claude would not by happy
within Francis’s family and tried hard to prevent the
match. However, she could not succeed and she died
soon after it was concluded. Louis then offered to marry
Henry’s youngest sister, Mary, the most beautiful prin-
cess in all of Europe, and she was obliged to consent.
Louis XII was not an old man but he had long been in
poor health. The feastings and pageants with which he
received his young bride took its toll. He died at the end
of six weeks, on New Year’s Day of 1515.

Francis 1, 1515-47
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Egquestrian portrait of Francis 1

He has been called the Father of His People, although
history does not record that he did much for their basic
welfare. He taxed them heavily for his wars in Italy. But
his appearance was always pleasant, and that meant a
great deal to the French.

FRANCIS I (1515-47)

Francis I, the new king of France, was twenty years old
when the crown was placed on his head. He had a lot of
chivalrous ideas. But he had no sense of morals to keep
the truth and honor that are the real part of chivalry.
To conquer Italy was his first notion, and he started
to march across the Alps. But the Swiss had turned
against him and blocked his way at Marignano. There
was a terrible battle beginning at dusk, and when night
came everything was in confusion. All night the great
cow horns, which were the signal of the Swiss troops,
were heard blowing, to gather them together. But the
next morning the French rallied and won a great victory.
No one had ever defeated the Swiss before. When it was
over, Francis knelt down before the famous knight Bay-
ard and asked to be dubbed a knight by him, as the
bravest and truest of knights. When this was done, Bay-
ard kissed his sword and declared that it should never be
used in battle again. It was retired to the royal palace and
may now be seen at the Louvre museum in Paris.
After this, Francis went on to take possession of Milan

and he had a royal audience with the pope at Bologna.
There was a new pope, Leo X, a man very fond of art
and learning and everything beautiful, though he had
little ambition for the duty of his office. However, he
made a wise agreement with Francis, which is called the
Concordat of Bologna. The king gave the pope certain
payments of treasures every year “‘forever’” and gave up
the calling of church councils of the French clergy. The
pope, in return, gave the king the right for him and his
successors of appointing all the bishops, deans, abbots,
and abbesses in France forever.

Francis wanted to be emperor of Germany and tried
to get Henry VIII to help him. They had a meeting at
Ardres (near Calais). That conference was known was
the Field of the Cloth of Gold. The two kings were both
spirited young men, and they wrestled and played to-
gether like two boys. But nothing came of this meeting,
for Henry preferred that the emperor be the young king
Charles of Spain (who was grandson to the emperor
Maximilian and Mary of Burgundy).

When Maximilian died, Francis offered himself to the
empire and told the electors they were to think of him
and Charles not as enemies, but as rivals for the same
lady. This, however, was only a speech, for Francis was
very discontented when Charles was chosen emperor,
and he started a war at once. But all he got for this was
the Italians rising again and driving his army out of
Milan. And, another misfortune befell him. His mother,
Louise of Savoy, fell in love with another Charles, the
duke of Bourbon and constable of France. When the
constable rejected her, she resolved to ruin him and
made the king take away his lands. The constable was so
angry that he went to Spain and offered to serve Charles
against his king and country. He was so good a captain
that Charles placed him in command of an army.

The constable led a Spanish army to invade France,
and ravaged Provence. But the French rallied under
Francis and he was driven back. Then Francis crossed
the Alps, hoping to recover what he had lost in Italy.
There was a great battle fought on February 24, 1525.
Francis was too hasty in thinking the victory was his. He
charged with all his troops, got entangled in the firmly

Francis 1
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positioned Spanish squadrons, and was surrounded,
wounded, and forced to give himself up as a prisoner. He
was sent as a prisoner to Madrid.

Charles would only release Francis upon the very
harshest of terms—namely, that he should yield all his
claims to Italy, renounce the sovereignty of the Low
Countries, make Henry d’Albret give up his claim to
Navarre, and marry Charles’s sister Eleanor. Francis
was to give his two sons as hostages until this was carried
out. Francis declared that he would rather abdicate his
throne than cripple his kingdom in such way. However,
after ten months’ captivity, he agreed to do all that was
demanded of him. He was escorted back to the borders,
where, on the River Bidassua, he met his two young
sons, who were to be exchanged for him. After embrac-
ing them and giving them up to the Spaniards, he landed,
mounted his horse, made it bound into the air and, wav-
ing his sword above his head, cried out, “I am yet a
king!"”

In France just then, John Calvin, a superintellect and
a man of much learning, who had been studying for the
priesthood, had, during his course of study, come to
think that much of the teaching of the church of Rome
was wrong. He wrote books that were eagerly read by
great numbers, and his cause was welcomed by the king’s
sister, Margaret, who had married the dispossessed king
of Navarre, and by his sister-in-law, Renée, the duchess
of Ferrara. But the Calvinist teaching made Francis an-
gry. Someone broke a statue of the Blessed Virgin in the
streets of Paris, and this led to a cry on the part of the
people that such things should not be allowed to go on.
The persons pointed out as Calvinists were seized, and
when they showed how little regard they had for the
doctrines of the Roman Catholic church, they were
turned over to the clergy of the state. They were burned

alive, according to the laws of France dealing with here-
tics.

But their brethren were only the firmer in their doc-
trine and hated the Roman Church all the more. The
Calvinists in France were called Huguenots, though no
one is quite certain why. One likely explanation is that
it is from two Swiss words, meaning “‘oath-comrades,”
because they were all sworn brothers. Calvin himself,
when he could not safely stay in France, accepted an
invitation from the Reformers of Geneva to come and
guide them, and from there he sent out rules which
guided the French Huguenots.

Margaret, the queen of Navarre, believed like the
Huguenots that much was wrong in her church, but she
preferred to have the church set these things right. How-
ever, her only child, Jane, grew up to be an ardent
Huguenot. Jane married Antony, duke of Bourbon, who
was called king of Navarre in her right, though the Span-
iards had all of the real kingdom of Navarre and she only
had the little French counties of Béarn and Foix. But
here she fostered the Huguenots with all her assets.

Charles V and Francis kept up a war for most of their
lives, but without any more great battles. Francis did
everything possible to hurt Charles. Though he was per-
secuting the Calvinists at home, he helped and made
friends with the Protestants in Germany, because they
were the emperor’s greatest problem. And, because

Sanguine drawing of Francis I in his last years, taken from life
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The boundaries of France in the time of Francis I

Charles was at war with the Turks and the Moors, Fran-
cis allied himself with them. However, as he deserved,
his treachery profited him little, for the emperor gained
a fast hold on Italy, and, moreover, invaded Provence.
But the count de Montmorency laid waste to every town,
village, and farm in his way, so that his army found little
to eat. Thus, he was forced to retreat. The poor Proven-
cals suffered just as much from lack of food, but the
territory was saved, and Montmorency was made con-
stable of France as a reward.

After this, peace was made for a time, and Charles,
who wanted to go in haste from Spain to Flanders, asked
permission to pass through France; and Francis received
him most courteously, sending the dauphin to meet him,
and entertaining him magnificently. But at one of the
banquets, Francis pointed to the duchess of Chatel-
herault, saying, “Here’s a lady who says I am a great fool
to let you go free.”” The emperor took the hint and
dropped a costly ring into the gold basin that the duchess
held to him to wash his hands in. Charles departed in
safety but no sooner did Francis hear of him being in
trouble in his own domains, than all promises were again
broken, and the war began again. This time Henry VIII
was also very angry with Francis and joined the emperor
to punish him. Charles invaded Champagne, and Henry
landed at Calais, and besieged and took Boulogne. How-
ever, the Spanish emperor made peace. Then Henry, for
a ransom of 2 million crowns, promised, in eight years
time, to give back Boulogne. Just after this peace was
made Henry died, and Francis only lived two months
after him, dying in January 1547, when only fifty-three
years old. Queen Claude had long been dead, and Fran-
cis had married the emperor’s sister, Eleanor. She had

had no children, and most of Claude’s were weak and in
ill health—only two survived their father: Henry, who
had been the second son, but had become dauphin; and
Margaret, the youngest daughter.

HENRY II (1547-59)

The dauphin became king and reigned as Henry II, the
son of Francis I. His greatest friend was the constable de
Montmorency with whom he had a close friendship all
his life, and his one strong romantic feeling was for a
beautiful lady named Diana of Poitiers. She was the
daughter of the great Florentine family of Medici. She
had a large family, and the eldest son, Francis, was
betrothed to the infant Mary, queen of Scots, who was
sent from her own kingdom to be brought up with her
young husband in the court of France.

Henry continued the war with the emperor of Spain.
He had one very able general, Francis de Lorraine, duke
of Guise (a son of René, duke of Lorraine, who was the
grandson to old King René). He sent this general to
capture the city of Metz, and there Guise withstood a
siege by the emperor himself—until hunger and famine
wreaked such havoc on the besieging army that they
were forced to retreat.

The emperor was growing old, and suffering badly
from gout, so he was longing to retire. He decided on
resigning his crowns and spending the remainder of his
life in a Spanish monastery. He gave the empire to his
brother Ferdinand; and the kingdoms of Spain, the two
Sicilies with Lombardy, and the Low Countries to his
son, Philip II, who was married to Mary Tudor, queen
of England. This made the English join in the war
against Henry II, and a small body of men was sent to
the Spanish army, which, with Philip himself, was be-
sieging Saint Quentin, a town on the borders of Picardy.
One of the bravest men in France, a Huguenot nobleman
named Gaspar de Chatillon, admiral de Coligny, was
defending the town, and his brother, the sieur d’Andelot
tried hard to break through and bring him provisions,
but he was beaten back. There was a great battle fought

The duke of Guise
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on August 10, 1557, before the walls, when the constable
de Montmorency, who commanded the French, was de-
feated. He was made prisoner, four thousand men were
killed, and Coligny was forced to surrender. France had
not suffered such a defeat since the battle of Agincourt.
However, it was some comfort to the French that the
duke of Guise managed to take by surprise the city of
Calais, which the English had held ever since the time
of Edward III and which was their last French posses-
sion. But other misfortunes forced Henry to make peace;
and at Chateau Cambresis, in 1559, a treaty was signed
that put an end to the long Italian wars that were begun
by Charles VIII nearly seventy years before. After this,
there was great rejoicing, but the persecution of the
Calvinists was carried on with more rigor, and the king
and all his court, including the ladies, used to be present
at the burnings at the stake in the marketplace.

One of Francis’s acts had been the seizing of the little
dukedom of Savoy in the Alps, which he added to his
kingdom. The landless duke of Savoy was serving in the
Spanish army and was an able general. Indeed, it was his
leadership that had won the battle of Saint Quentin. One
article in the peace of Chateau Cambresis had been that
the French should give him back his dukedom and
marry him to Margaret, the only sister of Henry. The
wedding festivities were intended to be very magnificent,
and Henry began them with a splendid tournament, like
those of the olden times of knighthood, when the
knights, in full armor, rode against each other with their
heavy lances. Henry himself took part in this one, and
tried to unhorse the sieur des Lorges, eldest son of the
count of Montgomery. There was generally very little
danger to men in steel armor, but as these two met, the
point of des Lorges’ lance pierced a joint in the visor of
Henry’s helmet, and penetrated his eye and brain. He
was carried from the field, and lay speechless for two
days. In the meantime, his sister was hastily married in
private to the duke of Savoy so that his death might not
delay the fulfillment of the treaty. He died on June 29,
1559, leaving four sons (Francis, Charles, Henry, and
Hercules) and three daughters (Elizabeth, Claude, and
Margaret), all young children.

FRANCIS II (1559-60) AND
CHARLES IX (1560-74)

The next two reigns, though they are, of course, called
the reigns of Francis II and Charles IX, were really the
reign of their mother, Catherine de’ Medici. Because
Francis was only fifteen when he lost his father, his
mother took over the chief management of his affairs. He
died of a “swelling in the ear” in his seventeenth year,
in 1560. His brother, Charles IX, who was only twelve
years old, then began to reign.

At Vassy, where the mother of the duke of Guise lived,

Francis 11, 1559-60

there was a barn where the Huguenots used to meet. On
one occasion when her son was visiting her, she com-
plained of them. He went to their church and stayed to
listen to their singing. His followers were very angry at
this and broke into the barn and killed several Hugue-
nots. This was the beginning of the terrible war between
the Catholics and the Huguenots. From a historical
point of view, it’s important to know that a Guise was
always at the head of the Catholics and a Bourbon at the
head of the Huguenots. The city of Rouen fell into the
hands of the Huguenots, and Guise besieged it. But in
the course of the siege the duke was shot by a murderer
named Poltrot and died in a few hours. His son Henry,
who was very young at the time, always believed that the
murderer had been sent by the admiral de Coligny and
though this is not at all likely, the whole family vowed
vengeance against him. During this siege, Antony, duke
of Bourbon, was also killed. He was no great loss to the
Huguenots, for he had gone over to the other side, and
his wife, Queen Jane, was freer to act for them without
him.

It the interim, the queen’s sons were beginning to grow
up. She did not want to put the king on the throne for
fear he would learn to govern and take away her power.
Her third son, Henry, the duke of Anjou, commanded in
the battle of Jarnac. The prince of Condé who was on the
other side, had his arm in a sling from a wound received
a few days before. And just as he had ridden to the head
of his troops his horse reared, fell on him, and broke his
leg. But he would not give up, and rode into the battle
as he was. He was defeated and taken prisoner. He was
lifted off his horse and placed in the shade of a tree,
helpless. A friend of the duke of Anjou, riding by, recog-
nized him, stopped, and shot him through the head.

The Queen of Navarre felt that she must come to the
head of her party. She had one son, Henry, prince of
Béarn. Queen Jane had had him most carefully taught
both religion and other studies so that he was a boy of
great promise. He was fifteen years old at this time and
his cousin Henry, son of the prince of Condé, was about
the same age. Queen Jane took them to the head of the
Huguenot army and they were trained to be leaders
while admiral de Coligny managed their affairs.

Queen Catherine began to realize that she would never
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Catherine de’ Medici, regent, 1560-63

be able to put the Huguenots down by force. She pre-
tended to make friends with them, and she and her son,
Charles IX, made them grants for the sake of getting
them into her power. She offered to marry her daughter
Margaret to the prince of Béarn, and invited him to her
court. Poor Queen Jane could not bear to let her boy go,
for she knew what would happen. Catherine kept a con-
tingent of young ladies about her who were called the
Queen Mother’s Squadron, and who made it their busi-
ness, with their light songs, idle talk, and pleasant sexual
habits, to corrupt all the young men who came in contact
with them. By comparison, Jane’s little court was grave,
strict, and dull, but Henry enjoyed the change. Catherine
took care never to have mother and son at her court
together. She sent Henry home before she invited his
mother to the court.

While at court, Jane fell suddenly ill and died. There
was a man about court, a perfumer, whom people called
the Queen’s Poisoner. History records a fear of the
court’s that Catherine had had the poisoner kill Jane.

Poor young Charles IX would have been a good king
if his mother had allowed him, but she taught him that
the way to reign was to deceive, and he had such fear of
her that he choked all of his better feelings. She was
exceedingly afraid of the Huguenots, and thought they
were conspiring against her and the young Henry, duke
of Guise, was ready to do anything to be revenged
against Coligny, whom he viewed as his father’s mur-
derer. So, to get the Huguenots into her power, Cather-
ine invited all their chief nobles to come to the wedding
of her daughter, Margaret, with young Henry, who had
become king of Navarre. The pope would not give per-
mission for the princess to marry one who stood outside
the church, so the queen forged his consent!

Coligny and all his friends had come to the wedding,
and the king was so delighted with the brave, honest old

Charles IX, 1560-74

soldier that Catherine thought she should lose all her
power over him. One day, Coligny was shot in the streets
of Paris by a would-be murderer. Though only his hands
were shattered, he was so ill that the king came to see
him and all his friends gathered round him to protect
him. Thereupon, Catherine plotted with her son, the
duke of Anjou, and the duke of Guise, that, when the bell
of the Church of St. Germain I’Auxerrois, close to the
palace of the Tuileries, rang at midnight before Saint
Bartholomew’s Day, the Catholic people of Paris who
were friends of the duke of Guise should rise upon the
Huguenots who were asleep in their homes and kill them
all. It was hard to get King Charles to consent, for there
were many Huguenots whom he had learned to love, but
when he found that he could not save Coligny, he said,
“Let them all die; let none live to reproach me.” How-
ever, he called into his own bedroom two whom he most

Elizabeth of Austria,
Charles IX on horseback wife of Charles IX
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Charles IX with his second wife, Elizabeth of Austria

wished to save—his doctor and his old nurse. But there
were a great many more in the palace who had attended
to the young king of Navarre, and every one of these was
slaughtered. Everywhere murder was going on. The fol-
lowers of Guise wore white scarves on one arm, that they
might know one another in the dark, and a troop of them
rushed in, slew old Coligny in his bedroom, and threw
the corpse out the window. All the rabble of Paris joined
in the slaying and plundering of their neighbors, and in
all the other towns where the Huguenots were the weak-
est the same horrid slaughter was going on. The Mas-
sacre of Saint Bartholomew’s Day is the deadliest crime
in the history of France. The young king is said to have
drawn his sword against the king of Navarre and prince
of Condé, and would have struck them if his young wife,
Elizabeth of Austria, had not heard of it, and ran in
entreating him to spare them. Their lives were spared on
condition that they would return to the church, which
they did, and they were watched and forced to live like
prisoners at court.

When Queen Elizabeth of England heard of his shock-
ing day, she broke off the plans for marrying the duke
of Anjou—a scheme which Catherine de’ Medici had set
up, as it would have made her third son a king without
the death of the second. However, a kingdom did come
to him, for the old realm of Poland always chose the king
by election by all the nobles, and their choice was Henry,

duke of Anjou. He did not like going to that wild coun-
try, away from all the amusements of Paris, and delayed
as long as he could.

Meantime, the poor young king tried to forget the
horrors of the night of Saint Bartholomew. The grief of
it all was ruining his health. His mother was too busy
trying to secure the throne for his brother to attend to
him. He died in the year 1574, when only twenty-three
years old. His last words were, “'If our Lord Jesus will
have mercy on me for my crime!”

The war with the Huguenots was still going on when
he died, for though Coligny was slain and the king of
Navarre was still watched and guarded at court, there
were enough nobles left alive to hold out against their
enemies. If the troops of the queen and duke of Guise
came up on a meeting of the Huguenots, they burned the
building and killed everyone who came out of it. And if
the Huguenots found a church or convent not defended,
they burned it and killed the monks or nuns. Everyone
waited anxiously for the arrival of the new king. He was
delighted to leave Poland, although he was in no hurry
to take all the troubles of his French kingdom upon
himself, so on his journey home, he went out of his way
to Italy and stayed there a month amusing himself. In
the meantime, the duke of Guise was growing stronger
and stronger and was becoming a great favorite with the
people of Paris. Catherine was hoping to marry off her
fourth son, Hercules, the duke of Alencon, to Queen
Elizabeth, who pretended to think about it. She even sent
for him to see her. But it was all in order to keep peace
with France. The duke was an ugly little misformed
youth, whom the queen took a fancy to, but it wasn’t
serious.

HENRY III (1574-89)

On his way home through Savoy, Henry visited with
Louise de Vaudemont, a very beautiful girl, a cousin of
the duke of Guise, and he desired to marry her. Queen
Catherine tried to prevent it, but the king would not let
her have a say.

King Henry III was a strange person. He cared for
little but fine clothes, his own beauty, and a sort of
religion that did him no good. He slept in a mask and
gloves for the sake of his complexion, and painted his
face; and every day he stood over his wife to see her hair
dressed, and chose her clothing and ornaments. He had
a set of friends like himself, who were called his *dar-
lings,” and were fops like himself. They all wore rosaries,
of which the beads were carved like skulls; and they, king
and all, used to go in procession, barefoot and covered
with sackcloth, to the churches in Paris, with whips in
their hands, with which to flog one another in penance
for their sins. Yet they were horribly cruel and thought
nothing of murder.
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Henry III, 1574-89 Louise of Lorraine,

wife of Henry IIT

Henry III in his favorite
royal garb

Henri, prince of Navarre, in 1557,
later Henry 1V

Henry of Navarre stayed in this strange court of his
for nearly two years, but at last, in 1576, he fled away to
the Huguenot army in the south of France and professed
himself a Calvinist again. He soon showed that he was
by far the ablest leader that the Huguenots had had, and
he obtained another peace.

Even the duke of Alengon, the youngest brother, could
not bear the life at Henry’s court and fled from it. At one
time the Dutch, who had revolted from Philip of Spain,
invited the duke to be their “king.” But he did them little
good and on his way home he died. His death made a
great difference because Henry III had no children, and
as women could neither reign in France themselves nor
leave any rights to their children, the nearest heir to the
crown was Henry of Navarre, whose forefather, the first
count of Bourbon, had been a son of Saint Louis.

Everybody knew he was the rightful heir, but to have
a Calvinist king to reign over them seemed frightful to
the more zealous Catholics. They formed themselves
into a society, which they called the Holy League for
maintaining the church, the great object of which was to
keep Henry of Navarre from becoming king of France.
The duke of Guise was at the head of this league.

There was a third party—Catholics, but loyal, and
with the count de Montmorency at their head—and
these were the persons Henry trusted most. He was fond
of his bright, kindly brother-in-law, the king of Navarre,
and never would do anything to prevent him from suc-
ceeding, although he found that it was not safe to remain
in Paris and went to his palace at Blois. There he framed
a plot for freeing himself from the duke of Guise. He
placed guards whom he could trust under the staircase
and in his anteroom, and when Guise came to visit the
king they murdered him. The duke’s brother, the cardi-
nal of Guise, was killed the same day, and Henry went
up to his mother, Queen Catherine, who was ill in bed,
to tell her that he was free from his enemy, but she saw
plainly that he was only bringing more trouble upon
himself. ““You have a cut,” she said; “‘can you sew? Have
you thought of all that you will bring on yourself?”’ He
said he had done so. “Then you must be prompt and
firm,” she said; but she did not live to help him through
his difficulties. She died two weeks later.

Henry was far from able to sew. The Holy League was
mad with rage. Guise’s sons were little children, so his
brother, the duke of Mayenne, took the lead, and though
he was not a clever man, the party was so strong that it
took no great ability to make it rough for the king. The
duke’s sister, the duchess of Montpensier, really was like
a fury and went about the streets of Paris stirring up the
people, who already hated and despised the king and
now raged against him. They tried him in effigy, deposed
him, carried his figure through the streets heaping insults
upon it, and made an anagram of his name, Henri de
Valois— Vilain Herodes. He was brought to such distress
that he was obliged to beg Henry of Navarre to come and
help him. The two kings met at Plessis-les-Tours and
were most friendly together. They joined their armies
and began to besiege Paris. But this made the Leaguers
more violent against Henry than ever, and a young monk
named Clément, fancying that there was no sin, even
virtue, in freeing the church from a man like Henry,
crept out of Paris with a packet of important letters, and
while the king was reading one, stabbed him with a
dagger. Clément was instantly slain by the king’s guard,
and the king of Navarre was sent for and arrived in time
to see his brother-in-law still alive. Henry embraced him,
asked his people to make him king of France, and added,
“But you will never be able to reign unless you become
a Catholic.” Then he died (in the year 1589), the last and
most contemptible noble in the House of Valois. The
Leaguers rejoiced in his death and praised the murdered
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Henry IV, 1589-1610

Clément as a saint and martyr, while they set up as king
the cardinal of Bourbon, the old uncle of the king of
Navarre, declaring that it was impossible that a heretic
should ever reign in France.

HENRY 1V (1589-1610)

The new king, Henry IV, was so poor, that he was
obliged to dress himself in the robes left by his brother-
in-law. France was now divided into two parties instead
of three, for the Leaguers were against the Huguenots,
while the moderate Catholics thought that the birthright
of the crown called upon them to be loyal to any sort of
king. Both were with Henry.

Henry’s uncle, Cardinal Charles, the Leaguers’ king,
soon died, and then they talked of the throne for Isabelle,
a daughter of Philip II of Spain, because her mother had
been the eldest sister of the last three kings. But as there
was a great hatred of the Spaniards among the French,
this plan did harm to their cause and made many more
of the Catholics turn to Henry. He was fighting his way
to the throne through numerous battles and sieges. At
the battle of Ivry, in Normandy, he told his followers
that if they wanted a guide in the thick of the fray they
had only to follow his white feather, and the saying
became a byword after his great victory—'‘follow the
white feather.” The Spaniards came to help the league

The marriage of Henry IV
and Marie de' Medici, 1600

Henry IV in his walking costume

and the war lasted for years, while Henry still was kept
out of Paris. At last he made up his mind that he would
return to the Roman Catholic church. He used to say
that one of the true things that nobody would believe was
that he had changed out of an honest belief that the
Calvinists were wrong. But he did gain a kingdom by so
doing though the truth was that he had very little reli-
gion of any kind at all. But it was true that he did not
like the strict ways of the Calvinists. The Catholics were
only too glad to have him and accepted him heartily. But
the league was not satisfied, and only in the year 1594,
when he had been king five years, did he ride into Paris
without any opposition from them. Even then the Lea-
guers went on opposing him, till at last his wisdom and
that of his good old friend, the duke of Sully, succeeded
in overcoming their objections, and the duke de
Mayenne consented to make peace with him.

Only then did Henry IV really begin to reign. He had
to put down some of the great nobles who had grown
overly powerful and insolent during the long civil war.
He tried to bring about peace between the Catholics and

Marguerite of Valois,
wife of Henry IV

Gaston of France,
third son of Henry IV
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The entrance of Henry IV into France

A caricature of the older Henry IV

Marie de’ Medici

Gabrielle d’Estrées, the duchess of Beaufort, right, mathered three of
Henry IV’s children. She almost became queen. She is seen in this
Louvre Museum painting with her sister-in-law, the duchess of Villars.

the Calvinists. He had friends on both sides, and was
anxious to make them live in unity without fighting with
one another or persecuting one another. So he created a
law that gave the Calvinists permission to have places of
worship, provided it was not where they would annoy
Catholics. And they were not hindered from taking
offices at court or in the army, or from having schools
in certain places. To secure all this to them, they were
allowed to hold three towns as pledges—La Rochelle,
Montauban, and Montpellier. In this last one, there was
a college for educating their pastors. This law was called
the Edict of Nantes because Henry had it registered by
the parliament of the old duchy of Brittany, since each
old province still kept its own laws and parliament. He
obtained this Edict of Nantes with great difficulty, for the
Catholics thought it wrong to allow any person to re-
main outside the church. But the people were worn out
with the long and bloody civil war and glad for a respite.
So the edict was passed and France began on the road
to recovery.

Henry had no children and therefore wished to di-
vorce his wife Margaret so that he might marry another
who might bear him an heir, instead of having to leave
his crown to his young cousin, the prince of Condé. So,
as there had never been real consent on the pope’s part
to the marriage of the cousins and as the bride had been
forced into it against her will by her mother and brother,
the pope was persuaded to pronounce the wedding null
and void, and that the two were free to marry again. It
was not easy to find a princess, for all the Spaniards and
Austrians and their allies were his greatest enemies. And
he could not now marry a Protestant. So he ended up by
choosing one of the Medici family, Marie. She gave him
two sons and three daughters, and there never was a
fonder father. Once, when the Austrian ambassador
came to see him, he was found on all fours, with his little
son riding on his back. “Are you a father, sir?”” he said
to the ambassador. “Yes, sire.” *“Then we will first finish
our game,” returned the king.

There were many of the remnants of the Leaguers who
hated the king for having once been a Huguenot and for
the Edict of Nantes. Though the love of the whole coun-
try was more and more with him, he still was not willing
to gather a great crowd together in Paris for fear of an
outbreak. So, as he had been crowned long before he was
married, the coronation of Marie de’ Medici was put off
year after year. Henry was not with her when the corona-
tion finally took place, but looked on from a private box
at the pageant.

The next day, just as he had seated himsel!f in his
carriage, a man named Francis Ravaillac sprang up on
the wheel, held a paper for him to read, and the next
moment stabbed him in the heart with a knife. He died
instantly, one of the greatest losses his country had ever
known. It was on May 14, 1610. He was known to the
French as le Grand Monarque, ‘‘the Great Monarch.”
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The Coming of Age of Louis XIII, painting by Rubens

Cardinal Richelieu

Louis X111, 1610-43

The later kings of France: Top row. Charles VIII, Louis XVI, Louis X1,
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second row, Louis XV, John II, Charles V; third row, Francis I, Henry
1V, Henry IIl, Henry II; fourth row, Francis 11, Charles VII; bottom
row, Charles X, Louis-Philippe, Louis XVIII.

The deathbed of Louis XIII
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LOUIS XIII (1610-43)

The eldest son of Henry IV, Louis XIII, was but nine
years old when his father was killed and his mother,
Marie de’ Medici, became regent. She was a weak, fool-
ish woman, and let herself be entirely guided by an Ital-
ian lady in her court named Galigai, who had married
a man named Concini. Marie made her son give him the
title of Marshall d’Ancre, and it was they who really
ruled France. But all the French nobles hated d’Ancre.

Their rule lasted seven years, but when the young king
was sixteen years old, a young nobleman named Luynes
told him that, now that he was growing up, he would be
secretly killed so that his mother might continue as re-
gent in the name of his little brother. So Louis had his
guards arrest Marshal d’Ancre next time he came to the
palace, and instructed them to kill him if he resisted. He
did resist and was slain, and his wife was tried for be-
witching the queen and put to death. Marie was forced
to leave the court and go into “retirement” in the coun-
try. After some years of wrangling with her son, she went
to England, for her youngest daughter, Henrietta Maria,
had married King Charles I. Queen Marie later died in
extreme poverty.

Louis XIII was a strange person—slow, dull, and
cold-hearted, though not ill-disposed. His health was
bad, and he hated problems of state more than anything
else. There was a very clever man in his court, Armand
de Richelieu, bishop of Lucon. Albert de Luynes was the
king’s first minister after d’Ancre’s fall, and when he
died of a fever, Richelieu took over the management of
everything. He let the king have young men as his com-
panions and young women as his favorites. But if ever
one of these showed anything but amusement and fancy
—any spirit—or tried to stir the king up to act for him-
self and overthrow the tyranny he lived under, Richelieu
always found it out and put the bold one to death. The
king did nothing to save his friends. For in truth he
disliked trouble more than anything else, and Richelieu
thought and acted for him.

As the pope created him, the cardinal was really one
of the greatest statesmen who ever lived and made
France a much greater and more mighty power than ever
before. He made the king much more powerful too. He
was a hard, stern man, and did not bother with justice.
He could do but one thing—make the crown of France
more powerful. The nobles, who had grown strong and
haughty during the long wars, were very sternly, and
even cruelly, put down by him. He thought nothing of
having them accused of treason, shutting them up in
prison, or having them put to death. Thus he managed
to get rid of all the great men who had been almost
princes, such as the count de Montmorency, grandson of
the old constable.

He also made war upon the Huguenots, in spite of the

Edict of Nantes, and tried to take La Rochelle from
them. There was a long and deadly siege. Charles I of
England sent them help but his favorite, the duke of
Buckingham, who was to have had the command of the
fleet that was coming to help them, died at Portsmouth.
When at last the people were starved out, after fourteen
months, the cardinal made the king himself come down
to personally receive their surrender. La Rochelle was a
terrible loss to them. But at least the Roman Catholic
Church was in a much better state. There were many
very good men among the clergy, especially Francis de
Sales, bishop of Geneva, and Vincent de Paul, an out-
standing priest, who gathered together the poor desolate
children who had no homes and had good families take
care of them. He also first established the order of the
Sisters of Mercy, who were like nuns, only they were not
shut up in convents. Their work was to nurse the sick,
take care of orphans, and teach poor children. The great
ladies at court used to put on plain dresses and nurse the
sick in the hospitals. Even the queen served. She was a
Spanish princess, called Anne of Austria—a good, kind,
and gracious lady—but not cared for much at court. For
many years she had no children, but at last, when all
hope had been given up, she had first one boy and then
another, and there was immense rejoicing among the
people.

Wars had been going on with the Spaniards all
through Louis’s reign in Italy and the Low Countries, as
well as great conflict between the Roman Catholics and
Protestants in Germany, which is known as the Thirty
Years War. Cardinal de Richelieu managed matters so
well that France almost always gained overwhelming
advantage in affairs with other countries.

But Richelieu’s own iron rule was coming to an end.
He had been in very bad health in his later years, yet he
never seemed to care about it and was as fierce as ever
if a friend of the king appeared to take away any of his
power. The baron de Cinq Mars was put to death for
conspiring against him when he was almost at the edge
of his grave. He declared, when he was receiving his last
communion, that he had always meant to work for the
honor of God and the good of the state. He died early
in his fifty-eighth year on December 4, 1642. On his
deathbed he advised the king to put trust in an Italian
priest named Mazarin.

Louis seemed to be little bothered by the loss of Riche-
lieu. He only said, ‘‘There’s a great statesman dead”; and
when there was a great storm on the day of the funeral,
he said, “The cardinal has a bad day for his journey.”
But he was in a very weak state of health himself, and
only lived five months after Richelieu, dying at the age
of forty-two years, on May 14, 1643, and though his
reign was a grand one for France, it was no thanks to
him, but to the great statesman, Richelieu, who ruled
both him and the country.
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LOUIS XIV (1643-1715)

“I am Louis XIV,” cried the little five-year-old dauphin,
as he stood by his dying father’s bedside. “‘Not yet,” the
old king was still strong enough to say, though he did not
live many more hours. His reign was to be the longest
ever of a king (seventy-two years).

At first his mother, Queen Anne, was regent, and she
trusted entirely to Cardinal Mazarin. He was not a great
man, like Richelieu, but he was clever and cunning and
the saying was, ““The fox comes after the lion.”” He was
a foreigner and of low birth. The French found it much
harder to submit to him than to Richelieu, who was of
one of the noblest families in France. Only four days
after the accession of the little king, the duke d’Enghien
won the great battle of Rocroy in the Low Countries in
which the fine old Spanish foot soldiers were annihilated.
After two more victories, peace was made between
France and Spain. But this did not make things easier for
Mazarin, for all the nobles who had been away with the
army came home with nothing to do—especially the
duke d’Enghien, who soon, on his father’s death, became
prince of Condé, and who was proud and fiery and hated
the young upstart Mazarin.

All this hatred broke out in a great quarrel between
the queen and the parliament of Paris. The parliament
of-Paris was a very different body from the Parliament
of England. It did not represent the whole kingdom, for
each of the great old provinces had a separate parliament
of its own. It was made up only of the lawyers of Paris
and the great nobles who belonged to the old duchy of
France, along with the bishops and princes of royal
blood. It judged peers of France for state offenses, and
in matters of property. But it could not make laws or
grant taxes. All it could do was to register the laws and
the taxes when the king had made them. The king’s acts
were not valid till this had been done. When Mazarin, in
the king’s name, laid a heavy tax on all the food that was
brought into Paris, the parliament refused to register the
act, and there was a great struggle, which was known by
the strange name of the Fronde. Fronde is the French
word for “sling.” In the earlier part of the quarrel the
speakers used to stand up and throw sharp words at one
another, just like little boys slinging stones at one an-
other. But they soon came to much worse weapons.

The Fronde was the effort of the parliament to stand
up against the royal power. There were two sieges of
Paris in the course of it. The prince of Condé at first
would not turn against the king and helped to make a
peace. But he insisted on Mazarin being sent into exile,
and when he was gone, Condé was found to be such a
stern and insolent master that they contrived to get
Mazarin back. Then he threw Condé into prison. Con-
dé’s wife joined with the other Frondeurs to try to gain
his freedom again and he was set free—but only to make
another war. Then, he joined the Spaniards, and helped
them to wage war against his own country.

Cardinal Mazarin followed up all the plans of Riche-
lieu, and France went on prospering and gaining victo-
ries until the Spaniards at last, in the year 1659, made
what was cailed the Peace of the Pyrenees, giving up
several towns in the Low Countries. In time the young
King Louis was to forgive the prince of Condé and to
marry Marie-Therese, the daughter of the king of Spain.

Two years later Cardinal Mazarin died. He had, like
Richelieu, cared for the greatness of the kingdom of
France and for the power of the crown, but unlike Riche-
lieu, Mazarin shaped the character of the king who held
all this power. Louis XIV grew up thinking that the
nation was made for his glory. Yet he turned out to be
a wonderfully able man. Mazarin said, “There is stuff in
him to make four kings, and an honest man into the
bargain.” When the cardinal died, and the ministers
asked to whom they should come, he answered, “To
myself,” for he was Mazarin’s understudy. And for all
the half-century after that of his reign, he was always
ready for them. His court was exceedingly splendid, and
very stiff. Everyone had his place there and never came
out of it; who must stand or who might sit, who might
be on stools and who must kneel, in the royal presence,
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was thought a matter of greatest importance. But Riche-
lieu and Mazarin had robbed the nobles of all useful
work, so all they cared for was war and ceremony of
court and getting money from their poor peasants to
support their expense.

Louis XIV had the two best generals then in Europe
in the viscount de Turenne and the prince of Condé, and
his nobles were very brave and spirited. His victories
were all to the credit of his generals. When the king went
out to war, he only went to the siege of some city where
he rode quite out of reach of danger. And yet his people
were all so proud of him that the very sight of him made
his soldiers fight all the better, and poets wrote verses
comparing him to Jupiter and Mars and every other
warlike hero they could think of.

He had married Marie-Therese, daughter of the king
of Spain; and when her father died, he pretended that he,
rather than her little brother Charles, ought to inherit all
the Low Countries. Sc Louis sent the duchess to per-
suade King Charles and his minister, with promises of
money and concessions, to desert the Dutch; and she
succeeded. The brave Dutch were left alone against all
the power of France. William, prince of Orange, com-
manded their armies; and though he was beaten again
and again, the little state never gave in. But, finally to
keep out the French, it was necessary to open the flood-
gates that protect Holland from the sea and let in so
much water that the enemy could not pass.

Then the emperor of Germany took up the cause of
the Dutch, but Louis sent Turenne against his troops and
conquered Alsace. Turenne went on into Germany and
there his army laid waste to the land. Crops in the fields
were burned, houses and villages burned and plundered,
the women and girls raped, and the men assaulted and
killed. Turenne was killed while standing under a tree
- near the village of Salzbach, by a cannon shot, which
nearly cut his body in two. He was buried among the

The dauphin, son of Louis XIV

Monsieur Philip I,
duke of Orleans,
brother of Louis XIV

kings at St. Denys, and Condé took the command of the
army, gaining many hard-fought battles until at last
peace was made, leaving Louis in possession of Alsace
and of the city of Strasburg.

Besides his great generals, the king had about him
many of the ablest men who ever lived in France, both
ministers of state and writers, and excellent bishops and
clergy. The dauphin was a very dull youth who cared for
nothing but playing at cards and hunting, and very little
could be taught him. He married a German princess,
who was duller still, and they had three sons, the dukes
of Burgundy, Anjou, and Berri. To them the king gave
as tutor Fénélon, archbishop of Cambrai, one of the best
and holiest men then living. The duke of Burgundy was
a fiery, selfish, passionate boy; but under Fénélon he
learned to rule himself, and his whole thought was how
to be a good and religious prince.

Louis lost his wife, Marie-Therese of Spain, and then
married a lady named Madame de Maintenon.

In 1688, Louis lost out in his English alliance. Charles
I1 and James II, having spent their youth in France and

Louis XIV and Mademoiselle de la Valliere

Direct ancestors of Louis XIV
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Louis XIV created the greatest of all royal palaces— Versailles and the
Trianons.

being Roman Catholics, had always looked up to him
and been led by him. But when the Revolution took place
and James was driven away to take refuge once more in
France, Louis’s greatest enemy, William of Orange,
became king of England. Louis gave James and his queen
a home at his palace at St. Germain’s and did all he could
for them.

Charles 11, king of Spain, died in 1700, leaving no
children. His sister and his two aunts had married em-
perors of Germany and kings of France. But as the Span-
iards did not choose to have their kingdom joined on to
another, it was always the custom for the princesses to
renounce all right to the crown for themselves and their
children. However, the whole Spanish line had come to
an end and there was really nobody else who had any
right to it. Now, Louis XIV had married the sister, so his
son was the nearest heir; but, on the other hand, the
emperor of Germany was descended from the brother of
the great Charles V, who had been emperor and king of
Spain both at once. The emperor wanted to make his
second son, the archduke Charles, king of Spain; and

The glass gallery of Versailles

Louis put forward his second grandson, Philip, duke of
Anjou.

The Spaniards would have preferred Charles, but
Louis was ready first. He made the dauphin and the duke
of Burgundy give up their rights in favor to Philip,
saluted him as king of Spain, and sent him off with an
army to Madrid, saying, ‘“There are no more Pyrenees”;
by which he meant that France and Spain were now to
be like one country. Now this was just what the rest of
the world did not wish. France was a great deal too
powerful already, so England and all the other states of
Europe joined to assist the archduke Charles in winning
Spain.

Thus began what was called the War of the Spanish
Succession. The archduke Charles went to Spain and the
English helped him there. The French army invaded
Germany, but they were met there by the English and
Austrian armies under the duke of Marlborough and
Prince Eugene of Savoy and were badly defeated at Blen-
heim.

Prince Eugene’s father had always lived in France,
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The batile gallery of Versailles

and his mother was a niece of Cardinal Mazarin, but he
and some other young men had grown tired of the dull
court life and had run away to fight in the Austrian army
against the Turks. He was very angry and never forgave
Prince Eugene, who took service under the emperor of
Germany and was then the second-best general in Eu-
rope. All the great generals of Louis’s youth were dead,
and though Marshals Villars and Boufflers were able
men, they were not equal to Marlborough and were
beaten again and again in the Low Countries. The only
victory the French did gain was in Spain, at Almanza,
where, strangely enough, the English were commanded
by a French Huguenot and the French by Marlborough’s
nephew, the duke of Berwick, who had left home with
James II.

But troubles came fast for Louis XIV. He lost his only
son, the dauphin, and all his great men who had made
his reign so splendid were dying around him of old age,
and nobody was rising up equal to them. His subjects,
too, were worn out, all their strongest young men had
been carried off to be soldiers, and there were not enough
left to till the ground properly. Beside, the money that
the king wanted for his wars and buildings was far more
than they could pay. It was the tradesmen, farmers, and
lawyers who had to pay it all, for in France no priest and
no noble ever paid taxes. Moreover, all the family of a

noble was considered as noble forever, instead of, as it is
in England, only the head of the house. So all the
younger sons and their children paid no taxes and would
not enter a profession, but only became clergy or sol-
diers.

OId as Louis was, his steadiness was admired even by
his enemies when he continued dauntlessly to resist, even
when there seemed little to hinder Marlborough and
Eugene from marching upon Paris. However, this humil-
iation was spared the proud old king by the change in
Queen Anne’s councils, which deprived Marlborough of
power and led to a peace at last with France, The arch-
duke Charles became emperor after the death of his
father and brother; and therefore Philip of Anjou was
allowed to remain king of Spain.

The king kept up all his old state, but his strength and
spirit were gone; and Madame de Maintenon used to say
no one could guess what a dreadful thing it was to have
to amuse an unamusable king. The brightest person at
court was the young dauphiness, Adelaide of Savoy, wife
of the duke of Burgundy, who was now dauphin. She
used to play merrily with the king, and coax him into
cheerfulness as no one else could. The dauphin was a
grave, thoughtful man, very pious and religious, always
thinking anxiously of the trouble that the kingdom
would be in the state in which his grandfather would

The Grand Trianon on the Versailles grounds was more livable for the
royal family.
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In the Grand Trianon—the bedroom of Napoleon I

leave it. But he never had to bear that load, for a dreadful
form of malignant measles spread through the court and
the dauphiness caught it and died, then the eldest of her
two little sons, and lastly, the good dauphin himself. No
one was left of the whole family except the old king and
one great-grandson, Louis; the dauphin’s second son, a
baby; and the king’s nephew, Philip, duke of Orleans, the
son of his brother.

It was a sad prospect for France when, a year later,
Louis XIV died, after a reign of over seventy years,
during which he had been one of the greatest monarchs
in Europe. But, too, it was a sad reign for the little boy
who had become king of France.

Regent Philip II of Orleans

LOUIS XV (1715-74)

The regent was Philip, duke of Orleans, a thoroughly
dissipated man, not unlike Charles II of England. He
died just as the young king, Louis XV, was growing up.
Louis’s queen was a Polish princess named Marie Lec-
zinska. She was a gentle, kindly person, though not very
intelligent. At first the king was very fond of her. But
their moments of bliss soon ended when the king became
a glutton and drunkard. He spent most of his spare time
in immoral pursuits. The people did not know and had
such a love and loyalty for the very name of king that he
ended up being called Louis, the Well-Beloved.

There was a great war going on at this time between
Marie Theresa, the queen of Hungary and archduchess
of Austria, and Frederick II, king of Prussia. The Eng-
lish were allied with the Austrians and the French with
the Prussians, and at the battle of Dettingen, George 11
had been defeated by marshal de Noailles. Again, at
Fontenoy, the English were defeated, and Louis XV was
with the army.

There was a peace for a little while, but what came to
be called the Seven Years’ War soon broke out again.
This time the English were with the Prussians and the
French with the Austrians. There was a great battle at
Minden, which the French lost, and soon after there was
a more lasting peace in Europe.

The bedroom of Marie-Antoinette in the Little Trianon
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Europe after the treaties of Utrecht and Rastatt

Louis XV as duke of Anjou,
1715-74—the great-grandson
of Louis XIV

The older Louis XV

Louis XV had only one son, the dauphin, who, al-
though he had grown up in the midst of the king’s cor-
rupt court, was himself upright and pious. He lived a
peaceful, quiet life with his wife, a Polish princess. The
upright dauphin died when only thirty-six years old,
leaving five children, the eldest eleven years old, and his
wife followed him fifteen months later, begging her four
sisters-in-law to watch over her children. The king grew
worse than ever and used to amuse himself by going in
disguise to the dives of Paris. Yet at the same time he
went to church services every morning.

Everyone saw that a great storm was coming for the
king and that there must be a terrible downfall of the
royal power that Richelieu, Mazarin, and Louis XIV had
built up, and which Louis XV used so shamefully. But
when the king was told that there was great danger
approaching, he only said the kingdom would last his
time. His grandson, the young dauphin, had grown up
and married the beautiful, bright young daughter of Ma-
rie Theresa—Maria-Antoinette. The evening she arrived
at Paris, there were grand “illuminations” and fireworks,
and in the midst of it a rumor spread that seized the
people that there was a fire. A large crowd rushed to the
gates of the Champs Elysées, and a number of them were
trampled to death. Although the young bride had noth-
ing to do with it the tragedy, this made the people feel
that she was a bad omen.

Louis XV died at the age of sixty-four, in the year
1774, after a disgraceful reign of sixty years, in which he
performed little or nothing for the people and had con-
stantly fallen deeper into the mire of physical excesses.

LOUIS XVI (1774-92)

The young king, Louis X VI, threw himself on his knees
when he heard that his grandfather had died and cried
ut, *‘Oh God! help me; I am too young to reign.”

It was as if he knew what dreadful times were coming,
brought on by the selfishness and wickedness of those
who had gone before him. Nobody could have been more
anxious to set things right than Louis XVI. But the evils
that had been working up for hundreds of years could
not be set straight easily, and it was hard to know where
or how to begin. And although the king tried, he was not
clever enough to solve France's problems.

The great palace that Louis XIV had adorned at Ver-
sailles was so grand that nobody could live in it in com-
fort, not even a king. He had made a smaller one next
to it at Trianon, but even this one was too stately for the
queen’s tastes. So she had another smaller house, with a
farm and dairy. The people believed that something very
wrong was going on out there. And they hated her be-
cause she was an Austrian and her country had been at
war with theirs.

It was then that the Americans began their war with
George III and England—the American Revolution. A
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Louis XVI, 1793-95

Marie-Therese, daughter of Louis
XVI and Marie-Antoinette

young French nobleman, the marquis de Lafayette, ran
away from home to fight in their army. Afterward, Louis
XVI sent troops to help them. The sight of the freedom
the United States had gained made Lafayette and his
friends feel far more bitter about the state of things at
home where the poor were ground down to wretchedness
by all the old rights of their lords. But until the laws were
changed, neither king and nobles, nor clergy, however
much they might wish it, could help them. No one felt
this more than the king himself. At last, in 1789, he
called together his States General—that is, all his peers,
and deputies from the towns and provinces—to see what
could be done. It was not like the English Parliament,
where the peers form one chamber and the commons
another; but they were all mixed up together, and there
were a great many more deputies than peers, so that they
had it all their own way. The people could not bear to
wait any longer. It was no wonder, for they were very
poor and miserable, and were suffering from starvation.
Whenever they saw anyone whom they fancied was
against the changes, they used to attack him, crying out,
“To the lamp!” and hang him up on the street lamps.

They rushed to the great old prison, the Bastille,
where the former kings had kept their state prisoners,
and tore it down. But they found few there, for Louis
XVI had released all of his grandfather’s prisoners. Most
of the men at that time were enrolled in what was called
the National Guard, and all wore cockades, and scarfs
of red, blue, and white. Lafayette was made general of
this guard.

The States General called itself the National Assem-
bly, and went on changing the laws. It was at first settled
that no law could be passed without the king’s consent,
but the notion that he could stop any plan added to the
people’s hatred. At last, when there was a serious scar-
city of food in Paris, the mob all rushed out to Versailles.
They came and filled the courts of the palace, shouting
and yelling for the queen to show herself. She came out
on the balcony, with her daughter of twelve and her son
of six. “No children!” they cried, and she sent them back

and stood, fully believing that they would shoot her, and
hoping that her death might content them. But no hand
was raised. In the night they were seized with another fit
of anger for lynching, and broke into the queen’s room
from which she’d escaped while a brave lady and two of
her guards were barring the outer door.

The next day the whole family moved back into the
Tuileries palace in Paris.

The National Assembly went on to take away all the
rights of the nobles and the property of the church, and
to decree that the clergy must swear to obey them instead
of the church. Those who refused were turned out of
their parishes. The National Guard watched the palace
and made the life of the royal family so miserable that
they tried to escape in disguise. Fearing that they would
come back with armies to put down the Revolution, the
National Guard seized and stopped them, and they were
more closely watched than ever. June 20, 1792, the mob
rushed into the palace, threatened all the royal family,
and spent three hours rioting and casting personal insults
on them. All went well for a few weeks after that, but on
the tenth of August another attack was made. The queen
longed to let the Swiss guards and the loyal gentlemen
fight for her husband, but Louis could not bear to have
a drop of blood shed in his defense and hoped to save
lives by going to the National Assembly with his wife,
children, and sister. But no sooner were they gone than
eleven of the gallant men of his guard and household
were savagely massacred and their heads were carried
about the street of Paris on the tops of poles. It was fear
that made the Parisians so ferocious, for the German
princes and the French nobles had collected an army to
rescue the king, and the mob thought, to destroy them.
In bitter hatred the assembly voted that Louis XVI was
no longer king of France and the nation was free. So his
reign ended on August 10, 1792.

THE GREAT FRENCH
REVOLUTION (1792-96)

The government, after the king was deposed, was placed
in the hands of the National Assembly—or Convention,
as it called itself—of deputies chosen by the people.
The short account of it all is that, for years and years
before, the kings, the nobles, and some of the clergy too,
had cared for little but themselves, and had done hardly
anything to help their people. So now these people were
rebelling. The king, queen, his children, and sister
(Madame Elizabeth) were shut up in a castle called the
Temple, so named because it had once belonged to the
Knights Templars, and there they were very roughly
treated. Great numbers of the nobles and clergy were
shut up in other prisons; and when news came that an
army of Germans and emigrant nobles was marching to
rescue the king, a set of assassins was sent to murder
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them all, cutting them down like sheep for the slaughter,
men, women, and children. But, the family in the Tem-
ple was spared for the time being. The emigrant army
was beaten at Jemappes and the brave nobles and pea-
sants who had risen in the district of La Vendee, in hopes
of saving them, could not get by the regular French
army, all of whom had joined in the Revolution. Three
men had the leadership who thought that the only way
to make a fresh beginning for France was to kill everyone
who had inherited any of the rights that had been so
oppressive. Their names were Marat, Danton, and Robes-
pierre, and they had a power over the Convention and
the mob that no one dared resist. This period was called
the Reign of Terror.

At that time, a doctor named Guillotin had invented
a machine for cutting off heads quickly and painlessly.
The device to this day has carried his name—the guillo-
tine. This horrible instrument was set up in Paris to do
this work of cutting off the old race. The king—whom
they called Louis Capet, after Hugh, the first king of his
line—was tried before the National Assembly and sen-
tenced to die. He forgave his murderers and charged the
Irish clergyman, named Edgeworth, who was allowed to
attend him in his last moments, to take care that, if his
family were ever restored, there should be no attempt to
revenge his death. The last words of the priest to him
were, “‘Son of Saint Louis, ascend to the skies.”

The queen and her children remained in the Temple
until the poor little prince—a gentle, but spirited boy of
eight—was taken from them, and shut up in the lower
rooms. His prison guard named Simon was told that the
boy was not to be killed or guillotined but to be “got rid
of”’ by any method he should choose. Not long after,
Marie-Antoinette was taken to a dismal chamber in the
Conciergerie prison until she too was brought to trial,
sentenced to die, and guillotined eight months after her
husband. Madame Elizabeth was likewise put to death,
and only the two children remained, shut up in separate
rooms. But the girl was better off than her brother in that
she was alone with her little dog, and had not been
subjected to torture.

Meanwhile the guillotine was in use every day. Cart-
loads were carried from the prisons—nobles, priests, la-
dies, young girls, lawyers, servants, shopkeepers—
everybody whom the savage men who were called the
Committee of Public Safety chose to condemn to death.
There were guillotines in most towns, but at Nantes the
victims were drowned and at Lyons they were placed in
a square and shot down with grapeshot.

Moreover, all churches were taken away from the
faithful. A woman who was called the Goddess of Rea-
son was taken to the great cathedral of Notre Dame,
where she was enthroned. Sundays were abolished as a
holy day and every tenth day was kept instead. Chris-
tianity was called folly and superstition.

Marat was stabbed to the heart by a girl named Char-

lotte Corday, who hoped the assassination would end
these horrors. But the other two continued their work of
blood, until Robespierre grew jealous of Danton, and
had him guillotined. But at last the more humane of the
National Convention plucked up courage to rise against
him, and he and his associates were carried to prison. He
tried to commit suicide with a pistol but only shattered
his jaw. In this condition he was guillotined, and then the
Reign of Terror which had lasted about two years was
brought to an end.

There was much rejoicing at Robespierre’s fall. The
prisons were opened, and people began to live freely once
more. The National Convention governed more mildly
and reasonably. But they had a great deal on their hands,
for France had gone to war with all the countries around
it. The soldiers were so delighted with their new-found
freedom that it seemed as if no army could defeat them.
The invaders were driven back everywhere. And thus
was brought to light the wonderful powers of a young
Corsican officer, Napoleon Bonaparte. When there was
an attempt of the mob to rise again, Colonel Bonaparte
came with his grapeshot and showed that there was a
government again that must be obeyed, so that good
order was restored.

Some pity had at last been felt for the poor children
in the Temple. It came too late to save the life of the boy,
Louis XVII, as he was known. For the whole ninth year
of his life he had been imprisoned alone in a filthy room,
so that he was one mass of infection. He lingered on until
June 8, 1795, when he died. In the end of the same year
his sister was released and went to Russia to join her
uncle, who had fled at the beginning of the Revolution.
He was then known by the loyal among the French as
Louis XVIII

In the meantime, the French army had beaten the
Germans on the northeast border and had decided to
attack the Germans in the north of Italy. Bonaparte
made a passage of the Alps, which is considered an

Louis XVII when he was the grand dauphin

Louis XVII in the temple
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engineering miracle, and he gained amazing victories.
His plan was to get all the strength of his army into one
point and, with that, to fall upon the center of the enemy.
Since the old German generals did not understand this
way of fighting, Napoleon defeated them everywhere and
won all of Lombardy, which he set up as a republic,
under the protection of the French.

NAPOLEON I (NAPOLEON
BONAPARTE) (1799-1814)

When Bonaparte had come back from Italy, he per-
suaded the governing Directory to send him with an
army to Egypt to try to gain the East and drive the
English out of India. He landed in Egypt and near Cairo
won the Battle of the Pyramids, and tried to promote
himself among the people of Egypt by showing great
admiration for Mohammed and the Koran. But his
ships, which he had left on the coast, were attacked by
the English fleet under Sir Horatio Nelson, and every
one of them taken or sunk except two, which carried the
tidings home. This was called the Battle of the Nile.
The sultan of Turkey, to whom Egypt belonged, fitted
out an army against the French, and Bonaparte marched
to meet it halfway in the Holy Land. There he took Jaffa,
massacred the Turkish garrison, and beat the sultan’s
army at Tabor. But Acre was so well defended under a
brave English sailor, Sir Sidney Smith, that he was
obliged to turn back without taking it. He led his troops
back, suffering badly from hunger and sickness, to
Egypt, but there defeated another Turkish army in the
Battle of Aboukir. However, he heard news from home
that showed him that he was needed: The pope was a
prisoner in France, and the king of Naples had fled to
Sicily. The Russians had come to the help of the other
nations, and the French had nearly been driven out of
Lombardy. Besides, the Directory was not able to keep

Napoleon at an early age when he was in attendance at the military
school in Brienne

A schoolmate at Brienne sketched A portrait of Madame Laetitia
this portrait of Napoleon. Buonaparte, Napoleon's mother

Napoleon was arrested on
August 10, 1794. Ten days
later, “for they [the
government] saw nothing to
Justify any suspicion of his
conduct [in the ltaly campaign]
and, that, taking into
consideration the advantage
that might accrue to the
Republic from the military
talents of the said General
Bonaparte, it was resolved that
he should be set at liberty."”
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Napoleon crossing the Alps in the  Napoleon's bride, Josephine. The

third Italian campaign, 1796 wedding took place on March 9,
1796, and Josephine cut ten years
off her age in the certificate.

The first meeting between Napoleon and Josephine

Napoleon on the bridge at Arcola, 1796

An engraving of the time showing Napoleon Bonaparte as general in
chief of the army of Italy

An allegorical engraving in 1797 showing the humiliation of Austria and
the exaltation of Napoleon.
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Napoleon before the Sphinx. He defeated the Mamelukes at the plains
below the Pyramids and entered Cairo on July 24, 1798.

the unruly people in order; Napoleon felt himself so
much wanted, that, finding there were two ships in the
port, he embarked in one of them and came home, leav-
ing his Egyptian army to return later.

He was received at home like a conqueror; and the
people of France were so proud of him that he soon
persuaded them to change the Directory for a govern-
ment of three consuls, of whom he was foremost. He
lived in the Tuileries and began to set up something very
much like the old royal court. And his wife, Josephine,
was a beautiful, graceful, kind lady, whom everybody
loved and who helped very much in gaining people over
to his cause. Indeed, he gave the French peace at home
and victories abroad and that was what they desired. He

Napoleon Bonaparte, left,
and the pasha of Cairo

A lithograph of Napoleon
in Egypt in 1798

won back all that had been lost in Italy also, and at the
Battle of Marengo, on June 14, 1800, when the Austrians
were totally routed, he had a great victory. Austria made
peace and nobody was at war with France but England.
But not all was victory for Napoleon Bonaparte—the
last remnant of the French army in Egypt was beaten at
Alexandria and obliged to let English ships transport
them back home to France. After this there was a peace
called the Peace of Amiens, but it did not last long. As
soon as Bonaparte had decided on war, he pounced with-
out notice on every English traveler in his dominions,
and kept them prisoners till the end of the war.
Napoleon Bonaparte had made up his mind to be
emperor of the French, but before declaring this, he

On April 25, 1804, the French
ruling Tribunate announced that
the head of state of France should
be entitled emperor. Upon hear-
ing of this, King George I1I of
England took a new look at this
upstart Napoleon, which is de-
picted in this caricature by Gill-

Napoleon as he appeared 1o artist
Greuze when Napoleon was the
first consul of France
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The day of the coronation for Napoleon and Josephine was set for
December 2, 1804. The royal coach is seen here arriving for the corona-
tion at Notre-Dame.

wanted to alarm the old royalists. So he sent a party to
seize the duke d’Enghien (heir of the princes of Condé)
who was living at Baden, and took him to Vincennes
where at midnight, he was tried by a sham court-martial
and at six in the morning brought down to the courtyard
and shot beside his own grave.

After this, everyone was afraid to utter a word against
Bonaparte becoming emperor and on December 2, 1804,
he was crowned in Notre Dame in great splendor. The
pope was present, but Bonaparte placed the crown on his
own head—a golden wreath of laurel leaves and he gave
his soldiers eagle standards, in memory of the old Ro-
man Empire. He drew up an excellent code of laws which
have been used ever since in France, and are known by
his name. His wonderful talents did much to bring the
shattered nation into order. Still, England would not
acknowledge his takeover. He had an army ready to
invade England, but the English fleet never allowed him
to cross the Channel. And when he chose to challenge
them, his fleet was entirely destroyed by Lord Nelson at
the great Battle of Trafalgar on October 21, 1805.

At the same time Napoleon was winning another
splendid victory at Ulm over the Austrians, and not long
after he beat the Prussians at Jena and had all Germany
at his feet. He was exceedingly savage with the Prussians
and was insolent in his manners to the gentlewoman,
Queen Louisa, when she came with her husband to try
to make better terms for their country. The Russians
advanced to the aid of Germany, but also, the battles of
Eylau and Friedland made them anxious for peace. In-
deed, there was never a much abler military man than
Napoleon but he had very little honor or honesty. He
made his family kings of conquered countries. His
brother Louis was king of Holland; Jerome, of West-
phalia; and the eldest brother, Joseph, king of Naples.
And in 1808 he contrived to cheat the king of Spain of
his crown and keep him and his son prisoner in France

The caronation. After Napoleon placed the crown of the emperor on his
head, he then placed the crown of the empress on Josephine's head.

while Joseph was sent to reign in Spain. Also at one
point, General Murat, the husband of his sister Caroline,
was made king of Naples. The Portuguese royal family
was obliged to flee to Brazil. But the Spaniards and
Portuguese would not submit to the French yoke and
called on the English to help them.

Year after year the duke of Wellington was beating
Napoleon’s generals and wearing away his strength. But
Napoleon still went on with his German wars and, in
1809, after two terrible battles at Aspern and Wagram,
entered Vienna itself. Again there was a peace.

Napoleon, wanting to have a male child to leave his
empire to, had decided on setting aside his loving Jose-
phine and made the emperor Francis of Austria an offer
of marriage for the hand of his young daughter, Marie
Louise. In 1810, the deed was done.

The marriage was as little liked in France as in
Austria, where the people felt that their hero had aban-
doned them in “giving up on” Josephine. She still had
her little court, and was treated and addressed as Em-
press, however.

The next year, 1811, Napoleon’s desire was fulfilled.
His new wife presented him with a little son to perpetu-
ate his imperial line, and the baby was promptly crowned
king of Rome.

The imperial arms of Napoleon
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The French fleet was destroyed at the Battle of Trafalgar on October 21,
1805. Had Napoleon listened to the American, Robert Fulton, seen here

trying to sell Napoleon on a steam-powered navy, he might never have
had a Trafalgar.

£y
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Napoleon in his coronation attire with implements

Queen Josephine as she appeared at the coronation

After the Battle of Austerlitz, the victor, Napoleon, met with the Austrian
emperor, Francis 11, the loser, and brought about severe conditions to be
put into a treaty. A treaty was concluded at Presburg, on the twenty-
seventh day of December 1805, by virtue of which Bonaparte was recog-
nized as king of Italy; the Republic of Venice was detached from Austria,
and united to his Italian Kingdom, the electors of Wurtemberg and
Bavaria, as allies of France and traitors 1o the national cause, were to
be created kings; the duke of Baden, in reward for his having taken in
good part the kidnaping and murder of the duke d'Enghien, was to be
elevated 10 be a grand-duke; and these three states were to be enlarged
at the expense of Austria. Istria and Dalmatia were ceded. Austria
agreed to pay a war indemnity of 140 million francs. Gallant and loyal
Tyrol was severed from the crown of Austria, and handed over to Ba-
varia; and Napoleon was constituted “protector” of a confederation of
the Rhine, comprising all the western states of Germany. {
There were other secret arrangements, which were speedily carried |
into effect. Eugene Beauharnais, viceroy of Italy, Josephine's son, was ﬂ
given the hand of Augusta Amelie, daughter of the king of Bavaria; and
Stephanie Beauharnais, Eugene’s cousin, was united to the son and heir }
of the grand-duke of Baden. Jerome Bonaparte was to take as wife a
daughter of the elector of Wurtemberg. Such were the first royal alli-
ances negotiated, the prelude to others, in which the blood of a Corsican
attorney’s children was to be mixed with that of the most ancient and
princely families in Europe.

.
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Napoleon’s brother Louis becomes
the king of Holland.

His brother Jerome is given the
throne of Westphalia.

The third brother, Joseph, turned
down the offer of king of Italy
and became the king of Naples.
Later Joseph was named the king
of Spain by Napolean.

The fourth brother, Lucien, was
married to an American woman
by the name of Elizabeth “Bet-
sey” Patterson, of whom Napo-
leon decreed: “She shall not set

Lucien Bonaparte married the American beauty, Betsey Patterson, at
Baltimore, Maryland, on Christmas Eve, 1803. The Maryland Legisla-
ture granted her a divorce in 1815. She lived on as Madame Patterson-
Bonaparte until her death in 1879. They had one child, Jerome, who was
born in England.

Napoleon meets at Tilsit with Czar Alexander I and his queen, Louise,
in 1807.

Jfoot on the territory of France.”
There was no throne for Lucien.

The folly of the successful gambler possessed him. His
superstitious belief in his ‘“‘unconquerable star” in-
creased. He attempted the impossible—and brought
about his own destruction. He resolved to crush Eng-
land, despite her military impenetrable shelter in the
seas.

Extending his insatiate hands in an ever wider grasp,
Napoleon declared war against Russia, and in 1812 in-
vaded the domain of the czar with an army of half a
million men, gathered from all western Europe. Her cap-
ital was conquered, but the Russians themselves burned
it and left the French to starve and freeze amid the ruins.
The terrible Russian winter set in unusually early, and
the invaders perished by tens of thousands. They re-
treated in despair. The French marshal Ney, “the brav-
est of the brave,” held a remnant of the rear guard
together; but in that nightmare flight across the Russian
steppes, the mighty army was practically annihilated,
and the heroic strength of France was broken. Napoleon
fled to Paris.

The Prussians rose in eager revolt behind him; the
Russians and then the Austrians joined them; but Napo-
leon wrung yet another army from exhausted France—
an army of boys and old men. Despite his transcendent
genius, the hitherto invincible conqueror was defeated at
Leipzig in the Battle of the Nations, and once more was
forced to flee back into France.

Even then he refused the easy terms of peace offered
him by the allies, and persisted in struggling against
them. So they captured Paris in 1814, and the French
Senate, which Napoleon himself had created merely to
register his laws, sent notice to him that it had deposed
him from his rank as emperor. No other plan seemed
possible to save France; and Napoleon, waiting with the
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Czar Alexander was asked by
Napoleon for the hand of his
daughter Catherine, but the

Russian monarch delayed his
answer until Napoleon took a
second choice, Princess Marie

‘ﬂ Louise of Austria.

On March 17, 1811, Marie The king of Rome at an early age
Louise bore Napoleon a son, and

he was named Napoleon Francis

Charles Joseph, the king of

Rome.

The baptism of the king of Rome

A medal struck for the imperial family, Francis I, emperor of Austria;
his daughter, Marie Louise, the queen of France; and Napoleon, the
emperor of France.

Napoleon breaks the news of the impending divorce to Josephine. She The French empress Marie Louise in her royal robes. Napoleon told
faints upon hearing the news from Napoleon that he wants a wife who Josephine, “Marie Louise is not beautiful but she is the daughter of the
can bear him an heir 1o the throne. Caesars.”
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Napoleon at  Fontainebleau, Napoleon under guard at his
March 31, 1814, contemplating place of forced exile. He retains
his future the title of emperor, is 1o receive

2 million francs a year, and is to
have a personal guard of 400 men
but is never to leave the island of
Elba, and his son cannot remain
emperor of France, Napoleon II.

remnants of his troops at Fontainebleau, accepted the
decree, surrendered himself to the allies, and was given
exile to the little island of Elba, lying in the Mediter-
ranean just off the southern coast of France.

Louis XVIII was summoned by the allies to the throne
that, for nineteen years, ever since the death of his little
nephew, Louis XVII, he had held in name alone. The
various European kings planned to restore France to the
position that was hers in Louis XVI’s time; but before
they could get the ancient system into running order,
Napoleon escaped his exile and burst upon them like a
sudden thunderbolt. He landed, unexpected, in southern
France, and summoned the people to rally once more

The famous painting by Meissonier of Napoleon at Waterioo

around him and drive out their foreign dictators. His
magnetic power in speech-making had not deserted him;
his former soldiers rushed tumultuously to his standard;
and, with an army that grew at every step in obedience
to the tune on the flute of the Pied Piper, he advanced
upon Paris.

King Louis wrung his hands in bewilderment. He had
kept in office some of Napoleon’s able generals, and now
Ney, the most celebrated of them all, was ordered to lead
the king’s army against his former emperor. Ney obeyed,
saying he would “bring the Corsican back in an iron
cage.” But when he saw his comrades marshaled around
Napoleon, when the great leader himself summoned his
lieutenant to rejoin him, old memories were too strong;
and Ney, most eager of all, united his deliriously cheer-
ing troops with those of Napoleon, who entered Paris
and regained his empire without a blow. Louis XVIII
fled once more to Germany.

The brief period of Napoleon’s restoration to power is
called the Hundred Days. It lasted from March to June
1815. The states of Europe declared instant war against
him. The armies of Prussia and England took the field
at once; and Napoleon determined to crush them before
their Austrian and Russian allies could join them. Hence
came the celebrated campaign of Waterloo.

The English under Wellington and the Prussians un-
der Blucher lay along the northeastern frontier of
France, where Belgium is now located. Napoleon suc-
ceeded in driving his army between them and attacked
each separately. The English were held in check by Ney
at Quatre Bras, while the Prussians were defeated by
Napoleon at Ligny. They were not completely destroyed;
but, leaving a small force to hold them in check, Napo-
leon hurled all his strength against the English at Water-
loo. If he could drive them back into the sea, the

R N
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Polish Countess Marie
Walewska. A visitor 1o
Napoleon at St. Helena, where
he died, was his favorite of
mistresses, Marie Walewska,
who mothered a son for him.
The offspring of this lifetime
affair was Alexander, who was
recognized afficially by the next
monarch, Louis XVIII.

On May 6, 1821, in the midst of the worst storm ever experienced on St.
Helena, Napoleon died. He had been sent to St. Helena after a 100-day
escape from Elba.

On December 15, 1840, Napolean’s body was interred in Paris. This is
an illustration at the time of the funeral cortege.

The death mask of Napoleon

The funeral service inside the Church of the Invalides where Napoleon's
body was put ta permanent rest

remaining Prussians would be an easy prey.

The struggle was heroic, a death-grapple of giants;
seventy thousand Frenchmen against an equal number of
English. All day long they fought. Napoleon, by repeated
attacks on the English wings, compelled Wellington to
send reinforcements there and thus weaken the center of
his line. Then the emperor concentrated his best troops
for an attack on the depleted center. Just as the charge
was ready to begin, Prussian troops appeared on the
field, having by a wonderful march evaded the French
division sent to hold them in check. The troops aimed
against Wellington’s center had to be turned against the
new arrivals.

The flower of the French cavalry charged the English
center; but a ditch lay invisible between them, and into
this most of the foremost files of the galloping cavalry
fell, until their numbers made a bridge of living bodies
over which their surviving comrades rode. The weak-
ened force could not break the solid squares of English
infantry. More Prussians reached the field. There was
one last, hopeless charge of the French “Old Guard,”
Napoleon’s finest regiments. But the veteran column met
devastating English artillery fire. Wellington declared
victory and the whole English line advanced with the
Prussians. The remnants of the French were swept from
the field in disorderly flight amid cries of *“Treason!” and
“Sauve qui peut!” (Save himself who can!)

Both Napoleon and Ney sought death upon this field
that saw the final ruin of their hopes. But both were
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Napoleon’s son, Francis Charles
Joseph, reigned as Napoleon 11
Jor a few days in 1815 but then
became the duke of Reichstadt
in Austria. He died of
tuberculosis at the age of
twenty-one in Vienna, July 22,
1832.

reserved for sadder fates. Ney had five horses shot from
under him, yet escaped without a wound. Napoleon
strove to force his way through the crowd of fugitives
and advance against the British lines, but his officers
surrounded him and forced him away from the field of
battle toward Paris. Seeking escape, he went at last to
Rochefort and, finding it impossible to get to America,
gave himself up to the captain of an English ship, the
Bellerophon. He was taken to Plymouth harbor and re-
mained on board until his fate was decided by the allied
sovereigns. They were determined to send him where he
should not again escape to disturb all Europe. He was
therefore placed on the little lonely island of St. Helena,
out in the Atlantic Ocean, under the custody of an Eng-
lish governor who was to see him every day. He chafed
in his confinement and the governor (Sir Hudson Lowe)
reacted under warrant, with harsh and insulting treat-
ment. After six miserable years, Napoleon died, in 1821,
of cancer of the stomach, and was buried under the
willow trees of Longwood, in St. Helena.

His brothers and sisters had all been taken off their
thrones. Murat tried to recover Naples, but was “taken
out” and shot. But the others submitted quietly. Marie
Louise had a little Italian duchy given to her and her son
Napoleon (who had been pronounced emperor by his
father, but the allies had opposed it) was called the Duke
of Reichstadt, and brought up at the court of his grandfa-
ther, the emperor of Austria. He died in early youth. The
English army had remained for three years in France, to
assist Louis XVIII in case of any fresh outbreak. Mar-
shal Ney, the foremost of the generals who had gone over
to Napoleon, was tried by court-martial and shot. Al-
most everyone else was forgiven and Prince Talleyrand,
one of the cleverest and most cunning men who ever
lived, who had risen under Napoleon, worked on with
Louis XVIII.

LOUIS XVIII (1814-24)

The allies had entered Paris—Russians, Austrians, and
Prussians—and the duke of Wellington, after winning
the Battle of Toulouse at Waterloo, came up from the
south to meet them there.

Death mask of the duke
of Reichstadt

It was the saying in France that in their exile on the
Bourbons had learned nothing and forgotten nothing.
This was not quite true of Louis XVIII, who was clever
in an indolent way and resolved to please the people
enough to remain where he was until his death, and
really gave them a very good charter. His brother
Charles, count of Artois, was much more strongly and
openly devoted to the old ways that came before the
Revolution and, as Louis had no children, his accession
was not desired. His eldest son, the duke of Angouleme
had no children, and his second son, the duke of Berri,
who was married to a Neapolitan princess, was the most
amiable and hopeful person in the family. But on Febru-
ary 12, 1820, the duke of Berri was stabbed by one
Louvet, as he was leaving the opera, and died in a few
hours. His infant son, Henry, duke of Bordeaux, was the
only hope of the elder branch of the Bourbons for even-
tually wearing the crown.

France was worn out and weary of war, so little hap-
pened in this reign except that the duke of Angouleme
made an expedition to assist the king of Spain in putting
down an insurrection. The French nobility had returned
to all their titles but many of them had lost their property
in the Revolution.

Louis X VIII was in failing health but he kept up much
of the old state of the French court and was most careful
never to keep anyone waiting, for he used to say, ‘“Punc-

Louis XVIII, 1814-24, at the
time he assumed the throne

Countess of Provence,
the wife of Louis XVIII
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Charles X, 1824-30

tuality is the politeness of kings.” Even when very ill, he
would never give up any of the court duties, and when
urged to spare himself, said, ““A king of France ought to
die standing.” But for some years he was unable to walk,
being dreadfully tormented by gout, and he was obliged
to let his brother manage his affairs. He was shrewd
enough to dread the desire of Charles, the count of Ar-
tois, to return to the old times of the overgrown royal
power. When he found himself dying, he put his hand on
the head of his little four-year-old grandnephew, Henry,
and said, “Let Charles X take care of the crown for this
child.” And then he died in September 1824.

CHARLES X (1824-30)

When Charles X had been the young count of Artois,
before the Revolution, he had been a playfellow of
Marie-Antoinette in those bright, giddy days. After his
exile and wanderings, in his old age, he had become very
religious; for he was guided entirely by the pope and a
few clergy who wanted to bring conditions back to what
they were before the Revolution.

The first effort of his rule was made on behalf of the
Greeks, who had long been trying to break away from
the rule of the Turks. At last the Prussian, English, and
French fleets joined and defeated the Turks and Egyp-
tians at the battle of Navarino, after which, Greece was

The coronation of Charles X at Reims

The Tuileries, the royal residence in Paris of all of the nineteenth-
century monarchs. (It was set afire by the Communists in 1871 and
nearly destroyed.)

able to become a kingdom, under Christian rule.

On July 26, 1830, the king put out an edict ending the
liberty of the press—that is, forbidding anything to ap-
pear in any newspapers without being approved by the
government. Other distasteful edicts were also made.
Everyone begged the king to change his mind and with-
draw the edicts, but he thought it was yielding that had
ruined his oldest brother, Louis XVI, and nothing would
persuade him to give way. There had been fighting
throughout Paris, and his troops had been broken and
driven out by the National Guard. Then he did consent;
but the people would not be satisfied without dethroning
him, and he was obliged to leave France again, taking
with him his son and daughter-in-law (the last dauphin
and dauphiness) and his grandson, the little Henry. They
lived first in Scotland, and afterward in Italy and in
Germany. The old loyal French still viewed Charles and,
after his death, his grandson, Henry V, as the only true
kings of France.

Some of the French wanted to have another republic,
but most of them wished to try a limited monarchy, like
that of England, with a king at the head who had no
power to do anything without the consent of the subjects.
At that time, they resolved to put at the head of their new
constitution the duke of Orleans. He was of the Bourbon
royal blood, for he was descended from Louis XIV’s
brother, the duke of Orleans. He had given up his title
of duke of Orleans, and called himself Citizen Philip
Egalité (equality), but when, in the Reign of Terror,
everyone who had any high birth was put to death, he
was guillotined. His eldest son, Louis-Philippe, served in
the French army until his father, mother, and younger
brothers were thrown into prison, and he was forced to
flee to Switzerland, where he was obliged to earn his
living as a teacher. Afterward he went to England, where
his brothers joined him, but they both fell ill and died,
one in England, and the other at Malta. Next he traveled
in America.

At the Restoration, he went back to France, with his
wife, Marie Amelie, the daughter of the king of Naples,
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and his sister Adelaide. They brought up their large
family at the Palais Royal. When Charles fled, the lead-
ers of the nation all agreed to offer the crown to the new
duke of Orleans, but it was not to be as an old hereditary
monarch. He was not to be king of France, but king of
the French. He was not to be Louis XIX, but Louis-
Philippe 1, and his eldest son was not to be dauphin, but
duke of Orleans. And his power was to be bound by peers
and deputies much as the power of the English king is
bound by the peers and commons.

This was the revolution of the Three Days of July,

LOUIS-PHILIPPE I (1830-48)

Louis-Philippe of Orleans was called the Citizen King.
He used the tricolored flag of the old Revolution instead
of the white one of the Bourbons to show that he reigned
not as a son of the old royal family but by the choice of
the people. There was a chamber of peers and a chamber
of deputies, and the constitution was a limited monar-
chy.

Most of the colonies the French had once made have
been lost in the wars since the time of Louis XIV, and
Louis-Philippe thought it would be good to form new
ones. A settlement was made in Algeria, but it caused a
long and fierce war with the Arab chiefs, which lasted
nearly throughout the reign. The Arabs were as brave as
the French themselves and had a most gallant chief,
named Abd-el-Kader. At last, however, after years of
fighting, he was forced to surrender and was taken to
France.

The French also tried to make settlements in the Pa-
cific Islands, especially New Caledonia and the island of
Tahiti. They were not at all welcome in Tahiti, for the
native queen, Pomare, had been taught to be a Christian
by the English and did not wish for French protection
or Roman Catholic teaching. However, the French were
the stronger and had taken over the control there.

Louis-Philippe did his utmost to keep the Parisians in
good spirits, knowing that he could only reign by their
favor, and as the miseries of the old wars were forgotten
the French only thought of the victories of the times of
Napoleon, praising him as the greatest of heroes. The

In this painting, Louis-Philippe
is shown making a public
announcement in which he
refused the Belgian crown on
behalf of his son, the duke of
Nemours (on his left). The
Belgian National Congress
elected the duke as king.

king gratified them by requesting the English to allow
him to bring home the corpse of the emperor Napoleon
and bury it in the Church of the Invalides, a great asylum
for old soldiers at Paris. It was brought to Paris in a huge
triumphal car, which was followed through the streets by
Louis-Philippe and his sons. A chapel was built, and
ornamented with splendid marbles, for the burials of the
Bonaparte family. Napoleon’s little son was dead, but his
brother Louis had left a son, who lived in exile in Eng-
land and Germany. As it happened, there was a horrible
conspiracy by some persons, of whom the chief was
named Fieschi, to kill the king as he rode in a ceremony.
The king was not hurt but fourteen people were killed.
The assassins were traced and Fieschi was put to death.

The republican dislike of having religion taught in
schools hindered the growth of the nation. There were
the Legitimists, who viewed first Charles X and then
his grandson, Henry V, the count of Chambord, as the
only true king, and would accept no rule under Louis-
Philippe.

The king had five sons, of whom the eldest, the duke
of Orleans, was much loved by the people. He married
the princess Helen of Mecklenburg Schwerin, and they
had two little sons before he was killed by leaping out of
his open carriage while the horses were running away.

At last, in February 1848, after the council and the
chambers of deputies had decided against measures de-
sired by the people, there was a rebellion of the people
throughout Paris. The troops and the National Guard
were called out, but when the moment came for action,
the National Guard would not fire but made common
cause with the people. The army would still have fought,
but Louis-Philippe would not allow them to shed blood
for him. He sent a message that he abdicated in favor of
his little grandson, the count of Paris, with his mother,
the duchess of Orleans, as regent. Then he left the Tuiler-
ies privately, under the name of William Smith, and
safely reached England.

The duchess of Orleans bravely came forward with her
two boys but there was no favor, only anger, and her
friends saw it was all in vain, and spirited her away as
fast as they could. All the family made their way by
different means, one by one, to England, where the queen
and her people received them kindly. Claremont Palace
was lent to them as a home, and there Louis-Philippe and
his good queen spent the remainder of their lives. He
died in the year 1850, and Marie Amelie a few years
later.

THE REPUBLIC (1848-52)

After Louis-Philippe and his family had fled from
France, there was a time of confusion. An assembly of
deputies met from all parts of France to arrange a new
government.
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In truth, the Red Republicans, who did not want to
see any one in power richer than themselves, were very
disappointed that, though noblemen and gentlemen had
no more rights than other people, they were still rich
men who kept their money and estates.

In the end of June 1848, there were three dreadful days
of street riots. It was a fight of the Red Republicans
against the Tricolored. Liberty, Fraternity, and Equality
were the watchwords of both, but the Red Republicans
were tougher than the Tricolored, for they thought that
liberty had no order at all. The good archbishop of Paris,
Monseigneur Affre, going out on one of these miserable
days to try to make peace, was shot through the back
from behind a barricade and died a few hours later.
However, General Cavaignac, one of the brave men who
had been trained to war by the fighting in Algeria, so
managed the soldiers and the National Guard that they
put down the Red Republicans and restored order.

The Italians rose and tried to shake them off with the
help of the king of Sardinia; and at the same time there
was a great rising against the pope, Pius IX, at Rome.
The popes had held Rome for more than a thousand
years, and there ruled the Western church. But there had
never been any very righteous princes among their Ro-
man subjects, and things had fallen into a sad state of
confusion. When Pius IX first was chosen, he had tried
to improve the situation, but his people moved too fast
for him and so alarmed him that he fled in the disguise
of a servant on a donkey. The Roman Catholics thought
the pope could not rule over the church freely unless he
had Rome as his own and lived there as a prince. A
French army was sent to restore him and Rome was
taken, giving the pope his throne again.

After much deliberating in the French assembly, it
was settled to have a republic, with a president, like the
Americans. Then Charles Louis Napoleon Bonaparte,
the son of Napoleon’s brother Louis, offered himself as
president and was elected, all the “quiet” people and all
the Bonapartists joining in the choice. Most of the army
were Bonapartists, for the sake of the old victories of
Napoleon. Louis Napoleon had great power in his hands.
Soon he persuaded the people to change his title from
president to that of first consul, as his uncle had once
been called.

The next time there was a disturbance at Paris, Louis
Napoleon met the mob. He surrounded them with sol-
diers, had cannon planted so as to command every street,
and fired upon the mob before it had time to do any
harm; then he captured the ringleaders and had them
executed. This certainly was official violence and cruelty,
but the Parisians were taught they must obey law and
order. This masterstroke is always called the coup d’etat,
or “stroke of policy,” for it settled affairs. And after that,
Louis Napoleon did as he chose, for no one dared resist
him.

THE SECOND EMPIRE (1852-71)

The entire French nation, in the beginning of the year
1852, was called upon to decide by vote whether or not
they would form an empire again, or continue to be a
republic. Every man, rich or poor, who was not a con-
vict, had a vote, and the larger number decided for the
empire and for Louis Napoleon Bonaparte as the em-
peror. He considered himself the successor of his uncle,
and therefore called himself Napoleon III, counting the
little child in whose favor the great Bonaparte had ab-
dicated at Fontainebleau as Napoleon I1. He married a
Spanish lady of high rank, Eugénie de Montijo, but not
of royal blood, whose mother was Scottish. One son was
born of this marriage, who was called the prince impe-
nial. The emperor ruled with a strong hand and put
things in order again.

The name the emperor wished to be called by was the
Napoleon of Peace, as his uncle had been the Napoleon
of War. But it was not always possible to keep the peace.
In the year 1853, just after he had been crowned, the
Russian emperor began to threaten to conquer Turkey
and thereupon the French joined with the English to
protect the sultan. The French and English armies, to-
gether, landed in Turkey and then made an expedition

Louis Napoleon takes the oath of office as president of France.

Napoleon I1I (Louis Napoleon),
1852-71
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Napoleon I1I in formal wear
posing with his royal robe and
crown

Empress Eugenie,
wife of Napoleon 111

Empress Eugenie and her ladies of honor

The royal reception of the Siamese ambassador at Fontainebleau by
Napoleon III
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Napoleon I11 at Solferino. In this battle France defeated Austria, 1859.

to the Crimea, where the Russians had built a strong
fortified city named Sebastopol, from which to attack the
Turks. Marshal Bugeaud was the French general and,
with Lord Raglan, commanded in the great battle fought
on the banks of the Alma, and then laid siege to Sebas-
topol, where again they fought a dreadful battle. Peace
was made, on condition that all the fortifications of
Sebastopol should be destroyed, and no fleet or army
would be kept there in the future.

After having been allies in this war, England and
France became much greater friends, and Queen Victo-
ria and the emperor made royal visits with one another.
The emperor had a love and affection for England, which
became a home to him in his later days of exile.

The Italians were more uneasy and miserable than
ever under the rule of the Austrians and begged Victor
Emmanuel, king of Sardinia, to help them, and become
an Italian king over them. Louis Napoleon gave them his
help and went in person to Lombardy, where the French
and Italians defeated the Austrians at Magenta and Sol-
ferino, after which there was again a peace; and Victor
Emmanuel was made king of Italy on condition that, in
return for the help he had received, he should give to
France the little province of Nice, which had always
been part of the dukedom of Savoy. But the Romans
hoped that they also should have been shaken of the
papal government, so a guard of French soldiers was
maintained in Rome.

Another undertaking of the French emperor was to
bring Mexico in line. Mexico had been settled by Span-
iards and belonged to Spain until it revolted. Some of the
well-off people in Mexico thought that they might do
better if they set up a monarchy, and the French prom-
ised to help them. The archduke Maximilian, brother of
the emperor of Austria, was chosen, and went out with
his young wife, Charlotte, daughter of the king of Hol-
land. They were guarded by a French army, but they
were soon brought home. And once they had left Mex-
ico, the Mexicans rose up, made their emperor prisoner,
and executed him.

The emperor of the French was trying to teach the
people to rule themselves to some degree, instead of
expecting him to keep order with his power from above.
He was anxious to be sure of his son reigning after him
and he put it to the vote of all of France whether the
empire should be hereditary. The vote was in his favor,
and he seemed quite secure. But at this time the Prus-
sians had been gaining great successes against Denmark
and Austria, and the French were very jealous of them
and expected a fight for some of the provinces along the
Rhine. Just then, too, the Spaniards had risen and driven
out Queen Isabella. They elected a cousin of the king of
Prussia to be their king. He never accepted the Spanish
crown, but the motion made the French furious, and
there was a great cry from the whole nation that the
pride of the Prussians must be put down. The emperor
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The Austrian archduke
Maximilian I of Mexico was
the victim of Napoleon I1I's
plan to establish a monarchy in
Mexico. He was declared
emperor of Mexico in 1863 and

was shot by the Republicans in
1867 The empress Charlotte,

wife of Maximilian

The last moments of Maximilian. Here he is shown trying to console his
friends.

The emperor refused a blindfold before the firing squad.

Napoleon 111 with the European sovereigns riding to the World’s Fair
in Paris, 1867

saw his popularity was failing him and that his only
chance to stay was to please the people by going to war.
The army went off in high spirits to meet the Prussians
on the Rhine—singing, shouting, drinking; and the em-
peror took his young son with him, trying to seem as
hopeful as they. This was in the summer of the year 1870.

THE SIEGE OF PARIS (1870-71)

It was in the provinces of the Rhine that the big battle
was fought. In that first fight, at Werth, the French were
successful, and a great deal was made of the victory. The
prince imperial fired the first cannon and all the newspa-
pers called it his “baptism of fire.”” Next, all around the
city of Sedan there was a frightful battle, which lasted
day after day, and in which the French were decisively
beaten, and so surrounded and cut off from retreat by the
German forces, that the emperor was obliged to surren-
der himself as a prisoner to the king of Prussia. Before
the final battle, he had sent his son to England, as he’'d
seen things were going badly. The Empress Eugenie had
been left as regent at Paris, but as soon as the dreadful
news came, all the Prussians rose up and declared that
the emperor be deposed. They wanted to have a republic
again. All that her best friends could do for her was to
help Eugenie steal out of the Tuileries in plain dress, and
she reached England safely.

The Prussians bitterly hated the French ever since the
elder Napoleon had so tyrannically stepped on Prussia
and mistreated Queen Louisa, the mother of the king
William, who was now leading his forces in taking Paris.
King William placed his headquarters in the grand old
palace of Versailles and then besieged Paris, cutting off
all supplies and all communication from outside. No one
could come in or out, except through the German out-
posts. Letters came and went by carrier pigeons; and tiny
letters on thin paper, and newspapers in print so small
that they could only be read with a magnifying glass,
were prepared for this pigeon post. Starvation set in as
the winter came on; and there was a dire need for fuel
as well as food. Meanwhile, the Germans shelled Paris.

After a half year of siege, the French made terms. The

.
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Napoleon III in “retirement”

The arrest of Napoleon
at Boulogne

Bismarck, Thiers, and Favre arranging the peace terms
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two provinces of Lorraine and Alsace, which used to be
German, were given up to Prussia. Prussian troops were
to be left for a year in garrison in France and a fine was
to be paid. At the same time, quantities of food and fuel
were sent in for the famished Parisians, the prisoners
were released, and among them the emperor, who went
back to England.

THE COMMUNISTS

The terms of the treaty were no sooner known than all
the ill will and distrust of the Red Republicans openly
broke out. The government withdrew to Versailles to
wait for the arrival of all the troops who had been in
captivity.

A sort of government was set up, calling itself the
Commune—an old word for a town council governing
itself—and thus the Red Republicans were known as the
Communists. The people’s former pride in the first Bona-
parte had turned into a ferocious hatred of him. Even the
great column in the Place Vendome, raised in honor of
his victories, was destroyed. The Communists were as
furious against law, order, property, and religion as even
their grandfathers in the Reign of Terror had been. Some
of the French leaders had been captured and kept at
Versailles. The Communists then seized the archbishop,
Monseigneur Darboy, and five more clergy, and threw
them into prison, then finally shot them. The good arch-
bishop died with his hand uplifted, as if in the act of
blessing his murderers. This was on May 24, 1871.

All France was against the madmen who had posses-
sion of their beloved Paris, but the Communists held out
desperately. At last, however, the soldiers from Ver-
sailles began to force their way in, and then, in their final

The prince imperial Eugene Louis Jean Joseph Napoleon, the only son
of Napoleon III and Empress Eugenie. He was the hope of the Bonapart-
ist party to be emperor but his untimely death in a British expedition in
Zululand ended their campaign, June I, 1879.
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madness, the Red Republicans set fire to the city. The
Hotel de Ville was soon blazing, and so was the Tuileries.
The Versailles government, their troops, were in a
frenzy of rage and grief at seeing their beautiful city
destroyed before their eyes. And as the soldiers slowly
fought their way in, with cannon pointed down the
streets, mowing all before them, they made a most fearful
slaughter of men and women alike—the innocent with
the guilty. There was a last stand made by the Commu-
nists in the great cemetery of Pére la Chaise, where most
of them died and large groups of the captured were
marched off toward Versailles—many to be shot at once,
others imprisoned, and after trial sent off to prison, and
exiled to New Caledonia. Thus the Red Republic was
extinguished in fire and blood, and order was restored.
For the time Louis Adolph Thiers ruled as a sort of
president and set matters as right as possible.
Meanwhile, the emperor, Napoleon III, died in his
exile in England and the nation began to consider what
should be the government of the future. The old parties
still existed—the Legitimists, still loyal to Henry, count
of Chambord; the Orleanists, wishing for a son or grand-
son of Louis-Philippe; the Bonapartists, loving the mem-
ory of Napoleon III and hoping to restore his son; and

the Moderate Tricolored Republicans, chiefly seeking
rest and order, and revenge upon Germany and the rem-
nants of the Communists.

Henry, count of Chambord, had no children, so the
count of Paris, eldest grandson of Louis-Philippe, was
his rightful heir. There was a plan that the Legitimist and
Orleans parties would join, and a proposal was made to
restore the count of Chambord as such a king as Louis-
Philippe, and that the count of Paris should reign as he
had.

But the count of Chambord’s answer was that he
would come to his forefather’s throne if he were invited,
but only to reign as they did, by the right given to his
family by God, not as the chosen of the people. He would
be the Most Christian King—the king of France, not of
the French; with the white flag of the Bourbons, not the
tricolor—and the Eldest Son of the Church, obedient to
the pope.

Nobody, except the old Legitimists, was in a mood to
accept this answer; and so, when the choice of a govern-
ment was put to the vote of the nation, it was decided to
have a republic, with a president, instead of a monarchy.
Marshal MacMahon was soon after elected as president
and the French were never again ruled by a monarch.

THE ROYAL SOVEREIGNS OF THE KINGDOM OF FRANCE

MEROVINGIAN DYNASTY

Reign Title Ruler Birth Death Relationship Consort
418428 King Pharamond 428
428447 King Clodio (Clodion) 447
447458 King Merovech (Meerwig) 458

(Merovee)
458481 King Childeric I 435 482 Son of Merovech
482-511 King Clovis I (Chlodwig) 467 511 Son of Childeric 1 Clothilde
S11-558 King Childebert 1 498 558 Son of Clovis
558-562 King Clothaire | 500 562 Son of Clovis Radegond
562-566 King Charibert 522 566 Son of Clothaire I
562-57S King Siegbert 535 575 Son of Clothaire I Brynhild
566-584 King Chilperic | 539 584 Son of Clothaire | IFredegond
584-628 King Clothaire I1 584 628 Son of Chilperic I
628-637 King Dagobert | 602 637 Son of Clothaire Il Nanthilde
637-655 King Clovis 11 635 655 Son of Dagobert | Bathilde
655-668 King Clothaire 111 650 668 Son of Clovis 11
668-674 King Childeric 11 650 674 Son of Clovis Il
674-678 King Dagobert II
674-691 King Thierry 11 658 691 Son of Clovis 11
691-695 King Clovis 111 680 695 Son of Thierry 11l
695-711 King Childebert [1 684 711 Son of Thierry I
711-716 King Dagobert 111 700 716 Son of Childebert 11
716-721 King Chilperic Il 670 721 Son of Childeric I
721-737 King Thierry IV LS 737 Son of Dagobert 111
737-742—Interregnum
743-1751 King Childeric I 731 754 Son of Chilperic Il
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Reign Title Ruler Birth Death Relationship Consort
CAROLINGIAN DYNASTY
628-639 Mayor of the Pepin I, the Elder 640
Palace
687-714 Mayor of the Pepin 11 (Pepin 714 Son of Pepin 1, the
Palace L’Heuristal) Elder
714-741 Mayor of the Charles Martel (Carl of 689 741 Son of Pepin 11
Palace the Hammer)
741-747 Mayor of the Carloman 754 Son of Charles Martel
Palace
747-751 Mayor of the Pepin 111, the Short 714 768 Son of Charles Martel
Palace
751-768 King Pepin 111, the Short Berthe
768-771 King Carloman 751 771 Son of Pepin Il1 Hildegarde
768-814 Joint Ruler Charlemagne (Carl the 742 814 Son of Pepin 111
Great)
814-840 Joint Ruler Louis I, the Pious 778 840 Son of Charlemagne Ermengarde
(Ludwig)
840-843 Joint Ruler Lothair, Louis, and Sons of Louis |
Charles the Bald
843-877 King Charles 1, the Bald 823 877
877-879 King Louis 11 846 879 Son of Charles 1 Adclaide
879-882 King Louis 111 863 882 Son of Louis Il
882-884 Coregent Carloman 884 Brother of Louis 111
884-887 King Charles II, the Fat 839 888 Son of Louis I
(Charles 11I)
888-898 King Eudes, count of Paris 858 898 Theodorade
898-922 King Charles 111, the Simple 879 929 Son of Louis 11 Ogine
922-923 Rival King Robert 865 923 Brother of Eudes
923-936 Rival King Rudolf, duke of 937 Son-in-law of Robert Emme
Burgundy
936-954 Rival King Louis 1V, d’Outremer 918 954 Son of Charles the Gerberge
Simple
954-986 Rival King Lothair 941 986 Son of Louis IV Emme
986-987 Rival King Louis V, the Indolent 967 987 Son of Lothair Blanche of Aquitaine
CAPETIAN DYNASTY
987-996 King Hugh Capet 946 996 Adelaide of Guienne
996-1031 King Robert I1, the Pious 971 1031 Son of Hugh Capet Constance de Provence
1031-1060 King Henry 1 1004 1060 Son of Robert 11 Anne of Russia
1060-1108 King Philip 1, the Amorons 1052 1108 Son of Henry I Berthe of Holland
1108-1137 King Louis VI, the Fat (Louis 1081 1137 Son of Philip [ Adelaide of Savoy
the Wide Awake)
1137-1180 King Louis VII, the Young 1120 1180 Son of Louis VI Alice of Champagne
1180-1223 King Philip Il Augustus (the 1165 1223 Son of Louis VII Isabelle of Hainaut
God-given) Ingebruge of Denmark
1223-1226 King Louis VIII, the Lion 1187 1226 Son of Philip 11 Blanche of Castille
1226-1270 King Louis [X (Saint Louis) 1214 1270 Son of Louis V111 Marguerite of Provence
1270-1285 King Philip 111, the Bold 1245 1285 Son of Louis [X Isabelle of Aragon
1285-1314 King Philip 1V, the Fair 1268 1314 Son of Philip 111 Jeanne of Navarre
1314-1316 King Louis X, the Quarrelsome 1289 1316 Son of Philip 1V Jean |
(Hutin)
1316-1316 King John I 1316 1316 Posthumous son of
Louis X
1316-1322 King Philip V, the Tall 1294 1322 Son of Philip 1V Jeanne, duchess of
Bourgogne
1322-1328 King Charles 1V, the Fair 1294 1328 Son of Philip IV Isabelle (reine d°
Angleterre)
VALOIS DYNASTY
1328-1350 King Philip VI, the Fortunate 1293 1350 Nephew of Philip IV Jeanne of Bourgogne
Blanche of Evreux
1350-1364 King John 11, the Good 1319 1364 Son of Philip VI Bonne of Luxemburg
1364-1380 King Charles V, the Wise 1337 1380 Son of John 11 Jeanne of Bourbon
1380-1422 King Charles VI, the 1368 1422 Son of Charles V Isabelle of Bavaria
Well-Beloved
1422-1461 King Charles VII, the 1403 1461 Son of Charles VI Marie of Anjou
Victorious
1461-1483 King Louis X1 1423 1483 Son of Charles VII Charlotte of Savoy
1483-1498 King Charles VIII, the Affable 1470 1498 Son of Louis XI Anne of Brittany
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Little was known of Britain until Phoenician sailors,
sailing off the coast of Gaul, saw in the distant horizon
the white cliffs of a strange land. The Gauls told them
that because of the white color of the cliffs they had given
the name of A/bion—meaning “‘white”’—to the country.
The title has lived through all the centuries and was a
favorite one with poets and orators. But in the last hun-
dred years, it has become known as the white cliffs of
Dover.

The accounts of those remote days are so vague that
little dependence can be placed upon them, so we must
look at the time of the mighty Caesar for our first knowl-
edge of England.

While Caesar was engaged in conquering Gaul, he
discovered that his opponents received great help from
their kinsmen, who crossed over from Albion to aid them
in repelling the Roman invaders. This fact, added to the
strange stories that he heard about the people of the
islands, led Caesar, in the year 55 B.C, to sail for Albion
—which he, in imitation of the Greeks, called Britain.
He took with him two legions, or about twelve thousand
men, and that was the first historical invasion of Eng-
land. The time was late in summer, and the landing
place was near the site of the present town of Deal.

The shaggy Britons had watched the approach of the
Roman ships, and were in truth more eager for battle
than the Romans themselves. The savages had flung off
their clothing of skins, so they were literally “stripped for
the fight,” and many who were on horseback forced their
animals far out into the waves, while the riders taunted
the invaders, whom they were impatient to reach. Others
galloped up and down the beach in their war chariots
and filled the air with their defiant cries. The Romans
drawing near were awed by what they saw. They had
learned from the Gauls of the frenzied devotion of the
Britons to the Druidical faith. The Romans knew noth-
ing of that gloomy and fearful religion, and at first were
afraid to offend the unknown god whom the savages
worshiped.
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Despite their bravery, the Britons were soon scattered
in disorder. In his Commentaries, Caesar refers to his
first campaign in Britain as a reconnoitering expedition,
and expressed his intention of returning there later.

Accordingly, the following year he came back with a
more powerful force, and penetrated some distance in-
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Julius Caesar

land. After several months Caesar, finding little pleasure
or profit in the wild, bleak island, abandoned it.

Britain was now left to itself for nearly a hundred
years. Then in A.D. 43, the emperor Claudius led a third
invasion into the country. The islanders made a sturdy
resistance, and it was not until nine years had passed that
Roman valor and discipline triumphed. Among the cap-
tives brought back to Rome was Caractacus, the heroic
leader of the Britons. Though in chains, Caractacus held
his head unbowed, his spirit unbroken. Brought before
Claudius, Caractacus looked him defiantly in the face
and refused to kneel or beg for his liberty. The simple
majesty and dignity of the prisoner so impressed the
emperor that he set him and his family free.

It has been said that the religion of the ancient Britons
was Druidical. This faith was hideous in many of its
features and of frightful severity, possessing no trace of

Claudius illustrated from a
copper coin in the British
Museum Caesar illustrated from a copper

coin in the British Museum

the gentleness of Christianity. Druid is from a word
meaning an oak. The people venerated this tree and also
the mistletoe, which still forms a part of our Christmas
festivities. They had a regularly organized priesthood
and offered up human sacrifices to win the favor of the
gods. The priests held all the traditions, administered the
laws, and prescribed the customs. Recent research shows
this horrible religion was brought from Gaul in the earli-
est times. The priests kept most of their faith and its
ceremonies secret but they believed in a life beyond the
grave. They built temples and altars, open to the sky.
Some remains of these may still be seen. The most strik-
ing is Stonehenge, on Salisbury plain in Wiltshire.

In A.D. 61 Suetonius Paulinus, the Roman governor of
Britain, seeing that he could make no real peace with the
Druids, set out to extirpate them. The island of An-
glesey, off the coast of Wales, was their sacred refuge,
and against that he and his men marched. They cut down
the Britons, demolished the stone altars, and flung the
frantic Druids into their own divine fires.

While Suetonius was in Anglesey, a vicious uprising
broke out in the East. The leader was Boadicea, widow
of a king of the Icenians. She drew the surrounding tribes
to her and led them into battle.

At first it seemed as if the furious and fanatic Britons
would sweep the Romans into the sea, but Suetonius
returned and stamped out the revolt in one great battle.
Eighty thousand Britons were killed, Boadicea poisoned
herself in despair, and the Druids disappeared forever.

The real conqueror of Britain was Gnaeus Julius
Agricola, who was governor from A.D. 78 to 84. He was
an excellent ruler, who built a line of forts from the Firth
of Forth to the Firth of Clyde, to keep back the turbulent
North Britons. He stopped the merciless tyranny of the
Roman tax gatherers, and encouraged the natives to
build comfortable dwellings, good roads, and thriving
towns.

Hadrian illustrated from a copper
coin in the British Museum

Constantine the Great illustrated
from a gold coin in the
British Museum
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The emperor Hadrian visited Britain in A.D. 120, and
not feeling strong enough to hold all the lands gained by
Agricola, he constructed an immense wall from the Tyne
to the Solway Firth. In 139 the emperor Antoninus Pius
built a new dike, which followed the line of that of
Agricola. The restless North Britons continued to be
troublesome. The emperor Severus made a campaign
against them between 207 and 210, and erected a chain
of forts along the line of the dike built by Hadrian.

The Romans built some fifty towns, many protected
by walls, and of these London soon became the chief,
though York was made the civil and military capital of
the country. The most notable incident in the history of
York was the proclamation of Constantine as emperor in
306. Through him Christianity became the established
religion of the empire, though his friendship for the
growing faith was that of a statesman rather than of a
devout believer.

Rome ruled Britain for three and a half centuries, but
by that time the stupendous empire was crumbling to
ruin. Her legions were called back to Rome. This left the
British people in a state of hopeless collapse. On the
north the Picts, on the northwest the Scots, and on the
south and east the Teutons were hammering the misera-
ble beings, who meekly bowed their heads to the blows
and quarreled among themselves over theological ques-
tions, while their enemies swarmed over the border and
swept them out of their path like so much chaff.

The foes who came by sea were Teutonic tribes from
the mouths of the Elbe and the Weser in North Ger-
many. Most of the country was conquered by these Teu-
tons, of whom the principal tribes were the Angles,
Saxons, and Jutes, who finally fused into one people,
under the name of Anglo-Saxons, or Angles or English,
while that portion of Britain in which they made their
home was called England. They were cruel, and the
conquered Britons they did not enslave huddled into the
western part of the island.

The first of these Teutonic kingdoms was founded in
Kent. A despairing British chieftain or king, Vortigern,
undertook the dangerous experiment of fighting fire with
fire. To save his people from their northern foes, the
Scots, he invited the Teutons to come to his aid. Two
well-known Jutish vikings, Hengist and Horsa, accepted
the invitation with their followers, and in the year 449
landed on the island of Thanet, the southeastern extrem-
ity of England.

At first Hengist and Horsa served their host well,
driving back the wild northern tribes. Soon, however,
larger ambitions took possession of the shrewd sea kings.
They recognized their own strength and the Britons’
weakness; they sent word to other Jutes to join them and
soon accumulated a formidable force.

Legend represents King Vortigern as cowardly, weak,
and evil, and tells that he was fascinated by the wiles of
Rowena, a daughter of Hengist. At any rate he made

The course of the Viking expeditions

little resistance against the bold robbers and the real
defense of the Britons fell to his son Vortimer. There
were many fierce combats and in one Horsa was slain.
The valiant Vortimer also perished, and gradually the
Jutes crushed out all resistance.

Finally, King Vortigern proposed a friendly meeting.
Hengist, now sole leader of the Jutes, consented. In the
midst of a great love feast held at Stonehenge, the treach-
erous Hengist cried out suddenly to his men, “Use your
swords!”

At the signal every Jute stabbed his British neighbor
through the heart. Vortigern alone was spared, for he
had wedded Rowena and the murderers thought him
more useful alive than dead.

These stories may or may not be the literal facts con-
nected with the first entrance of the great Teutonic race
into England. Hengist, Horsa, and Vortigern, however,
really existed, and Eric, a son of Hengist, was, in 457,
formally crowned king of Kent, that is, of England’s
southeastern coast. He was the first of her Teutonic
kings.

Other Teutonic tribes were naturally drawn to Britain
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by the Jutes' success. The Saxons, under a chieftain
named Ella, founded a kingdom of Sussex (the South
Saxons) in 477. Two Saxon chiefs, coming over in 495,
conquered the portion of the country now known as
Hampshire, and named it Wessex, or the kingdom of the
West Saxons. Then, again, from Jutland came a swarm
of Angles, who occupied all that remained of eastern
Britain. Increasing in strength and numbers, they
became masters of most of the country and gave their
own name of Angles, or English, to all the invaders.

According to tradition, the famous King Arthur ad-
ministered the first real repulse to the Saxons in 520, at
Badbury, in Dorsetshire. Arthur has often been looked
upon as a mythical hero, but careful research leaves no
doubt that he was a valiant patriot who struck many
stout blows at the invaders of his country. However, the
Saxons pushed inland and their power grew. The king-
dom of the Northumbrians was founded in 547, and
consisted of the land from the Humber to the Firth of
Forth; the kingdom of the Mercians embraced the mid-
land country, while Kent was the kingdom of the Jutes,
and Sussex that of the South Saxons. Essex, the kingdom
of the East Saxons and that of the East Angles, divided
into Norfolk and Suffolk (North-folk and South-folk),
were less important. These seven leading kingdoms are
often referred to as the Heptarchy.

The religion of the early English was like that of other
Teutonic tribes, being a form of heathenism, in which
Woden, who was the Odin of the Danes, was worshiped
as the leading god, who gave victory. Next to him was
Thor, or Thunder, who ruled the sky. There were other
less important gods. Our Wednesday is Woden’s Day
and Thursday is Thor’s Day, the names having been
preserved to the present time.

Saint Augustine came to Britain in 597 to preach
Christianity and was so successful that he established the
first cathedral of Canterbury, of which he became arch-
bishop and which is still the mother church of England.
The church gained not only great social influence, but
was a force in politics.

The kingdom of Wessex now enjoyed a century and a
half of prosperity. Egbert, a descendant of Cerdic, the
first king, claimed the throne in 787, but was overthrown
by a rival, and fled the country. He found refuge in the
court of Charlemagne, who was dreaming of reviving the
old Roman Empire. Shortly after Charlemagne was
crowned emperor of the West, the king of Wessex died,
and Egbert was called home to succeed him. He showed
the influence of Charlemagne upon his character by reso-
lutely setting out to bring all the neighboring petty tribes
into subjection to his sovereignty. His army, “lean, pale,
and long-bearded,” was a resistless engine, which
steadily crushed all opposition, so that in 828 the great
task was accomplished and Egbert had fairly won the
right to assume the title of king of the English. Caesar
had called the land Britain, the Celts had termed it Al-

Egbert, 828-39 Ethelred I, 866-71

LINEAGE OF THE WEST SAXON KINGS FROM EGBERT.

15t Generation. ad. 3d. 4th. sth. 6th,
ETHELBALD,
858-860.
ETHeLeERT,
860-866.
EceerT, { ETHELWULF, ETHELSTAN, Ebwig,
800-836. 83¢-8s8. ETHeLRED, 915-940. 955-958.
866-871.
ALFRED, Epwarp, Epmunp, .EDGAI,
(The Great), {(The Elder), 940946, 953-913.
871-go1. Qo1-93§. married,
1. Ethelfled ;
Eprep,
946-955. a. Elfthryth.
6th. 7th. Sth. gth 1oth.
EbGag, Epwarp,
married (The Martyr),
1. Ethelfled; 975979-
ETHELRED, Epmuso, o O —
(The Unready), (Ironside), Edward oy
979-1016, 1016, n o
married, r!n\nie'd died 1o57. I\.‘.;\'l;locj‘.)g:;”
2. Elfthryth. 1. Elfled; L Eldgyth.
EpwaArD
2. Emma, ,[ (The C nnﬁx.'mr),
daughter ol 066,
Richard I. “;;:md
of Normandy. Edgyth.
toth. 11th,
Margaret, Edgyth Matilda,
married married
Malcolm, Henry I.,

King of Scots. l King of Izn:fun‘:

Lineage of the West Saxon kings from Egbert

bion, and it now took the name of Angle-land, or Eng-
land.

Next England was made to feel the whip of the merci-
less Northmen, or Danes. These invaders were still hea-
then and they reveled in the destruction of the Christian
churches and monasteries and in the slaying of the
priests. Creeping along the coast, hiding in woods and
caves, or sailing unexpectedly up the rivers in their gal-
leys and then stealing horses, the Danes galloped
through the country on their ferocious forays, sparing
nothing they could reach.

The Scots of Ireland had been converted to Chris-
tianity in the fifth century mainly through the labors of
the great missionary Saint Patrick, and his work was
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carried on with marvelous completeness by his followers.
Learning, therefore, flourished in Ireland, and students
flocked thither from England, Germany, and Gaul. The
land was luminous with churches and monasteries, but
these were blotted out by the Danes, who drove the
native Irish back into the swamps and bogs, and then
made their own homes along the seacoast.

Such was the miserable condition of England and its
immediate neighbors, when one of the greatest charac-
ters in English history appeared on the scene, and
through his life and achievements accomplished a work
for his country whose grandeur and importance have
never been surpassed. This heroic figure was Alfred the
Great.

ALFRED THE GREAT

Alfred was the fifth son of Ethelwulf, king of Wessex,
and of Osburh, his first wife, and was born at Wantage
in Berkshire in 849. The father, it is said, had been bishop
of Winchester until necessity made him king. He fought
the invading Northmen while under-king of Kent, and
afterward succeeded his father Egbert on the throne.
Ethelwulf, however, had a side to his character for
which the Witan, or “wise men,” felt little sympathy. He
was impressed by the spell that the name of Rome exer-
cised in the Middle Ages, and disregarded many objec-
tions of his kingdom in order to make a pilgrimage to the
Eternal City. Before leaving, he granted a tenth part of
the rents from his private domain for ecclesiastical and
charitable purposes. But this grant was afterward mis-

Alfred the Great,
871-901

takenly represented as a gift of the tenth of the entire
revenue of the kingdom, and was the origin of tithes.

Little is known of the mother of Alfred, who was the
daughter of the king’s cupbearer, and came of the royal
house of the Jutes, settled in the Isle of Wight.

Alfred’s visit to Rome with Ethelwulf is supposed to
have lasted about two years, and with this visit no doubt
should be associated the main part of his formal educa-
tion. He acquired a fair knowledge of Latin, and thus
gained the key to the learning accessible at the time.
There, too, he must have imbibed that fondness for liter-
ature that led him to translate what he looked upon as
the classics in science, literature, and religion. On his
way home, he remained for some months with his father
at the court of Charles the Bald, king of the Western
Franks, and there he tasted the best of medieval monar-
chy.

When Ethelwulf and his son left the court of Charles
the Bald, the father was past sixty years of age, and took
with him as his bride Judith, the daughter of Charles, a
maiden not more than twelve. His people refused to
receive him, for the leaders of Wessex had sworn an oath
to bestow the crown upon his son, Ethelbald. The father
complacently accepted the situation and withdrew to
Kent, where he ruled as under-king for two years. His
death was followed by the scandalous marriage of his
widow to Ethelbald, but to neither did she bear any
children, and her second husband passed away in 860.

Returning to her father, Judith eloped with Baldwin
I of Flanders and from the couple descended Matilda,
daughter of Baldwin V of Flanders, who became the wife
of William the Conqueror. Alfred’s daughter married
Judith’s son.

Ethelwulf set up for the first time in English history
the claim to bequeath the crown as he chose. He willed
that at his death it should pass to Ethelstan, his eldest
son, then to Ethelbald, to Ethelred, and then to Alfred,
the children of each being excluded. Ethelbert, standing

Ethelbald, 858-60
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Saint Augustine before Ethelbert (860-66)

in order of age between Ethelbald and Ethelred, was to
remain after his father’s death the under-king of Kent.

While this arrangement suited the persons chiefly con-
cerned, it by no means suited the Witan, who, seeing the
need of a united kingdom as a protection against the
Danes, set the will aside, and decided to take their kings
in order from the ruling family. A condition as unparal-
leled as it was fortunate was that there was not a bit of
jealousy among the brothers. Whoever was king was
certain to receive the loyal support of the others. When
Ethelbald died in 860, Ethelbert was called from Kent
and his rule extended over both that province and Wes-
sex. Six years later, Ethelred, his brother, succeeded.
Alfred was at that time seventeen years old, and was the
right-hand man of the king, serving as his chief of staff
in war, as chief minister in peace, and signing all royal
warrants next to the king. During the first three years of
Ethelred’s reign, the Danes swarmed over Northumbria
and East Anglia, and were preparing to overrun Mercia
and Wessex.

The first encounter of Alfred with the Danes took
place in 868, before he was yet king, and when he was
twenty. About that time he was marrying the daughter
of Ethelred Mucil, earl of the Gainas.

At Alfred’s wedding he was seized with a distressing

affliction that was beyond the skill of the best physicians
of the time. Most probably the ailment was epilepsy, so
that through the most trying years of his trying life,
when engaged upon his grand work, he was liable at any
moment to be taken with an epileptic fit. The affliction
cannot fail to stir sympathy and deepen admiration of
the wonderful man.

In this same year of 868, the Danes withdrew from
Northumberland and invaded Mercia, whose people in
their panic appealed to Wessex for help. Ethelred and
Alfred lost no time in responding. The royal brothers led
the brave men of Wessex to the defense of the place, but,
though successful at first, were decisively overcome in a
great battle. In one of the battles Ethelred was mortally
wounded, and with the West Saxon forces withdrawing,
the Danes remained masters of the field.

A few weeks after the accession of Alfred, he encoun-
tered the Danes again. He surprised them at first, but in
the end was repulsed. The enemy, however, had never
faced such resistance, nor suffered such severe losses. It
did not take long to agree upon terms of peace. Alfred
had to pay a heavy price, for he was obliged to debase
the coinage, and to put a heavy tax upon landowners. A
three-year respite that followed was enjoyed by Wessex
only, and London remained in the hands of the Danes
until finally reconquered by Alfred.

Alfred believed that his little kingdom could be saved
only by action on the sea, and that the relentless invaders
of his country must be defeated upon the water or not
at all. It came about that, during the three-year breathing
spell he created the first English navy. He was able to
stop a Danish fleet heading for the Thames.

Stealing along the coast, the enemy found a landing
place at Wareham in Dorsetshire. The alert Alfred im-
mediately blockaded them, and the frightened Danes
were glad to make a treaty by which they promised
“‘speedily to depart his kingdom.” But they found pre-
texts for breaking their pledge and, seizing Exeter, held
it throughout the winter of 876-77. In the following

Alfred’s ‘jewel™
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Alfred’s Britain with historical detail

spring, a Danish fleet of more than a hundred vessels
sailed around the coast with the intention of reinforcing
their countrymen blockaded in Exeter. But at Swanade
a severe storm dashed all the ships upon the rocks. This
wrested the control of the Channel from the invaders,
and the garrison at Exeter was helpless before Alfred.
The Danes saw they were defeated and surrendered on
the promise of being permitted to leave Wessex. They
passed into Mercia and divided some of the choicest
lands in Gloucestershire and Warwickshire among
themselves.

According to the rules of warfare in those days, it was
the practice—to trade the sword for the plowshare. Not
doubting the peace, the West Saxon army was dis-
banded, and the men turned to farming, believing no
more fighting would be required. But, without warning,
the Danes swarmed back over the Mercian border and
surprised Wessex. Wessex passed unresisting into the
possession of the Danes and King Alfred followed by his
still faithful band, plunged into the swamps and forests
of Somersetshire, so hidden in the tangled depths with

which his men were familiar, that his enemies could not
trace him to his hiding place.

Between the opening of the year and Easter, 878, Al-
fred threaded his way to a piece of firm ground in the
middle of the marshes formed by the Parret and the
Tone. The position was very strong naturally, and he
made His headquarters at Athelney, from where he began
a guerrilla warfare through which he inflicted consider-
able damage on the enemy. It is related that, in order to
learn the intentions of the Danes, Alfred visited their
camp in the guise of a wandering minstrel and stayed a
full week, entertaining them and their king, Guthrum,
with his music. When he had learned all he wished to
know, he quietly departed, without having once drawn
suspicion to himself.

Before long Alfred’s followers had so increased that he
waged war in the open fields. The two forces met at
Eddington, near Westbury, and the Danes suffered de-
feat. After a two-week siege, Guthrum surrendered. The
invaders agreed to quit Wessex forever, and Guthrum
agreed to turn Christian and be baptized. In the treaty
concluded at Wedmore, the boundaries between Danish
and English Britain were defined. The rights of Alfred
were established over all Wessex, Kent, and London, and
a large district extending into Hertfordshire and Bed-
fordshire.

It was not until 886, however, that the little Saxon
chiefs all over England, recognizing Alfred’s ability and
power, came to him voluntarily, and, placing their hands
in his, acknowledged him as their king. In the same year
Alfred was able to begin rebuilding London. Being se-
cure now in the possession of the town, the English had
no trouble in holding the Thames, and that protected
Kent, Wessex, and Mercia.

A tremendous test of Alfred’s material work for Eng-
land came in 893-96, when Hasting, the Northman,
landed an army in Britain, but after several defeats at
the hands of Alfred, they surrendered. The last days of
the illustrious Alfred closed in peace and tranquillity, the

Alfred singing in the Hall of Guthrum




134 ENGLAND, GREAT BRITAIN, AND THE UNITED KINGDOM

English, ruled for twenty-four years, but there were im-
portant events that took place during that time.

* Edward passed away in 925, and his eldest son Ethel-
stan reigned until 940. Three years before his death, he
and his brother Edmund gained a crushing victory over
a Danish king from Ireland and the Scots, Danes, and
Welsh of the north, then there was only one king in all
England. His son, Edmund the Magnificent, after reign-
ing brilliantly for six years, was stabbed to death by a
banished outlaw. Since the sons of Edmund were still
quite young, his brother Edred, who had a sickly body
but a strong mind, was chosen king. Upon his death in
955, he was succeeded by his brother Edwy, who reigned
for only three years. Dunstan, the archbishop of Canter-
bury and chief adviser to the king, was virtually sover-
eign during the reign of the licentious Edgar (959-75),
and it was his wise policy that procured for Edgar the
title of “the Pacific.”

Disorder followed the death of Edgar in 975, and there
was a bitter quarrel as to which of the king's sons should
succeed him—Edward, about twelve years old, or
Ethelred, who was six years younger. The elder was
finally selected and Elfrida, the mother of the younger,
was incensed, for she had set her heart upon obtaining
the crown for Ethelred.

Edward the Elder (901-25) raised on the shield by his followers

Alfred acknowledged as king by the men of all England

entry in the English chronicle being as follows:

“This year [901] died Alfred, son of Ethelwulf, six
days before the Mass of All Saints. He was king over the
whole English nation, except that part which was under
the dominion of the Danes. He held the kingdom one
year and a half less than thirty years. And then Edward,
his son, succeeded to the kingdom.”

Alfred’s services to England were those of a patriot
and statesman as well as warrior. The code of laws that
he compiled in 890 was prefaced by the Ten Command-
ments, and closed with the Golden Rule, and he re-
marked, referring to the former: “He who keeps them
shall not need any other law book.” The real services of
Alfred the Great to his people lay less in the framing and
codifying of the laws, than in the enforcing of them. He
made it clear to his people that the supreme power of the
ruler was buttressed by the judicial system, and the exec-
utive authority would be used to the utmost to enforce
obedience.

THE LATER SAXONS

On the death of Alfred, his followers raised on a shield
as their king, his eldest son Edward, surnamed the Elder,
an able and ambitious soldier. He became king of all the
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Dunstan was still the real king, and it was he who
placed the crown upon Edward’s head. The stepmother,
standing by, vowed a vengeance that was not long de-
layed. While King Edward was hunting one day, in Dor-
setshire, he spurred ahead of his attendants and reached
Corfe Castle, where his stepmother lived. The young
king blew his hunting horn, and Elfrida hurried out
beaming with smiles: “Dear King, you are welcome,”
she said, “‘pray dismount and come in!”” “‘I am afraid, my
dear madam,” he replied, “‘that my company will miss
me and think I have come to some harm. I will be glad
to drink a cup of wine here in the saddle to you and my
little brother, Ethelred.”

Elfrida hurried into the castle to get the wine, and
reappeared in a few minutes bearing it in her hand. The
king reached down, smilingly took the cup, and lifting it
to his lips, said, “‘Health to you both.” At that moment,
an armed attendant of the queen, who had stolen around
unnoticed to the rear of the king, leaped forward and
buried a dagger in his back. The king dropped the cup,
and his startled horse dashed off. Weakened from the
loss of blood, the dying king soon toppled from the sad-
dle, but his foot caught in the stirrup, and he was
dragged over the stones, until his friends came up with
the exhausted animal and released the body. Because of
the manner of his death, Edward is called the Martyr.
His great adviser Dunstan, in great grief, retired to Can-
terbury and devoted himself solely to religious duties
until his death in 988.

Ethelred succeeded his murdered brother on the
throne. He was surnamed the Unready, and was a worth-
less creature who gave himself up to all manner of vices.
When the Danes began again their invasions of the coun-
try, the cowardly Ethelred and his friends resorted to the
disgraceful practice of buying them off. This pleased the
robbers, who took the money and then came again, sure
of receiving each time a big bribe from the terrified and
cringing English. The heavy taxes that it was necessary
to impose were called Danegeld, or “Dane-gold.” When
the end of his resources was reached, the worthless
Ethelred took refuge with Duke Richard the Good of
Normandy, whose sister he had married.

Finally, in 1013, Sweyn the Dane conquered all Eng-
land. He died the following year, and then Ethelred was
recalled, but he, too, soon died, and the war went on
between his son Edmund, surnamed Ironsides, and Ca-
nute, son of Sweyn. Thus there were two kings in the
country. Edmund put up a brave fight, but in the end
agreed to accept Wessex, East Anglia, Essex, and Lon-
don for his share, while the Dane took all the rest. Ed-
mund, however, had reigned only seven months (April
23-November 30, 1016), when he died, and Canute, or
Cnut, became the first fully acknowledged Danish king
of England, his rule lasting from 1017 to 1035.

Canute began his reign with great harshness, banish-
ing or putting to death the leading Englishmen who had

Ethelstan, 92540

Edgar, 958-75
King Edgar

Edward the Martyr, 975-79

Canute and his queen
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Dunstan crowning Edward the Martyr

fought against him; but this severity did not last. He soon
sought the goodwill of the people. He rebuked the cour-
tiers who, in flattering his greatness, declared that even
the sea would obey him. He had them place his chair on
the edge of the waves and commanded the rising tide to
come no nearer. When it steadily rose despite his order,
he had some harsh words for his flatterers.

Canute’s plan was to form a mighty empire that in-
cluded Denmark, Norway, Sweden, and England. He
divided England into four districts or earldoms: Wessex,
Mercia, East Anglia, and Northumbria, each ruled by an
earl, with absolute authority. The plan began well, but
mutual jealousy brought friction, until the safety of the
country was imperiled.

Canute visited his different possessions, but lived
mostly in England, of which he became very fond. He
seems to have been a worthy Christian, for he showed a
reverence for all that was good, and one day wrote to his
subjects: “I have vowed to God to live a right life in all
things, to rule justly and piously over my realm, and to
administer just judgment to all.”

When Canute died, England was divided between his
two sons Harold and Hardicanute. By this time, how-
ever, the people had become tired of their Danish rulers.

Emplire of
CNU’E THE GREAT
. 1014-10353

The empire of Canute (Cnut), 1014-35

The Great Council of the Witan sent for Edward, the son
of Ethelred, whom they wished to have as their king. He
had been taken to the French or Norman court when
only nine years old, and had spent nearly thirty years
there. He took with him to England a number of French
favorites, filled the churches with French priests, and in
short ruled like the Frenchman he really was. He even
went so far as to give his pledge to Duke William of
Normandy, that on his death he would leave the English
crown to the Norman duke. The latter never forgot this
promise, though Edward chose to disregard it.
Edward married the daughter of Godwin, earl of Wes-
sex, who was the real ruler of the country until his death
in 1053, when he was succeeded by his son Harold as
earl. The nominal king spent his time in church affairs,
and built an abbey at the west end of London, which was
called Westminster. His life was so blameless that he was
given the name of Edward the Confessor, or the Chris-
tian. Hardly had Edward completed and dedicated his
abbey, when he died and was buried there. On his death-

King Canute and the waves

Harold Harefoot (Harold 1),
(1035-40), son of Canute

T




ENGLAND, GREAT BRITAIN, AND THE UNITED KINGDOM 137

Harthacnut (Hardicanute),

104042 Edward the Confessor, 1042-66

bed, Edward, despite his solemn promise to the duke of
Normandy, and in view of the fact that he had no chil-
dren, recommended Harold, earl of Wessex, as his suc-
cessor. His advice was followed. The Witan, or National
Council, selected Harold as king, and he was crowned
January 16, 1066. Now, the government rested in an
elective sovereign, who was aided by the council of the
Witan. All freemen had the right to attend this council,
but the power really rested with a few of the nobles and
clergy. The body could elect the king, but were required
to limit their choice to the royal family. If he proved
unfit, the Witan had the power to depose him. That body
confirmed grants of public lands, and was a supreme
court of justice in civil and criminal cases. In conjunction
with the king, the Witan enacted laws, levied taxes, and
appointed the chief officers and bishops of the realm.
The freemen were compelled to help in the mainte-
nance of roads, bridges, and forts, and were obliged to
serve in case of war. Besides the earls, who were nobles
by birth, there was a class called thanes, or ‘“‘servants,”
or companions of the king, who after a time outranked
the hereditary nobility. Both classes were rewarded by
the king for faithful services, or for valorous deeds, and

Harold’s interview with King Edward on his return from Normandy
(Bayeux Tapestry)

Great seal of Edward the Confessor

this reward was generally in the form of land, since the
king owned most of it. The condition attached to such
a gift was the obligation of the receiver to provide a
certain number of equipped soldiers to fight for the do-
nor. The nobles and large landholders, imitating the
king, gave certain parts of their estates in the same way
to tenants, and they in turn, if they chose, could do the
same to those below them. This constituted the feudal
system, by which every freeman below the rank of a
noble was obliged to attach himself to some superior
whom he was bound to serve, and who in return became
his legal protector.

The sickness and death of Edward the Confessor (Bayeux Tapestry)
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Edward the Confessor’s
tomb

THE NORMAN INVASION

One of the greatest battles in history—Hastings—had its
beginnings with the bearing of a king's first message.
Duke William of Normandy was about to mount his
horse to join his friends on a hunt, when the messenger
rode up with the new king’s message of the news of the
death of King Edward in England, and the accession of
Harold II, who sent a demand to Harold that he should
respect the promise made by the dead king. Harold’s
reply was a flat refusal, and the indignant duke resolved
to “fight for his rights.” He called his Norman barons
around him, and promised large grants of land to all who
would help him. Since most of the Normans were fond
of fighting and adventure, and there was a promise of
substantial rewards, they flocked in large numbers to his
banner. Not meaning to neglect anything, he sent to the
pope asking his favor, and it came back with a conse-
crated banner that was to be carried by the army. Just
as the sun was creeping up in the horizon on September
27, 1066, Duke William’s fleet and transports sailed out
into the Channel, his own vessel in the lead, with the
sacred banner fluttering at the masthead. His archers
and cavalry numbered more than fifty thousand.

Now another Harold, who was a Goliath of a warrior
and king of the Norwegians, had landed in the north of
England. The opposing armies clashed together at Stam-
ford Bridge, on September 25, with the result that the
Norwegians were routed, and their leaders slain.

. Harold
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The English Harold was in high feather over his vic-
tory, and held a great feast at York to celebrate it, but
in the midst of the merrymaking a messenger galloped
up with the news that Duke William had landed at
Pevensey. Harold did not waste any more time in cele-
brating, but, gathering his forces, hurried southward,
and camped on the heights of Senlac. Meanwhile, Wil-
liam had landed and built a fort, from which he ad-
vanced to Hastings a few miles farther east. No enemy
appearing, he began plundering the surrounding coun-
try, and was so employed when Harold arrived with his
army on the evening of October 13. Full of confidence,
the Saxons spent the night in feasting and song, while the
Normans engaged in prayer and confession.

The great battle of Hastings opened on the following
morning. A huge Norman knight rode forward in ad-
vance of his comrades, singing and tossing his great
sword high in the air, catching it as it fell. A Saxon
rushed forward to meet him and was slain. Then the two
armies joined in battle, the Normans attacking, the Sax-
ons defending. Twice the invaders were beaten back. A
rumor spread that Duke William was slain, and his men
began to flee. Throwing aside his helmet that all might
see his face, he galloped among the fugitives and checked
them with his voice and lance, threatening death if they

i1l ] 7 A William the Ce : . .
P i impuarch, 1056-3 (,;,:.';Z;Z 1)' 1am e “OnqUETSr did not turn again to battle. Then he bade his archers

shoot into the air, so that their descending arrows fell
like rain upon the unprotected heads of the Englishmen.

SR Sy oadlig in Bagland King Harold fell, pierced through the brain by an arrow

William I and Tonstain
bearing the consecrated banner
at the Battle of Hastings
(Bayeux Tapestry)
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Edith finding the body of King Harold

and bleeding from countless wounds. Still the sturdy
Saxons held their ground, and William resorted to an-
other stratagem. He made his most trusted troops feign
flight. The foe broke ranks in a furious pursuit; and the
better-trained Normans, turning unexpectedly upon the
charging mob, scattered the English in confusion. Still,
however, they struggled on, each little detached group
fighting for itself, until night enabled the remnant to
escape from the field of death. England had been con-
quered in one of the most desperate and bloody battles
of history.

The next day, Harold’s old and tottering mother, with
tears streaming down her withered cheeks, begged for
the body of her son, but the stern duke William would
not permit it to have a Christian burial. For a long time
it was impossible to find the mangled corpse, and it was
only with the help of Edith *“‘of the swan’s neck,” a

Facsimile of entries in Domesday book, which was a survey of the land
and people of William's kingdom. A valuable document for historians,
it divided the 2 million people in the land to status as serfs or free people
and nobles, and divided real property according to ownership.
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former favorite of the king, that it was picked out from
the heaps of the slain. On the field of his great victory the
Norman conqueror erected the Abbey of Battle, and
tradition says he buried the body of his fallen foe under
a pile of stones near the sea, whence it was removed by
friends, and finally laid at rest at Waltham, near London,
in the church (afterward Waltham Abbey) that Harold
had built there.

With little delay William marched against London
and burned the suburbs. The panic-stricken inhabitants,
seeing no hope, threw open the gates without any de-
fense. William repaid them by giving the city a charter
that secured for it the same privileges that had been
granted by Edward the Confessor. This interesting paper
is still preserved among other documents in Guildhall,
London. A striking fact connected with it is that Wil-
liam, unable to write his name, signed it with his “mark.”
He was crowned on Christmas Day, 1066, in Westmin-
ster Abbey.

England having been so effectively conquered, Wil-
liam went back to Normandy, where by his appointment
his queen, Matilda, was at the head of affairs. Before
leaving England, he placed it in charge of his half-
brother Eudes, bishop of Bayeux, aided by a trusted

William the Congueror stricken down by his son Robert
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The death of the Conqueror

friend William Fitz-Osborn, who had been made earl of
Hereford.

These two men were unfitted for the trust, and ruled
so harshly that the people revolted and William found it
necessary to return to England to quell the insurrection.
In 1069, the foreign barbarians swarmed into northern
England again and were aided by the English. William
swore he would end the continual revolt by laying the
country waste, and he kept the fearful oath. Villages,
towns, dwellings, crops, cattle, everything beyond York
and Durham, was destroyed, and the whole region so
desolated that for nine years no one attempted to culti-
vate a plot of ground. More than a hundred thousand
people perished of cold and starvation during the winter
that followed. It was an act of dreadful ferocity, and yet
there seemed to be a grim necessity for it.

William claimed that he had been the rightful king of
England from the time of the death of his cousin, Ed-
ward the Confessor, and consequently all who had sup-
ported Harold II were traitors whose lands he
confiscated, thereby increasing his wealth beyond esti-
mate, and making himself virtually the owner of the
whole kingdom. He built numerous strong castles in the
different towns—the Tower of London being one of
them. These were garrisoned with armed men to hold the
surrounding people in subjection. The lands were di-
vided mainly among his followers, so that at the close of
his reign England had really only two classes of society
—the Norman tenants, known as barons, and the Eng-
lish. They were no longer free, and were known as
villeins, who were bound to the soil and could be sold
with it, but, unlike slaves, could not be sold apart from
the land. The word villain came from this reference.

Within less than twenty years of his coronation, Wil-
liam ordered a survey and valuation to be made of all the
land outside of London, with the exception of a few
border counties on the north. These returns, which were
complete to the minutest particular, were set down in an
immense volume called the Domesday, or Doomsday,
Book.

LINEAGE OF THE NORMAN KINGS FROM THE CON-
QUEROR TO STEPHEN.,

Dke Ro}frm’
uke of Normandy
dﬁd 1135, '
WiLtiam 11,
called Rufus,
Wirtiam 1., 1087-1100.
(The Congueror),
1066-1087 Henky 1., .
married ‘ J (Beauclerk), :‘h“.ld;;
Matilda 11001135, GM;T"!
of Flanders. g\larrié (Pla::?agr:r):;l)
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St Count of Anjou.
Adela,
married { STEPHEN,
Stephen, 1135-1154.
Count of Blois.

1 First married to the Emperor Henry V. ; without offspring.

Lineage of the Norman kings from the Conqueror to Stephen

In the summer following the preparation of this book
(1086), William summoned all the nobles and chief land-
holders, with their vassals, to meet on Salisbury Plain,
Wiltshire. There some six hundred thousand men sol-
emnly swore to support him as king against even their
own lords—a sweeping and momentous proceeding,
which made William supreme. Thus this great man com-
pleted his all-important work of blending and fusing
together two peoples and civilizations. Still, the English
were not conquered by another race, but by a more
vigorous branch of their own race. Thus he showed the
sea-wolf in his nature, though it was mingled at times
with a strange gentleness that proved he was not wholly
lacking in better qualities, and well earned for him the
title of the Lion of Justice. He did great good to England
by infusing the vigor of his Norse nature into the decay-
ing system.

The Great Council, of which mention has been made
often, seldom met, but there was need of a court to settle
the disputes among the barons. So he organized the
King’s Court, which was a smaller and more easily han-
dled body. Because of his stern policy many people came
from other countries and settled in England. Among
them were weavers and farmers from Flanders, who not
only grew rich themselves, but added to the wealth of the
country.

In 1087, William was so angered by a jest of the
French king upon his bulky, awkward figure, that he set
out to lay waste the borderland between France and
Normandy. While riding through the ruins of Mantes,
his horse stumbled and so injured him that he died some
six weeks after. His eldest son, Robert, who had rebelled
against his father, was not by the bedside of the dying
king. So William gave to his second son, Rufus, a letter
advising that he would be made king of England to the
exclusion of his elder brother. The moment young Wil-
liam received this doubtful heritage, he set out for Eng-
land to claim it. Henry, the third son, was given a for-
tune, and he also sped away to make sure of the inheri-
tance.
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William II, Rufus, 1087-1100

Three sons survived William the Conqueror, besides a
daughter Adela, who married Stephen, count of Blois, a
prominent French nobleman. Robert, the eldest son, se-
cured Normandy. He had long been in revolt against his
father. There is a legend that the father and son fought,
unknown to each other, upon the field of battle. Robert
unhorsed his father, and would have slain him, but sud-
denly recognizing his defeated foe, knelt and asked for
pardon. A reconciliation followed. It was soon broken
again, but Robert in the end was allowed to inherit Nor-
mandy.

William, the second son, called Rufus because of the
color of his hair, was accepted as king of England on his
appearance there. He was elected and crowned king,
September 26, 1087, and reigned until 1100. Most of that
veriod was spent in warring with the barons. He reveled
in all sorts of vice.

It was during the reign of William that Christendom
was filled with wrath by the news that the Saracens in the
Holy Land treated with intolerable cruelty the multi-
tudes of devout visitors, who were accustomed to make
pilgrimages there. The pope proclaimed a crusade,
which set out in 1096 to wrest the Holy Sepulcher from
the Mohammedans. Among those caught in the thrill of

Rufus’s deathbed, bishops and abbots attending, from a twelfth-century
manuscript
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Great seal of William Rufus

the general ardor was Robert of Normandy, who mort-
gaged his dominions for five years to his brother, in order
to raise the expenses of his share in the Crusade. He set
out for Palestine, while Normandy dropped like ripe
fruit into the hands of William Rufus.

The latter was passionately fond of hunting. On Au-
gust 2, 1100, he was engaged at his favorite pastime in
New Forest, with a number of friends. Some time later,
some of his attendants found him dying in agony, from
the arrow of a crossbow that had deeply pierced his
body. Walter Tyrell, one of the party, was suspected of
launching the missile, and saved his own life only by
fleeing to France. He always denied having fired the
arrow, though suspicion attached to him all his life. A
charcoal-burner carried the king’s body to Winchester,
where it was buried without any religious ceremony, for,
even in those days of license and easy-going religion, it
was considered a sacrilege to bestow any rites upon such

Matilda, queen of Henry 1, from
a statue in the west doorway of
Rochester Cathedral

Henry I, Beauclerc, 1100-35
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a viceful person, who had died unrepentant in the midst
of his sins. The most that can be said for the reign of
William Rufus was that it checked the aggressions of the
barons and prevented his kingdom from falling into the
anarchy that existed on the Continent.

It was now the turn of Henry, third son of William the
Conqueror, to ascend the throne, he being the first of the
Norman kings who was born and educated in England.
He had enough of his father’s administrative genius to
carry out and complete the governmental plans that the
Conqueror had organized. He created a supreme court,
composed of his secretaries and royal ministers, with a
chancellor at the head. Another body was formed, repre-
senting the royal vassals, the barons of the exchequer.
The top of the table around which they assembled was
marked like a checkerboard, and it was from this that the
title came.

Rufus and Henry I carried out the plan of their father
for holding Wales in subjection. This consisted of build-
ing castles on the frontiers and placing them in the
charge of nobles, to whom were granted all the lands
they could conquer from the Welsh. The sons, in addi-
tion to this method, planted a colony of Flemish emi-
grants in the district of Ross in Pembrokeshire, where
they gained wealth by weaving cloth and tilling the
ground, and defeated every effort of the Welsh princes to
expel them.

A pathetic incident is connected with the reign of
Henry. His queen, Matilda, died in 1118 leaving a
daughter, Matilda, and an only son. The latter was a
proud and vicious youth, whose only merit was the man-
ner of his death. In 1120, when nineteen years old, the
ship in which he was crossing the Channel was wrecked.
He had put off from the sinking vessel, when the shrieks
of his half-sister caused him to row back to her rescue.
So many leaped into his boat that it went down, and he
and all the noble company were drowned. It was said
that from the moment the news was carried to King
Henry, he never smiled again.

Although he married again, no children were born to
the king, and he decided to settle the crown on his wid-
owed daughter Matilda. The barons were displeased at
the thought of being ruled by a woman, but had to
consent and swore to sustain her in the succession. Then

Great seal of Stephen

her father compelled her to marry Geoffrey, count of
Anjou, a youth only sixteen years old. This young man
was called “the Handsome,” and always wore in his
helmet a sprig of the broom-plant of Anjou. Because of
this fact, their son Henry II is known in history as Plan-
ta-genct, the Latin name of the plant being Planta
genista.

Henry died in 1135. Two candidates for the throne
immediately came forward. One was his daughter
Matilda and the other his nephew Stephen. Despite the
pledge of the barons to support Matilda, the feeling
against the rule of a woman was so strong that Stephen
was allowed to assume the crown. Four years later
Matilda landed in England, determined to see that the
wish of her father was carried out. The west of England
rallied to her support, while the east stood by Stephen,
the allegiance of the barons being divided. Stephen him-
self was one of the barons who had promised to sustain
the queen. The king of the Scots, who was Matilda’s
uncle, came over the border with an army to help her.

It was in 1139 that Queen Matilda landed in England,
and at the time a civil war was in all its fury. At the
beginning of 1141, Stephen was taken prisoner at Lin-
coln, was put in chains and shut up in Bristol Castle.
Then Matilda entered London in triumph, but was so
scornful because of her success that everyone became
disgusted, and she was driven out before she could be

Stephen of Blois, 1135-54,
nephew of Henry I

Arms of Stephen
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crowned. Some months later, Stephen was exchanged for
the earl of Gloucester, and the war raged again. The civil
war was finally brought to an end by the bishops in 1153,
with the agreement that Stephen should keep the king-
dom for his life, and then should be succeeded by Henry,
the eldest son of Matilda. Stephen died in the autumn of
1154. He was the last of the Norman kings, their com-
bined reigns having covered almost a century.

The Norman conquest did not materially affect the
divisions of society, though nearly all the Saxons were
compelled to surrender their rank and estates to the
Normans. A noble was a member of the National Coun-
cil, or, in the case of an earl, he represented the king in
the government of a county or earldom. He was not
exempted from taxation, and his rank could descend to
only one of his children. (The aristocracy in France were
noble by birth, their rank passed to all their children, and
they were generally exempt from taxation.) No changes
were made in the organization of the church during the
Norman period, but the principal offices in it were also
handed over to the Normans. Learning was confined to
the clergy, and the meager schools were connected with
the monasteries and nunneries. Few books were written,
the principal ones being histories. The old Anglo-Saxon
chronicle was continued in English, and the chronicles
of William of Malmesbury and Henry of Huntington
were written in Latin. The best account of the Norman
Conquest is the Bayeux Tapestry, worked in colored
worsted and done, supposedly, by Queen Matilda. The
length of the canvas is two hundred and fourteen feet, the
width about twenty inches, and it consists of seventy-two
scenes or pictures from which a clear knowledge can be
gained of the armor, dress, and weapons of the period.

THE EARLIER PLANTAGENETS

Henry II, who was fond of wearing the sprig of the
broom-plant in his helmet, came to the English throne
in 1154. He was the first Plantagenet, but twenty-one
years old, strong, coarse, and determined to do right.
Before Henry was crowned, he was one of the most
powerful of princes. Although a vassal of the king of
France, he was the owner of so many fiefs that he was
stronger than his king and all the other vassals. From his
father he received Anjou, from his mother, Normandy
and Maine, and he gained the county of Poitou and the
duchy of Aquitaine by marrying their heiress Eleanor
directly after her divorce from Louis VII of France.
England contained more than a thousand castles,
which, in the language of an early chronicle, were “nests
of devils and dens of thieves.” All of these Henry leveled
to the ground. He told the great landowners they would
pay him scutage, or shield money, in lieu of military
service. His cunning motive was to hire foreign soldiers
with this tax, and thus cause his countrymen to lose their

Henry 11, 1154-89 (drawn from
the tomb at Fontevrauli)

Arms of Henry 11

Great seal of Henry I

skill with arms, and be less liable to rebel against him.

He was very fond of Thomas a Becket, who was his
chancellor, and he secured the election of Becket as arch-
bishop of Canterbury. Becket was the son of a rich citi-
zen of London, and had given his time to secular matters,
but upon becoming archbishop he went to the other
extreme, resigned the chancellorship, and led the most
austere of lives. This displeased Henry, but before long
a cause for more serious quarrel rose between them. It
was the law that the bishops should hold courts of their
own for the trial of ecclesiastics, but Henry insisted that
they should be brought under the jurisdiction of the
regular courts. Thomas a Becket would not agree to this,
maintaining that the special courts for the trial of the
clergy should remain as instituted by William the Con-
queror. The king had some new laws passed that were
called the Constitutions of Clarendon, because they were
passed at that place by a council of the prelates and
barons, in January 1164. One of the laws was the special
enactment demanded by the king, and another was a
decree that all appeals in England should be made to the
king and not to the pope.

It was necessary for the archbishop to sign these laws.
Being summoned to the royal court he entered the hall
with his cross held in his hands. Nothing could affect his
resolution to oppose the will of the king. To all the
appeals and persuasions of the bishops and nobles, who
gathered around him, he calmly shook his head in the
negative and replied that he must appeal to the pope.
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Many grew impatient and angry, and as he passed out
of the hall called after him *“Traitor! traitor!”

As might be expected, the pope sustained the arch-
bishop, and Becket had to flee to France to escape the
persecutions of King Henry. The quarrel went on for six
years, and was intensified by the dispute over the corona-
tion of the king’s eldest son, whom Henry wished to
make his viceroy in England. The pope declared that no
one except the archbishop of Canterbury had the right
to crown him, but Henry persuaded the archbishop of
York to perform the ceremony.

The king, however, dreaded the anger of the pope,
and, through the mediation of Louis VII of France, he
patched up his quarrel with Becket, who returned to
England, where he was joyfully welcomed. But there was
no yielding on his part, and he surprisingly announced
that he had in his possession the excommunication of the
archbishop of York and his assistant bishops. Upon
hearing of this, Henry was seized with one of his wild
outbursts of rage and, rolling on the floor in a tantrum,

The Angevin Empire of Henry II

Henry Il and his queen,
Eleanor (effigies in the abbey
church of Fontevrault)
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yelled: “Is there no one who will rid me of this vile
priest?”

Four knights who heard the words took it figuratively,
riding into the cathedral where the archbishop was cele-
brating what he knew would be his last church service.
The assassins tried to drag him from God’s altar; but he
resisted them, and they slew him where he stood. Then,
they fled in fear.

By his death Becket triumphed. Henry was horrified
when told what had been done, and made oath to the
pope that he had nothing to do with the crime. He gained
general belief in his innocence by kneeling upon the spot
reddened by the blood of his former friend, and submit-
ting to a beating like the vilest criminal. The laws that
Becket had opposed were not established. The common
people of England regarded the archbishop as a martyr,
slain for his service to them and the church; and his
grave became a shrine to which pilgrimages are made
from all over the world.

The close of Henry’s life was stormy. His neglected
wife and his enemies stirred up his three older sons to
rebellion against him. They were Henry, his heir; Rich-
ard, who had received the government of Aquitaine; and
Geoffrey, who obtained Brittany through his marriage
with Constance, the heiress. In 1173, they, in conjunc-
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tion with a number of nobles of England and Normandy,
including the kings of France and Scotland, formed a
league against King Henry. He subdued the rebellion
and showed leniency toward all except the king of the
Scots, who was compelled to submit to a more humiliat-
ing vassalage than before, although Henry's successor
allowed him to buy back his freedom, with only a shad-
owy lordship remaining over Scotland.

Henry the younger died in 1183, begging his father's
forgiveness; Geoffrey was pardoned, rebelled once more,
and died in 1186. Richard was quiet for a time, but it was
against his nature, and in 1188 he fled to the king of
France for protection, and then seized his father’s for-
eign dominions. In answer to his request for a list of the
barons who had joined the league against him, he read
among the very first names that of his favorite and
youngest son, John. He was so shocked and grieved that
he fell into a coma and died in July 1189.

The work done by Henry II was the laying of the
foundations of a just government in his country. The
Norman method of settling disputes was by trial of bat-
tle. This was manifestly so unfair that Henry gave dispu-
tants the privilege of deciding their quarrels by reference
to the decision of twelve knights of the neighborhood,
who were familiar with the facts. This was the real origin
of trial by jury, one of the most precious safeguards of
modern justice. Another good law was that when the
judges passed through a circuit, a grand jury of not less
than sixteen was to report to them the criminals of the
district. The judges sent the accused to the church to be

Richard I, 1189-99 (from his
tomb at Fontevrault)

Richard Coeur de Lion placing the crown on his own head

examined by ordeal. If convicted, they were punished,
but if acquitted they were ordered to leave the country
within eight days. By this method the objectionable char-
acters were effectively removed.

Regarding trial by jury, it must be added that during
the reign of John, the son of Henry, in 1215, the church
abolished the “ordeal” throughout Christendom. The
custom then came into use of choosing a petit jury, famil-
iar with the facts, who decided upon the truth of the
accusations laid before the grand jury. In case of dis-
agreement by the petit jury, a decision of the majority
was accepted. The objections to this method gradually
gave rise to that of summoning witnesses, who testified
before the petit jury, with a view of making their decision
unanimous. History first records this change in 1350,
during the reign of Edward III from which may be dated
the modern method of trial by jury, though Henry II was
the real founder of the system.

Since the eldest son of Henry had died, he was suc-
ceeded in 1189 by his second son, Richard, known in
history as Coeur de Lion, or the “Lion-Hearted.” Rich-
ard spent his early years in southern France, the home
of music and poetry, and was a dreamer, whose ambition
it was to attain military glory. Of magnificent figure, with
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the physique of a Hercules, and a courage that knew no
fear, he was the hero of some of the most marvelous
adventures that have ever been related. Although king of
England for ten years, he spent less than a year in that
country.

Richard went as one of the most valiant of the heroes
who sought to rescue the Holy Sepulcher from the Sara-
cens. Hardly had Richard taken the English crown in his
strong hands and placed it upon his own head, when he
hurried his preparations for a crusade in conjunction
with his friend Philip Augustus of France and the em-
peror of Germany, their Crusade being the third in point
of time. Such expeditions demanded enormous sums of
money, and Richard resorted to extreme means to obtain
what he required. He compelled the Jews to make him
loans. He sold earldoms, lands, and public offices. It was
at this time that the king of Scotland secured his freedom
by the payment of ten thousand marks.

In the summer of 1190, Richard and the French king
set out for the Holy Land. They had not gone far before
they quarreled, for Richard had a most disagreeable tem-
per, and it was hard for anyone to get along with him.
Legend says that in a wrangle with Leopold of Austria
the English king delivered a kick that fairly lifted his
astounded antagonist off the ground.

Richard failed in his attempt to capture Jerusalem. He
forced a landing with his troops at Acre, and performed
many heroic feats of individual valor; but the sultan

Berengaria, queen of Richard I
(from the tomb at Fontevrault)

Richard forces a landing at Acre

Saladin was greater than he. When these two were not
fighting each other, they met like brothers, and held
many talks and discussions over their respective civiliza-
tions. Each trusted fully the honor of the other. When
King Richard fell desperately ill of a fever, which none
of the English physicians could cure, legend says that
Saladin asked the privilege of sending his own medical
attendant to him. Some of the king’s friends suspected
treachery and objected, but Richard insisted, and the
visitor was led into the English camp at night, and doc-
tored his royal patient so successfully that Richard was
soon himself again. Finally, almost broken-hearted over
his failure to conquer the Mohammedans, King Richard
made a truce with Saladin, and set out to return to his
own country.

When the king left England to go on his Crusade, his
kingdom was ruled by his justiciars, the first of whom
was the chancellor William Longchamp, bishop of Ely.
He was honest and faithful to his sovereign, but, being
a Frenchman, he hated the English just as intensely as
they hated him. He was finally removed from office, and
the king’s brother John was placed at the head of affairs
and he immediately began plotting with the king of
France for the throne.

But the weeks and months passed and not a word
came from the expected king. The only explanation was
that he had met with death on the road. John was de-
lighted, and lost no time in claiming the throne. But,
Richard was alive. Various stories have been told of the
account of his disappearance. His route compelled him
to pass through Germany, and he tried to remain un-
known, on account of his quarrel with Leopold, who
would have been happy to punish him for the aggravat-
ing insult he had received at his hands, or rather his foot.
The identity of Richard, however, was discovered.

Richard was seized by Leopold and sold to the Ger-
man emperor Henry VI, who had him put in irons in a
castle in the Tyrol. Blondel, a minstrel who had accom-
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panied Richard to Palestine, set out on a wandering tour
through Germany in search of castles rumored to be
holding his royal master. At every castle he approached,
he sang one of the songs of which the king was fond. At
the close of one of those weary days, when he was thus
singing at the foot of a tower, he was thrilled by recogniz-
ing the voice of his master, who took up the next stanza
and sang it through.

All this time, brother John was conspiring with the
French king, and urging the emperor to keep Richard in
prison, so that John might remain on the throne. But
after more than a year’s imprisonment, Richard was set
free, in February 1194, on condition of paying a ransom
so prodigious that it took one-fourth of the personal
property of all the noblemen and most of the jewels and
silver plate of the churches. It was an outrageous price
to pay even for a king.

When Richard came into his own, the only punish-
ment he inflicted on his brother, who had so basely be-
trayed him, was to take away his lands and castles. In
March 1199, Richard quarreled with the viscount of

Richard I (effigy in the abbey
church at Fontevrault)

Portrait of King John, 1199-1216
(from his tomb at Worcester)

King John receiving his
excommunication from the pope

Limoges over a treasure that had been discovered on the
estate of the latter and which was claimed by both. While
the viscount’s castle was being besieged, one of the de-
fenders launched an arrow so well aimed that it pierced
the shoulder of the king, who fell, mortally wounded.

Richard, having no children, was succeeded by his
brother John, one of the greatest scoundrels that ever
cursed England by his rule. When Henry 1I died he had
left John dependent on his brothers, and in jest gave him
the nickname of Lackland, which clung to him through
life.

Now, the elder brother, Geoffrey, had left a son named
Arthur, and the inhabitants of Anjou, which belonged to
the English kings from the time of Henry II, wished to
have this boy, instead of his uncle John, as their ruler.
The French king took the side of Arthur, who had lost
his mother a short time before.

“You know your rights,” said the king to the young
prince, “do you not wish to become king?"

“I do,” was the emphatic reply.

“Very well; two hundred knights are ready to march

Great seal of King John

King Richard is dying, and the man who shot the fatal arrow has been
hauled before him, a terrified prisoner. But for all his faults Richard the
Lion-Hearted was as generous as he was brave. He gave orders that the
man be set free. But, as soon as their ruler was dead, they put this poor
soldier to death.
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with you against your own provinces while I advance
into Normandy.”

Fired by the ambition of asserting his own rights,
Arthur placed himself at the head of the little force,
which was as eager as he, and advanced against and laid
siege to the little town of Mirebeau in Poitou. One of
Arthur’s noblemen delivered up the town on the night of
July 31, 1202, to John, first exacting a promise that no
harm should be done to the prince. The besiegers were
made prisoners, while Arthur was taken to Rouen and
thrown into a dungeon. It is written that on the night of
April 3, 1203, the king came to the prison, accompanied
by his esquire, Peter de Maulac, and that they took the
prince from his dungeon and rowed out in a small boat
on the Seine. Arthur, in great fear, begged his uncle to
spare his life, promising to do whatever he wished if he
would only allow him to live. But the king himself drove
a dagger into the body of the poor youth and flung his
body overboard. There is little room for doubt that Ar-
thur was slain in this dreadful manner.

Philip, king of France, charged John with the crime
and ordered him, as duke of Normandy, to appear at
Paris for trial. John was too frightened to obey, where-
upon he was proclaimed a traitor, and all his lands on
the Continent were declared forfeited. After losing a
great deal of territory, he made an effort to regain it, but
was crushingly defeated, and Philip seized Normandy
and took away from John all his possessions north of the
Loire. This seeming misfortune was a great benefit to
England, for her kings were now compelled to live
among their own subjects and to center their interests
and energies in them.

John came back from his defeat soured and revenge-
ful. He insulted and ill treated the clergy to such a degree
that Pope Innocent III interfered. With the king still
proving stubborn, the pope laid England under an inter-
dict. This meant the entire suppression of all religious
services. For two years the church bells were silent. All
sacraments were denied to the living and funeral prayers
to the dead. The pope next excommunicated John, who
laughed with scorn and treated the priests with such
brutality that they fled from the country. Then the pope
played a trump card by deposing the king and ordering
Philip of France to seize the throne.

This brought John to his senses, for he saw himself
totally abandoned. He knelt at the foot of the pope’s
representative, whom he had previously refused to allow
to enter England, and promised to make amends with
the church and pay a yearly tax of more than £60,000
for permission to keep the English crown upon his head.
This satisfied the pope, who removed the interdict and
excommunication, and peace was restored. Though the
pope had vanquished him, John taxed the people to the
point of starvation; he flung those whom he disliked into
prison, and refused to bring them to trial.

One day in the summer of 1213, there was a secret

meeting in London of the leading men, including Ste-
phen Langton, the newly appointed archbishop of Can-
terbury. They agreed to form a new code of laws, taken
from the ancient charter given by Henry I, and to compel
the king to sign it. A few days later, the king was at Mass
in the Tower of London, when he was scared almost out
of his wits by hearing the angry shouts of the people
themselves. In a short time the multitude filed through
the streets into the open space in front of the tower. The
trembling king went out and timidly asked what it all
meant. He was told that the barons had risen against him
and the citizens were welcoming them. The terrified
John ran out of the back of the tower to the riverside, and
escaped by rowing across the river.

As a result of this episode, a monumental historical
event took place on the fifteenth of June 1215, at the
meadow of Runnymede, on the banks of the Thames.
The king’s advisers laid before him a parchment that he
did not dare refuse to sign. It was the famous Magna
Charta, or Great Charter of England. It was the first
agreement ever entered into by an English king and his
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Specimen of Magna Charta,
engraved from one of the original
copies in the British Museum.
The passages are a portion of the
Preamble, the Forty-sixth Clause,
and the Attestation.

King John (from his monument
in Worcester Cathedral)

King John after signing
Magna Charta
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Henry 111, 1216-72 (from his
tomb in Westminster Abbey)

Grear seal of Henry 111

people. It contained sixty-three articles, most of which
have become obsolete with time, but three imperishable
provisions remain: 1. No free man shall be imprisoned or
proceeded against except by his peers or equals, or the
law of the land; 2. justice shall not be sold, denied nor
delayed; 3. all dues from the people to the king, unless
otherwise clearly specified, shall be laid only with the
consent of the National Council. The Magna Charta
made the English people a united body, and cemented
and protected the interests of all classes.

As soon as the assembly had broken up, King John
raged like a madman and swore that he would break
every one of the laws that he had signed. He begged the
aid of the pope who, in response, declared the charter
void, promising that if the barons would submit they
would suffer excommunication. But they could not be
cajoled, and Langton would not pronounce excommuni-
cation against them so he was summarily suspended by
the pope. John summoned his mercenaries from the Con-
tinent, and began ravaging England, invading Scotland
to punish the northern barons and their leader, the king
of the Scots. It was his custom each morning to burn the
house in which he had slept during the night. Finally the
barons became so desperate that they offered the crown
to Louis, eldest son of the king of France. Louis brought
over a French army. In the midst of the fighting, John
died, October 28, 1216, and some said from stuffing him-
self with peaches and ale, while others whispered that he
was poisoned by a monk. An epitaph reads that King
John died, *‘a knight without truth, a king without jus-
tice, a Christian without faith.”

John's eldest son, Henry, was crowned at the age of

nine and became King Henry II1. During the lad’s boy-
hood, his guardians ruled in his name, and all went fairly
well. However, when King Henry came of age, he
showed himself to be a degenerate son of a degenerate
father. The extravagance of the ruler and his causeless
and unsuccessful wars crushed the country under a
colossal debt that in these times would be equivalent to
$65 billion. To meet the clamors of his numberless credi-
tors, Henry mortgaged the right of extorting money from
the Jews to his brother Richard.

When twenty-nine, Henry married Eleanor, daughter
of Count Raymond of Provence, a French land border-
ing on the Mediterranean Sea. Eleanor was brilliant and
beautiful.

King John had promised to pay a yearly rental to the
pope, who naturally looked upon Henry III as his vassal.
The pope sent a legation to England who returned to
Rome so laden with treasure that the Great Council of
England had to meet to discuss what could be done to
avert the financial ruin of the country. The barons were
present, and the lesser knights were summoned, but
though they conferred earnestly, they were not able to do
anything. Finally, one man came to the fore in the person
of Simon de Montfort, earl of Leicester. He was a
Frenchman, who gained his title from his mother, and
had married the sister of the king's wife. Even the king
recognized the stern stuff of which his brother-in-law
was made. One day, when the royal barge was caught in
a thunderstorm on the Thames, the earl, seeing His
Majesty’s terror, tried to soothe him with assurance that
the tempest would soon pass. The king replied, “I fear
you more than all the thunder and lightning in the
world.”

When the people came to recognize Simon de Mont-
fort’s nobility of character, they gave him the name of
Righteous Simon. Simon the Righteous and the Great
Council met at Oxford. They resolved that a number of
councilors should be appointed whose permission should
be necessary before the king could act. To this the king
agreed, and the resolutions passed at this meeting were
known as the Provisions of Oxford. The government,
which promised so much, did not, however, last long, for
the members of the council quarreled among themselves,
and Henry was soon at war again with the barons. His
eldest son, Prince Edward, who had been at times on his
father’s side, and at other times against him, thought
perhaps it would be best to support his parent now, and
he joined the royal troops. The two forces met in Sussex,
and in the battle of Lewes, in May 1264, Henry and
Prince Edward were taken prisoner by the barons. For
most of the year following, England was ruled by Simon
de Montfort and his councilors.

The most famous act of this patriot was the change he
effected in the Great Council of the kingdom. Previously
that body had been composed mostly of the barons and
bishops, but Simon thought it fair that the lesser tenants,
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or knights of the shire, should have a voice in making the
laws of their country. He therefore arranged that two
knights out of each shire should be summoned by writ
in the king’s name to the national assembly. He provided
further that each town and borough should send two
citizens, or burgesses, to the Great Council, as the direct
representatives of the wishes of the people. This was the
beginning of the House of Commons, and the Great
Council was, for the first time, called the Parliament,
with Simon de Montfort at the head of their affairs.

After a while, the barons fell to quarreling among
themselves. Prince Edward effected his escape and began
gathering an army. The disaffected barons rallied to him,
and the supporters of Simon rapidly fell away, most of
them being Welshmen. Simon, the younger, allowed
himself to be surprised by Edward and his army at Kenil-
worth, after which Edward marched against the elder
Simon at Evesham, in August 1265. By displaying in
front the banners captured at Kenilworth, he deceived
Simon and his followers into the belief that friends were
approaching. The little company made a valiant fight,
but were overpowered, Simon being among the slain.
The defeat gave back authority to Henry, who reigned
for fifty-six years, his death occurring on November 16,
1272.

EDWARD I AND EDWARD I11

Henry’s son, Prince Edward, was in the Holy Land on
a crusade when his father died, and did not reach home
for two years. Though his accession is dated in 1272, he
was not actually crowned till 1274. Edward 1 was sur-
named Longshanks, because of his towering stature,
which raised him head and shoulders above ordinary
men. He was immensely powerful, a fine horseman, his
mind was of a superior order, and he ranks as a great
statesman and ruler.

He had not been in England long, when he convened
a parliament to which the representatives of the people

Queen Eleanor, wife of Edward
I (from her tomb in
Westminster Abbey)

Edward I, 1272-1307

were called. In 1295, toward the close of his reign, the
regular Parliament was established with its two branches
of Lords and Commons. The term Lords included the
higher clergy.

The ambition of Edward I was to bring all the island
of Britain under his single rule. To the north, Scotland
was virtually independent, while Wales on the west was
in continual ferment. At the beginning the king set out
to annex Wales. He led a strong force there, and, after
a number of successes, seemed to have gained his end. To
hold his possessions, he built several splendid castles,
and garrisoned each with troops, ready to act. Llewellyn,
Prince of Wales, after a sturdy resistance was subdued,
and peace reigned for several years, though the prince
and his people were restless and eager for a chance to free
themselves from their yoke. The first one to rise in revolt
was David, the brother of the prince. He had fought
against Llewellyn, and was under many obligations to
Edward. The insurrection became formidable in 1282,
but Llewellyn was slain in an encounter with an English
knight, and the Welsh chieftains yielded, delivering up
David, who was executed in September 1284. Then
Wales was united to England, and Edward did all he
could to win the goodwill of his new but turbulent sub-
jects.

It is said that the sovereign promised to give the Welsh
a ruler who could not speak a word of English, but who

Great seal of Edward I

Coronation chair
of Edward I

Edward I on horseback
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understood their own language as well as any of his age.
The king's son Edward was born in the castle of Caernar-
von, in April 1284. Of course he could not utter a syllable
of English, and understood the Welsh tongue as well as
any other infant of his age, besides which he was unques-
tionably a native of the country. When, therefore, the
king presented the young prince to the Welsh as their
future ruler, what could they say? Seventeen years later,
the infant was created Prince of Wales, and ever since
that time the title has been conferred upon the eldest son
of the ruling sovereign of England.

While the king was getting ready to conquer Scotland,
a curious opportunity came to him. Two claimants for
the Scottish throne presented themselves in the persons
of John Baliol and Robert Bruce, the latter a forebearer
of the famous king and general of the same name. Both
were of Norman descent, and agreed to leave the settle-
ment of their dispute to Edward, who accepted the office
of umpire on condition that whoever he selected should
first acknowledge the overlordship of England. This was
agreed to, and Edward named Baliol; but hardly had the
latter been crowned, when he renounced his allegiance
and allied himself to France. Edward pushed his cam-
paign so inflexibly against the Scots that they were com-
pelled to yield. Baliol surrendered the crown in 1296,
and Edward seized Scotland. He received the homage of
the Scottish parliament and placed Englishmen in all the
leading offices. At the Abbey of Scone, near Perth, the
English seized the piece of rock on which the Scotch
kings were always placed at their coronation. According
to legend, this stone had been the pillow of Jacob at
Bethel, and wherever the talisman was, there the Scots
should reign. Edward placed the stone, enclosed in a
throne, in Westminster Abbey, where both remain. Ev-
ery British sovereign since then has been crowned upon
them.

Still the struggle continued. Robert Bruce, grandson
of the previous claimant to the throne, proposed to
Comyn, a powerful Scottish lord, that whichever of the
two established his claim to the crown, should bequeath
the kingdom by way of indemnity to the other. Comyn
made the agreement, but he intended treachery from the
first, and took the earliest occasion to send a warning of
the conspiracy to Edward. Bruce was in England at the
time and would have been arrested but for a warning,
which was sent in a curious way to him. One day a
messenger called and handed Bruce a pair of spurs. Now,
since spurs are used to hasten the speed of a horse, Bruce
could not mistake the meaning of the present. He imme-
diately mounted his horse and made off, with no suspi-
cion of the person who had betrayed him. While fleeing,
he met a servant of Comyn who was bearing papers to
the king. Bruce took the papers from him and thus dis-
covered who the traitor was. Hardly a week later he and
Comyn met at Dumfries. The former called his false
friend into a neighboring chapel, and told him what he

had learned. The proof was too clear for Comyn to deny
the charge, and he blustered. A fierce quarrel followed,
and Bruce drove his dagger into the other, who fell on
the steps of the altar. Horrified at what he had done,
Bruce hurried out and met one of his friends, who, ob-
serving his agitated manner, asked what had taken place.

“I think I have killed Comyn,” replied Bruce.

“You think so,” said his friend, “‘then I will make sure
of it.”

Hurrying into the chapel he slew Comyn, as well as an
uncle who tried to defend him.

Feeling that he was now an outlaw, Bruce raised the
standard of independence and, surrounded by a number
of priests and lords, was crowned at Scone. Thus on the
Day of Annunciation (1306) Scotland had again a king.

The great blot upon the reign of Edward was his ex-
pulsion of the Jews. In answer to the demands of the
people, who accused them of extortion, he stripped the
unfortunates of their possessions, and drove them from
the country. So completely did they vanish from English
history that not until the time of Cromwell, more than
four centuries later, were they heard of again.

It was while marching against Robert Bruce in Scot-
land that King Edward I died, in the year 1307. He was
succeeded by his son Edward II who was a weak, con-
temptible scamp.

Spurred by the weakness of the king, Robert Bruce
resolutely pressed his struggle for the independence of

Edward I and the assassin

Edward 11, 1307-27

T

m S A s e



ENGLAND, GREAT BRITAIN, AND THE UNITED KINGDOM 153

Scotland. Edward set out in 1314 with an army to stamp
out the rebellion, but in the battle of Bannockburn, June
24, he was utterly routed by Bruce’s greatly inferior
force.

Again and again during the remainder of Edward’s
reign Bruce and his forces ravaged the northern counties
of England and withdrew unpunished. At last, in 1328,
the kingship of Robert Bruce and the full independence
of Scotland was formally acknowledged by treaty.

The Scottish king thereon resolved to absolve himself
of his many crimes by going on a crusade to the Holy
Land. He died before he could follow out his purpose,
and his chief lord, James of Douglas, took the dead
king’s heart from his body to bear it to Jerusalem. James
perished in a skirmish with the Saracens, but his follow-
ers fulfilled his mission, and the heart of Scotland’s great-
est leader was entombed in the Holy City. The
independence of Scotland was never again disputed, and
the two halves of the British island remained separate
until they were peaceably united in 1603 under the sway
of a common sovereign, James I of England and VI of
Scotland.

Isabelle of France, wife of the king, detested Edward
I1, and openly formed an attachment for Roger Morti-
mer, one of the chief barons. Under Mortimer’s lead a

Queen Philippa, wife of Edward III (from the tomb of Westminster
Abbey)

Effigy of Edward II
(Gloucester Cathedral)

The tower in Berkeley Castle
where Edward II was murdered.
Investigation revealed that he
suffered a horrible death, dying
of a red-hot poker being forced
into his bowels.

force was raised that captured and locked up the king in
Kenilworth Castle, Warwickshire. Commissioners from
Parliament were sent to him with a demand that he
should surrender the crown. The coward of a man com-
plied, and then thanked his callers for making his young
son his successor. Some time later, his wife incited Mor-
timer to murder her husband.

Since Edward I1I was only fourteen years old when his
father was deposed, the government rested nominally in
a council, but the real rulers were Queen Isabelle and her
partner Mortimer. They treated the new king as if he
were a prisoner. They were soon to find, however, that
he was made of sterner stuff than his father. The dissatis-
faction with the queen and Mortimer was so intense that
young Edward found friends all around him. With their
help he shook off his restraints and, in company with a
number of daring companions, entered Nottingham Cas-
tle by a secret underground passage, and dashed into the
room where the queen and Mortimer were staying. Mor-
timer was carried off as a prisoner and soon after brought
to the gallows (November 1330). The queen was placed
in confinement in Castle Rising, Norfolk, and kept there
for the rest of her life.

We come now to that period in history known as the
Hundred Years’ War. For some time, the English and
French kings had been bitterly jealous of each other.
There were quarrels over the lands owned by England in
France, and over the homage that the king of England
had to pay because of these lands to the king of France
as his “overlord.” The enmity was intensified by the
action of the French ruler in helping the Scots in their
war against England, and by the affrays between the
sailors on the French and English ships in the English
Channel. Such was the state of affairs when Edward III
came to the throne in 1327. He lost no time in allying

Edward III (from a wall painting, formerly in
St. Stephen’s Chapel, Westminster)

Edward 111, 1327-77
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himself with the people of Flanders, against whom the
French king had made war.

When the French king died, Edward claimed the
throne through his mother, who was the daughter of
Philip IV, an earlier king of France. The claim was a
poor one, but Edward thought his course would please
his Flemish friends, besides giving employment to hun-
dreds of turbulent barons, who were dangerous when
they were left idle. Edward gained his first victory with
his ships off Sluys, in June 1340.

After several years of desultory fighting Edward, in
1346, was making a raid through the French territories
of Normandy, when King Philip of France pursued him
with a force far larger than his own. Edward was on the
bank of the River Somme, and dared not fight with the
stream at his rear. All day he rode along the shore of the
Somme looking for a ford. His men were hard pressed
and exhausted, the French close behind them. At length

Edward III, and the countess of Salisbury

the ebbing tide gave Edward a chance to cross. Then the
returning tide covered the ford, and King Philip and his
huge army could pursue no farther till the next day.

Edward, -advancing at a leisurely pace, planted his
army in a strong place near the village of Crecy. “Here,”
he said, “we will await the Frenchmen.”

The famous Battle of Crecy that followed on the next
day, August 26, 1346, was the greatest of King Edward’s
victories. During the contest Edward, Prince of Wales,
only sixteen years old, was placed in such peril that the
earl of Warwick, who was near him, became greatly
alarmed and sent an urgent request to the king for rein-
forcements.

*“Is the prince wounded?” asked the king.

“Thank God, not yet, sire.”

*“Is he unhorsed?”

“No, sire, but he is in the greatest possible danger.”

*“He shall have no aid from me; let him win his spurs.”

The son was called the Black Prince, because of the
color of his armor, and he won his spurs on that eventful
day, for no veteran knight could have acquitted himself
more bravely. The French were completely defeated and
fled in despair, and Edward the Black Prince became one
of the most heroic figures in English history.

Through the efforts of Pope Clement VI, a truce was
brought about. But the Scots had taken advantage of
Edward’s absence to invade England. They were de-
feated at Nevill's Cross, in October 1346, and David
Bruce, their king, was taken prisoner.

The truce ended, and war with France was renewed in
1355. Edward the Black Prince was once more its hero.
He started from the English possessions in southern
France and made a raid similar to that in which his
father had formerly devastated Normandy. The French,
under a new king, John the Good, pursued him with a
force vastly outnumbering his own. The Frenchmen rode
so fast that they got between the prince and his destined
goal, shutting him off from escape. He was in a trap.

Before attacking the little band of sturdy Englishmen,
King John the Good sent one of his churchmen, Cardi-
nal Perigord, to urge Edward to surrender. The prince,
knowing his men were exhausted as well as over-
matched, was ready to agree to almost any terms of
peace. So all day long Perigord was kept riding between
the hostile camps. King John, however, would listen to
nothing less than the absolute surrender of Prince Ed-
ward with one hundred of his best knights. That would
be to accept the battle as lost without fighting it, and the
English scornfully refused, besides Edward’s troops were
now rested.

So on September 19, 1356, the Battle of Poitiers was
fought. It was the counterpart of Crecy. The English
bowmen and the English knights were invincible. The
vast horde of Frenchmen fled. King John was taken
prisoner. The Black Prince treated him with the greatest
courtesy, complimented him on the courage he had dis-
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played in battle, and entertained him at dinner that eve-
ning.

A peace was made at Bretigny in May 1360, which
checked the fighting for the time. By the terms of this
treaty, Edward yielded his claims to the throne of
France, but retained Aquitaine, Calais, and some other
districts, while John was given permission to ransom
himself for 3 million gold crowns. Being ruler at Bor-
deaux, as prince of Aquitaine, the Black Prince aided the
dethroned king of Castile, Pedro the Cruel, and by a
victory at Navarette regained his kingdom for him. Pe-
dro had promised to pay the expenses of Edward, but
now refused to do so. The prince was not only deeply
involved in debt, but his health was broken and he went
back to Bordeaux a changed man. He levied a burden-
some tax, and the resentful nobles appealed to the
French king, Charles V, who immediately renewed the
war. The prince, though weak in body, made a brave
fight, and retook Limoges.

After this battle, the Black Prince returned to England
and another truce was declared. The king'’s third son, the
duke of Lancaster (also called John of Gaunt) took con-
trol of affairs, for the Black Prince was near death, and
his next brother was feeble.

And now, with the death of King Edward III, a boy
was once more heir to the throne, for Richard, son of the
Black Prince, was only eleven years old when he became
king in 1377. Parliament decreed that the government
during his minority should be vested in a council, but it
did not take John of Gaunt long to gain control of affairs.
He was unprincipled, extravagant, an enemy of reform,
and was detested by the laboring classes.

The country was ready for revolt, and a poll tax was
the spark that fired the magazine. A brutal collector
went into the house of a workman named Wat Tyler, and
so shamefully insulted his daughter that the father took
a hammer, ran in, and with a single blow stretched the
ruffian dead on the floor. The news of what had been
done spread like wildfire, and the excited peasants left
their huts and fields, armed themselves with clubs or any
rusty weapons upon which they could lay hands, and,
with Wat Tyler at their head, hurried to London to
demand justice.

They felt that the only way of securing what they
wished was by violence, and gave full vent to their anger.
Reaching London they held the city for three weeks,
burned the law courts and killed the lawyers, looking
upon them as their enemies. Then, with their numbers
swelled to a hundred thousand, they straggled on to
Smithfield, still eager for violence. There the young king
rode boldly out to meet them. He assured them that from
that time forward they should all be free men and never
again be held as serfs. Some were satisfied and went
home. But in a few days the storm broke again, and once
more the king rode out to meet them. Wat Tyler laid his
hand on Richard’s bridle, whereon Walworth, mayor of

London, struck the rebel down with a dagger. His death
caused consternation in the ranks of his followers, and
the insurrection collapsed as quickly as it had risen.
Parliament effected a series of merciless executions, and
refused to discuss any of the schemes that Richard had
promised, and which he was disposed to favor; so the last
condition of the peasants was worse than before.

In 1387, the opponents of the king gained the upper
hand and banished or executed a number of Richard’s
friends; but he soon secured control, and took savage
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Edward Il (from his tomb
at Westminster Abbey)
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the site of an ancient castle presented by Edward the Confessor to the
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Richard 11, 1377-99. When Richard’s skeleton was exhumed in 1871
he was found to be nearly six feet tall. It is known that he had thick
yellow hair and he has been credited with inventing the use of the
handkerchief. He has been called ‘‘the best and royalest vpander [eater]
of all Christian kings."

Anne of Bohemia, 1366-94,
first queen consort of Richard I
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Richard II in his armor
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vengeance upon those who had opposed him. He gov-
erned well for nine years, then his first wife died. This
was in 1394, and two years later the king married Isa-
belle, daughter of Charles VI of France, a girl only eight
years old. His purpose in taking this amazing step was
to secure an extended truce with France, but the act was
very unpopular with his own countrymen, who hated
France. Since his uncle, the duke of Gloucester, had led
the opposition against him, Richard by a daring act of
treachery had him seized in 1397, and carried off to
France. He was placed in the charge of the governor of
Calais, who soon sent back the desired message that he
had died. Since there was no doubt that the duke had
been murdered by order of the king, his enemies were
terrified into quietude.

Two of the noblemen who had aggrieved him still
remained unpunished. They were Mowbray, duke of
Norfolk, and Henry of Bolingbroke, duke of Hereford,
a son of John of Ghent. Each suspected the other of
betraying him, and a duel was arranged. Just as they
were about to fight, Richard stopped the contest and
banished Hereford for ten years, Norfolk for life. John
of Ghent died shortly afterward, and the king seized his
estates, which should have passed to Hereford. The lat-
ter, now duke of Lancaster, waited until Richard went
on an expedition to Ireland. then he came back to Eng-
land. Accompanied by Archbishop Arundel, another
exile, he landed July 4, 1399, with a few armed men, at
a seaport on the Humber, where they were immediately
joined by the influential northern family of Percy. Fol-
lowers flocked to them until their number swelled to
sixty thousand, while Edmund, duke of York, uncle of
the king, who was acting as regent, also turned against
his master.

A fortnight passed before Richard heard of what was
going on. He was so perplexed that he remained still
longer in Ireland, but his troops steadily deserted, and he
was persuaded to leave his hiding place by Percy, earl of
Northumberland, who turned him over to Henry of Lan-
caster. The king was brought to London where, under




158

Derived from the three sons of Edward I11.: John of Gaunt, Duke of Lancaster, Lionel, Duke of Clarence, and Edmund,
Duke of York ; showing, also, the connection of the Neville family with that of York, and the Beauforts with the Tudors.

ENGLAND, GREAT BRITAIN, AND THE UNITED KINGDOM

Edmund Mortimer,

Earl of March, E"','fgd Ve
died 1425. | - 0
Lionel, Philippa, Roger Mortimer, = f Eb\zum 5 (murddhcoredOdm
Duke of Clarence, married Eartof March, Anne Mortimer, i3 1-1‘433, - )
married Edmund Mortimer, married married Richard, Eli bem]:ra'e i i
Elizabeth de Burgh. | Zarl of March. Eleanor Holland. Richard, Duke of York vy Wontyie: ) (Whenhie:
EarlofCa méndge and Earlof March, e
beheaded 1415 ——— Ricuaro 111 -
(See below. ) Clttly Neville. 1433-{:‘315_ “
, marri
Johnof Gaunt, ( Hexey Iv,, [ HEnzyV, Aune Neville.
married 1399-1413, l“m]ni:d ' quw 2 A
Blanche married Colesi 1422-1461.
qf Lanca.rter; Mary Bohun. ”-al,-rf’:":_‘:
John Beaufort, ' John Beaufort, Margaret Beaufort, Hexry VII.,
. Earl of Somerset, Duke ajSam:r.ret died 1509 1485-1
2. Catherine 50 #ESEL500,
Swynford. < died 1410, died 1444, marned married
married married Edmund Tudor, Elizabeth
Margaret Holland. | Margaret Beauchamp. Ear! of Richmond, (daughter of
died 1456. Edward IV.).
Richard
Ed d, -
Duke :;!’;‘ ok, Eal:lhnf Cambridge,
o el
p}?{?f}}; Anne Mortimer,
. L (See above.)

Lineage of the royal houses of Lancaster, York, and Tudor

compulsion, he resigned his crown, and the next day,
September 30, was formally deposed by the Lords and
Commons on the charge of misgovernment. When this
was done, Henry of Lancaster claimed the crown, on the
ground of being a descendant of Henry III. Archbishop
Arundel conducted him to the throne. Thus Henry of
Bolingbroke, duke of Lancaster and son of John of
Ghent, became king of England in 1399, as Henry IV.
Richard had rebuilt Westminster Hall, and the first Par-
liament that met there deposed him. He was confined to
Pontefract Castle, Yorkshire, where he died after Hen-
ry’s accession. There is reason to believe that his death
was due to violence or starvation, which might have been
voluntary or forced upon him.

The lineage of Lancaster and York—Edward 111

THE HOUSES OF LANCASTER
AND YORK

Next is a study of one of the most absurd and inexcusably
criminal episodes in the history of England. The solitary
redeeming feature about it is that it affected the upper
classes only, and the losses, deaths, and disasters fell
upon them. The episode is known as the Wars of the
Roses, and, in order to understand it, one must keep a
number of historical facts in mind.

Now, you have just learned that Henry IV of Boling-
broke was elected king in 1399. He was not the legal heir,
because Edmund Mortimer, earl of March, was de-

Edward ITI. m. Philippa of Hainault.
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Prince Henry offers his life when
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The coronation of Henry IV

Queen Joan of Navarre, second wife of Henry IV (from the tomb at
Canterbury)
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Great seal of Henry IV

scended from an older branch of the family, and his
claim therefore was superior to that of Henry, who was
the elected king, being chosen by a special act of Parlia-
ment. Edmund Mortimer was a young child, and the
people had had enough of boy kings, so they willingly
assented to a setting aside of the regular succession.

When Henry 1V came to the throne, the dethroned
king, Richard, was pining in Pontefract Castle. Almost
immediately the new monarch learned of a plot to release
Richard and restore him to power. The conspiracy was
readily crushed, and a month later Richard was found
dead in his apartments. There can be little doubt that he
was put to death by order of Henry, who had his body
brought to London and exposed to public view, in order
that the people might not think wrongly in the matter.

A good many believed the body shown was not that
of Richard. Among these was Owen Glendower, a prom-
inent Welshman, who had been a devoted friend of Rich-
ard, and who proved his sincerity by gathering a large
number of men to make a fight for the restoration of
Richard’s rights. King Henry led his forces in vain
against Glendower, who was soon aided by still more
powerful friends.

Henry never would have obtained the throne but for
the help of the wealthy and influential Percy family.
They spent immense sums to aid him, and naturally
expected a royal recognition of their services. This being
denied, they turned against the king and joined Glen-
dower in the attempt to win the crown for Richard, if
still alive, or else for the earl of March. What specially
angered Sir Henry Percy was the refusal of Henry to
ransom the brother-in-law of Percy, who was a prisoner
of Glendower. This relative was Sir Edmund Mortimer,
uncle of the boy of the same name, who was the heredi-
tary heir to the English throne. Young Sir Henry was
such a fiery fighter against the Scots that they nicknamed
him Hotspur. A formidable alliance was made by this
impetuous youth, his father, and his uncle, the earl of
Worcester, when they joined Glendower and the Scottish
ear]l Douglas in the resolution to dethrone Henry IV.

The two armies met at Shrewsbury, on the border of
Wales, July 23, 1403, and fought an obstinate battle. It
is said that Henry was told that a number of his enemies
had sworn to seek him out and slay him. To baffle the
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Tomb of Henry 1V and his queen at Canterbury Cathedral

A Parliament of the time of Henry V'
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Groat of Henry V

plot several knights donned armor like the king’s, and
every one paid with his life for the chivalrous act. The
revolutionists, however, were routed, Hotspur was
killed, and Worcester taken prisoner and executed as a
traitor, as were a number of his leading companions. The
elder Percy, who was not present, declared that his son
had acted contrary to his orders, and he thus escaped
punishment, only to lose his life in a subsequent rebel-
lion. Although the power of Glendower was broken, he
never made submission, and there were continual insur-
rections in Wales.

A statute was passed in 1401 against the heretics,
which decreed that all who refused to abjure their heresy
or, after abjuration, relapsed, should be delivered to the
secular authorities to be burned. The first Wycliffte mar-
tyr was William Sawtry, a London clergyman, who was
burned at Smithfield, in London, February 12, 140].

Henry’s health broke before he was fifty. It is said that
he often suffered from the reproaches of his conscience,
and had arranged to go on a crusade, but while praying
at the tomb of Edward the Confessor, in Westminster
Abbey, he was stricken with a fatal illness, and died a few
days later, on March 20, 1413.

The son of the dead king reigned from 1413 to 1422,
as Henry V. While he was the Prince of Wales he was a
wild, roistering fellow, but when he came to the throne,
the responsibility of it sobered him, and he gave all of his
energies to his new duties.

The opportunity for attacking France was too good to
be lost for the country torn by the intriguing and ambi-
tious dukes, who hated one another more than they
hated the English. So Henry raised an army and invaded
the distracted country. He sailed from Southampton in
August 1415. With eight thousand troops he reached a
point in France halfway between Crecy and Calais. The
French troops were eight times as numerous as the Eng-
lish. But a drenching rain fell during the night, and
made the ground so soggy that the land that the French
had to cross became a mass of mud in which the horse-
men floundered. A great advantage rested with the En-
glish bowmen, who, being dismounted, could move
readily. The English gained a striking victory, which is
known in history as the Battle of Agincourt, because of
the name of the castle standing near the battleground.

Great seal of Henry V

Great was the rejoicing in England over this wonder-
ful triumph of her yeomen. King Henry was received on
his return with acclaim, and there was no longer any
question of his right to sit upon the throne.

The young king led a second and larger army to
France in 1417, and, profiting by the dissensions of the
French, captured one city after another, until all Nor-
mandy was in his hands. By the treaty of Troyes in 1420,
Paris itself surrendered. Henry married Catherine, the
daughter of the French king. The part of France he had
already conquered became England’s property.

So here was a second crown ready to fall into the
hands of this remarkable man, as yet scarcely out of his
youth. It was too much good fortune. Henry died in
1422, while still busy crushing out the smoldering sparks
of discontent in his new realm of France. Henry’s body
was brought back to England and buried in Westminster
Abbey. .

He left a son—also named Henry—only nine months
old, whose title was king of England and France, but
whose uncle, the duke of Bedford, reigned as regent. This
uncle carried on the war in France, where some of the
nobles upheld the son of Charles VI to succeed his father
who had also died in 1422. This new king, the young
Charles VII, was defeated again and again, until the
victorious British laid siege to Orleans. The siege of the
city was raised through the inspiration of Joan of Arc.
In the end, the English were driven out of France, and
the Hundred Years War closed in their defeat in 1453.
England no longer owned the Norman soil, her only
possession being the city of Calais.

By this time Henry VI had been nominally king of
England for thirty years, but he was growing feeble. In
1453 a son, Edward, was born to Henry. This promised
to perpetuate the rule of the Lancastrian kings who had
come into power with Henry I'V. Now, there were still
living descendants of the older branch of the royal fam-
ily, who had hoped to be some day recalled to the throne.
Chief of these at the time was Richard, duke of York,
nephew of the Edmund Mortimer who had been set up
as a rival to Henry IV. This Richard ranked as the
highest nobleman of the kingdom, and when the feeble
King Henry VI became in 1453 temporarily insane,
Richard of York was appointed regent.




162 ENGLAND, GREAT BRITAIN, AND THE UNITED KINGDOM

s

Pt g — -t
- S e

£=

R e i P

Tomb of Henry V in Westminster Abbey

Henry VI. From a portrait—artist unknown—in Eton College, which he
Sfounded. Although the English kings since Edward III had claimed to
be kings of both England and France, Henry VI was the only English
king ever crowned in France with that title.

Henry VI, 1422-61; 1470-71,
in his youth
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Tomb of Henry VI,
Sformerly at Windsor

Signature of Henry VI

Great seal of Henry VI

He took advantage of his power to crush the leading
nobles of the Lancastrian party. The king’s friends,
alarmed, declared him once more capable of reigning,
and would have ousted the duke of York from the re-
gency, but Richard took up arms to defend his position.

The earl of Warwick, the wealthiest and most power-
ful man in England, joined Richard, and the Wars of the
Roses began. They were to devastate England for thirty
years. The peculiar name Wars of the Roses was given
them because the badge of the party of the king, the
Lancastrians, was a red rose, while that of the rebellious
Yorkists was a white rose.

This terrible civil struggle, which went on for thirty
years, was, in truth, merely a shameless scramble for
spoils, there being no real principle involved. In the first
conflict at St. Albans, in 1455, the Yorkists gained a
victory, as they did at Bloreheath, Staffordshire, and at
Northampton, where Henry was taken prisoner, and
Queen Margaret fled with the young prince Edward to
Scotland. Richard demanded the crown, but Henry
made a spirited refusal. Finally a compromise was
agreed upon, by which Henry was to remain in posses-
sion of his throne till his death, when Richard or his heirs
was to succeed him.

But the queen refused to allow her son to be set aside.
She hurried down from Scotland to the north of En-
gland, and was joined by several powerful lords. The
duke of York, with some five thousand men, set out in
the winter of 1460 to meet her. He lodged in a castle near
Wakefield, and Queen Margaret dared him to come out
and fight her. His generals urged him to wait where he
was until joined by his brave son, the earl of March. The
duke did not heed this advice, and he accepted the chal-
lenge. His forces were cut to pieces, and he was made
prisoner. His exultant captors set him upon an anthill
and mockingly kicked him, while chanting, “Hail, king,
who has no kingdom! Hail, prince, without a people; we
trust your Grace is well and happy!”

Then they cut off the head of the duke, fixed it to the
end of a pole, and handed it to the delighted Margaret.
She had some paper doubled up in imitation of a crown,
and placed it on the head, which was then fastened on
the walls of York. From that time forward neither side
gave quarter in their battles.

The next year the Lancastrians suffered a bloody re-
pulse at Towton, where the snow was crimsoned by more
than twenty thousand corpses. It is one of the incompre-
hensible mysteries of human nature that these friends
and neighbors should thus murder one another for no
other object than to help the ambitious schemes of a
wretched set of ambitious nobles.

The earl of Warwick, who commanded the Yorkists at
Towton, earned the name of the King-maker. He had
made Richard almost king. Now he set the eldest son of
the murdered duke firmly upon the throne, as Edward
IV. Margaret and Henry took refuge in Scotland and,
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Edward 1V, 1461-70; 1471-83 Queen Elizabeth Woodville

refusing to obey the summons of the new government,
were proclaimed traitors. Henry was captured four years
later and imprisoned in the Tower of London.

All through the reign of Edward IV (1461-83) the
Wars of the Roses raged. The king married Elizabeth
Woodville, who had no rank or money, and he distrib-
uted grand titles and estates so lavishly among his lady’s
relatives that the earl of Warwick became jealous. To
make good his rights as King-maker he managed to oust
Edward and return Henry to the throne. A few months
later, however, Warwick was killed at the Battle of Bar-
net (1471), and King Henry was sent back to the tower,
where he was secretly murdered on the same day that

3 Edward IV

Signature of Edward 1V, R. E.
(for Rex Edwardus) 7

“Angel” of Edward IV

Great seal of Edward 1V

Murdered prince called
Edward V, 1483, from
an old manuscript

Signature of Edward V

%CEB&»VWWW




ENGLAND, GREAT BRITAIN, AND THE UNITED KINGDOM 165

BRAS.

I ! Wi 1=

Earl Rivers presenting Caxton to Edward IV

The Tower of London at the time of Henry VI

\
NG % A . .
. sy

The Bloody Tower

Edward resumed his briefly interrupted reign. Margaret
kept up the struggle. In the desperate battle of Tewkes-
bury (1471) her son was slain and she was made prisoner.
After five years of captivity she was ransomed by Louis
XI of France, and died in her own country of Anjou.

Edward IV lived a pampered life with no fear of an-
other rebellion, since the Wars of the Roses had killed
or financially ruined the barons. He added to his enor-
mous wealth by compelling his subjects to give him large
sums of money, which he called benevolences. There was
only one person whom he had real cause to distrust, and
that was his brother, the duke of Gloucester, who plotted
for long years to obtain the throne of England. Miserable
and worn out, Edward died in 1483, leaving his widow,
five young daughters, and two little sons, Edward, the
heir to the throne, and Richard, duke of York. Edward,
who is called Edward V, though he never received the
crown, was only twelve years old, and was placed under
the guardianship of his uncle, the hunchback miscreant
Richard, duke of Gloucester, who was appointed lord
protector of the realm until the lad became of age.

Meeting the princes on the road to London in charge
of their half-brother, Sir Richard Grey, and their uncle,
Lord Rivers, the hypocritical duke of Gloucester insisted
on taking personal charge of the young king. Then, on
the pretense that the prince would be safer in the Tower
of London than at Westminster Palace, he sent him to
the great prison to pine in solitude.

The incredible villainy of Richard was not long in
showing itself. Lord Hastings had voted to make him
protector, but he was too honorable to assist him in
seizing the crown. Richard accused Lord Hastings of
treason, and had him beheaded without a hearing or
trial. This left the way clear for the duke to carry out his
atrocious purpose toward his two young nephews.
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Portrait of Richard 111, 1483-85

The Bloody Tower—north side

The princes in the Tower

'

Anne, queen of Richard I Richard 111

The queen mother, sensing the evil intention of her
brother-in-law, took her other son and his two sisters,
and fled to the sanctuary of Westminster Abbey. After
long persuasion, with profuse promises and partial force,
Richard induced her to yield her other son to his care.
Historians of the period believed that by direct orders of
Richard, the princes were smothered to death in the
Tower of London, and the finding, a couple of centuries
later, of the skeletons of two children corresponding in
age to the princes, and buried at the foot of the stairs
leading to the room where they were imprisoned, leaves
little doubt as to the fate of the lads.

Richard gained enough influential friends to bring
about his accession to the throne as Richard III. He
strove to win the goodwill of his subjects, but his cruelty
created an undercurrent of implacable enmity toward
him. Inquiries, too, began to be heard as to what had
become of the two princes.

Before Richard became king he persuaded the widow
of that Edward (son of Margaret the queen) who was
killed at Tewkesbury, to become his wife. He wanted his
own son to marry Elizabeth, the eldest sister of the two
murdered princes, thereby strengthening the succession
of his family to the throne. But the son died and the king




22 i '

T Signature of Richard III
|

l ENGLAND, GREAT BRITAIN, AND THE UNITED KINGDOM 167

5 ’aidfﬁv}\llllili PR
| : !ll‘“".' . “7!}‘llln

Great seal of Richard III

Richard 111 forcing his nephew from the protection of Lord Rivers
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Bosworth Field—the crown of Richard placed on Henry's head

“disposed” of his own wife, then determined to marry
the Princess Elizabeth himself.

But the princess was already engaged to Henry Tudor,
earl of Richmond, who had been patiently waiting for
years to strike a blow for the crown that he claimed by
virtue of his illegitimate descent from the House of Lan-
caster. Convinced that his opportunity had come at last,
he landed with six thousand men at Milford Haven,
Wales, in 1485, and pushed on against King Richard.

He met Henry, August 22, 1485, at Bosworth Field,
in Leicestershire, where the decisive battle was fought
between the rival and pestilent houses of Lancaster and
York. Richard strove with a skill and desperation that
would have won the day, but for the treachery of many
of his followers. At first, his army was twice as numerous
as Henry’s, but its disaffection more than equalized the
strength of the combatants. Richard plunged into the
thickest of the fight and, catching sight of Henry among
a group of his knights, strove furiously to reach him. He
hewed down the Lancastrian standard-bearer, fiercely
unhorsed a knight, and struck viciously at Henry him-
self, but Sir William Stanley parried the blow, and the
swarming foes struck Richard from his horse and killed
him as he lay on the ground.
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Rulers of England during the growth and decline of kingly power

After the battle the crown of Richard was found under
a hawthorn bush where it had rolled. Picking it up,
stained with blood as it was, Lord Stanley set it on the
head of Henry amid cries of “Long live King Henry!"” So,
it was the only time in English history a king was killed
and a king was crowned on the field of battle. On the
same night a horse was led up to the church of the Gray
Frars at Leicester, with a sack tied across its back. In
it was the body of the last of the Plantagenet line, King
Richard III, slain in the thirty-second year of his age,
after a brief reign of only two years.

THE GROWTH OF ROYAL
POWER UNDER THE TUDOR
KINGS

The marriage of Henry VII to the princess Elizabeth,
sister of the murdered princes and true heiress of the
House of York, blended the white and the red roses and
ended the civil war. The wedding took place a few
months after the king's accession, and today in the east
window of stained glass in the burial chapel of Henry
VII, in Westminster Abbey, one may see the Roses
joined.

With this the beginning of the House of Tudor was

ushered in for a long period of almost absolute kingly
power. The nobility were so few in number that they
were no longer to be feared, and the clergy as well as the
people welcomed strong, centralized, conservative gov-
ernment. Henry was cunning and avaricious. By keeping
out of foreign wars, he avoided the necessity of calling
Parliament together and asking for grants of money. He
strove to avoid taxing the poorer classes, since they were
the most numerous, for he was anxious to hold his popu-
larity with them. He revived the system of benevolences,
and with the aid of his chief minister, Cardinal Morton,
wrung large sums from the rich.

Henry VII greatly advanced his own interests through
the marriages he arranged. That of his daughter Marga-
ret with James IV of Scotland opened the way for the
union of the two kingdoms, while the marriage of his
eldest son Arthur to Catherine of Aragon, daughter of
the king of Spain, secured the alliance of Spain against
France. When Arthur died a few months later, his father
obtained a dispensation from the pope that permitted
him to marry his younger son Henry to Arthur’s widow,
and it was this son who became Henry VIII of England.
The rapacity of the king enabled him, when he died in
1509, to leave a vast fortune to Henry VIII, who was
eighteen years old when he succeeded to the throne.

Within a few years after Henry’s accession Martin
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Henry VIiI. Henry saw two
principal duties before him when
he came to the throne: (1) to
heal the factions in the kingdom,
(2) to establish a firm, strong
government. It can be said with
Jjustice that he did both.

Henry VII on
horseback

~

Elizabeth of York,
queen consort of Henry VII

Signature of Henry VII

The rose-rial coin of Henry VII

Luther began his great battle against the doctrines and
power of the papacy. It was in 1517 he nailed on the door
of the church of Wittenberg his protests that led to the
movement against the Church of Rome. Henry VIII was
a firm Catholic, and some time later published a reply to
one of Luther’s works and sent a sumptuously bound
copy to the pope, who was so pleased that he conferred
on him the title of Defender of the Faith, which, rather
strangely, has been retained by every English sovereign
since that time.

France and Spain were becoming powerful nations,
and Henry was ambitious to take a hand in the continen-
tal wars that he might gain some advantage. There was
jealousy between the emperor of Germany and the king
of France, and each naturally tried to gain the favor of
the English king. He coquetted with both. In alliance
with the German emperor in 1513, he defeated the
French cavalry at Guinegate, who fled in such headlong
haste that the conflict was called the Battle of the Spurs.
The Scots took advantage of the war and invaded En-
gland, but were defeated by the earl of Surrey, September
9, 1513, at Flodden, where their king James IV, with
some of the foremost of the nation, was left dead on the
field. Peace was made the following year and, in June
1520, a series of friendly meetings took place between the
new French king, Francis I, and Henry, which were on
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Henry VI1I delivering to John Islip, the abbot of Westminster, the Book
of Indenture (Agreement), which specified the number of masses, collec-
tions, and other church obligations “for the repose of the souls of the
King's wife, father, and other relatives.”

Catherine of Aragon. A marriage between Henry's eldest son, Arthur,
and Catherine of Aragon, the youngest daughter of Ferdinand V and
Isabella of Spain, took place in 1501, the bride being sixteen and the
bridegroom fifteen years old. A few months later, the bridegroom died.
and negotiations were opened for a marriage of Catherine to the king's
younger son, his namesake, Henry, then heir to the throne; but some
years passed before that fateful marriage was brought about.
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The great brass screen enclosing the altar tomb of Henry VII and his
queen in his chapel at Westminster Abbey

such a scale of splendor that the meeting place was called
the Field of the Cloth of Gold. The grand display, how-
ever, proved of no advantage to the French king, for
Henry soon made an alliance with the emperor Charles
V, and in 1522 a new war was launched against France,
which closed three years later with an agreement of the
French sovereign to pay a large annual pension to the
English king.

Henry VIII was certain to break before long with the
church, of which he was at first so valiant a defender. He
had as his adviser one of the ablest and most unscrupu-
lous of men in Thomas Wolsey, a priest who was able to
reach the loftiest position. He climbed upward as arch-
bishop of York, chancellor, cardinal, papal legate, and
hoped, with seemingly good reason, to become pope
himself. The best government of Henry's reign was when
Wolsey was at the head of affairs, or from 1515 to 1529.
But as the years passed, the pleasant temperament of the
king gave way to gloom and dissatisfaction.

When Henry was only twelve years old, he had been
betrothed to Catherine of Aragon, the widow of his
brother Arthur. He tired of her, and then, under the
pretense that he believed the marriage unlawful, he was
determined to be divorced in order that he might marry
Anne Boleyn, a lady of his court. Cardinal Wolsey fa-
vored this divorce because he hated the Spanish royal
family and saw in it the means of detaching England
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from its alliance with that country, while the hope of
making a new union with France, through the marriage
of the king with a princess of that country, was the
scheme that appealed to him. He therefore, in 1527, did
his utmost to persuade the pope to consent to the di-
vorce.

Pope Clement VII was in a dilemma. Francis I of
France supported England, while, on the other hand,
Charles of Spain threatened. The pope temporized, and,
to gain time, issued a commission to Cardinal Cam-
peggio and Wolsey to adjudicate the question. Mean-
while, the impatient king discarded Catherine, who was
six years older than he, and started living with Anne
Boleyn. This turn of affairs knocked Wolsey’s schemes
awry, and, losing all wish to get the divorce, he favored
procrastination as much as did Pope Clement, who re-
voked the decision, and transferred the question to
Rome.

This step virtually ended the papal power in England.
The king and Anne Boleyn were exasperated against
Wolsey, because they were sure he had tricked them, and
they resolved to punish him. (Under a law of Richard II
no representative of the pope had any legal authority in
England.) Since he had dared to thwart the will of the
king, he should now pay the penalty. Feeling his help-
lessness, Wolsey meekly gave up everything—riches,
power, and rank. He 'va~ allowed to go into retirement,
but a year later was wrrested on the charge of treason.
While in custody on his way to London, he fell griev-
ously ill, and stopped at the Abbey of Leicester to die.

A new ministry was formed in October 1529, in which,
for the first time, the highest places were given to lay-
men. Sir Thomas More was made chancellor, and the
chief adviser of the king was Wolsey’s old assistant,
Cromwell. About this time, Dr. Thomas Cranmer, of
Cambridge, advised the king to lay his divorce question
before the universities of Europe. Henry eagerly did so,
and with the use of bribes, a favorable response was
drawn from the majority. The king was so heartened by
this verdict that he charged the whole body of the Eng-
lish church with being guilty of the same offense that
Wolsey had committed. Quaking with fear, they bought
the pardon of the irate ruler with the payment of a sum
amounting to several million dollars. This was clinched
by the declaration that the king was the supreme head
on earth of the Church in England. Thus, the Reforma-
tion entered the kingdom of England.

Henry married Anne Boleyn in 1532, after having
lived with her as her husband for some five years. Crom-
well succeeded Wolsey as the king’s confidential adviser,
and Henry and Anne were crowned in Westminster Ab-
bey. The indignant pope ordered the king to leave her,
under the threat of excommunication, and to take back
Catherine. Henry answered through his obsequious Par-
liament, which in 1534 passed the Act of Supremacy,
which made the king absolutely the head of the church.

Henry VIII. Well-educated, and he had a fairly good mind; but his
egotism, his willfulness, and his selfishness had no bounds. Those traits
in the king became the cause of infinite suffering to England; but his
subjects were so filled with admiration of his stature, his strength, his fine
presence, and the bluff freedom of his manner toward them, that they
were quite heedless of his character in the first years of his reign.

One of Henry's first acts was to marry Catherine of Aragon, his
brother’s widow, and he is said to have done so less from policy than from
choice. Catherine was twenty-five, while he was nineteen, but her person
was attractive to him then, and her manners pleased. For two years he
seems to have been contented with the enjoyments of a gay and extrava-
gant court. Then he was seized with the ambition to play a conspicuous
part in the eyes of the world. An inquitous league for the despoiling of
Venice had been followed by what was styled a *Holy League’ against
France, formed by Ferdinand of Spain, the emperor Maximilian, and
the pope. Henry was easily drawn into the League, but only to be be-
trayed. His allies used him to bring pressure on France for secretly
securing their own terms of peace.

Meantime, while Henry was making war in France, his Scottish broth-
er-in-law, James 1V, acting on the old friendship of Scotland for France,
invaded England and suffered the awful defeat of Flodden Field, where
he and ten thousand of his countrymen fell. This brought Henry's
nephew, James V. the son of his sister Margaret. to the Scottish throne.
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Suit of armor presented by the emperor Maximilian I to Henry VIII

Shilling of Henry VIII

m Landing of Henry VIII at Calais, June 30. 1513

Signature of Henry VIII

This grotesque mask is the only surviving piece of the armor collection
given to Henry VIII by Maximilian
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Wolsey surrendering the great seal

Henry VIII courting Anne Boleyn

Anne Boleyn. Jane Seymour. Catherine Howard.

Execution of Anne Boleyn. In January 1536, the divorced Queen
Catherine died, and by her death she seems to have doomed her rival,
Anne. The king had been tiring of the latter for some time, but feared
to reopen the old divorce question if he tried to make himself wifeless
again. But no sooner was Catherine out of the way than he determined
to be rid of Anne Boleyn, and his creature, Thomas Cromwell, lost no
time in finding the means. On charges of misconduct and of conspiracy,
which few who have investigated the matter give credit to in the least,
she was condemned and beheaded (May 1536), while five unfortunate
gentlemen, accused of complicity in her crime, shared her fate. Henry
married his third wife, Jane Seymour, on the day after Anne's head fell.

The denial of this was to constitute treason. The act of
1534 was the most momentous in the ecclesiastical his-
tory of England.

Henry was given the right to declare any judgment
and to punish its violation with death. Cromwell was his
ready tool in this infamy, it being their rule not to allow
any accused person to be heard in his own defense. The
venerable Fisher, bishop of Rochester, and the great and
good Sir Thomas More could not conscientiously accept
the decree that Henry was head of the church, and, for
this voice of conscience, both were brought to the
scaffold. As More came to the steps leading to the
scaffold, he turned to the governor of the Tower of Lon-
don and said: “If you will see me safely up, I will come
down without help.”

All Europe was horrified by these atrocious murders,
and Henry’s only ally, Francis I, remonstrated. The pope
declared his excommunication against the tyrant (whom
he had once dubbed Defender of the Faith), and Henry
retaliated by suppressing the monasteries.

These drastic measures caused a fierce insurrection in
the north, where the rebels became so powerful that
terms had to be made with them and certain concessions
granted, one of which was a general amnesty. The lead-
ers, however, were executed, and the suppression of the
rebellion was followed, in 1537, by the dissolution of the
larger monasteries. In this same year an order in council
placed the English translation of the Bible and six altered
articles of religion in every church so that all might read
them, and warned all of the penalty of refusing to accept
the decisions of the English church. Thus, whoever de-
nied the first article, that of transubstantiation, should be
declared a heretic and burned at the stake. Whosoever
spoke against the other five articles should, for their first
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The Tower of London in the sixteenth century, where the executions took
place

offense, forfeit their property, and for the second should
die at the stake.

This act caught the truculent Cromwell. He had used
his influence as a member of the government to thwart
the execution of the law by staying proceedings and
granting pardons, but Henry had become his enemy and
put him to death.

Anne Boleyn, who was the mother of Elizabeth, des-
tined to become one of the greatest queens Europe ever
knew, was charged with unfaithfulness, and it is more
than likely the charge was true. She was executed, and
then Henry married Jane Seymour, who died a year after
the birth of a son, who eventually became Edward VI.
In 1540, Cromwell arranged a marriage with Anne of
Cleves, who was so homely in looks that the king could
hardly stand being seen with her and quickly brought
about a divorce. It was in that year that Cromwell was
beheaded, partly due to the resentment of the king for
having cajoled him into the distasteful marriage. His
next union was with Catherine Howard, who had been
a wanton. She strove to keep the dreadful fact a secret,
but Henry found it out, charging her with treason, and
she suffered the fate of Anne Boleyn. His sixth and last
marriage was with Catherine Parr, who, too, would have
gone to the block on the charge of heresy, except that she
knew how to flatter the king’s conceit and to make him
believe she thought him a profound theologian, when in
reality he had a lesser than average intellect, compared
to those in his court.

War broke out in 1542 with Scotland, where the king,

James V, was a Catholic, and unwilling to form an alli-
ance with his uncle Henry VIII. A Scottish army in-
vaded England, but fled in panic before an insignificant
force of English at Solway Moss. James was so mortified
that he did not survive long, and left as his successor an
infant daughter, Mary Stuart. The politic Henry negoti-
ated a marriage between her and his son Edward, but the
Scots repudiated the treaty, and Henry sent an army to
enforce it. The troops ravaged the country and sacked
Edinburgh. Exasperated with France because of its in-
trigues in Scotland, Henry made an alliance with Charles
V, entered France in 1544, and captured Boulogne, but
in the end agreed that it should be returned in eight
years, upon the payment of a heavy ransom.

Henry, although only thirty, was old, diseased, un-
wieldy, and in continual pain, due to his excesses and
debauchery. His condition became worse as he lived on.
He succumbed on January 28, 1547, in the fifty-seventh
year of his age. He was execrated equally by Catholic and
Protestant, for he persecuted both with relentless fierce-
ness. The former were put to death because they would
not own him as head of the churcli, while the Protestants
were burned at the stake because they refused to believe
the Roman Catholic doctrines. It was Sir Walter Raleigh
who said of Henry VIII: “If all the pictures and patterns
of a merciless prince were lost to the world, they might
all again be painted to the life out of the story of this
king.” On that dismal winter night when the wretched
creature lay dying, he sent for Cranmer, archbishop of
Canterbury, to receive his last words, and passed away,
“unwept, unhonored, and unsung.” The world was well
rid of him.

Parliament had given Henry special powers regarding
the succession. His son Edward, who was only nine years
old, was the rightful heir, but Henry ordered that, if his
son died childless, the kingdom should go to Henry’s
daughters, first to Mary and her heirs, then to Elizabeth
and her heirs. After these two, it was to pass to the
descendants of his younger sister Mary.

The throne went first to the feeble, sickly son of Jane
Seymour, who was crowned as Edward VI in 1547, en-

Edward VI, 1547-53

(from a painting by Holbein) Edward VI
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tering London in triumphal procession. The duke of
Somerset, uncle of Edward, was appointed to reign dur-
ing the new king’s minority. England then had two great
partiess—Roman Catholics and Protestants—and the
momentous question was which was to become the mas-
ter of the kingdom. Somerset, the protector, was a Prot-
estant, and he brought that faith to the front. He was
ambitious and he was a fine soldier. In the first year of
his rule he invaded Scotland with the purpose of com-
pelling the marriage of Mary with the young English
king; but Mary eluded him. She was sent to France the
next year, became the betrothed of the French dauphin,
who was afterward Francis II.

The bitterest enemy of Somerset was his own brother,
Thomas, Lord Seymour of Sudeley, high admiral of Eng-
land, who had married Catherine Parr, the widow of
Henry VIII. He aimed to supplant the protector, but was
destroyed by a bill of attainder and beheaded March 20,
1549. Somerset was not long in following him, for his
rule was detested at home and was a failure abroad, and
in 1552 he was beheaded on a charge of conspiring
against his rival, John Dudley, duke of Northumberland,
and against other lords of the council.

The duke of Northumberland, who now took the man-
agement of affairs, resembled Somerset whom he had
supplanted, for he had no religion, but professed to be a
rigid Protestant. Seeing that Edward could not live long,
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Edward VI. A boy-king was once more on the English throne. Authorized
by Parliament, his father had left a will that appointed a council of
regency to administer government in Edward’s name until he should be
eighteen years old.
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Lady Jane Grey urged to declare herself queen

Return of Catholic prelates under Mary 1

Edward VI writing his journal

.

Lady Jane Grey (from an
original picture in the collection
of the earl of Stamford and
Warrington)
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Execution of Lady Jane Grey in the Tower of London, February 12,
1554

Mary I (1553-58). The duke of Northumberland kept King Edward’s
death a secret until he had proclaimed Jane queen of England. The poor
girl knew that a great wrong was being done in her name. She begged
that she might not be forced to accept the crown; but she could do
nothing to prevent it as her father, her husband, and his father all were
bent on making her obey them. So she had to sit as a queen in the royal
apartments in the Tower of London.

But as soon as the news reached Mary, she traveled toward London.
As everyone knew her to be the right queen, and the people joined her,
even Northumberland was obliged to throw up his hat and cry, “God save
Queen Mary.” Jane and her husband were safely kept, for Mary meant
no harm to them had their friends remained quiet. However, the people
became discontented when Mary began to have the Latin service used
again, and put Archbishop Cranmer in prison for having favored Jane.
She wanted to be under the pope again, and she became engaged to
marry the king of Spain, her cousin, Philip II. This was very foolish of
her, for she was a middle-aged woman, pale, and low spirited; and he
was much younger. The English hated it so much that the little children
played the queen’s wedding in their games and always ended by pretend-
ing to hang the king of Spain, Northumberland thought this discontent
gave another chance for his plan, and tried to raise the people in favor
of Jane, but so few joined him that Mary very soon put them down, and
beheaded Northumberland. She thought, too, that the quiet of the coun-
try would never be secure while Jane lived, and so she consented to her
being put to death. Jane behaved with beautiful firmness and patience.
Her husband was lead out first and beheaded, and then she followed.
Mary’s sister, Elizabeth, was suspected also, and sent to the Tower. She
came in a boat on the Thames to the Traitor’s Gate; but when she found
where she was, she sat down on the stone steps, and said, “This is a place
Jor traitors, and I am none.” After a time she was allowed to live in the
country but was closely watched.

Philip of Spain came and was married to Mary. She was very fond of
him, but he was not very kind to her, and he had too much to do in his
other kingdoms to spend much time with her. Her great wish in choosing
him was to be helped in bringing the country back to the old obedience
to the pope; and she succeeded in having the English Church reconciled
again to communion with Rome. But this displeased many of her sub-
Jects exceedingly. They thought they should be forbidden to read the
Bible and they could not endure the Latin service.

he feared the coming to the throne of Lady Mary, who
was sure to bring an end to his arbitrary power. He
therefore persuaded Edward to do an illegal thing by
altering the succession, and, shutting out his sisters, to
settle the crown on his cousin Lady Jane Grey, daughter
of the duke of Suffolk and granddaughter of Mary Tudor
and Charles Brandon. The hope of the duke of Northum-

berland was to raise his fourth son, Lord Guilford Dud-
ley, who had just married Lady Jane, to the throne of
England. Edward died July 6, 1553, and some people in
the court believed that the duke of Northumberland used
poison to hasten Edward’s death.

Lady Jane Grey had married at the age of sixteen, and
she and her husband were devotedly attached to each
other. They lived in a castle in the beautiful park near
Leicester. But one day Lady Jane's father-in-law and
several nobles came into her presence and, kneeling at
her feet, hailed her as the queen of England. She was
terrified, and assured them that she had no wish to reign,
and would not do so. They insisted, and when her father
and mother urged her for their sakes to accept the honor,
she unwillingly consented; but it was with a sinking
heart. She was proclaimed on the tenth of July; but Mary
was the rightful heir, and at Norwich on the nineteenth
of the same month was also proclaimed queen. Mary
entered London at the head of a band of friends, without
a single hand being raised to defend Lady Jane Grey,
whom none were ready to accept as their queen, since she
had no moral or legal claim to that honor. The duke of
Northumberland was brought to trial and beheaded, and
Lady Jane and Guilford Dudley were sent to the tower.
Lady Jane and her husband were beheaded February 12,
1554.

Returning to Mary Tudor, whose reign began in July
1553, she was a devout Catholic, the daughter of Henry
VIII. She married her cousin Philip II of Spain, who was
a languid bigot, and who married her because it suited
his father’s policy. When he came to England he was
received with coldness and distrust. He went back to his
own land to become king of Spain and of the Nether-
lands, after which he returned but once to urge the queen
to join him in a war against France. She did so, and the
results were disastrous to England. In January 1558
Calais was captured by the French, after the English
standard, planted there by Edward I1I, had waved above
its walls for more than two hundred years. It was des-
tined to fall in the course of time, and its loss was no
harm to England, though Mary was so oppressed and
humiliated that she declared that when she died *“Calais™
would be found written on her heart.

She was a fanatic, but a resolute one. The dearest
ambition of her life was to restore England to the Church
of Rome. Like most people of those times, she believed
that those who thought differently should be compelled
to renounce their opinions and, if they refused to do so,
should be punished with death. The fires of persecution
that blazed during Mary’s reign led to her being called
Bloody Mary, for by the close of her reign more than two
hundred men and women had perished at the stake. The
most notable of the martyrs were John Hooper, bishop
of Gloucester; Ridley, bishop of London, and the venera-
ble Latimer. Ridley and Latimer were burned together
at Oxford, October 16, 1555. Latimer, exhorting his
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friend to die like a man, declared, **We shall this day
light such a candle, by God’s grace, in England, as I trust
shall never be put out.” Cranmer, the leader of the
church of Henry VIII, recanted, but was also brought to
the stake. Yet both Cranmer and Latimer had been zeal-
ous in sending others to the stake who had differed with
them. But, sad as it was, persecution in England never
reached the appalling extent that it did in Spain. The
fiendish Philip II reddened the lowlands of Holland with

the blood of thousands of Protestants, who had died the
most cruel of deaths.
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